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Explanatory Note

APX Group Holdings, Inc. (the “Company”) is filitgis Amendment No. 1 (the “Amendment” or “Form 10AK) to its Annual
Report on Form 10-K for the year ended DecembePB14 to restate the Company’s audited Consolid&tattments of Cash Flows for the
years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013 and trepdrom November 17, 2012 through December 312 Z‘Successor”) and January 1,
2012 through November 16, 2012 (“Predecessor”)chvhiere included in the Company’s Annual ReporForm 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2014 (the “Original Form 10-K"), onglly filed with the Securities and Exchange Consiais (the “SEC”) on March 26, 2015.

As disclosed in the Company’s Current Report om#8+K filed with the SEC on August 4, 2015, the Qxamy determined that its
consolidated financial statements as of and foy#as ended December 31, 2014 and 2013, anddqretiod from November 17, 2012
through December 31, 2012 (Successor) and forghegfrom January 1, 2012 through November 16 23®tedecessor) contained errors
related to the classification of certain subscriajuisition costs on its Consolidated Statemeh@®ash Flows. The Company determined that
certain cash payments related to subscriber atiguisiosts were improperly classified as investwegvities rather than operating activities in
its Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows. Thesesetlo not have any impact on the Company’s preshoissued consolidated balance
sheets or its statements of operations, or itsipusly reported total cash flows or Adjusted EBITDRor further information regarding the
restatement and additional changes to previousiyed financial statements, See Note 3 — Restatesh@unsolidated Statements of Cash
Flows in the accompanying consolidated financialeshents.

Accordingly, the following items of the Original Fro 10-K are being amended by this Amendment:

Part |

Iltem IA. — Risk Factors

Part Il

Item 7. — Management’s Discussion and Analysisinakcial Condition and Results of Operations
Item 8. — Financial Statements and Supplementatgt Da
Item 9A. — Controls and Procedures

The Company’s previously filed Annual Reports omrd.0K, which include the financial information that Hasen restated in tF
Form 10-K/A have not been amended. Financial infdgiom included in these reports should not be daligon and is superseded by this
Amendment. This filing does not reflect events odog after the filing of the Original Form 10-K eapt as noted above. Except for the
foregoing amended information, this Form 10-K/A tiounes to speak as of the date of the Original FbdrK and the Company has not
otherwise updated disclosures contained therereain to reflect events that occurred at a ladte.
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CAUTIONARY NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENT S

This annual report on Form 10-K includes forwardkimg statements regarding, among other thingsplaurs, strategies and prospects,
both business and financial. These statementsasedon the beliefs and assumptions of our manageAléhough we believe that our plans,
intentions and expectations reflected in or suggkby these forward-looking statements are reasenak cannot assure you that we will
achieve or realize these plans, intentions or eapieas. Forward-looking statements are inherestilyject to risks, uncertainties and
assumptions. Generally, statements that are nttriwial facts, including statements concerningmassible or assumed future actions, busine:
strategies, events or results of operations, avedia-looking statements. These statements maydoeged by, followed by or include the
words “believes,” “estimates,” “expects,” “projettforecasts,” “may,” “will,” “should,” “seeks,” plans,” “scheduled,” “anticipates” or
“intends” or similar expressions.

Forwardiooking statements are not guarantees of performarau should not put undue reliance on theserattés which speak only
of the date hereof. You should understand thatath@wing important factors, in addition to thosisclssed in “Risk Factors” and elsewhere in
this annual report on Form 10-K, could affect autufe results and could cause those results or otiteomes to differ materially from those
expressed or implied in our forward-looking statetse

« risks of the security and home automation itrguigncluding risks of and publicity surroundinigetsales, subscriber
origination and retention proce:

« the highly competitive nature of the securitgldaome automation industry and product introdungtiand promotional
activity by our competitors

« litigation, complaints or adverse publicii

» the impact of changes in consumer spendingpestt consumer preferences, local, regional, atidn@ economic
conditions, crime, weather, demographic trendseangloyee availability

« adverse publicity and product liability clain

« increases and/or decreases in utility and athergy costs, increased costs related to utitityowernmental
requirements; an

e costincreases or shortages in security and hotoenation technology products or compone

In addition, the origination and retention of newbscribers will depend on various factors, inclggibut not limited to, market
availability, subscriber interest, the availabilitf/suitable components, the negotiation of acd#eteontract terms with subscribers, local
permitting, licensing and regulatory complianced anr ability to manage anticipated expansion antire, train and retain personnel, the
financial viability of subscribers and general emmic conditions.

These and other factors that could cause actualtsde differ from those implied by the forwardsking statements in this annual report
on Form 10-K are more fully described in the “Rigkctors” section of this annual report on Form 10FKe risks described in “Risk Factors”
are not exhaustive. Other sections of this anre@dnt on Form 10-K describe additional factors timatld adversely affect our business,
financial condition or results of operations. Nagkfactors emerge from time to time and it is possible for us to predict all such risk factors
nor can we assess the impact of all such risk facto our business or the extent to which any famt@ombination of factors may cause actua
results to differ materially from those containadany forward-looking statements. All forward-loogistatements attributable to us or persons
acting on our behalf are expressly qualified irirteatirety by the foregoing cautionary statemeWe. undertake no obligations to update or
revise publicly any forward-looking statements, tilee as a result of new information, future evemtstherwise.

BASIS OF PRESENTATION

On November 16, 2012, APX Group, Inc. and two shistorical affiliates, V Solar Holdings, Inc. @Br”) and 2GIG Technologies, Inc.
(“2GIG"), were acquired by an investor group (cotleely, the “Investors”) comprised of certain isment funds affiliated with Blackstone
Capital Partners VI L.P. (“Blackstone” or the “Spgor’), and certain co-investors and managemenstove. This acquisition was
accomplished through certain mergers and rela@dja@ization transactions (collectively, the “Marg@ursuant to which each of APX
Group, Inc., Solar and 2GIG became indirect whollyaed subsidiaries of 313 Acquisition LLC (“Acquisn LLC"), an entity wholly-owned
by the Investors. Upon the consummation of the MergPX Group, Inc. and 2GIG became consolidatésisiiaries of APX Group Holdings,
Inc.
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(“Holdings” or “Parent Guarantor”), which in tura wholly-owned by APX Parent Holdco, Inc., whichtimn is wholly-owned by Acquisition
LLC, and Solar became a direct wholly-owned sulasjdof Acquisition LLC. Acquisition LLC, APX Paretitoldco, Inc. and Parent Guarantor
have no independent operations and were formeithéopurpose of facilitating the Merger.

The Merger, the equity investment by the Investensering into our revolving credit facility and® million of borrowings thereunder,
the issuance of $925.0 million aggregate princgmabunt of 6.375% Senior Secured Notes due 2019Z0%9 notes”) and $380.0 million
aggregate principal amount of 8.75% senior notes2020 (the “2020 notes”) and the payment of rdléees and expenses are collectively
referred to in this annual report on Form 10-Kles‘fTransactions.” In May 2013, we issued and solégdditional $200.0 million aggregate
principal amount of the 2020 notes. That offerimgeferred to in this annual report on Form 10-Khas*May 2013 Notes Offering.” In
December 2013, we issued and sold an additiondl.®28illion aggregate principal amount of the 20@@es. That offering is referred to in
this annual report on Form 10-K as the “Decembdi32Qotes Offering” (and together with the May 2@ es Offering, the “2013 Notes
Offerings”). In July 2014, we issued and sold aditahal $100.0 million aggregate principal amoohthe 2020 notes. That offering is
referred to in this annual report on Form 10-Kles‘tJuly 2014 Notes Offering” (and together witle 013 Notes Offerings, the “Subsequent
Notes Offering”).

Unless the context suggests otherwise, referendssi annual report on Form 10-K to “Vivint ® fig¢ “Company,” “we,” “us” and “our”
refer (1) prior to the Merger, to APX Group, Inadats subsidiaries and 2GIG and Solar, which werresolidated variable interest entities p
to the Merger and (2) after the Merger, to the Ra@uarantor and its subsidiaries, including 2Gi@he date of the 2GIG Sale (as defined
below). References to the “Issuer” refer to APX @rpInc., exclusive of its subsidiaries. Referertoeé$arent Guarantor” refer to Holdings,
exclusive of its subsidiaries.

Our historical and pro forma results of operatiprier to the Merger include the results of Solanjel was considered a variable interest
entity. As a result of the Merger, while Solar veagariable interest entity of the Company throughdate of Solar’s initial public offering in
October 2014, we have not been its primary beragfigince after the date of the Merger. Accordin§lglar has not been required to be
included in the consolidated financial statememth® Company in periods following the Merger. bidéion, the historical and pro forma
financial information included in this annual repon Form 10K include the results of operations of 2GIG up thgle April 1, 2013, which we
the date we completed the sale of 2GIG and itsididog (the “2GIG Sale”) to Nortek, Inc. (“Nortek”)n connection with the 2GIG Sale, we
entered into a five-year supply agreement with 2@@suant to which they will be the exclusive pdav of our control panel requirements,
subject to certain exceptions as provided in thgpluagreement. Due to our continuing involvemeith\2GIG under the supply agreement, it
is not considered a discontinued operation. Seendgament’s Discussion and Analysis of Financialdion and Results of Operations—
Basis of Presentation.” Solar and 2GIG do not aitidwt provide any credit support for any of ondebtedness, including indebtedness
incurred under our revolving credit facility, oudId notes or our 2020 notes.

The consolidated financial statements for periagsgding the Merger are presented for APX Group, dnd its wholly-owned
subsidiaries, as well as Solar, 2GIG and theireetye subsidiaries (the “Predecessor Period” oedBcessor” as context requires). The
consolidated financial statements for periods sedicey the Merger present the financial position eesillts of operations of Parent Guarantor
and its wholly-owned subsidiaries (“the Successaidel” or “Successor” as context requires). Theitaddconsolidated financial statements fol
the year ended December 31, 2012 are presentéadqgreriods: the Predecessor Period from Janua@12 through November 16, 2012, anc
the Successor Period from November 17 through DbeeBil, 2012, which relate to the period precettiegMerger and the period succeec
the Merger, respectively. The financial positiorl aesults of operations of the Successor are mapaoable to the financial position and res
of operations of the Predecessor due to the Mengethe application of purchase accounting in atzore with Accounting Standards
Cadification (*“ASC”) 805 Business Combinations

The unaudited pro forma statement of operationgii®ryear ended December 31, 2012 (“Pro Forma Yéas been prepared to give pro
forma effect to the Transactions as if they haduoedl on January 1, 2012. The unaudited pro forongaidated statement of operations data
included in this annual report on Form 10-K doetgiee effect to the Subsequent Notes Offerings.

The pro forma financial information is for inforni@tal purposes only and should not be considerdidative of actual results that would
have been achieved had the Transactions actualy tensummated on the dates indicated and do nporptio indicate results of operations
as of any future date or for any future period. Séanagement’s discussion and Analysis of FinanCiahdition and Results of Operation-
Unaudited Pro Forma Financial Information.”
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The term “attrition” as used in this annual repmitForm 10-K refers to the aggregate number of eldadt security and home automation
subscribers during a period divided by the montyghted average number of total security and hamtemation subscribers for such period.
Subscribers are considered cancelled when theyrtatenin accordance with the terms of their confrae terminated by us or if payment fr
such subscribers is deemed uncollectible (wheeaat four monthly billings become past due). Safeontracts to third parties and certain
subscriber residential moves are excluded fromattréion calculation. The term “CAGR?”, as usedtlis annual report on Form X)-refers tc
the compound annual growth rate over the spegifexebd. The term “net subscriber acquisition cossused in this annual report on Form 1(
K refers to the direct and indirect costs to createw security and home automation subscribers@ melude commissions, equipment,
installation, marketing and other allocations (G&Ad overhead); less activation fees and up sedima®. These costs exclude residuals and
long-term equity direct-to-home expenses. The t8RR” means the internal rate of return per subscribleukzed based on our estimates
assumptions related to net subscriber acquisitish ger subscriber, net servicing cost per subscrdverage RMR per new subscriber and
attrition. The term “RMR” is the recurring monthigvenue billed to an individual security and horageation subscriber. The term “total
RMR” is the aggregate RMR billed to all securityddrmome automation subscribers. The term “total mifiars” is the aggregate number of our
active security and home automation subscribettsea¢nd of a given period. The term “average RMRspbscriber” is the total RMR divided
by the total subscribers. This is also commonlgnreid to as Average Revenue per User, or “ARPUE€ {Bhm “average RMR per new
subscriber” is the aggregate RMR for new subscsibeiginated during a period divided by the numifanew subscribers originated during
such period.

Unless specified otherwise, amounts in this anre@drt on Form 10-K are presented in United StgtésS.”) dollars. Defined terms in
the financial statements have the meanings asctibem in the financial statements.

PART |

ITEM 1. BUSINESS
Company Overview

We are one of the largest Smart Home companie®ithMmerica. In February 2013, we were recognizgéorbes magazine as one of
America’s Most Promising Companies. Our fully imztgd and remotely accessible residential seryitaorm offers subscribers a suite of
products and services that includes interactivarstyc life-safety, energy management and homeraatwmn. We utilize a scalable “direct-to-
home” sales model to originate a majority of owvrseibscribers, which allows us control over ourswéiscriber acquisition costs. We have
built a high-quality subscriber portfolio, with average credit score of 714, as of December 3Y4,28dough our underwriting criteria and
compensation structure. Unlike many of our compegjtwho generally focus on either subscriber natjon or servicing, we originate, install,
service and monitor our entire subscriber baseghvailows us to control the overall subscriber eigree. We seek to deliver a quality
subscriber experience with a combination of inniweanew products and services and a commitmentgtomer service, which together with
our focus on originating high-quality new subscrifydas enabled us to achieve attrition rateswkeaielieve are historically at or below
industry averages. Utilizing this model, we havétlauportfolio of approximately 894,000 subscribeas of December 31, 2014.
Approximately 95% and 92% of our revenues durirgytbars ended December 31, 2014 and 2013, resggctionsisted of contractually
committed recurring revenues, which have histogiaasulted in consistent and predictable operatasylts.

We believe our sales model allows us to originatessribers at lower net subscriber acquisition ¢@st multiple of RMR) and achiev:
higher adoption rate of new service packages coaa@r many of our competitors. We generate the nitgjof our new subscribers through
our direct-to-home sales channel, which uses tednrained seasonal sales representatives. Foretireended December 31, 2014, we
generated approximately 76% of our new subscrithecgigh our direct-to-home sales channel. In thenoel we have historically employed
between 2,000 and 2,500 sales representativespgndximately 1,000 installation technicians, whe both largely commission based and
deployed in targeted geographical locations. Téssilts in a highly variable cost structure, sulbserdensity and the ability to complete same-
day installations. We diversify our subscriber aragion efforts with an “inside sales” channel, ethincludes our internal-sales call centers,
radio, internet and other media advertising, a$ asethird-party lead generators.

We use underwriting policies that focus on creatifggh-quality subscriber portfolio with an attiige return profile with an unlevered
IRR in the low to mid 20% range, depending on caxttral terms. As of December 31, 2014, based oEEre at the time of contract
origination, approximately 94% of our subscribeasl la FICO score of 625 or greater, and the avefHg® score of our portfolio was 714. In
addition, for the year ended December 31, 2014, 81# of our new subscribers paid activation fee as of December 31, 2014,
approximately 88% of our total subscribers areupedn an automatic payment method. We believedtiginating highquality subscribers ar
our commitment to customer service increases fietemthich leads to predictable cash flows.

5
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Our business generates positive cash flows fronvioggmonitoring and service revenues, which we skdo invest in new subscriber
acquisitions and development of additional prodacid services. During the year ended December®@4 and 2013, respectively, we
generated $563.7 million and $500.9 million in te&venue, including $537.7 million and $460.1 roill, respectively, in monitoring revenue.
See “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Firei@ondition and Results of Operations—LiquiditydaCapital Resources.”

In fiscal 2013, we completed the 2GIG Sale. Purst@the terms of the 2GIG Sale, Nortek acquiréadfathe outstanding common stock
of 2GIG for aggregate cash consideration of appnaxély $148.9 million. In connection with the 2G8ale, we retained sole ownership of the
intellectual property and exclusive rights withgest to the next generation of our control panetsertain peripheral equipment. In addition,
we entered into a five-year supply agreement W@ pursuant to which they will be the exclusiveyider of our control panel
requirements, subject to certain exceptions. Tiragef the credit agreement governing our revolhdreglit facility and the indentures
governing the notes permitted us, subject to aedanditions, to distribute all or a portion of thet proceeds from the 2GIG Sale to our
stockholders. In May 2013, we distributed $60.0ionl of such proceeds to our stockholders in reiaan these provisions. The remaining
proceeds have been used to fund our businesstastior otherwise used for general corporate p@gpasnd we do not intend to make future
dividends to our stockholders in reliance on th@seisions.

The Residential Security and Automation Industry

According to Barnes Associates estimates, the tdeBket for monitoring and related residential elawic security services was over $23
billion in revenue in 2014 and has grown every Yeathe past 10 years. The penetration rate fierrttarket was estimated at approximately
19%, as of December 31, 2014. This market is cleniaed by stable revenues from contractually cott@giirecurring monthly payments and
has proven to be recession-resistant through ghévi@ economic downturns.

ABI Research estimates the total number of NortreAcan subscribers of home automation servicesgnalv from approximately
877,000 in 2011 to over 13.1 million during 201&i dotal annual North American revenues from theseices to increase from an estimated
$3.3 billion in 2011 to $7.5 billion in 2018.

Products and Service Packages

Our products and service packages allow subscrtbeesmotely control, monitor and manage the séguife-safety, video, lighting,
access control and HVAC systems within their horg&sce January 2010, substantially all of the systeve have installed are interactive and
Smart Home enabled. In early 2014, we launchedn¥8ky™, an integrated platform consisting of otopietary SkyControl panel,
equipment, cloud software, mobile application antine experience. Each of our service packages ltif§erentiated set of equipment and
functionality, utilizing the Vivint Sky platform. ldtorically, we have offered contracts to subseslranging in length from 36 to 60 months.
We offer three service packages: Smart SecuritygrSBEnergy, and Smart Control. In addition, we offeoducts and services that include
wireless internet and cloud based data storagthemaif which was material to our overall businessperating results for the year ended
December 31, 2014.

Smart Security

This service package provides subscribers witldesdial security monitoring, wireless intrusion gouoent, and emergency and non-
emergency alerts. The current standard price oBthart Security service package is $53.99 per mamthincludes the SkyControl panel,
which communicates wirelessly with other equipnemd features an LCD touchscreen, two-way voice comcation, and remote control
capabilities, three door or window sensors, a nmotietector, a key fob and a yard sign. Subscritensselect additional equipment, such as
glass-break detectors, and safety devices, inadustimoke and carbon monoxide detectors and perpana pendants, to customize the systen
for their particular needs. Like all of our homeviees, subscribers can operate the system remthieygh a smart phone application or a wel
enabled device. All equipment in the Smart Secuggtywice package is connected wirelessly to theC8hkyrol panel, which then communicates
through a wireless infrastructure to our two Ultdiredundant central monitoring stations.

Smart Energy

Our Smart Energy service package provides subsgsrihe ability to monitor, control and conservergyausage through the SkyControl
panel or remotely through a smartphone applicaiiosn web-enabled device. The current standard pfitee Smart Energy service package is
$59.99 per month and includes a smart thermosthadamp/small appliance control, in addition toodlthe services that are included with our
Smart Security package. The SkyControl panel iatiegrwith motion sensors, thermostats and lampmall appliances to adjust settings
based on occupancy. With our smart thermostatcsilless can also remotely control their home terapge from any web enabled device as
well as opt-in to automatically program their thestat.
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Smart Control

Our Smart Control service package is a fully inéed suite of Smart Home products and servicestmatects various in-home
technologies all through a single platform. Therent standard price of the Smart Control serviagkage is $69.99 per month and includes all
of the services that are included with the Smacu8ty package along with the following “Smart Hohaeld-ons: (1) indoor camera,

(2) automatic door lock or deadbolt, (3) smart thestat, and a (4) lamp/small appliance module. \t¥ith package subscribers have the ability
to remotely manage their home security and loclgaknand monitor the status of the automatic dooks as well as the ability to remotely
monitor activity in their home through video sutiaice and text alerts.

For the year ended December 31, 2014, 69% of nbacsibers selected additional services beyond marSSecurity package. In order
to provide integrated products and services requdsy our subscribers, we continually review owrdoict and service packages and pricing,
and as a result we expect to modify our productsardice packages and pricing in the future.

Existing subscribers may order additional prodoctspgrade their current services. When they dg thiocal field service technician
performs the installation at the subscriber’s howtach may result in additional service chargesaddition, the subscriber is typically billed
for the cost of the equipment installed and théitfRincreases for the additional service offerings.

Operations

Our management team has a proven record of stnawgtlyand operational excellence and, as a reétiiedr leadership, we have
successfully grown revenue and total RMR every gaare 2006. Our CEO, Todd Pedersen, a visionagele encourages a highly
entrepreneurial culture that fosters innovationpfded the Company in 1999. Our senior managemamt é¥erages over 17 years of
experience in high growth or large public companiegonnection with the Transactions, senior managnt and employees invested $155.2
million (a portion of which was used for the Invast acquisition of Solar) in the Company.

We are one of a few Smart Home solutions companis®rth America that generates substantially fltorevenue organically from a
fully integrated model that encompasses all aspdtse subscriber experience, including salesalladion, servicing and monitoring. This
approach allows us to deliver a consistent, qualityscriber experience. We believe this contribtdesstrong adoption rate for service
packages beyond Smart Security and attrition i@tes below industry average. During the year erldecember 31, 2014, 69% of new
subscribers selected service packages beyond Seautity. We also enhance the quality of our substs’ experience through proven
operational performance. During the year ended iéee 31, 2014, our average response time to alaassapproximately 12 seconds from
the time the signal was received at our monitositagions. We believe the enhanced functionalitgwofofferings along with the introduction
innovative new service packages, results in ine@asbscriber usage. An average of 81% of our gadveubscribers indicated use of their
system at least once per week during the year eddedmber 31, 2014. We believe increased subsargdagye contributes to higher customer
satisfaction and may lead to lower attrition.

Our fully integrated subscriber experience allows sales representatives, customer service refetses and installation technicians to
work closely together to provide the subscribehwvaih integrated process from contact originatiodaity use. We believe our field service
technicians and customer service representatiiegda quality customer service experience thtaeices our brand and improves customer
satisfaction. Customer service representativesrgiypeesolve a majority of maintenance and servaétated questions over the telephone or
through remote-access to the subscriber’s systegnaléd believe we have higher Net Promoter Scaresdely used measure of customer
satisfaction and loyalty) than our primary compmettand we have been recognized by third-partyrizgons for providing outstanding
customer service.

Field Service

We employ full-time field service technicians (“FSPthroughout North America, who reside in thansce territories, to provide
prompt service to our subscribers. FSPs underg@raimensive training on our products and servic&ages. The FSPs typically focus on
maintenance and service issues, but also instadiyots and services for a portion of our new subsrs, primarily those originated through
inside sales.
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We do not maintain costly physical warehouse, fretabffice locations for our FSPs. Instead, wevide FSPs with adequate supplies of
products and materials and a company-branded seveituicle. Field service inventories are replerddne shipments from our central
warehouse.

We utilize software to schedule appointments, réeténicians and followsp with subscribers to ensure that the servicepea®rmed tc
the subscriber’s satisfaction. All of our full-tink&SPs receive updates via a smartphone or talikatidg their next service appointment or
installation through our customer relationship ng@ament system (“CRM”).

Customer Service and Alarm Monitoring

Our customer service centers are located in Utah o central monitoring facilities are locatedutah and Minnesota and are fully
redundant. Both our customer service center anttadenonitoring facilities are open 24 hours a dagays a week, and 365 days a year. We
have received industry awards for our customeriseand alarm monitoring operations.

All employees who work in customer service unddrgming on billing related issues as well as sar\package questions. Customer
service representatives are required to pass bagkdrchecks and, depending upon their job functiwey require licensing by the state of
Utah. All professionals who work in our monitorifagilities undergo comprehensive training and ariired to pass background checks and,
in certain cases, licensing tests or other chexkbtain the required licensing. Customer servigEasentatives generally resolve a majority of
maintenance and service related questions ovéelitighone or through remote-access to the subsaipanel. Issues not resolved by custc
service require a service technician to visit thiesgriber's home, which may result in a trip chag#he subscriber.

Billing

Our billing representatives are located in our Utfites. We cross-train our billing representagiva customer service with the goal of
improving the subscriber experience and to increassonnel flexibility. Billing representatives aso required to pass background checks
and, depending upon their job function, may alspire licensing by the state of Utah. A majorityonir subscribers pay electronically either
via ACH or credit card. A subscriber who pays elemically is generally placed on a billing cycleskd on their contract origination date and,
in certain instances, the subscriber may choosehhiing date. Our customers billed via direcvoice are either billed on the first day of the
month with payment due on the 25th day of the mamtlon the 15th day of the month with payment da¢he 10th day of the following
month. Subscribers are billed in advance for thrnthly services based on the subscriber’s billiyge and not calendar month.

From time to time, for various reasons we may issueedit to a subscriber for a payment otherwise thcluding addressing subscriber
concerns or obtaining the renewal of a subscribetract. Any such credit decreases revenue andatdlgitted on the relevant subscriber
contract in the amount of such credit.

Key Systems

In March 2014, we implemented our new CRM softwareich is an integrated customer relationship man@nt and billing system.
The CRM is based on well-established enterpriséesgtaud solution. We believe this new CRM will Eeavith our business, providing the
flexibility to accommodate the multiple customeppart and billing models resulting from the antatigd expansion in our product and service
packages over time. Historically, our internallywd®ped relationship management system (“*CMS”) usedd by most of our departments for a
wide variety of functions, including, but not lirad to, new subscriber originations, customer supgrmt inventory tracking in the field. Our
new CRM replaced all CMS functionality except fld service inventory tracking, and enables orilereaolution. It also allows for
operational efficiency by not requiring the entfydata multiple times and improving data accuraayditionally, the data is replicated to bot
reporting and a business intelligence server tagegrocessing time, as well as to an offsite sarsed for disaster recovery purposes.

Software Platform

Over 80% of our new subscribers installed in 204 our proprietary Vivint Sky platform, consistiofour SkyControl panel,
equipment, cloud software, mobile application anline interface. The SkyControl panel is connedtethe Internet and mobile devices
through the Vivint Sky cloud software. The VivinkySplatform enables subscribers using SkyContraldeess their systems remotely either
directly from the web or through our free VivintyB&pp and it facilitates
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communications between the panel and our monitaiations. The Vivint Sky platform allows our sulisers the ability to remotely arm and
disarm their SkyControl security systems, receleetgand notifications regarding activity in thesme, control home automation products
such as thermostats, door locks, lighting contaold view live and recorded video.

Go!Control was our primary panel installed in nayescribers’ homes prior to the launch of Vivint §Kgtform. We license certain
communications infrastructure, software and ses/toesupport the Go!Control panel from Alarm.corheTGo!Control panel is also connected
to the Internet and smart phone and tablet apmitathrough Alarm.com’s hosted platform. Alarm.cafso provides the web interface and
technology to enable our subscribers using Gol@bptnels to access their systems remotely aratitithtes communication between the
panel and monitoring stations through third padjutar networks.

Subscriber Contracts — Security and Home Automation

We seek to ensure that our subscribers understamgroduct and service packages, along with thet&eys of their contracts by
conducting two live, interactive telephonic surveyith every subscriber. The first survey is conédagprior to the execution of the contract anc
installation, and the second survey is conducttst #ie installation is completed. These telephsniwveys are recorded and stored in our
CRM, enabling easy access and review.

Term and Termination

Historically, we have offered contracts to subserstthat range in length from 36 to 60 months,ettlip automatic monthly renewal a
the expiration of the initial term. A majority ofilgscriber originations since the beginning of 28a8e 60 month contract lengths. Subscribers
have a right of rescission period prescribed byliegple law during which such subscriber may camitelcontract without penalty or
obligation. These rescission periods range from Botdays, depending on the jurisdiction in whictubscriber resides. As a company policy
we provide new subscribers 70 years of age and al@8 day right of rescission. Once the applicabdeission period expires, ownership of
the equipment transfers to the subscriber anduhscsiber is responsible for the monthly serviessfunder the contract.

Upfront and Monthly Services Fees

Our subscribers typically pay an activation feddaa waived by us) and the first month’s servicthattime of installation. Under the
contract, we have the right to pass through testhescriber any increase in third party costs ssalitiity or governmental expenses. We have
the right to increase the monthly service feebatime of renewal with prior written notice.

Other Terms

We provide our subscribers with maintenance freehafge for the first 120 days. After 120 days,wilerepair or replace defective
equipment without charge, but we typically bill thebscriber a trip charge for each service vika. utility or governmental agency requires a
change to equipment or service after installatibthe system, the subscriber must pay for the eneip and labor associated with the requirec
change.

We do not provide insurance or warrant that théesgswill prevent a burglary, fire, hold-up or anych other event. Our contracts limit
our liability to a maximum of $2,000 per event amthere permissible, provide a one-year statutémifdtions to file an action against us. We
may cease or suspend monitoring and repair sedviego, among other things, work stoppages, wegthene service interruption,
government requirements, subscriber bankruptcyorpayment by subscribers after we have given adltiat their service is being cancelled
due to such non-payment.

Suppliers

We provide our services through a panel instaltaie@premises of our subscribers. As of DecemlheP314, approximately 74% of our
installed panels were 2GIG Go!Control panels, axiprately 19% were SkyControl panels and approxitgat& were Honeywell LYNX and
Vista panels. Since early 2014, our primary panstalled for new subscribers is the SkyControl paftee 2GIG Go!Control panel was our
primary panel for subscribers from the beginnin@@10 through early 2014. In fiscal 2013, we conguleéhe 2GIG Sale as described above
under “—Company Overview.” Pursuant to the termthef2GIG Sale, Nortek acquired all of the outstag@ommon stock of 2GIG for
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aggregate cash consideration of approximately $ldfllion. In connection with the 2GIG Sale, weaieed sole ownership of the intellectual
property and exclusive rights with respect to thgtrgeneration of our control panels and certaipperal equipment. We expect this
proprietary equipment will be a critical componehbur future offerings. In addition, we enteretbia five-year supply agreement with 2GIG,
pursuant to which they will be the exclusive pravidf our control panel requirements and certaiipperal equipment, subject to certain
exceptions.

Generally, our third-party distributors maintaisatety stock of certain key items to cover any mswpply chain disruptions. Where
possible we also utilize dual sourcing methods itminrize the risk of a disruption from a single slipp

Sales and Marketing

We have two primary sales channels: direct-to-hantkinside sales. For the year ended Decembel034, 2ve generated approximately
76% of our new subscribers through our direct-todasales channel and 24% through inside sales.alis/é our approach to managing our
sales channels allows us to originate subscrideagawer net subscriber acquisition cost (as aipialof RMR) and achieve a higher adoption
rate of new service packages compared to our cétmEetOur net subscriber acquisition cost in 2064 in the $1,900 to $1,950 range, a
substantial portion of which is variable. Our nglhscriber acquisition cost represented approximaeltimes our average RMR per new
subscriber added in 2014. We are continually evimgavays to improve the effectiveness of our stbsc acquisition activities in both our
direct-to-home and inside sales channels.

Because we believe attrition is highly correlatéthWwICO scores and payment type, our compensatioigture incentivizes quality
subscriber generation by tying compensation togli@stors. We have enhanced our underwriting daitgver time, resulting in an average
FICO score of our subscriber portfolio of 714, wsib-600 FICO score subscribers representing grgyoximately 2% of our subscriber
portfolio and approximately 94% of our subscribeasing FICO scores of 625 or greater, as of Dece®@bg2014. We plan to maintain our
focus on our underwriting standards and expecbidicue to structure our sales compensation tantindee sales representatives based on the
creation of high-quality subscribers.

Direct-to-Home Sales

Our direct-to-home sales channel is typically caseat of between 2,000 and 2,500 sales represesgatikio benefit from our recruiting
and training programs designed to promote profesdiem and sales productivity. Each year, betwepril And August, our sales teams travel
to approximately 100 pre-selected markets througNouth America to sell our product and servicekaaes. Markets are selected each year
based on a number of factors, including demograpbpiapulation density and our past experiencenggili these markets. Because expenses
associated with our direct-to-home sales chanmetimectly correlated with new subscriber acquisitive avoid a large fixed cost base and ar
able to deploy a flexible go-to-market strategyrgweear. A typical sales team consists of approxétya20 sales representatives and a
designated sales manager. Each sales team is sgbpgrapproximately 10 trained installation teciams, including a manager for the
technicians. There are also regional managers wherglly oversee six to eight sales or installatéams.

Inside Sales

Subscribers originated through our inside salesmélshave grown as a percentage of our total atgins from approximately 10% in
2009 to approximately 24% for the year ended De@grh, 2014. Our inside sales channel utilizes bdibund and outbound leads provided
by our marketing department to sell to subscrilretee United States and Canada. The marketingrttepat generates leads through multiple
sources, both digital and traditional. Leads geteeréhrough digital marketing sources include pardanic and local search and display
advertising. Traditional lead sources include raatiwertising, shared mail, email remarketing amditparty lead generation affiliates. Upon
receiving a lead or an inquiry from a potential striber requesting information on our products sevice packages, one of our inside sales
representatives calls the potential subscriberstifxj subscribers wishing to upgrade equipmenhange their service packages are also
processed through inside sales.

Sales and Origination Strategy and Compensation

Sales representatives receive compensation basie ammber of qualifying sales during the previaegk. Criteria for qualifying sales
include, but are not limited to, the amount of RMIRe humber of points of protection, subscriber@l§ore, etc. To motivate sales
representatives and help align compensation wits@iber quality, we have

10



Table of Contents

created a point system. The point system provigdesales representative flexibility to tailor tHféedng to the subscriber’s needs while
maintaining control through a direct link to théesarepresentative’s compensation. In additiongmificant portion of the direct-to-home sales
representatives compensation is not paid until after the compietf the selling season and is paid only on tisoescribers who satisfy cert:
criteria. In order to retain our sales professisnade pay ongoing residual commissions to salegseptatives and sales management for all
active subscriber accounts generated by them. 8alaagement also receives residual commissiorecfore subscriber accounts generated b
sales representatives working for that manager.

Strategy
Strong Platform for Growth

We have established a history of capitalizing onbusiness model and technology to offer new prodond service packages, as
evidenced by the launch of Smart Home productssandces in 2011 and the Vivint Sky platform angGéantrol panel in early 2014. Our
innovative products and service packages have ethais| to increase average RMR per new subscriter $44.50 in 2009 to $61.89 for the
year ended December 31, 2014. Going forward, venihto capitalize on the low incremental costsfiehtin our business model and exist
technology to increase market penetration and énsides. We expanded our business to New Zeala&@ili® and may consider expansion intc
other markets over time.

Innovation

We strive to bring easy-to-use technology to otnsstibers, which allow them to efficiently use @uoducts and services. As evidenced
by the launch of our proprietary Vivint Sky platfioin early 2014, we have a reputation for develgg@nd deploying products and services for
the home that have robust functionality and thateasy to install and use. Both our SkyControl@ndControl panels provide a platform to
introduce new products and service packages tsuhscribers. Another example of our emphasis owiglirgy innovative solutions to our
subscribers is our acquisition of Space Monkey, (f8pace Monkey”) in August 2014, which providedata cloud storage technology
solution that will integrate with our Vivint Sky aiform. By focusing on innovation, and enhancingfimctionality of our existing products
and service packages, we believe we can incre&serdoer usage and customer satisfaction, theretanpally lowering our attrition.

To enhance the functionality of the products amdises included in our systems, we use variousltharty manufacturers and service
providers in addition to our iheuse development and design of certain productsarvices. We believe that developing, designimyselling
our own products and services that are differesdifitom those of our competitors will be a critidaiver of our future success. Therefore, we
expect to continue introducing new, innovative prad and services, including panels and peripheaiag with integrated cloud services. '
own the design of these new products, and in ceciatumstances leverage partnerships with thirtgs particularly Original Design
Manufacturers for the manufacture of new produetg.( video cameras, thermostats, door lock hamlvedc.). By vertically integrating the
development and design of our products and serwibsour existing sales and customer service dietsy we believe we are able to more
quickly respond to market needs, and better unaledsbur subscribers’ interactions and engagemehtauir products and services. This
provides critical data enabling us to improve tbaver, usability and intelligence of these prodwastd services.

We have invested in a new innovation center in L&kah to facilitate the research and developménew products and services, both
within and beyond our existing service packagestd3sionals and engineers at our innovation céraee expertise in all aspects of the
development process, including hardware developpseftivare development, design and quality asseranc

Competition

The residential electronic security services inguist highly competitive, but fragmented. Our magompetitors include The ADT
Corporation, Protection One, Inc., Stanley Seci8jutions, a subsidiary of Stanley Black and Deck#onitronics International, Inc., a
subsidiary of Ascent Capital Group, Inc., Tyco grted Security, a subsidiary of Tyco Internatidrtal, Comcast Corporation, AT&T Inc.
and numerous smaller providers with regional cal@aoverage. We also face, or may in the future,faompetition from other providers of
information and communication products and seryiaasumber of which have significantly greater talpnd other resources than we do.

Companies in our industry compete primarily onliasis of price in relation to the quality of thegucts and services they provide. The
Company’s brand and reputation, market visibiligrvice and product capabilities, quality, pridécent
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direct-to-home sales channel and the ability totide and sell to prospective customers are alidescthat contribute to competitive success in
the residential electronic services industry. Wekasize the quality of the service we provide,eathan focusing primarily on price
competition. We believe we compete effectively agaother national, regional and local securityralenonitoring companies by offering our
subscribers an attractive value proposition combimigh our proven, award-winning customer service.

Although we face additional competition from newrgeetitors such as cable and telecommunications aniag, having installed over
1.5 million integrated security systems we beliexeare well positioned to compete with them becawesdenefit from more than 16 years of
experience, our efficient direct-to-home sales deaand our award-winning customer service.

Intellectual Property

Patents, trademarks, copyrights, trade secretsotied proprietary rights are important to our bess and we continuously refine our
intellectual property strategy to maintain and ioyg our competitive position. We seek protectiomew intellectual property to protect our
ongoing technological innovations and strengthenboand, and we believe we take appropriate actgainst infringements or
misappropriations of our intellectual property tgby others. We review third-party intellectuabperty rights to help avoid infringement, and
to identify strategic opportunities. We typicallgter into confidentiality agreements to furthertpit our intellectual property.

We own a portfolio of issued U.S. patents and pamdl.S. and foreign patent applications that reifat variety of security, home
automation and wireless internet technologieszatiliin our business. We also own a portfolio adraarks, including domestic and foreign
registrations for Vivint ® , and are a licenseevafious patents, from our third-party suppliers sewhnology partners. Due to the importance
that customers place on reputation and trust wheing a decision on a security provider, our brisnetitical to our business. Patents for
individual products or technologies extend for vagyperiods according to the date of patent filimgyrant and the legal term of patents in the
various countries where patent protection is bsimgght. Trademark rights may potentially extenddoger periods of time and are dependen
upon national laws and use of the marks.

Government Regulations
United States

We are subject to a variety of laws, regulations lE@ensing requirements of federal, state andllagthorities.

We are also required to obtain various licensespanahits from state and local authorities in cotieacwith the operation of our
businesses. The majority of states regulate in soarer the sale, installation, servicing, monitgror maintenance of electronic security
systems. In the states that do regulate such ggtsgcurity service companies and their employeedypically required to obtain and maintain
licenses, certifications or similar permits frone ttate as a condition to engaging in the secseityices business.

In addition, a number of local governmental auttiesihave adopted ordinances regulating the aetivitf security service companies,
typically in an effort to reduce the number of @&allarms in their jurisdictions. These ordinandénapt to reduce false alarms by, among othe
things, requiring permits for individual electrorsecurity systems, imposing fines (on either thesstiber or the company) for false alarms,
discontinuing police response to notification ofaa@arm activation after a subscriber has had aicenumber of false alarms, and requiring
various types of verification prior to dispatchiagthorities.

The sales and marketing practices of security sermdmpanies are regulated by the federal, statéoanl agencies. These laws and
regulations typically place restrictions on the mamin which electronic security products and ssgsican be advertised and sold, and to
provide residential purchasers with certain regmisgghts. In certain circumstances, consumergutéin laws also require the disclosure of
certain information in the contract between theusigcservices company and the subscriber andgditian, may prohibit the inclusion of
certain terms or conditions of sale in such congrac
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Canada

Companies operating in the electronic securityiserindustry in Canada are subject to provinciglitation of their business activities,
including the regulation of direct-to-home salesvéties and contract terms and the sale, insialtednd maintenance of electronic security
systems. Most provinces in Canada regulate dicebbtne sales activities and contract terms andnethat salespeople and the company on
whose behalf the salesperson is selling obtaimsies to carry on business in that province. Conspna¢ection laws in Canada also require
that certain terms and conditions be included enabntract between the electronic security seryicegider and the subscriber.

A number of Canadian municipalities require sultmms to obtain licenses to use electronic secal#tyms within their jurisdiction.
Municipalities also commonly require entities engédn direct-to-home sales within their municipatib obtain business licenses.

Customers

Our business is not dependent on any single custonaefew customers, the loss of which would haveaterial adverse effect on the
respective market or on us as a whole. No indididuatomer accounted for more than 10% of our clidested 2014 revenue.

Seasonality

Our direct-to-home sales are seasonal in natuteanstubstantial majority of our new subscriberioatons occurring during a sales
season from April through August. We make investimé@nthe recruitment of our direct-to-home satmsé and the inventory prior to each
sales season. We experience increases in net sadrsacquisition costs during these time periods.

The management of our sales channels has histgriealilted in a consistent sales pattern thatlesals to more accurately forecast
subscriber originations. The chart below depictsghrcentage of new subscribers originated eack wfg@e April through August sales
season in 2014, 2013, 2012, 2011 and 2010.

= ol Mow
Sy

Segment Information

Prior to the date of the 2GIG Sale, the Companyooted business through two segments, Vivint anif52Ghese segments were
managed and evaluated separately by managemetua theedifferences in their products and servi¥és.operate primarily in three geogray
regions: United States, Canada and New Zealandop@eations in New Zealand are considered immaianid are reported in conjunction w
the United States. See Note 19 in the accompamygngolidated financial statements for more inforaragbout our business and geographic
segments.
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Employees

As of December 31, 2014, we had approximately 3fa0@ime employees, excluding our seasonal diteghome installation
technicians, sales representatives and certaim stipport professionals. None of our employeesarently represented by labor unions or
trade councils. We believe that we generally haaxadgelationships with our employees. The majasftpur employees are located in the Salt
Lake City metropolitan area. Employees locatedidatef the Salt Lake City metropolitan area arenaiiily comprised of our FSPs, who
service our subscribers and are located in akstatthe United States except Maine and VermoahtadirCanadian provinces except Quebec,
and the monitoring professionals located at ouritodng station in South St. Paul, Minnesota.

Corporate Information

APX Group Holdings, Inc. was incorporated underltves of the state of Delaware on October 26, 2@i&.principal executive offices
are located at 4931 North 300 West, Provo, UtalD84fhd our telephone number is (801) 377-9111.

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

You should carefully consider the following risktfas and all other information contained in thisraual report on Form 10-K. The risks
and uncertainties described below are not the oisks facing us. Additional risks and uncertaintibat we are unaware of, or those we
currently deem immaterial, also may become impariactors that affect us. The following risks comdterially and adversely affect our
business, financial condition, cash flows or resolt operations

Risks Related To Our Business
Our industry is highly competitive.

We operate in a highly competitive industry. Weef@ompetition from several large electronic resi@security companies that have or
may have greater capital and other resources thaWe also face, and may in the future face, coitiqefrom other providers of information
and communication products and services, includaige and telecommunications companies, that meg geeater capital and resources thar
us. Competitors that are larger in scale and heaater resources may benefit from greater econoofissale and other lower costs that permi
them to offer more favorable terms to consumerd(iting lower service costs) than we offer, causiagh consumers to choose to enter into
contracts with such competitors. For instance,eahbld telecommunications companies are expandioghia monitored security industry and
are bundling their existing offerings with monitdrgecurity services. In some instances, it appgbatdshe monitored security services
component of such bundled offerings is significanthderpriced and, in effect, subsidized by thegaharged for the other services offered by
these companies. These pricing alternatives méyeine subscribers’ desire to subscribe to ourices\at rates and fees we consider
appropriate. These competitors may also benefit fyjoeater name recognition and superior advertisiragketing and promotional resources.
To the extent that such competitors allocate greatmurces to markets where our business is nmighéytconcentrated, the negative impact or
our business may increase over time. In additiqotentially reducing the number of new subscrilvezsare able to originate, increased
competition could also result in higher attritiaias that would negatively impact us over time. baeefit offered to larger competitors from
economies of scale and other lower costs may baified)by an economic downturn in which subscrijgisa greater emphasis on lower cos
products or services. In addition, we face comioetifrom regional competitors that concentratertbepital and other resources in targeting
local markets.

We also face potential competition from improvensdntdo-it-yourself (“DIY”) and self-monitoring steams, which enable consumers to
install their own systems and monitor and contneiithome environment, without third-party involvent or the need for a subscription
agreement, through the Internet, text messageslseonaimilar communications. Continued pricinggsure or improvements in technology
and shifts in consumer preferences towards DIY satidmonitoring could adversely impact our subsaribase or pricing structure and have a
material and adverse effect on our business, finhoondition, results of operations and cash flows

We resist competing on price alone because weueelie have competitive advantages such as a repufat a high level of service ai
security. However, with cable and telecommunicaioompanies actively targeting the Smart Home maukeé expanding into the monitored
security space, and with large technology compasiesinding into the connected home market throbgluévelopment of their own solutions
or the acquisition of other companies with Smartridcsolution offerings, this increased competitioald result in pricing pressure, a shift in
customer preferences
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towards the services of these companies and rexiuamarket share. Continued pricing pressure ftoase competitors or failure to achieve
pricing based on the competitive advantages prsiyadentified above could prevent us from mainitagncompetitive price points for our
products and services resulting in lost customeis our inability to attract new customers anddaw adverse effect on our business, finai
condition, results of operations and cash flows.

We rely on long-term retention of subscribers angbscriber attrition can have a material adverse &t on our results.

We incur significant upfront costs to originate nswbscribers. Accordingly, our long-term performaimgdependent on our subscribers
remaining with us for several years after the ahitérm of their contracts, which is generally bedw 36 and 60 months. A significant reasol
attrition occurs when subscribers relocate andalaetonnect. Subscriber relocations are impacyerthbnges in the housing market. See “—
Our business is subject to macroeconomic and deapbgr factors that may negatively impact our resoftoperations.” Some other factors
that can increase subscriber attrition include fgmls experienced with our product or service gualibfavorable general economic conditic
and the preference for lower pricing of competitpreducts and services over ours. If we fail tefr®ur customers for a sufficiently long
period of time, our profitability, business, finaalccondition, results of operations and cash fleasld be materially and adversely affected.
Our inability to retain subscribers for a long tecould materially and adversely affect our businéeancial condition, cash flows or results of
operations.

In addition, we amortize or depreciate our captali subscriber acquisition costs based on the astihiife of the subscriber
relationships. If attrition rates were to rise siigantly, we may be required to accelerate the @ization of expenses or the depreciation of
assets related to such subscribers or to impalr assets, which could adversely impact our repda@AP financial results.

Litigation, complaints or adverse publicity couldegatively impact our business, financial conditi@md results of operations.

From time to time, we engage in the defense of,raad in the future be subject to, certain claimad avsuits arising in the ordinary
course of our business. For example, we have bamed as defendants in putative class actions atjegolations of wage and hour laws, the
Telephone Consumer Protection Act, common law pgivand consumer protection laws. In addition, weesatand that the U.S. Attorney’s
office for the District of Utah is engaged in anastigation that we believe relates to certaintjpali contributions made by some of our
executive officers and employees. From time to timesubscribers have communicated and may inutiieef communicate complaints to
consumer protection groups and other organizasanh as the Better Business Bureau, regulatorsefd@rcement or the media. Any result
actions or negative subscriber sentiment or pupliciay reduce the volume of our new subscriberimaiions or increase attrition of existing
subscribers. Any of the foregoing may materiallg adversely affect our business, financial condjtash flows or results of operations.

Given our relationship with Vivint Solar and thefahat Vivint Solar uses our registered tradem@rksint”, in its name pursuant to a
licensing agreement, our subscribers and potesuladcribers may associate us with any problemsriexped with Vivint Solar or adverse
publicity related to their business. Because wesh@vcontrol over Vivint Solar, we may not be abléake remedial action to cure any issues
Vivint Solar has with its customers, and our tradémbrand and reputation may be adversely affected

We are highly dependent on our ability to attrattain and retain an effective sales force.

Our business is highly dependent on our abilitattoact, train and retain an effective sales foespecially for our peak April through
August sales season. In addition, because salesseeqiatives become more productive as they g@ierence, retaining those individuals is
very important for our success. If we are unablattact, train and retain an effective sales foocg business, financial condition, cash flows
or results of operations could be adversely affecte

Our operations depend upon telecommunication seeg@roviders to transmit signals to our third-panyoviders and our monitoring
stations.

Our operations depend upon cellular and otherded@cunications providers to communicate signalsytbfaom our monitoring stations
and subscribers in a timely, cost-efficient andsistent manner. The failure of one or more of th@eeiders to transmit and communicate
signals in a timely manner could affect our abitiyprovide services to our subscribers. Therebgano assurance that third-party
telecommunications providers and signal-processamgers will continue to transmit and communicégeals to our third-party providers and
the monitoring stations without disruption. Any Budisruption, particularly one of a prolonged dimat could have a material adverse effec
our business. In addition, failure to renew cortadth existing providers or to contract with atlpeoviders on commercially acceptable term:
or at all may adversely impact our business.

15



Table of Contents

Certain elements of our operating model have histtly relied on our subscribers’ continued selmttand use of traditional landline
telecommunications to transmit signals to our iy stations and to provide services to our sulbars. There is a growing trend for
consumers to switch to the exclusive use of cellgatellite or Internet communication technologyhieir homes, and telecommunication
providers may discontinue their landline servicethie future. In addition, many of our subscribgh® use cellular communication technology
for their systems use products that rely on oldgtéchnology, and certain telecommunication pragdeve discontinued 2G services in
certain markets, and these and other telecommimricatoviders may discontinue 2G services in otharkets in the future. The
discontinuation of landline, 2G and any other smwiby telecommunications providers in the futuoeild require subscribers to upgrade to
alternative, and potentially more expensive, te@bgies. This could increase our subscriber attritimtes and slow our new subscriber
originations. To maintain our subscriber base tisas components that are or could become obseletamay be required to upgrade or
implement new technologies, including by offeringstibsidize the replacement of subscribers’ outdsystems at our expense. Any such
upgrades or implementations could require significapital expenditures and also divert managemsantténtion and other important resoul
away from our customer service and new subscribgination efforts.

Our interactive services are accessed througmtieenlet and our security monitoring services acegasingly delivered using Internet
technologies. Some providers of broadband accegdaka measures that affect their customabdlity to use these products and services,
as degrading the quality of the data packets wesinit over their lines, giving those packets lovopty, giving other packets higher priority
than ours, blocking our packets entirely or atténgpto charge their customers more for using owrises. In the U.S., there continues to be
some uncertainty regarding whether suppliers ohtband Internet access have a legal obligatiofide ¢heir customers to access services
such as ours without interference. In addition,Rederal Communications Commission (“FCC”) receatlppted net neutrality rules that may
impact some aspects of our business. Becauserifleseare new, we do not yet know the impact thesrmay have on our business.
Interference with our services or higher chargesugiomers by broadband service providers for usingoroducts and services could cause u:
to lose existing subscribers, impair our abilityattract new subscribers and materially and adiyeedfect our business, financial condition,
results of operations and cash flows.

In addition, telecommunication services providesssubject to extensive regulation in the markdiene we operate or may expand in
future. Changes in the applicable laws or regutatiaffecting telecommunication services could negjus to change the way we operate, w
could increase costs or otherwise disrupt our djpersy which in turn could adversely affect ouribess, financial condition, cash flows or
results of operations.

We must successfully upgrade and maintain our infieation technology systems.

We rely on various information technology systemsanage our operations. We are currently implemgmbodifications and upgrades
to these systems, and have replaced our legasnsgstith successor systems with new functionality.

There are inherent costs and risks associatedreggthcing and changing these systems and implengenéw systems, including
potential disruption of our internal control struet, substantial capital expenditures, additiodatiaistration and operating expenses, retentio
of sufficiently skilled personnel to implement ampkerate the new systems, demands on managemerdrioh@ther risks and costs of delays or
difficulties in transitioning to new systems orinfegrating new systems into our current systerosekample, we encountered issues
associated with the implementation of our new irdtegd CRM system, which resulted in an immateniadran our financial statements for the
quarter ended June 30, 2014. This error was cedaliiring the quarter ended September 30, 2014.rasult of the issues encountered
associated with the CRM implementation, we alsoedsa significant number of billing-related sublsericredits during the year ended
December 31, 2014, which reduced our revenue. Windleagement makes efforts to identify and remedsiatees, we can provide no assur:
that our remediation efforts will be successfutt@t we will not encounter additional issues ascamplete the implementation of these and
other systems. In addition, our information teclogyl system implementations may not result in pragifg improvements at a level that
outweighs the costs of implementation, or at alle Tnplementation of new information technologytsgss may also cause disruptions in our
business operations and have an adverse effeairdrusiness, cash flows and operations.

Privacy and data protection laws, privacy or datebches, or the loss of data could have a matesidVerse effect on our business.

In the course of our operations, we gather, prod¢emssmit and store subscriber information, ingigdoersonal, payment, credit and o
similar confidential and private information. Weetsome of this information for operational and netirlg purposes and rely on proprietary
commercially available systems, software, tools muaghitoring to provide security for such informatio
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Our collection, retention, transfer and use of thiermation is regulated by privacy and data pctten laws and regulations and industry
standards. Our compliance with these laws, reguiatand standards increases our operating costgdalitional laws, regulations or standard:
(and new interpretations of existing laws and raiohs) in these areas may further increase ouwatipg costs and adversely affect our ability
to effectively market our products and services: failure to comply with any of these laws, regigdas or standards could result in a loss of
subscriber data, fines, sanctions and other ltesliand additional restrictions on our collectizansfer or use of subscriber data. In addition,
our failure to comply with any of these laws, regidns or standards could result in a material es#veffect on our reputation, subscriber
attrition, new subscriber origination, financiahctition, cash flows or results of operations.

Criminals and other nefarious actors are usingemsingly sophisticated methods, including cyditacks, to capture or alter various ty
of information relating to subscribers, to engagélégal activities such as fraud and identityfthand to expose and exploit potential security
and privacy vulnerabilities in corporate systemd aeb sites. Unauthorized intrusion into the pogiof our systems and data storage device:
that process and store subscriber informationuding but not limited to subscriber transactiond ather confidential and private information
or the loss of such information, may result in rtiegaconsequences. In addition, third parties udiig our partners and vendors, could also b
a source of security risk to us in the event ddiufe of their own security systems and infradtice. Moreover, we cannot be certain that
advances in criminal capabilities, new discoveinethe field of cryptography or other developmentt not compromise or breach the
technology protecting the networks that accespotucts and services. Any such compromises ochessato the systems or loss of data,
whether by us, our partners and vendors, or ottiet parties or as a result of employee error dfeagance or otherwise, could cause
interruptions in operations and damage to our ejmrt, subject us to costs and liabilities and mialtg and adversely affect sales, revenues
profits, which in turn could have a material adeeirapact on our business, financial condition, déshis or results of operations.

We are subject to payment related risks.

We accept payments using a variety of methodsydtiety credit card, debit card, direct debit fronstaumer’s bank account, and
consumer invoicing. For existing and future paynagttons we offer to our customers, we may beconhgest to additional regulations,
compliance requirements, and fraud. For certaimymant methods, including credit and debit cardspaseinterchange and other fees, which
may increase over time and raise our operatings@sd lower profitability. We rely on third partigsprovide payment processing services,
including the processing of credit cards, debitlsaand electronic checks, and it could disruptbusiness if these companies become
unwilling or unable to provide these services toWse are also subject to payment card associapenating rules, including data security ru
certification requirements, and rules governingtmic funds transfers, which could change ordieterpreted to make it difficult or
impossible for us to comply. If we fail to complyitiwthese rules or requirements, or if our dataisgcsystems are breached or compromised
we may be liable for card issuing banks’ costsjextttio fines and higher transaction fees, and tageability to accept credit and debit card
payments from our customers, process electronidsftiransfers, or facilitate other types of onlimgments, and our business and operating
results could be adversely affected.

We may fail to obtain or maintain necessary licesser otherwise fail to comply with applicable lawad regulations.

Our business is subject to a variety of laws, ratiuhs and licensing requirements and may becoiieciuo additional such
requirements in the future. In addition, in certairisdictions, we are required to obtain licensepermits to comply with standards governing
servicing of subscribers, monitoring station emplkgelection and training and to meet certain stasdn the conduct of our business.
Although we believe we are in material compliandhall applicable laws, regulations, and licensiaguirements, in the event that these |,
regulations or licensing requirements change, we Inearequired to modify our operations or to uéilizsources to maintain compliance with
such laws and regulations. Our failure to complthveuch laws, regulations or licensing requiremestsay be in effect from time to time
could have a material adverse effect on us.

If we expand the scope of our products or servigesur operations in new markets, we may be reduio obtain additional licenses and
otherwise maintain compliance with additional lavegjulations or licensing requirements.

New laws, regulations or licensing requirements fo@nacted that could have an adverse effect.drougxample, certain U.S.
municipalities have adopted, or are considering#dg, laws, regulations or policies aimed at rédg¢he number of false alarms, including:
(i) subjecting companies to fines or penaltiestfansmitting false alarms, (ii) imposing fines arbscribers for false alarms, or (jii) imposing
limitations on law enforcement response. These ureascould adversely affect our future operationlausiness by increasing our costs,
reducing customer satisfaction or affecting thelipyterception of the effectiveness of our produwatd services. In addition, federal, state anc
local governmental authorities have considered,maad in the future consider, implementing consupretection rules and regulations, which
could impose significant constraints on our satemoels.
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Regulations have been issued by the Federal Tradenssion (“FTC”), FCC, and Canadian Radio-Telensand Telecommunications
Commission (“CRTC") that place restrictions on diréo-home marketing, telemarketing, email markgtind general sales practices. These
restrictions include, but are not limited to, liatibns on methods of communication, requirementadamtain a “do not call” list, cancellation
rights and required training for personnel to compith these restrictions. On July 1, 2014, the &han Anti-Spam Law (“CASL"yegulation:
went into effect in Canada. The CRTC has enforceérethority under CASL. CASL prohibits the sendofgcommercial emails without prior
consent of the consumer or an existing busineatiaakhip and sets forth rules governing the sepdfrcommercial emails. CASL allows fol
private right of action for the recovery of damagegrovides for enforcement by CRTC permitting teeovery of significant civil penalties,
costs and attorneys’ fees in the event that reigulatare violated. Changes in regulations or therjmetation of such regulations could have a
material adverse effect on our business, finargabition, cash flows or results of operations.

Increased adoption of laws purporting to characteei certain charges in our subscriber contracts agawful, may adversely affect our
operations.

If a subscriber cancels prior to the end of théahterm of the contract, other than in accordanita the contract, we may, under the
terms of the subscriber contract, charge the sildesdhe amount that would have been paid overghmining term of the contract. Several
states have adopted, or are considering adopng, testricting the charges that can be imposed apnotract cancellation prior to the end of
the initial contract term. Such initiatives coulglgatively impact our business and have a matetiadrae effect on our business, financial
condition, cash flows or results of operations. Acbe judicial determinations regarding these nmtteuld increase legal exposure to
subscribers against whom such charges have beas@u@nd the risk that certain subscribers may teedcover such charges through
litigation. In addition, the costs of defending Buitigation and enforcement actions could havaa@verse effect on our business, financial
condition, cash flows or results of operations.

Our new products and services may not be successful

We launched our energy management and Smart Hoodegis and services in June 2010 and April 20kheaetively. We launched our
wireless Internet on a limited basis during 2018 aar proprietary Vivint Sky cloud solution and n&kyControl panel in early 2014. In 2014,
we also began offering a localized cloud based statage product and service on a limited basisawfieipate launching additional products
and services in the future. These products andcgsrand the new products and services we may faartbe future may not be well-received
by our subscribers, may not help us to generatesudscribers and may adversely affect the attritie of existing subscribers. Any profits
may generate from these or other new productsreices may be lower than profits generated fromaiber products and services and may
not be sufficient for us to recoup our developn@rdgubscriber acquisition costs incurred. New potsland services may also have lower g
margins, particularly to the extent that they dofotly utilize our existing infrastructure. In aitidn, new products and services may require
increased operational expenses or subscriber dtopisosts and present new and difficult technaabchallenges that may subject us to
claims or complaints if subscribers experienceiserglisruptions or failures or other quality issubs the extent our new products and service
are not successful, it could have a material adveffect on our business, financial condition, démlvs or results of operations.

The technology we employ may become obsolete, wtichd require significant capital expenditures.

Our industry is subject to continual technologicalovation. Our products and services interact Withhardware and software
technology of systems and devices located at cascsibers’ property. We may be required to impletmew technologies or adapt existing
technologies in response to changing market camdifisubscriber preferences or industry standesttish could require significant capital
expenditures. It is also possible that one or nebieur competitors could develop a significant t@chl advantage that allows them to provide
additional or superior products or services, dower their price for similar products or servicégt could put us at a competitive
disadvantage. Our inability to adapt to changirdpt@logies, market conditions or subscriber prefegs in a timely manner could have a
material adverse effect on our business, finarmabition, cash flows or results of operations.

Our future operating results are uncertain.

Prior growth rates in revenues and other operatimjfinancial results should not be considereccatdie of our future performance. Our
future performance and operating results dependrmong other things: (i) our ability to renew andipgrade contracts with existing
subscribers and maintain customer satisfaction githting subscribers; (ii) our ability to generatav subscribers, including our ability to
scale the number of new subscribers generatedghrimgide sales and other channels; (iii) our Bbib increase the density of our subscriber
base for existing service locations or continuexpand into new geographic markets; (iv) our aptlit successfully develop and market new
and innovative
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products and services; (v) the level of produatyise and price competition; (vi) the degree olisation in, and our ability to further penetrate,
existing markets; (vii) our ability to manage grbwtevenues, origination or acquisition costs af sebscribers and attrition rates, the cost of
servicing our existing subscribers and generalaaiministrative costs; and (viii) our ability torattt, train and retain qualified employees. If
our future operating results suffer as a resu#trof of the other reasons mentioned above, or dmer otasons, there could be a material ad\
effect on our business, financial condition, cdelw$ or results of operations.

Our business is subject to macroeconomic, microemmic and demographic factors that may negativelypmet our results of operations.

Our business is generally dependent on nationgibmal and local economic conditions. Historicabgth the U.S. and worldwide
economies have experienced cyclical economic dawstisome of which have been prolonged and seVeese economic downturns have
generally coincided with, and contributed to, irmsed energy costs, concerns about inflation, sleeenomic activity, decreased consumer
confidence and spending, reduced corporate pfiiscapital spending, adverse business conditiohdéiguidity concerns. These conditions
and concerns result in a decline in business ansguner confidence and increased unemployment.

Where disposable income available for discretiorsmgnding is reduced (due to, for example, higbesimg, energy, interest or other
costs or where the perceived wealth of subscrib@ssdecreased) and disruptions in the financiaketamdversely impact the availability and
cost of credit, our business may experience ineckattrition rates, a reduced ability to originaésv subscribers and reduced consumer
demand. For instance, recoveries in the housingeharcrease the occurrence of relocations which iead to subscribers disconnecting
service and not contracting with us in their newnles. We cannot predict the timing or duration of @aonomic slowdown or the timing or
strength of a subsequent economic recovery, wodewor in the specific markets where our subscsibee located.

Furthermore, any deterioration in new constructiod sales of existing single-family homes couldusedopportunities to originate new
subscribers and increase attrition among our existubscribers. Such downturns in the economyrieige, and the housing market in
particular may negatively affect our business.

In addition, unfavorable shifts in population artley demographic factors may cause us to lose shbsx as people migrate to markets
where we have little or no presence, or if the galm@opulation shifts into a less desirable ageggaphic or other demographic group from oul
business perspective.

Also, our subscribers consist largely of homeownets are subject to economic, credit, financial ather risks, as applicable. These
risks could materially and adversely affect a stibec's ability to make required payments to usadimely basis. Any such decrease or delay
in subscriber payments may have a material adwfset on us. As a result of financial distresfsswibers may apply for relief under
bankruptcy and other laws relating to creditorghts. In addition, subscribers may be subjectyolimtary application of such bankruptcy and
other laws relating to creditoraghts. The bankruptcy of a subscriber could adslgraffect our ability to collect payments, to pcit our rights
and otherwise realize the value of our contrachwhit subscriber. This may occur as a result o§regmother things, application of the
automatic stay, delays and uncertainty in the hgstkly process and potential rejection of such siltisccontracts. Our subscribemability to
pay, whether as a result of economic or creditassbankruptcy or otherwise, could have a matadaérse effect on our financial condition,
cash flows or and results of operations.

We depend on a limited number of suppliers to pd®iour products, which, in turn, rely on a limitedumber of suppliers to provide
significant components and materials used in ouroplucts. A change in our existing preferred supplyrahgements or a material
interruption in supply of products could increasaincosts or prevent or limit our ability to accepnd fill orders for our products and
services.

We provide our services through a panel instaltatie@premises of our subscribers. As of DecemleP314, approximately 74% of our
installed panels were 2GIG Go!Control panels, appnately 19% were SkyControl panels and approxitya3& were Honeywell LYNX or
Vista panels. Since early 2014, our primary pangtalled is the SkyControl panel. The 2GIG Go!Calnpanel was our primary panel for
subscribers from 2010 through early 2014. In fig@l3, we completed the 2GIG Sale. In connectiah thie 2GIG Sale, we retained sole
ownership of the intellectual property and exclesights with respect to the SkyControl panel aerdain peripheral equipment. We expect
proprietary equipment will be a critical componehbur future service offerings. In addition, wetened into a fiveyear supply agreement wi
2GIG, pursuant to which they will be the exclusprevider of our control panel requirements, subjeatertain exceptions. Upon the expira
or earlier termination of the initial term of trgspply agreement, there can be no assurance thailMee able to renew our supply
arrangements with 2GIG on commercially reasonabi®g or at all. Any adverse change in, or the tiessaf, the relationship between us and
2GIG could expose us to a significant increasegunment costs.
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In addition to 2GIG, we obtain important componesfteur systems from several other suppliers. Sh@@IG or such other suppliers
cease to manufacture the products we purchasetfrem or become unable to timely deliver these prtsdim accordance with our
requirements, or should such other suppliers chnos® do business with us, we may be requirdddate alternative suppliers. In addition,
any financial or other difficulties our supplieecgé may have negative effects on our business. syeb@ unable to locate alternate suppliet
a timely basis or to negotiate the purchase ofrobptinels or other equipment on favorable terfres, all. In addition, our equipment supplie
in turn, depend upon a limited number of outsidaffilated suppliers for key components and mateniged in our control panels and other
equipment. If any of these suppliers cease to®uaable to provide components and materials fficgrit quantity and of the requisite qual
especially during our summer selling season whiange percentage of our new subscriber originatawtsir, and if there are not adequate
alternative sources of supply, we could experiesigeificant delays in the supply of control paret&l other equipment. Any such delay in the
supply of control panels and other equipment ofréwgiisite quality could adversely affect our dpito originate subscribers and cause our
subscribers not to continue, renew or upgrade ttwgitracts or to choose not to purchase such pteduservices from us. This would result in
delays in or loss of future revenues and could learaterial adverse effect on our business, firgcoindition, cash flows or results of
operations. Also, if previously installed comporseand materials were found to be defective, we tmighbe able to recover the costs
associated with the recall, repair or replaceméstioh products, across our installed customer, lzagkthe diversion of personnel and other
resources to address such issues could have aahathrerse effect on our financial condition, célelws or results of operations.

We rely on certain third-party providers of licendesoftware and services integral to the operatiaiour business.

Certain aspects of the operation of our businepsmteon third-party software and service providéfs.rely on certain software
technology that we license from third parties asd in our products and services to perform keytfans and provide critical functionality. F
example, the Go!Control panel used by most of abssribers is connected to the Internet and snieng applications through web interface
and technology hosted by Alarm.com. With regarticensed software technology, we are, to a cedaiant, dependent upon the ability of
third parties to maintain, enhance or develop tbeftware and services on a timely and cost-effedtiasis, to meet industry technological
standards and innovations to deliver software andices that are free of defects or security vidhgities, and to ensure their software and
services are free from disruptions or interruptidagther, these third-party services and softiaemses may not always be available to us or
commercially reasonable terms or at all.

If our agreements with third-party software or $egg vendors are not renewed or the third-partinswé or services become obsolete,
fail to function properly, are incompatible withtdme versions of our products or services, aredfiefe or otherwise fail to address our needs,
there is no assurance that we would be able taceghe functionality provided by the third-parbfte/are or services with software or services
from alternative providers. Furthermore, even ifat¢ain licenses to alternative software or ses/tbat provide the functionality we need, we
may be required to replace hardware installed atrmnitoring stations and at our subscribers’ hgrmeduding security system control panels
and peripherals, to affect our integration of ogration to alternative software products. Any @< factors could have a material adverse
effect on our financial condition, cash flows osulis of operations.

We are subject to unionization and labor and emptognt laws and regulations, which could increase aosts and restrict our
operations in the future.

Currently, none of our employees are representesunyion. From time to time, however, attempts t@ynade to organize all or part of
our employee base. As we continue to grow, and elifferent regions, unions may make further attemtp organize all or part of our
employee base. If some or all of our workforce werbecome unionized, and the terms of the colledtargaining agreement were
significantly different from our current compensatiarrangements, it could increase our costs anersely impact our profitability.
Additionally, responding to such organization ag¢sncould distract our management and result ireased legal and other professional fees;
and, potential labor union contracts could puttus@eased risk of labor strikes and disruptiomof operations.
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Our business is subject to a variety of employnfens and regulations and may become subject tdiaddi such requirements in the
future. Although we believe we are in material ctiame with applicable employment laws and regalaj in the event of a change in
requirements, we may be required to modify our afi@ns or to utilize resources to maintain comg@with such laws and regulations.
Moreover, we may be subject to various employmelated claims, such as individual or class act@mgovernment enforcement actions
relating to alleged employment discrimination, eoygle classification and related withholding, wageth labor standards or healthcare and
benefit issues. Our failure to comply with appligaemployment laws and regulations and related egfions against us, may affect our abi
to compete or have a material adverse effect ofbosiness, financial condition, cash flows or ressaf operations.

The loss of our senior management could disrupt dawsiness.

Our senior management is important to the sucdessrdusiness because there is significant comipetior executive personnel with
experience in the security and home automationsimgand our sales channels. As a result of thésl raad the competition for a limited poo
industry-based executive experience, we may nableto retain our existing senior managementdtiteon, we may not be able to fill new
positions or vacancies created by expansion opwgn Moreover, with the exception of our Chief Extive Officer, we do not and do not
currently expect to have in the future “key persmsurance on the lives of any other member ofsemior management. The loss of any
member of our senior management team without riegia suitable replacement (either from insideutsiole our existing management team)
could have a material adverse effect on our busjriegmncial condition, cash flows or results oeogtions.

If we are unable to acquire necessary intellectymbperty or adequately protect our intellectual grerty, we could be competitively
disadvantaged.

Our intellectual property, including our patentademarks, copyrights, trade secrets, and oth@rigtary rights, constitutes a significant
part of our value. Our success depends, in pamuombility to protect our intellectual propertyanst dilution, infringement and competitive
pressure by defending our intellectual properthtsgTo protect our intellectual property right® vely on a combination of patent, trademark,
copyright and trade secret laws of the U.S., Camadother countries, as well as contract provssitmaddition, we make efforts to acquire
rights to intellectual property necessary for opemtions. However, there can be no assuranc¢htbssg measures will be successful in any
given case, particularly in those countries whiaeelaws do not protect our proprietary rights dly fas in the U.S.

If we fail to acquire necessary intellectual praper adequately protect or assert our intellecpuaperty rights, competitors may dilute
our brands or manufacture and market similar prtsdaied services or convert our subscribers, whictidcadversely affect our market share
and results of operations. We may not receive patrtrademarks for all our pending patent andemaark applications, and existing or future
patents or licenses may not provide competitiveaathges for our products and services. Our conopgtibay challenge, invalidate or avoid
the application of our existing or future intelleat property rights that we receive or licenseadiition, patent rights may not prevent our
competitors from developing, using or selling pra@wor services that are similar to or address#mee market as our products and services.
The loss of protection for our intellectual progerbuld reduce the market value of our brands amgpomducts and services, reduce new
subscriber originations or upgrade sales to exjstirbscribers, lower our profits, and could havesgerial adverse effect on our business,
financial condition, cash flows or results of ofi&nas.

From time to time, we are subject to claims for fimfging the intellectual property rights of othergnd will be subject to such claims in
the future, which could have an adverse effect amr dusiness and operations.

We cannot be certain that our products and serdioa®t and will not infringe the intellectual peapy rights of others. We have been in
the past, and may be in the future, subject tanddiased on allegations of infringement or othelations of the intellectual property rights of
others, including litigation brought by special pose or so-called “non-practicing” entities thatus solely on extracting royalties and
settlements by enforcing patent rights. Regardiésiseir merits, intellectual property claims divére attention of our personnel and are often
time-consuming and expensive. In addition, to tkterd claims against us are successful, we may ttapay substantial monetary damages ot
discontinue or modify certain products or servittest are found to infringe another party’s right®nter into licensing agreements with costly
royalty payments. We have in the past and will carg in the future to seek one or more licensetdinue offering certain products or
services, which could have a material adverse effieour business, financial condition, cash flawsesults of operations.
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We have identified a material weakness in our imaf control over financial reporting. If we fail tanaintain effective internal control
over financial reporting at a reasonable assuraniexel, we may not be able to accurately report éinancial results, which could have a
material adverse effect on our operations, investonfidence in our business and the trading pricafsour securities.

In connection with the preparation and audit of camsolidated financial statements for the yeaedridecember 31, 2014, we along v
our independent registered public accounting falemtified a material weakness in the internal aidrdver our financial reporting. A material
weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficies, in internal control over financial repogisuch that there is a reasonable possibility
that a material misstatement of a company’s anouglterim financial statements will not be prevahbr detected on a timely basis.

The material weakness we identified related tocikficies in the completeness and effectivenessmlindformation Technology General
Control (ITGC) environment and the controls asgeciavith our year end financial close process idiclg review of the classification of iter
within the statement of cash flows. The deficieaaigth our year end financial close process, inetlihsufficient reviews of account
reconciliations and journal entries, resulting inuember of audit adjustments, primarily in the aref(1) capitalized subscriber acquisition
costs, (2) inventory and (3) accrued expensesdefieiencies also resulted in a restatement oftonsolidated statements of cash flows for th
years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013 and trepdrom November 17, 2012 through December 312 #‘Successor”) and January 1,
2012 through November 16, 2012 (“Predecessor”).

We have initiated remediation efforts of these malstin the financial statement close process. rEéneediation includes, but is not limit
to, expanding technical accounting skill sets, eciray reconciliation and review procedures, andragiddditional information technology
system related controls.

If our remediation efforts are insufficient to adds the identified material weakness or if addilanaterial weaknesses in our internal
controls are discovered in the future, they mayeasisly affect our ability to record, process, sumngaand report financial information timely
and accurately and, as a result, our financiagéstahts may contain material misstatements or oomssi

In addition, it is possible that control deficiegsicould be identified by our management or byirdependent registered public
accounting firm in the future or may occur withtwting identified. Such a failure could result iguatory scrutiny, and cause investors to los
confidence in our reported financial condition,dda a default under our indebtedness and othellvéige a material adverse effect on our
business, financial condition, cash flow or resaftsperations.

Product or service defects or shortfalls in custonservice could have an adverse effect on us.

Our inability to provide products, services or cusér service in a timely manner or defects withnaducts or services could adversely
affect our reputation. In addition, our inability tneet subscribers’ expectations with respect tgporducts, services or customer service coul
increase attrition rates or affect our ability engrate new subscribers and thereby have a madyiatse effect on our business, financial
condition, cash flow or results of operations.

We are exposed to greater risk of liability for elapee acts or omissions or system failure, than nb&yinherent in other businesses

The nature of the products and services we prgyadentially exposes us to greater risks of liapildr employee acts or omissions or
system failures than may be inherent in other lassies. If subscribers believe that they incurresids as a result of our action or inaction, the
subscribers (or their insurers) have and coultiénftiture bring claims against us. Although ouwigercontracts contain provisions limiting
liability, in an attempt to reduce this risk, iretbvent of any such litigation, no assurance cagiy@n that these limitations will be enforced,
and the costs of such litigation or the relatetles®ents or judgments could have a material adweffset on our financial condition. In
addition, there can be no assurance that we agatiy insured for these risks. Certain of ouniaace policies and the laws of some states
may limit or prohibit insurance coverage for purgtior certain other types of damages or liabilitgiag from gross negligence. If significant
uninsured damages are assessed against us, thimgdgbility could have a material adverse effea our business, financial condition, cash
flows or results of operations.

Future transactions could pose risks.

We frequently evaluate strategic opportunities athin and outside our existing lines of businé&® expect from time-to-time to
pursue additional business opportunities and maiddeo eliminate or acquire certain businessesjymts or services. For example, in August
2014, we acquired Space Monkey, a data cloud stdrdnnology company. Such acquisitions or disfpostcould be material. There are
various risks and uncertainties associated witemt@l acquisitions and divestitures, including:afrailability of financing; (ii) difficulties
related to integrating previously separate busggs#o a single unit, including products and smnpackages, distribution and operational
capabilities and business cultures; (iii) genetadibess disruption; (iv) managing the integratiomcpss; (v) diversion of management’s
attention from day-to-day operations; (vi) assumpbf costs and liabilities of an acquired businesduding unforeseen or contingent
liabilities
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or liabilities in excess of the amounts estimateid) failure to realize anticipated benefits aryhergies, such as cost savings and revenue
enhancements; (viii) potentially substantial c@std expenses associated with acquisitions andsiigpts; (ix) failure to retain and motivate
key employees; and (x) difficulties in applying anternal control over financial reporting and digsure controls and procedures to an acq!
business. Any or all of these risks and uncertsnindividually or collectively, could have matdradverse effect on our business, financial
condition, cash flow or results of operations. Vde offer no assurance that any such strategic typptes will prove to be successful. Among
other negative effects, our pursuit of such opputies could cause our cost of investment in nelasstibers to grow at a faster rate than our
recurring revenue and fees collected at the timastéllation. Additionally, any new product or giee offerings could require developmental
investments or have higher cost structures tharmuent arrangements, which could reduce operatiaggins and require more working
capital

Goodwill and other identifiable intangible assetspresent a significant portion of our total asse#d we may never realize the full value
of our intangible assets.

As of December 31, 2014, we had approximately $illisn of goodwill and identifiable intangible ats, excluding deferred financing
costs. Goodwill and other identifiable intangibsets are recorded at fair value on the date afisitign. In addition, as of December 31, 2(
we had $548.1 million of subscriber acquisitiontspaet. We review such assets for impairmentastlannually. Impairment may result from,
among other things, deterioration in performandegase market conditions, adverse changes in aigididaws or regulations, including
changes that restrict the activities of or afféet products and services we offer, challengesawalidity of certain intellectual property,
reduced sales of certain products or services fiueating intellectual property, increased attritaord a variety of other factors. The amount of
any quantified impairment must be expensed immelyiats a charge to results of operations. Depenglinfgiture circumstances, it is possible
that we may never realize the full value of ouangible assets. Any future determination of impaintrof goodwill or other identifiable
intangible assets could have a material adversetedh our financial position and results of operst.

Insurance policies may not cover all of our openagj risks and a casualty loss beyond the limits af goverage could negatively impact
our business.

We are subject to all of the operating hazardsreskd normally incidental to the provision of oupgducts and services and business
operations. In addition to contractual provisiangting our liability to subscribers and third pag, we maintain insurance policies in such
amounts and with such coverage and deductiblesqagred by law and that we believe are reasonatiepaudent. Nevertheless, such
insurance may not be adequate to protect us frbthealiabilities and expenses that may arise fobams for personal injury, death or prope
damage arising in the ordinary course of our bssirsnd current levels of insurance may not betatlibe maintained or available at
economical prices. If a significant liability claiim brought against us that is not covered by isce, then we may have to pay the claim with
our own funds, which could have a material adveffext on our business, financial condition, cdstvé or results of operations.

We are highly dependent on the proper and efficiémnctioning of our computer, data back-up, infornti@n technology, telecom and
processing systems and our redundant monitoringtistas.

Our ability to keep our business operating is higtdpendent on the proper and efficient operatfaruo computer systems, information
technology systems, telecom systems, data-progesggiems, and subscriber software platform. Wipardisaster recovery tests at least
quarterly and always have two unused servers dlaita be used in a disaster scenario. We havesimgahted various techniques to deal with
certain known failures that may arise, such asnggttp two central monitoring facilities housedsieparate and distinct locations in different
regions of the U.S. such that if one facility fadlsgoes offline, the other can automatically asswontrol. Furthermore, our systems are
designed such that data is replicated every 15 tesnoffsite such that we can obtain a replica ¢d @lath no more than 15 minutes of lost
inputs. We also utilize a next-day hardware sersigeh that a failed part within a server coulddmgaced the following day.

Although we have redundant central monitoring fae# and backip computer and power systems, if there is a cafast event, natur:
disaster, security breach, negligent or intenti@talby an employee or other extraordinary eveatmay be unable to provide our subscribers
with uninterrupted services. Furthermore, becaosepuiter and data back-up and processing systenssiseeptible to malfunctions and
interruptions, we cannot guarantee that we willexqierience service failures in the future. A digaint or large-scale malfunction or
interruption of any computer or data back-up aratessing system could adversely affect our aliiigeep our operations running efficiently
and respond to alarm system signals. If a malfonatesults in a wider or sustained disruptionpitld have a material adverse effect on our
reputation, business, financial condition, casiwfl@r results of operations.
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Our business is concentrated in certain markets.

Our business is concentrated in certain marketafAecember 31, 2014, subscribers in Texas ando@adh represented approximately
17% and 7%, respectively, of our total subscritzeseb Accordingly, our business and results of dipersiare particularly susceptible to adwv
economic, weather and other conditions in such etar&nd in other markets that may become simitarhcentrated.

Catastrophic events may disrupt our business.

Unforeseen events, or the prospect of such eviestading war, terrorism and other internationahfiiots, public health issues including
health epidemics or pandemics and natural disastets as fire, hurricanes, earthquakes, tornadother adverse weather and climate
conditions, whether occurring in the U.S., Canadealsewhere, could disrupt our operations, disto@toperations of suppliers or subscribel
result in political or economic instability. Theseents could reduce demand for our products anicesy make it difficult or impossible to
receive equipment from suppliers or impair ourigbtb deliver products and services to customera timely basis. Any such disruption co
damage our reputation and cause subscriber attrifi@ could be subject to claims or litigation wigspect to losses caused by such
disruptions. Our property and business interrupitisurance may not cover a particular event atratle sufficient to fully cover our losses.

Currency fluctuations could materially and adversehffect us and we have not hedged this risk.

Historically, a portion of our revenue has beenaeimated in Canadian Dollars. For the year endezkBder 31, 2014, before
intercompany eliminations, approximately $34.2 ioill or 6% of our revenues were denominated in @aneDollars and as of December 31,
2014, before intercompany eliminations, $136.2iomll or 6% of our total assets and $87.7 milliand% of our total liabilities were
denominated in Canadian Dollars. In the future gweect to continue generating revenue denominat&€hnadian Dollars, and other foreign
currencies. Accordingly, we may be materially addeasely affected by currency fluctuations in th& LDollar versus these currencies.
Weaker foreign currencies relative to the U.S. &athay result in lower levels of reported revenwéh respect to foreign currency-
denominated subscriber contracts, net income,sadediilities and accumulated other comprehensigeme on our U.S. Dollar-denominated
financial statements. We have not historically reztlggainst this exposure. Foreign exchange rageisffuenced by many factors outside of
our control, including but not limited to: changisgpply and demand for a particular currency, mamygpolicies of governments (including
exchange-control programs, restrictions on locaharges or markets and limitations on foreign ibmesit in a country or on investment by
residents of a country in other countries), changdmlances of payments and trade, trade resingtand currency devaluations and
revaluations. Also, governments may from time neetintervene in the currency markets, directly laypdegulation, to influence prices direc
As such, these events and actions are unprediciBiidderesulting volatility in the exchange ratestfee other currencies could have a material
adverse effect on our financial condition and ressof operations.

If the insurance industry changes its practice ofqviding incentives to homeowners for the use ofidential electronic security services,
we may experience a reduction in new subscriberwgtio or an increase in our subscriber attrition rate

Some insurers provide a reduction in premium ritemsurance policies written on homes that haemibored electronic security
systems. There can be no assurance that insuramgeaies will continue to offer these rate redutdidf these incentives were reduced or
eliminated, homeowners who otherwise may not teeineed for our products or services would be remidsom our potential subscriber pool,
which could hinder the growth of our business, exidting subscribers may choose to cancel or m@weheir contracts, which could increase
our attrition rates. In either case, our resultsdrations and growth prospects could be adveedtdgted.

The Issuer is a holding company and its principadset is its ownership of the capital stock of itdsidiaries; accordingly, the Issuer is
dependent upon distributions from its subsidiarimsmake payments in respect of the notes and to teags and any other expenses.

The Issuer is a holding company and its princigakais its ownership of the capital stock of itesidiaries. The Issuer has no
independent means of generating revenue. The Iggeads to cause its subsidiaries to make digtabs to the Issuer following the
consummation of the Transactions in amounts sefiicio make payments in respect of the notes antbtluer’'s other outstanding
indebtedness. To the extent that the Issuer neldis fand its subsidiaries are unable or otheneisgicted from making such distributions
under applicable law or regulation, the Issuedsiliity and financial condition would be adverseffected and the Issuer may be unable to
satisfy its obligations under the notes or undeoiher indebtedness.
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Affiliates of the Sponsor own substantially all tfie equity interests in us and may have conflictdrderest with us or the holders of the
notes in the future.

As a result of the Merger, the Sponsor owns a suakial majority of our capital stock and has théigtto elect a majority of our board
directors. As a result, affiliates of the Sponsavédncontrol over our decisions to enter into ampomate transaction and will have the ability to
prevent any transaction that requires the approfvsiockholders regardless of whether holders efibikes believe that any such transactions
are in their own best interests. For example,iaféis of the Sponsor could cause us to make atiqusthat increase the amount of our
indebtedness or to sell assets or businessesulor cause us to issue additional capital stockegtade dividends. So long as the Sponsor
continues to indirectly own a significant amounttoé outstanding shares of our common stock, atiiti of the Sponsor will continue to be ¢
to strongly influence or effectively control ourai§ions. The indentures governing our 2019 notelsoam 2020 notes and the credit agreemen
governing our revolving credit facility permit us pay advisory and other fees, dividends and mé#er oestricted payments to the Sponsor
under certain circumstances and the Sponsor affiisites may have an interest in our doing soribgithe year ended December 31, 2014, w
made payments to affiliates of the Sponsor of $2lBon, which included $2.7 million in annual madoiing fees and $0.1 million in fees in
connection with our issuance of $100.0 million seninsecured notes. In addition, the Sponsor habligation to provide us with any
additional debt or equity financing.

The Sponsor is in the business of making investsientompanies and may from time to time acquiick lawid interests in businesses
compete directly or indirectly with us or that slypps with goods and services. The Sponsor maymissue acquisition opportunities that n
be complementary to our business and, as a résodie acquisition opportunities may not be avadldblus. The holders of the notes should
consider that the interests of the Sponsor and tiivestors may differ from their interests in miékrespects. See “Security Ownership of
Certain Beneficial Owners and Management,” “CerRétationships and Related Party TransactionsDarattor Independence, Description
of the Notes” and “Description of Other Indebtednés

We have recorded net losses in the past and we exggrience net losses in the future.

Although we have achieved profitability on an AdptsEBITDA basis, we have recorded consolidatedasses in each of the previous
three years ended December 31, 2014, and we ng&ly tkntinue to record net losses in future periods

Risks Relating to Our Indebtedness

Our substantial indebtedness could adversely affeet financial condition and prevent us from fulfiing our obligations under our
indebtedness.

Net cash interest paid for the years ended DeceBthe2014 and 2013 related to our indebtednessu@irng capital leases) totaled
$136.9 million and $114.8 million, respectively. et cash used in operating activities for theyeaded December 31, 2014 and 2013,
before these interest payments, was $172.7 milrah$104.1 million, respectively. Accordingly, owet cash provided by operating activities
for the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013nsafiicient to cover these interest payments.

Under the terms of our existing indebtedness, wenat required to make principal payments pricsdioeduled maturity. As of
December 31, 2014, we had approximately $1.9 hilibdebt outstanding, which requires significamiéfest and principal payments. Subject
to the limits contained in the credit agreementagning our revolving credit facility, the indentuyeverning our 2019 notes, the indenture
governing our 2020 notes and the applicable agresngmverning our other debt instruments, we maghbe to incur substantial additional
debt from time to time to finance working capitdpital expenditures, investments or acquisitiongor other purposes. If we do so, the risks
related to our high level of debt could increageeically, our high level of debt could have inifamt consequences, including the following:

. making it more difficult for us to satisfy our opétions with respect to our de

. limiting our ability to obtain additional finaing to fund future working capital, capital expénces, acquisitions or other general
corporate requirement

. requiring a substantial portion of our caslwiao be dedicated to debt service payments insteather purposes, thereby reducing
the amount of cash flows available for working talpicapital expenditures, acquisitions and ottesregal corporate purpost

. increasing our vulnerability to general adverseneoaic and industry condition

. exposing us to the risk of increased interest rasesertain of our borrowings are at variable rafésterest;
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. limiting our flexibility in planning for and reacty to changes in the industry in which we comp
. placing us at a disadvantage compared to other|desraged competitors; a

. increasing our cost of borrowin

Despite our current level of indebtedness, we mayable to incur substantially more debt and entetd other transactions, which could
further exacerbate the risks to our financial conttbn described above.

We may be able to incur significant additional ibt#einess in the future. For example, on March 852@e amended and restated the
credit agreement governing our revolving creditlfigcto provide, among other things, for an incsean the aggregate commitments thereu
from $200.0 million to $289.4 million. As of Mardh 2015, we had $253.9 million of availability tcur secured indebtedness under the
revolving credit facility (after giving effect ta3%0 million of outstanding letters of credit and2# million of borrowings). We will be
permitted to add, in addition to the revolving dtéacility, incremental facilities of up to $225million, subject to certain conditions being
satisfied, of which up to $60.0 million may be in@d on the same “superpriority” basis as the nangl credit facility. Moreover, although the
indenture governing our 2019 notes, the indentokeming our 2020 notes and the credit agreemerdrging the revolving credit facility
contain restrictions on the incurrence of additloandebtedness and entering into certain typestodraransactions, these restrictions are su
to a number of qualifications and exceptions. Addil indebtedness incurred in compliance with éhestrictions could be substantial. These
restrictions also do not prevent us from incurriidjgations, such as trade payables, that do nudtitate indebtedness as defined under our
debt instruments. To the extent new debt is addedit current debt levels, the substantial leveréies described in the previous risk factor
would increase.

In addition, the exceptions to the restrictive atangts permit us to enter into certain other tratsas. For example, the credit agreement
governing our revolving credit facility, the inden¢ governing our 2019 notes and the indenturergavg our 2020 notes permitted us, subjec
to certain conditions, to distribute or otherwise fior restricted payments any proceeds we reafipedthe 2GIG Sale. On May 14, 2013, we
distributed $60.0 million of such proceeds to dockholders in reliance on these provisions. Tineaieing proceeds have been used to fund
our business activities or otherwise used for garearporate purposes, and we do not intend to rhiekee dividends to our stockholders in
reliance on these provisions.

Our variable rate indebtedness subjects us to iestrate risk, which could cause our indebtednessrice obligations to increase
significantly.

Borrowings under our revolving credit facility amevariable rates of interest and expose us todasteate risk. If interest rates increase,
our debt service obligations on the variable matkebtedness would increase even though the amotnaved remained the same, and our net
income and cash flows, including cash availablestawicing our indebtedness, would correspondidgisrease.

We may be unable to service our indebtedness.

Our ability to make scheduled payments on andfinaece our indebtedness, depends on and is subjeat financial and operating
performance, which in turn is affected by general eegional economic, financial, competitive, besisiand other factors beyond our control,
including the availability of financing in the inteational banking and capital markets. We cannstir@syou that our business will generate
sufficient cash flow from operations or that futlb@rowings will be available to us in an amourifisient to enable us to service our debt, to
refinance our debt or to fund our other liquidigeals.

If we are unable to meet our debt service oblignstior to fund our other liquidity needs, we willegkto restructure or refinance all or a
portion of our debt, which could cause us to defanlour debt obligations and impair our liquidi&ny refinancing of our indebtedness could
be at higher interest rates and may require usrtpty with more onerous covenants that could furthetrict our business operations.

Moreover, in the event of a default, the holderswfindebtedness, including the 2019 notes, tl2® 2@tes and borrowings under our
revolving credit facility, could elect to declark tae funds borrowed to be due and payable, tagetlith accrued and unpaid interest. The
lenders under our revolving credit facility couldaelect to terminate their commitments thereundease making further loans, and institute
foreclosure proceedings against their collaterad, e could be forced into bankruptcy or liquidatitf we breach our covenants under our
revolving credit facility, we would be in defaulbder our revolving credit facility. The lenders texercise their rights, as described above,
and we could be forced into bankruptcy or liquidati
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The indenture governing our 2019 notes, the indergigoverning our 2020 notes and the credit agreemgoverning our revolving credit
facility impose significant operating and financiakstrictions on us and our subsidiaries, which mpgevent us from capitalizing on
business opportunities.

The indenture governing our 2019 notes, the indergoverning our 2020 notes and the credit agreegmrerning our revolving credit
facility impose significant operating and finandiabtrictions on us. These restrictions limit obitity to, among other things:

. incur or guarantee additional debt or issue disfiedlstock or preferred stoc

. pay dividends and make other distributions ongdeem or repurchase, capital stc

. make certain investment

. incur certain liens

. enter into transactions with affiliates; merge onsolidate

. enter into agreements that restrict the abilityestricted subsidiaries to make dividends or offagtments us

. designate restricted subsidiaries as unrestrictbdidiaries; ani

. transfer or sell asset

As a result of these restrictions, we are limitedaahow we conduct our business and we may beleit@baise additional debt or equity
financing to compete effectively or to take advaetaf new business opportunities. The terms offatwe indebtedness we may incur could

include more restrictive covenants. We cannot @sgou that we will be able to maintain compliandéhwhese covenants in the future and, if
we fail to do so, that we will be able to obtainiwveas from the lenders and/or amend the covenants.

Our failure to comply with the restrictive covenadiescribed above as well as other terms of ostiegiindebtedness and/or the term
any future indebtedness from time to time couldiltas an event of default, which, if not curedveaived, could result in our being required to
repay these borrowings before their due date. lavesforced to refinance these borrowings on lagsrible terms or cannot refinance these
borrowings, our results of operations and financ@aldition could be adversely affected.

Our failure to comply with the agreements relatinig our outstanding indebtedness, including as aukof events beyond our control,
could result in an event of default that could maiglly and adversely affect our results of operati® and our financial condition.

If there were an event of default under any ofageeements relating to our outstanding indebtedties$olders of the defaulted debt
could cause all amounts outstanding with respetttabdebt to be due and payable immediately. Wieataassure you that our assets or cash
flows would be sufficient to fully repay borrowingsider our outstanding debt instruments if acctddrapon an event of default. Further, if
are unable to repay, refinance or restructure mightedness under our secured debt, the holdstgbfdebt could proceed against the
collateral securing that indebtedness. In additmy, event of default or declaration of acceleratiader one debt instrument could also result
in an event of default under one or more of oueottebt instruments.

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

None.

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

Our headquarters, and one of our two monitoringifes, are located in Provo, Utah. These premaeseased under leases expiring
between December 2024 and June 2028. Additionathyease the premises for a separate monitoritigisf@cated in South St. Paul,
Minnesota. We also lease various other facilittethroughout the U.S. and Canada for offices, wawsimg, recruiting, and training purposes
and own a small recruiting and training facilityldaho. We believe that these facilities are adagfea our current needs and that suitable
additional or substitute space will be availabl@@sded to accommodate any expansion of our opesati
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ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

We are engaged in the defense of certain claimdaavglits arising out of the ordinary course andduet of our business and have
certain unresolved claims pending, the outcomeghi¢h are not determinable at this time. Our subscrcontracts include exculpatory
provisions as described under “Business—Subsc@betracts—Other Terms” and other liability limitats. We also have insurance policies
covering certain potential losses where such cgesimavailable and cost effective. In our opiniamy liability that might be incurred by us
upon the resolution of any claims or lawsuits wdk, in the aggregate, have a material adverseteffeour financial condition or results of
operations. See Note 17 of our Consolidated FimduStatements included elsewhere in this annualrtem Form 10-K for additional
information.

ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES
Not applicable

PART Il

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY, RELA TED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER
PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

We are a wholly owned subsidiary of APX Parent loldnc., which in turn is wholly owned througheéninediate holding companies by
the Investors. Presently, there is no public trgdirarket for our common stock.

ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The following selected historical consolidated fingl information and other data set forth belowwst be read in conjunction with
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Finan€iahdition and Results of Operations” and our histdrconsolidated financial statements
and the related notes thereto contained elsewhdhési annual report on Form 10-K.

The selected historical consolidated financial infation and other data presented below for thesyeladed December 31, 2014 and
2013, the Successor Period ended December 31,82@llthe Predecessor Period from January 1, 2062ghrNovember 16, 2012 and the
selected consolidated balance sheet data as ofribece31, 2014 and 2013 (Successor) have been ddrom our audited consolidated
financial statements included in this annual reparEorm 10-K. The selected historical consoliddieancial information and other data
presented below for the years ended December 31, &0d 2010 (Predecessor) and the selected coaisalidalance sheet data as of
December 31, 2012 (Successor), 2011 and 2010 (&usslwr) have been derived from our audited coregelitifinancial statements which are
not included in this annual report on Form 10-Ke®elected historical consolidated financial infation and other data of the Predecessor ar
presented for the Issuer and its wholly-owned slibses, as well as Solar, 2GIG and their respedivbsidiaries. The selected historical
consolidated financial information and other ddtéhe Successor Period from November 17, 2012 tiivddecember 31, 2012 reflect the
Merger presenting the financial position and resoftoperations of Parent Guarantor and whollyred subsidiaries. The financial position
results of the Successor are not comparable thirthecial position and results of the Predecessertd the Merger and the application of
purchase accounting in accordance with ASCBG08iness Combinations

The historical financial information for the Predsesor Period from January 1, 2012 through Noverhbg2012 included in this annual
report on Form 10k includes the results of Solar, which commenceeraions in early 2011. As a result of the Trarieast while Solar was
variable interest entity through the date of Salamitial public offering in October 2014, we havet been its primary beneficiary since after
date of the Transactions. Accordingly, Solar hasheen required to be included in the consolidéiteahcial statements of the Company in
periods following the date of the Transactions. Mtstorical financial information included in thé&nual report on Form 10-K include the
results of 2GIG up through April 1, 2013, which whs date we completed the 2GIG Sale to NortekarSd 2GIG do not, and will not,
provide any credit support for any indebtedneshefissuer, including indebtedness incurred underevolving credit facility or the notes.
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Statement of Operations Data:
Total revenue
Total costs and expens

(Loss) Income from operatiol
Other expense:
Interest expens
Interest incom:
Gain on 2GIG Sal
Other income (expense

Loss from continuing operations before income
taxes
Income tax expense (bene!

Net loss from continuing operatio
Discontinued operation
Loss from discontinued operatio

Net loss
Net (loss) income attributable to non-
controlling interest:

Net loss attributable to APX Group Holdings, |
Net loss attributable to APX Group, Ir

Balance Sheet Data (at period end
Cash
Working capital (deficit

Adjusted working capital (deficit) (excluding cash

and capital lease obligatio
Total asset
Total debt
Total shareholde’ equity (deficit)
Ratio of earnings to fixed charges

NM—Not meaningful.
N/A—Not applicable.

Successo Predecesso

Period from Period from

November 17 January 1,

through through
December 31 December 31 December 31 November 16 Year Ended December 31

2014 2013 2012 2012 2011 2010
(in thousands)

$ 563,677 $ 500,90¢ $ 57,60¢ $ 397,57( $339,94¢ $238,87¢
657,54t 555,78t 85,79¢ 440,56 300,93 193,64
(93,869 (54,880 (28,199 (42,999 39,01+ 45,22¢
(147,51)) (114,479 (12,645 (106,620 (102,069 (69,534
1,45¢ 1,49: 4 61 214 64
— 46,86¢ — — — —
1,77¢ 76 (172) (122) (386) (397)
(238,140  (120,92) (41,00¢) (149,67) (63,227 (24,639
514 3,59: (10,90 4,92¢ (3,739 4,32(
(238,66() (124,51) (30,10 (154,59) (59,48 (28,959
— — — (239) (2,917 —
(238,66()  (124,51)) (30,102 (154,83 (62,405  (28,95%)
— — — (1,319 6,141 (5,300
$ (238,66() $ (124,51) $ (30,109 N/A N/A N/A
N/A N/A N/A $ (153,51) $ (68,546 $ (23,65¢%)
$ 10,807 $ 261,90¢ $ 8,09( NA $ 368 $ 3,70C
(51,569 187,78: (32,839 N/A (25,019 (60,584
(56,82)) (69,929 (36,929) N/A (7,148  (55,98)
2,303,67. 2,424,43. 2,155,34: N/A 644,98( 456,28t
1,883,15! 1,762,04! 1,333,00! N/A 623,74 424,15(
$ 224,48t $ 490,24. $ 679,27 N/A  $(183,499 $(169,20)
NM NM NM N/A NM NM
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(1) The ratio of earnings to fixed charges is clalt®d by dividing the sum of earnings (loss) froomtinuing operations before income taxes
and fixed charges, by fixed charges. Fixed chairg#ade interest expense on all indebtedness, &atian of debt issuance fees and
interest expense on operating leases. Earningsdedicent in all periods presented to cover fixédrges by the following amoun

Successo Predecesso
Period from Period from
November 17 January 1,
through
December 31 through November 16
December 31 December 31
2014 2013 2012 2012 Year Ended December 31
2011 2010

(in thousands)

$ (238,140 $ (120,92) $ (40,789 | $ (149,669 $ (63,189 $ (24,629

ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT 'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AN D RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following discussion and analysis providesrimi@tion which management believes is relevant tassessment and understanding o
our consolidated results of operations and finahc@ndition. This discussion covers periods botiepto and subsequent to the Transactions
(as described below). Accordingly, the discussioa analysis of certain historical periods do notieet the significant impact of the
Transactions. The discussion should be read inwmartjon with the “Unaudited Pro Forma Financial brination,” “Selected Historical
Consolidated Financial Information” and the congialted financial statements and notes thereto coathin this annual report on Form 30-
This discussion contains forward-looking statemeamid involves numerous risks and uncertaintieduiting, but not limited to, those
described in the “Risk Factors” section of this amh report on Form 10-K. Actual results may diffeaterially from those contained in any
forward-looking statements.

Business Overview

We are one of the largest Smart Home companie®ithMmerica. In February 2013, we were recognizgéorbes magazine as one of
America’s Most Promising Companies. Our fully imztgd and remotely accessible residential seryitaform offers subscribers a suite of
products and services that includes interactivarstyc life-safety, energy management and homeraatwmn. We utilize a scalable “direct-to-
home” sales model to originate a majority of owvrseibscribers, which allows us control over ourswéiscriber acquisition costs. We have
built a high-quality subscriber portfolio, with average credit score of 714, as of December 3Y4,28dough our underwriting criteria and
compensation structure. Unlike many of our compgegjtwho generally focus on either subscriber ngtjon or servicing, we originate, install,
service and monitor our entire subscriber baseghvailows us to control the overall subscriber eigree. We seek to deliver a quality
subscriber experience with a combination of inniweatew products and services and a commitmentgtomer service, which together with
our focus on originating high-quality new subscrifydas enabled us to achieve attrition rateswkeaielieve are historically at or below
industry averages. Utilizing this model, we havétlauportfolio of approximately 894,000 subscribeas of December 31, 2014.
Approximately 95% and 92% of our revenues durirgytbars ended December 31, 2014 and 2013, resggctionsisted of contractually
committed recurring revenues, which have histogia@sulted in consistent and predictable operatasylts.

Recent Transactions

On March 6, 2015, we amended and restated thet @gidiement governing our revolving credit facitibyprovide for, among other
things, (1) an increase in the aggregate commitsnameviously available to us from $200.0 million%289.4 million and (2) the extension of
the maturity date with respect to certain of thevfpusly available commitments. See “—Liquidity aBdpital Resources—Revolving Credit
Facility.”

On October 10, 2014, in connection with the conpitedf its initial public offering, Solar repaiddas to APX Group, Inc., our wholly-
owned subsidiary, and to our parent entity. Ouepientity, in turn, returned a portion of suchgeeds to APX Group, Inc. as a capital
contribution. These transactions resulted in ticeipg by APX Group, Inc. of an aggregate amour5H.0 million.
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Also in connection with Solar’s initial public ofieg, we negotiated on an arm’s-length basis artered into a number of agreements
with Solar related to services and other suppeatwe have provided and will provide to Solar imithg:

* A Master Intercompany Framework Agreement wigstablishes a framework for the ongoing relatigmbletween us
and Solar and contains master terms regardingrdteqgtion of each other’s confidential informati@md master
procedural terms, such as notice procedures, st on assignment, interpretive provisions, gowe law and
dispute resolutior

* A Non-Competition Agreement in which we andé&atach define our current areas of business andomopetitors,
and agree not to directly or indirectly engagehim ¢the’s business for three yea

* A Transition Services Agreement pursuant toclhwe will provide to Solar various enterprise g8, including
services relating to information technology andasfructure, human resources and employee berefitsinistration
services and faciliti-related services

* A Product Development and Supply Agreementymmsto which one of Solarwholly owned subsidiaries will, for
initial term of three years, subject to automagicawal for successive one-year periods unlessrgitdréy elects
otherwise, collaborate with us to develop certaomitoring and communications equipment that willdoenpatible
with other equipment used in Solar’s energy systenaswill replace equipment Solar currently prosurem third
parties;

e A Marketing and Customer Relations Agreemenictvigoverns various cross-marketing initiativesamtn us and
Solar, in particularly the provision of sales le&asn each company to the other; ¢

A Trademark License Agreement pursuant to witiehlicensor, a special purpose subsidiary mgjantned by us an
minority-owned by Solar, will grant Solar a royaftge exclusive license to the trademark “VIVINT IS&R” in the
field of selling renewable energy or energy stornagelucts and service

On September 3, 2014, APX Group, Inc. paid a divitlie the amount of $50.0 million to APX Group Hiolgs, Inc., its sole stockhold:
which in turn paid a dividend in the amount of $bfillion to its stockholders.

On July 1, 2014, we issued and sold an additioh@0® million aggregate principal amount of the 20tes.

Key Factors Affecting Operating Results

Our business is driven through the generation af sigbscribers and servicing and maintaining ousteyg subscriber base. The
generation of new subscribers requires significgrfitont investment, which in turn provides predidéacontractual recurring monthly revenue
generated from our monitoring and additional sesidVe market our service offerings through twesahannels, direct-to-home and inside
sales. Historically, most of our new subscriberoacits were generated through direchtone sales, primarily from April through August.W
subscribers generated through inside sales wasxpyately 24% of total new subscriber additionshie year ended December 31, 2014, as
compared to 23% of total new subscribers in the gaded December 31, 2013. Over time we expeatuhber of subscribers originated
through inside sales to continue to increase, tieguirom increased advertising and expansion ofdinect-sales calling centers.

Our operating results are impacted by the followkey factors: number of subscriber additions, néssriber acquisition costs, average
RMR per subscriber, subscriber adoption rate oftmah@l services beyond our Smart Security packagbscriber attrition, the costs to mon
and service our subscribers, the level of genemdlaaiministrative expenses and the availability @rat of capital required to generate new
subscribers. We focus our investment decisionsemeigating new subscribers and servicing our exgjstibscribers in the most cost-effective
manner, while maintaining a high level of customenvice to minimize subscriber attrition. Theseisieas are based on the projected cash
flows and associated margins generated over theceeqh life of the subscriber relationship. Attnitis defined as the aggregate number of
cancelled subscribers during a period divided leyttonthly weighted average number of total subscsifor such period. Subscribers are
considered cancelled when they terminate in acooelavith the terms of their contract, are termiddtg us, or if payment from such
subscribers is deemed uncollectible (when at feastmonthly billings become past due). Sales aitcts to third parties and certain
subscriber moves are excluded from the attritidoutation.
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Our ability to increase subscribers depends omabeu of factors, both external and internal. Exaéfactors include the overall
macroeconomic environment and competition from iotloeenpanies in the geographies we serve, partigufathose markets where our direct-
to-home sales representatives are present. Soow ofirrent competitors have longer operating his$o greater name recognition and
substantially greater financial and marketing résesithan us. In the future, other companies n&y @loose to begin offering services similal
to ours. In addition, because such a large pergerdfour new subscribers are generated througlstelio-home sales, any actions limiting this
sales channel could negatively affect our abilitgtow our subscriber base. We are continuallyuatalg ways to improve the effectiveness o
our subscriber acquisition activities in both oiredt-to-home and inside sales channels.

Internal factors include our ability to recruitain and retain personnel, along with the levehokistment in sales and marketing efforts.
As a result, we expect to increase our investmeatlivertising in the markets we serve. We belieagtaining competitive compensation
structures, differentiated product offerings anthlelishing a strong brand are critical to attragtimd retaining high-quality personnel and
competing effectively in the markets we serve. 8astully growing our revenue per subscriber dependsur ability to continue expanding
our technology platform by offering additional vaeladded services demanded by the market. Thereferepntinually evaluate the viability of
additional service packages that could furtherrage our existing technology platform and salesnkbs. As evidence of this focus on new
services, since 2010, we have successfully expandeservice packages from residential security @rtergy management and home
automation, which allows us to charge higher RMRfi@se additional service packages. During 20E3began offering high-speed wireless
internet to a limited number of residential custesnén August 2014, we also acquired a data clooihge technology solution that we began
selling on a limited basis in late 2014. These isergfferings leverage our existing direct-to-hose#ling model for the generation of new
subscribers. During the year ended December 34, 2Qiproximately 69% of our new subscribers cotddéor one of our additional service
packages. Due to the high rate of adoption foraleilitional service packages, our average RMR@arsubscriber has increased from $4
in 2009 to $61.89 for the year ended December @14 2an increase of 39%.

We focus on managing the costs associated withtoromg and service without jeopardizing our awaritiving service quality. We
believe our ability to retain subscribers over ltreg-term starts with our underwriting criteria asdenhanced by maintaining our consistent
quality service levels.

Subscriber attrition has a direct impact on the peinof subscribers who we monitor and service andw financial results, including
revenues, operating income and cash flows. A podiche subscriber base can be expected to cassgrvice every year. Subscribers may
choose not to renew or may terminate their cordrimta variety of reasons, including, but not tedito, relocation, cost, switching to a
competitor's service or service issues. If a subscrelocates but continues their service, we ataconsider this as a cancellation. If a
subscriber discontinues their service and transferoriginal subscriber’'s contract to a new subscrcontinuing the revenue stream, we also
do not consider this as a cancellation. We anabyzeattrition by tracking the number of subscribete cancel as a percentage of the average
number of subscribers at the end of each twelvetimperiod. We caution investors that not all coniegninvestors and analysts in our indu
define attrition in the same manner.
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The table below presents our subscriber data toyéars ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012:

Year Ended December 31

2014 2013 2012
Beginning balance of subscribers 795,50( 671,81¢ 562,00¢
Net new addition: 204,46: 219,03: 180,34
Attrition (105,789 (95,357) (70,53
Ending balance of subscribe 894,17! 795,50( 671,81¢
Monthly average subscribe 849,45: 743,54+ 627,80¢
Attrition rate 12.5% 12.£% 11.2%

Historically, we have experienced an increased lefssubscriber cancellations in the months surdiog the expiration of such
subscribers’ initial contract term. Attrition inaitwelve month period may be impacted by the nunobsubscriber contracts reaching the end
of their initial term in such period. We believesttrend in cancellations at the end of the initiahtract term is comparable to other companie:
within our industry.

Basis of Presentation

We have historically conducted business throughvivint and 2GIG operating segments. Through thte @& the Transactions, the
historical results of our Vivint operating segmardiuded the results of Vivint, Inc. and its subaites, as well as those of Solar, which was
historically consolidated as a variable interesitygnAfter the date of the Transactions, the ressaf our Vivint operating segment exclude the
results of Solar, as it is not a subsidiary of and we are no longer considered a primary berefiaf Solar. On April 1, 2013, we completed
the sale of 2GIG to Nortek. See further discusgiddote 5 -Divestiture of Subsidiary. Therefore, 2GIG is exigdd from our operating resul
beginning on the date of the 2GIG Sale. The resiiltair 2GIG operating segment include the reaflG1G Technologies, Inc., which prior
to the Merger was a variable interest entity aterahe Merger was our consolidated subsidiaryl itetsale to Nortek.

Revenues from Solar and its subsidiaries were appately $0.4 million, or less than 1% of our totatenues (excluding intercompany
activity), for the period from January 1, 2012 thgb the date of the Transactions. As of the dateefransactions, assets of Solar and its
subsidiaries were approximately $43.0 million, &6 6f our total assets (excluding intercompany bzgah and liabilities of Solar and its
subsidiaries were approximately $27.2 million, &6 af our total liabilities (excluding intercompabglances). Revenues from 2GIG and its
subsidiary were approximately $17.5 million, or 8%our total revenues and $58.1 million, or 13%oof total revenues during the year ended
December 31, 2013 and the Pro Forma Year endedhibexe31, 2012, respectively. As of March 31, 2Gk3ets of 2GIG and its subsidiary
were approximately $138.5 million, or 6% of ouraicassets (excluding intercompany balances), abdities of 2GIG and its subsidiary were
approximately $63.2 million, or 4% of our totalbiéties (excluding intercompany balances).

Historically, a substantial majority of 2GIG’s reuees were generated from Vivint through (i) saleisscsecurity systems and (ii) fees
billed to Vivint associated with a third-party mtoring platform. Sales to Vivint represented apprately 71%, 45% and 54% of 2GIG's
revenues on a staralene basis from January 1, 2013 through the dateed@GIG Sale, the Successor Period ended Deae3ih@012 and th
Predecessor Period from January 1, 2012 througleber 16, 2012, respectively. The results of 2GHpsrations discussed in this annual
report on Form 10-K exclude intercompany activiiyhwivint, as these transactions were eliminatedansolidation.

The consolidated financial statements for the peaied December 31, 2012 are presented for the ¢&sstm Period from January 1, 2
through November 16, 2012 and the Successor Penided December 31, 2012, which relate to the pgriededing the Merger and the perioc
succeeding the Merger, respectively. The consadifihancial statements of the Predecessor aremtezsfor the Issuer and its wholly-owned
subsidiaries. The audited consolidated financatkshents for the Successor Period reflect the ardions presenting the financial position anc
results of operations of the Parent Guarantor enaholly-owned subsidiaries. The financial positand results of the Successor are not
comparable to the financial position and resultthefPredecessor due to the Transactions and pfieaon of purchase accounting in
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accordance with ASC 805 Business Combinations.Trhasactions have had and are expected to cortirheeve, a significant effect on our
future financial condition and results of operasioRor instance, as a result of the Transactiamshorrowings have increased significantly,
although at lower rates of interest. Also, the mgpion of purchase accounting in accordance wBCA05 Business Combinations required
that our assets and liabilities be adjusted ta flag@i value. These adjustments resulted in a @serén our revenues, primarily related to
activation fees billed to our subscribers priothte Transactions. The revenue associated withadidivfees is deferred upon billing and
recognized over the estimated life of the subscriblationships. There was deemed to be no farevabsociated with the deferred activation
fee revenues at the time of these Transactions. r&sult, the recognition of the deferred reverasseciated with these activation fees was
eliminated. Our amortization expense also incredsedto intangible assets acquired in the TrammastWe also incurred significant non-
recurring charges in connection with the Transaectiincluding (i) equity-based compensation expeaking to management awards that
vested upon the closing of the Transactions, éirpent to employees of bonuses and other compengatated to the Transactions and

(iii) certain expenses related to the Transacttbas may be required to be expensed by accountamgiards.

The unaudited Pro Forma Year statement of opeafmmthe year ended December 31, 2012 has bepangckto give pro forma effect
to the Transactions as if they had occurred onalgrl, 2012. The pro forma financial informatiorfas informational purposes only and
should not be considered indicative of actual teghiat would have been achieved had the Transactictually been consummated on the
dates indicated and do not purport to indicateltestfi operations as of any future date or for autyre period. See “—Unaudited Pro Forma
Financial Information.”

The term “attrition” as used in this annual repmitForm10-K refers to the aggregate number of detcsubscribers during a period
divided by the monthly weighted average numbeptiltsubscribers for such period. Subscribers ansidered cancelled when they terminate
in accordance with the terms of their contract,tarminated by us or if payment from such subscsiledeemed uncollectible (when at least
four monthly billings become past due). Sales aftiaxcts to third parties and certain subscribadeggial moves are excluded from the attri
calculation. The term “net subscriber acquisitiosts” as used in this annual report on Form 10f&rseto the gross costs to generate and
install a security and home automation subscrikeéohany fees collected at the time of the contsaming. The term “RMR” is the recurring
monthly revenue billed to a security and home aatton subscriber. The term “total RMR” is the aggre RMR billed to all security and
home automation subscribers. The term “total sulbsi3” is the aggregate number of our active securityraomde automation subscribers at
end of a given period. The term “average RMR pésstiber” is the total RMR divided by the total sakibers. This is also commonly referred
to as Average Revenue per User, or “ARPU.” The taamerage RMR per new subscribés the aggregate RMR for new subscribers origir
during a period divided by the number of new substs originated during such period.

How We Generate Revenue
Vivint
Our primary source of revenue is generated thramghitoring services provided to our subscriberadoordance with their subscriber
contracts. The remainder of our revenue is gengtateugh additional services, activation fees,raggs and maintenance and repair fees.

Monitoring revenues accounted for 95%, 95%, 96% %%, of total revenues for the years ended DeceBthe2014 and 2013, the Successol
Period ended December 31, 2012 and the Preded@ssod from January 1, 2012 through November 1622€espectively.

Monitoring revenueMonitoring services for our subscriber contracts laitled in advance, generally monthly, pursuarth®terms of
subscriber contracts and recognized ratably ovesé#hvice period. The amount of RMR billed is defgsmt upon which of our service packa
is included in the subscriber contracts. We geherablize higher RMR for our Smart Energy and Sn@antrol service packages than our
Smart Security service package. Historically, weehgenerally offered contracts to subscribersidmage in length from 36 to 60 months that
are subject to automatic annual or monthly reneiftal the expiration of the initial term. At theceaf each monthly period, the portion of
monitoring fees related to services not yet pradidee deferred and recognized as these servicegsaieed.

Service and other sales revenu@ur service and other sales revenue is primagafgprised of amounts charged for selling additional
equipment, and maintenance and repair. These amatmbilled, and the associated revenue recogratdide time of installation or when the
services are performed. Service and other salenoevalso includes contract fulfilment revenueichihrelates to amounts paid by subscribers
who cancel their monitoring contract in-term andvdich we have no future service obligation tonth&Ve recognize this revenue upon
receipt of payment from the subscriber.
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Activation feesActivation fees represent upfront one-time chatgjiad to subscribers at the time of installationare deferred. These
fees are recognized over the estimated custoneenflit 2 years using a 150% declining balance methbith converts to a straight-line
methodology after approximately five years.

2GIG

2GIG’s primary source of revenue was generatedititrahe sale of electronic home security and autiemaroducts to dealers and
distributors throughout North America. The remainoiethe revenue was earned from monthly recursiexyice fees. System sales, which are
included in service and other sales revenue oransolidated statements of operations, accounteapfaroximately 14%, 3%, 13%, 12% and
13% of total consolidated revenues from Janua@013 through the date of the 2GIG Sale, the yede@iDecember 31, 2013, the Pro Forma
Year, the Successor Period ended December 31,&@lthe Predecessor Period from January 1, 20@d@ghrNovember 16, 2012,
respectively. Product sales accounted for appraeiin@2%, 97%, 87%, 81% and 88% of 2GIG’s totakmves on a stand-alone basis from
January 1, 2013 through the date of the 2GIG $adeperiod January 1, 2013 through the date o2@i& Sale, the Pro Forma Year, the
Successor Period ended December 31, 2012 andebed@ssor Period from January 1, 2012 through Nbeed6t, 2012, respectively.

Service and other sales revenudet sales revenue from distribution of the 2G@ducts was recognized when title to the products
transferred to the customer, which occurred up@mnsént from our third-party logistics provider'scfity to the customer. Invoicing occurred
at the time of shipment and in certain cases, dedufreight costs based on specific vendor corgract

Recurring services revenudlet recurring services revenue was based on éadlservices for all panels sold to distributord dimect-
sell dealers and subsequently placed in servieadiuser locations. The back-end services aregedudy Alarm.com, an independent
platform services provider. 2GIG received a fixednthly amount from Alarm.com for each of our syssdénstalled with customers that used
the Alarm.com platform.

Costs and Expenses
Vivint
Operating expense@perating expenses primarily consists of labor@ased with monitoring and servicing subscriberd kbor and
equipment expenses related to upgrades and seegags. We also incur equipment costs associatidexcess and obsolete inventory and
rework costs related to equipment removed from qillisr’s homes. In addition, a portion of generad administrative expenses, comprised o
certain human resources, facilities and informateahnologies costs are allocated to operatingresgee This allocation is primarily based on

employee headcount and facility square footagemiedu Because our FSPs perform most subscribelletsons generated through our inside
sales channels, the costs incurred by the fiedMigeassociated with these installations are alkxt#o capitalized subscriber acquisition costs.

Selling expenseSelling expenses are primarily comprised of cost®eiated with housing for our direct-to-home sadggesentatives,
advertising and lead generation, marketing andiieg, certain portions of sales commissions, bead (including allocation of certain
general and administrative expenses) and othes castdirectly tied to a specific subscriber oraion. These costs are expensed as incurred

General and administrative expensé&neral and administrative expenses consist laafdipance, legal, research and development
(“R&D"), human resources, information technologydasxecutive management expenses, including stoséebeompensation expense. Stock-
based compensation expense is recorded withinueadomponents of our costs and expenses. Generaldaministrative expenses also incli
the provision for doubtful accounts. We allocatpragimately one-third of our gross general and amshiative expenses, excluding the
provision for doubtful accounts, into operating @edling expenses in order to reflect the overadits of those components of the business. In
addition, in connection with certain service agreata with Solar, we subleased corporate officeespathem through October 2014 and
provide certain other administrative services tta6&e charge Solar the costs associated witlethervice agreements (See Note 8).

Depreciation and amortizatioepreciation and amortization consists of depragidrom property and equipment, amortization of
equipment leased under capital leases, capitadiabsicriber acquisition costs and intangible assets.
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2GIG

Operating expense2GIG did not directly manufacture, assemble, wanskaor ship any of the products it sold. Its prasiueere
produced by contract manufacturers, and warehoaisédulfilled through third-party logistics provide Operating expenses primarily
consisted of cost of goods sold, freight chargagalty fees on licensed technology, warehouse esgmrand fulfillment service fees charge:
its logistics providers.

General and administrative expensé&neral and administrative expenses consistedyanfénance, R&D, including third-party
engineering costs, legal, operations, sales cononssand executive management costs. 2GIG’s peetaalated costs were included in
general and administrative expense.

Depreciation and amortizatiodepreciation and amortization consisted of deptixiaf property and equipment.

Key Operating Metrics

In evaluating our results, we review the key perfance measures discussed below. We believe thptékentation of key performance
measures is useful to investors and lenders bethegare used to measure the value of companaédsasiours with recurring revenue stre:

Total Subscribers

Total subscribers is the aggregate number of diveasecurity and home automation subscriberseaétid of a given period.

Total Recurring Monthly Revenue

Total RMR is the aggregate RMR billed to all seguaind home automation subscribers. This revenaarised for Smart Security, Smart
Energy, and Smart Control service offerings.

Average RMR per Subscriber

Average RMR per subscriber is the total RMR divitbgdhe total subscribers. This is also commonigired to as Average Revenue per
User, or ARPU.

Attrition

Attrition is the aggregate number of cancelled sécand home automation subscribers during a petivided by the monthly weighted
average number of total security and home automatidescribers for such period. Subscribers areideresi cancelled when they terminate in
accordance with the terms of their contract, amaiteated by us or if payment from such subscriliedeemed uncollectible (when at least four
monthly billings become past due).

Critical Accounting Estimates

In preparing our consolidated financial statemenesmake assumptions, judgments and estimatesdhdiave a significant impact on
our revenue, income (loss) from operations andasst as well as on the value of certain assetdialpitities on our Consolidated Balance
Sheets. We base our assumptions, judgments anthéssi on historical experience and various otleofa that we believe to be reasonable
under the circumstances. Actual results could diffaterially from these estimates under differesstuanptions or conditions. At least quarte
we evaluate our assumptions, judgments and essmat make changes accordingly. Historically, @suenptions, judgments and estimates
relative to our critical accounting estimates hawediffered materially from actual results. Weibeé that the assumptions, judgments and
estimates involved in the accounting for incometpallowance for doubtful accounts, valuationntdmgible assets, and fair value have the
greatest potential impact on our consolidated firerstatements; therefore, we consider these tmuberitical accounting estimates. For
information on our significant accounting policisee Note 2 to our consolidated financial statement

Revenue Recognition

We recognize revenue principally on three typesafsactions: (i) monitoring, which includes RMR), ¢ervice and other sales, which
includes non-recurring service fees charged tosabscribers provided on contracts, contract faiféht revenues and sales of products that ar
not part of our service offerings, and (iii) actioa fees on the subscriber contracts, which areraped over the estimated life of the subsci
relationship.
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Monitoring services for our subscriber contractsaitied in advance, generally monthly, pursuarth®terms of subscriber contracts anc
recognized ratably over the service period. RMRe&®gnized monthly as services are provided inraece with the rates set forth in our
subscriber contracts. Costs of providing ongoingitooing services are expensed in the period irsclrr

Any services included in service and other salesnee are recognized upon provision of the applécabrvices. Revenue from 2GIG
product sales was recognized when title passdietoustomer, which was generally upon shipment flmrwarehouse of our third-party
logistics provider. Revenue generated by Vivinbfrthe sale of products that are not part of theiseiofferings is recognized upon
installation. Contract fulfillment revenue repretefees received from subscribers at the timerdubsequent to, the in-term termination of
their contract. This revenue is recognized whempa is received from the subscriber.

Activation fees represent upfront one-time chatgsd to subscribers at the time of installatioare deferred. These fees are
recognized over the estimated customer life ofd&y using a 150% declining balance method, whiclverts to a straight-line methodology
after approximately five years.

Subscriber Acquisition Costs

A portion of the direct costs of acquiring new sitguand home automation subscribers, primarilesalommissions, equipment, and
installation costs, are deferred and recognized aymttern that reflects the estimated life ofshbscriber relationships. We amortize these
costs over 12 years using a 150% declining balemat@od, which converts to a straight-line methogglafter approximately 5 years. We
evaluate attrition on a periodic basis, utilizirgserved attrition rates for our subscriber consractd industry information and, when necessan
make adjustments to the estimated life of the giliescrelationship and amortization method.

On the consolidated statement of cash flows, siliErcacquisition costs that are comprised of eqeipihand related installation costs
purchased for or used in subscriber contracts iiclwive retain ownership to the equipment are dieskas investing activities and reported as
“Subscriber acquisition costs — company owned aqaift”. All other subscriber acquisition costs dessified as operating activities and
reported as “Subscriber acquisition costs — dedecomtract costs” on the condensed consolidateenstnts of cash flows as these assets
represent deferred costs associated with the oreaficustomer contracts.

Subscriber acquisition costs represent the cokstteceto the origination of new subscribers. A mortof subscriber acquisition costs is
expensed as incurred, which includes costs assdoreth the direct-to-home sale housing, marketind recruiting, certain portions of sales
commissions (residuals), overhead and other costsidered not directly and specifically tied te tirigination of a particular subscriber. The
remaining portion of the costs is considered talibectly tied to subscriber acquisition and conprétnarily of certain portions of sales
commissions, equipment, and installation costss&lwsts are deferred and recognized in a pattatmeflects the estimated life of the
subscriber relationships. Subscriber acquisitistare largely correlated to the number of nevsatilbers originated.

In conjunction with the Merger and in accordancthyiurchase accounting, the total purchase priceallacated to our net tangible and
identifiable intangible assets based on their estiah fair values as of November 16, 2012 (See Hoté/e recorded the value of Subscriber
Acquisition Costs on the date of the Merger at ¥alue and classified it as an intangible assetghvis amortized over 10 years in a pattern
is consistent with the amount of revenue expeadiktgenerated from the related subscriber costract

Accounts Receivable

Accounts receivable consist primarily of amounte fhom subscribers for RMR services. Accounts netdie are recorded at invoiced
amounts and are non-interest bearing. The grossirined accounts receivable has been reduced bilamaace for doubtful accounts of
approximately $3.4 million and $1.9 million at Dedeer 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013, respectiWdyestimate this allowance based on
historical collection rates, attrition rates, amahitactual obligations underlying the sale of thbsgriber contracts to third parties. As of
December 31, 2014 and 2013, no accounts receivadie classified as held for sale. Provision forlattul accounts recognized and include
general and administrative expenses in the accoymmpaudited consolidated statements of operatiotaded $15.7 million and $10.4 million
for the year ended December 31, 2014 and 2013 ctsgply.

Loss Contingencies

We record accruals for various contingencies iridlgidegal proceedings and other claims that arigdé normal course of business. The
accruals are based on judgment, the probabilitgssfes and, where applicable, the consideratiapiofions of legal counsel. We record an
accrual when a loss is deemed probable to occuisarésonably estimable. Factors that we congiditie determination of the likelihood of a
loss and the estimate of the range of that losespect of legal
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matters include the merits of a particular matteg, nature of the litigation, the length of time tnatter has been pending, the procedural
posture of the matter, whether we intend to defeadmatter, the likelihood of settling for an ingificant amount and the likelihood of the
plaintiff accepting an amount in this range. Howetiee outcome of such legal matters is inheraemtlyredictable and subject to significant
uncertainties.

Goodwill and Intangible Assets

Purchase accounting requires that all assets abitities acquired in a transaction be recordefdiatvalue on the acquisition date,
including identifiable intangible assets separatenfgoodwill. For significant acquisitions, we oltindependent appraisals and valuations of
the intangible (and certain tangible) assets aequand certain assumed obligations as well asyeddéntifiable intangible assets include
customer relationships, trade names and traderaaksleveloped technology, which equaled $703.2anilit December 31, 2014. Goodwill
represents the excess of cost over the fair vélneteassets acquired and was $841.5 million aeber 31, 2014.

The estimated fair values and useful lives of idiext intangible assets are based on many fadiekiding estimates and assumptions o
future operating performance and cash flows ofitwuired business, estimates of cost avoidanceatuee of the business acquired, the
specific characteristics of the identified intarigissets and our historical experience and thiiteoicquired business. The estimates and
assumptions used to determine the fair values aefiillives of identified intangible assets couduege due to numerous factors, including
product demand, market conditions, regulationsctifig the business model of our operations, teagichl developments, economic
conditions and competition. The carrying values aseful lives for amortization of identified intablg assets are reviewed annually during
fourth fiscal quarter and as necessary if chamgégcits and circumstances indicate that the cagryalue may not be recoverable and any
resulting changes in estimates could have a mhseheerse effect on our financial results.

When we determine that the carrying value of inilblegassets, goodwill and long-lived assets maybeatecoverable, an impairment
charge is recorded. Impairment is generally meashased on valuation techniques considered mosoppate under the circumstances,
including a projected discounted cash flow methsidgia discount rate determined by our managemédrd tommensurate with the risk
inherent in our current business model or prevgifitarket rates of investment securities, if avaddab

We conduct a goodwill impairment analysis annuadlgur fourth fiscal quarter, as of October 1, aschecessary if changes in facts and
circumstances indicate that the fair value of emorting units may be less than their carrying amounder applicable accounting guidance,
we are permitted to use a qualitative approaclvaéduate goodwill impairment when no indicators mpiairment exist and if certain accounting
criteria are met. To the extent that indicatorsear the criteria are not met, we use a quantéadpproach to evaluate goodwill impairment
based on estimated growth in our business anduli$cates. Such quantitative impairment assessim@atirformed using a two-step, fair value
based test. The first step requires that we contparestimated fair value of our reporting unitshie carrying value of the reporting unit's net
assets, including goodwill. If the fair value o&theporting unit is greater than the carrying valtigs net assets, goodwill is not considered to
be impaired and no further testing is requiredhéf fair value of the reporting unit is less thae tarrying value of its net assets, we would be
required to complete the second step of the teahbyyzing the fair value of its goodwill. If tharcying value of the goodwill exceeds its fair
value, an impairment charge is recorded.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are stated at cost and clafgéd on the straight-line method over the esgahaiseful lives of the assets or the
lease term, whichever is shorter. Amortization erggeassociated with leased assets is includeddefiteciation expense. Routine repairs and
maintenance are charged to expense as incurregevidalically assess potential impairment of ouperty and equipment and perform an
impairment review whenever events or changes ounistances indicate that the carrying value maypaatcoverable.

Income Taxes

We account for income taxes based on the assdiadnility method. Under the asset and liability imed, deferred tax assets and deferre
tax liabilities are recognized for the future tansequences attributable to differences betweefirthecial statement carrying amounts of
existing assets and liabilities and their respectax basis and operating loss and tax credit framsards. Valuation allowances are establishec
when necessary to reduce deferred tax assets wisateitermined that it is more likely than notttekame portion of the deferred tax asset will
not be realized.

We recognize the effect of an uncertain incomeptasition on the income tax return at the largestiam that is more-likely-than-not to
be sustained upon audit by the relevant taxingaaifyh An uncertain income tax position will not becognized if it has less than a 50%
likelihood of being sustained. Our policy for redimg interest and penalties is to record such itasna component of the provision for income
taxes.
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Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In May 2014, the FASB issued authoritative guidawbéch clarifies the principles used to recognieeemue for all entities. The new
guidance requires companies to recognize revenea Whransfers goods or services to a customaniamount that reflects the consideration
to which a company expects to be entitled. Theanid is effective for annual and interim periodgitweing after December 15, 2016. The
guidance allows for either a “full retrospectivafaption or a “modified retrospective” adoption, hewer early adoption is not permitted. We
are currently evaluating the impact the adoptiothef guidance will have on our consolidated finahstatements.

In August 2014, the Financial Accounting Standd@dard issued ASU No. 2014-15. This standard prevgigédance on determining
when and how to disclose going-concern uncertaintiehe financial statements. The new standandimesjmanagement to perform interim
and annual assessments of an entity’s ability figoe as a going concern within one year of thte tlze financial statements are issued. This
ASU is effective for fiscal years, and interim pel$ within those years, beginning on or after Ddmami 5, 2016, with early adoption
permitted. We are evaluating the new guidance ¢amito provide additional information about its exfed impact at a future date.

In February 2013, the FASB issued authoritativalgnce which expands the disclosure requiremen@nf@munts reclassified out of
accumulated other comprehensive income (“AOCI")e Gidance requires an entity to provide informatbout the amounts reclassified out
of AOCI by component and present, either on the fafiche income statement or in the notes to firmstatements, significant amounts
reclassified out of AOCI by the respective linamiteof net income but only if the amount reclasdif@required under GAAP to be reclassified
to net income in its entirety in the same reporpegod. For other amounts, an entity is requitedrbss-reference to other disclosures require
under GAAP that provide additional detail aboutsth@mounts. This guidance does not change thentweguirements for reporting net
income or OCI in financial statements. The guiddmeeame effective for us in the first quarter etél year 2014. The adoption of this
guidance did not have a material impact on oumifina position, results of operations or cash flows

In July 2013, the FASB issued authoritative guidamwbich amends the guidance related to the prasmnta unrecognized tax benefits
and allows for the reduction of a deferred tax tfigea net operating loss carryforward wheneverrtbat operating loss carryforward or tax
credit carryforward would be available to reduce #ldditional taxable income or tax due if the tagifion is disallowed. This guidance bece
effective for us for annual and interim periodsibagg in fiscal year 2014. The adoption of thisdg@unce did not have a material impact on
financial position, results of operations or caskvg.

39



Table of Contents

Results of operations

Revenue
Vivint
2GIG
Total revenue
Transaction related costs
Vivint
2GIG
Total transaction related cot
Costs and expense
Vivint
2GIG
Total costs and expens
(Loss) income from continuing operations
Vivint
2GIG

Total (loss) income from continuing operatic
Other expense

Loss before taxe
Income tax expense (bene!

Net loss from continuing operatio

Loss from discontinued operatio

Less net (loss) income attributable to -controlling interest:
Net loss attributable to APX Group Holdings,

Net loss attributable to APX Group, |

Key operating metrics (1)

Total Subscribers (thousands), as of Decemb
Total RMR (thousands) (end of peric

Average RMR per Subscrib

(1) Reflects Vivint metrics only for all periods presea.

Successo

Period from
November 17

Year Ended Year Ended through
December 31 December 31 December 31

2014 2013 2012
(in thousands
$ 563,677 $ 483,400 $ 50,79
— 17,50 6,81¢
563,67 500,90t 57,60¢
— — 28,11¢
— — 3,767
— — 31,88¢
657,54t 536,50: 46,24
— 19,28¢ 7,67%
657,54t 555,78t 53,91«
(93,869 (53,107 (23,569
= (1,779 (4,625)
(93,869 (54,88() (28,199
144,27 66,04 12,81:
(238,14 (120,92) (41,009
514 3,59: (10,909
(238,66() (124,51 (30,107
$ (238,66() $ (124,51) $ (30,109
894.2 795.t 671.¢
$ 48,73: $ 42,20: $ 34,27¢
$ 545( $ 53.08 $ 51.02
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Predecesso
Period from
January 1 Pro Forma
through Year Ended
November 16 December 31
2012 2012
(unaudited
$ 346,27( $ 392,23t
51,30( 58,11°¢
397,57( 450,35!
22,21¢ —
1,24 —
23,46: —
365,30( 426,44¢
51,80: 67,43:
417,10: 493,88:
(41,249 (34,21))
(1,749 (9,317
(42,999 (43,529
106,68 104,54¢
(149,67, (148,074
4,92: (5,980
(154,59) $ (142,099
23¢
(1,319
$ (153,51)
N/A 671.¢
N/A  $ 34,27¢
N/A 8 51.0z
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Year Ended December 31, 2014 Compared to the Yewmteld December 31, 2013—Vivint
Revenues

The following table provides the significant compats of our revenue for the years ended Decemhe&t(@3¥4 and 2013:

Successo % Change
Year Ended December 31 2014 Actual vs
2014 2013 2013 Actual
(in thousands

Monitoring revenue $537,69! $459,68: 17%
Service and other sales revel 21,98( 22,075 0%
Activation fees 4,002 1,642 144%
Total revenue $563,67" $483,40: 17%

Total revenues increased $80.3 million, or 17%{lieryear ended December 31, 2014 as compared j@tr ended December 31, 2013
primarily due to the growth in monitoring revenugich increased $78.0 million, or 17%. This inceeassulted from $66.8 million of fees
from the net addition of approximately 99,000 suitirs at December 31, 2014 compared to Decemhe&r3B and a $20.9 million increase
from continued growth in the percentage of our stibsrs contracting for new products and serviaekpges, partially offset by a $10.1 milli
increase in refunds and credits during the period.

Service and other sales revenue decreased $0idrmék 0%, for the year ended December 31, 20kebagpared to the year ended
December 31, 2013. This decrease was primarilytala@ increase of $0.6 million of other revenueseffoy a decrease in upgrade revenue of
$0.7 million related to subscriber service upgraates purchases of additional equipment.

The revenue associated with activation fees isroifaipon billing and recognized over the estiméifedbf the subscriber relationship.
There was deemed to be no fair value associatéddeferred activation fee revenues at the timé@f&cquisition. Thus, all activation fee
revenue for the years ended December 31, 2014GiRir2late to contracts generated after the AdinisiThus, revenues recognized related
to activation fees increased $2.4 million, or 14486 the year ended December 31, 2014 as compaithe tyear ended December 31, 2013,
primarily due to the increase in the number of stibsers from whom we have collected activation feiese the date of the Acquisition.

Costs and Expenses

The following table provides the significant compats of our costs and expenses for the years ddeleeinber 31, 2014 and 2013:

Successo % Change
Year Ended December 31 2014 Actual vs
2014 2013 2013 Actual
(in thousands

Operating expense¢ $202,76¢ $152,55¢ 33%
Selling expense 107,37( 98,88 9%
General and administrati 126,08: 91,69¢ 38%
Depreciation and amortizatic 221,32: 193,36¢ 14%
Total costs and expens $657,54t $536,50: 23%

Operating expenses increased $50.2 million, or 38%he year ended December 31, 2014 as comparte tyear ended December 31,
2013, primarily to support the growth in our sulilser base and our wireless internet business.ifibiease was principally comprised of $1
million in equipment costs, $17.3 million in persehcosts within our monitoring, customer suppod &eld service functions, a $6.9 million
increase in cellular communications fees relatealtomonitoring services and a $3.7 million incee@sinformation technology costs. In
addition, we recognized a loss on impairment ofl $iillion associated with our CMS technology (SeseNL2 to our accompanying
consolidated financial statements).
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Selling expenses, excluding amortization of cajial subscriber acquisition costs, increased $8lBbm or 9%, for the year ended
December 31, 2014 as compared to the year endeshiber 31, 2013, primarily due to a $7.8 millionreese in facility, administrative and
information technology costs and a $1.3 millionrease in advertising costs, all to support the etgokincrease in our subscriber contract
originations and our wireless internet business twge. This increase is offset, in part, by a $®illion decrease in personnel costs.

General and administrative expenses increased $3#idn, or 38%, for the year ended December 3, Las compared to the year
ended December 31, 2013, partly due to a $21.50milhcrease in personnel costs, primarily relateshformation technologies, R&D and
management staffing to support the expected grofthe business and our wireless internet serVibe.increase was also due to a
$7.8 million increase in brand recognition expereas a $3.2 million increase in facility, adminaive and information technology costs, a
support the growth in our business, along with & $5illion increase in the provision for doubtf@caunts, primarily related to the growth in
our revenues and accounts receivable. These irw®axe partially offset by a $3.5 million decreamsether advertising costs.

Depreciation and amortization increased $28.0 amllor 14%, for the year ended December 31, 20bémpared to the year ended
December 31, 2013. The increase was primarily duecreased amortization of subscriber acquisitiosts.

Year Ended December 31, 2014 Compared to the Yewted December 31, 2013—2GIG
All intercompany revenue and expenses between Vand 2GIG have been eliminated in consolidaticth faom the amounts presented
below, as discussed in Note 5.

Successo % Change
2014 Actual vs

Year Ended December 31 2013 Actual
2014 2013
(in thousands
Total revenus $ — $ 17,507 -10(%
Operating expenst — (11,667 -10C(%
General and administrati — (5,48)) -10C(%
Other expense — (2,139 -10(%
Loss from operation $ — $ (1,779 -10(%

2GIG is no longer included in our results of operad, from the date of the 2GIG Sale.

Year Ended December 31, 2014 Compared to the Yewteld December 31, 2013—Consolidated
Other Expenses, net

The following table provides the significant compats of our other expenses, net, for the yearscebdeember 31, 2014 and 2013:

Successo % Change
2014 Actual vs

Year Ended December 31 2013 Actual
2014 2013
(in thousands
Interest expens $147,51: $114,47¢ 29%
Interest incom (1,45 (1,499 -3%
Gain on 2GIG Sal — (46,86¢€) -10(%
Other income (1,779 (76) 2241%
Total other expenses, r $144,27° $ 66,04: 11€%

Interest expense increased $33.0 million, or 29¥ttfe year ended December 31, 2014, as compathdheiyear ended December 31,
2013, due to a higher principal balance on our deshilting from the issuance of $550.0 million efi®r unsecured notes payable since the
beginning of 2013. During the year ended DecemeB313, we realized a gain of
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$46.9 million as a result of the 2GIG Sale. SeeeNbbf our consolidated financial statements falittwhal information. During the year ended
December 31, 2014, other income consisted of posckem the settlement of a lawsuit and a gain@assd with a facility fire. See Note 14
our consolidated financial statements for additiam@rmation.

Income Taxes

The following table provides the significant compats of our income tax expense for the years eBaéegmber 31, 2014 and 2013:

Successo % Change
Year Ended December 31 2014 Actual vs
2014 2013 2013 Actual
(in thousands
Income tax expens $ 514 $ 3,59 -86%

Income tax expense decreased $3.1 million, or 86fthe year ended December 31, 2014, as compatkdhe year ended
December 31, 2013. After the 2GIG Sale on Apr2@13, we were in a net deferred tax asset positibich required the application of a full
valuation allowance against this deferred tax asestilting in income tax expense for the year dridlecember 31, 2013. Our tax expense
during the year ended December 31, 2014 was ptiyvdue to foreign income taxes.

Unaudited Pro Forma Financial Information

The following unaudited pro forma consolidatedextagnt of operations data is presented for supplehiefiormation purposes only. T
unaudited pro forma consolidated statement of djpermdata does not purport to represent whatesults of operations would have been hac
the Merger occurred on the dates specified, addgs not purport to project our results of operetior financial condition for any future
period. The unaudited pro forma consolidated staterof operations data should be read in conjundtiibh this “Management’s Discussion
and Analysis of Financial Condition and Result©gpkrations,” as well as “Selected Historical Coitlsded Financial Information” and our
consolidated financial statements and related nh&reto appearing elsewhere in this annual repoFRorm 10-K. The pro forma adjustments
are based upon available information and certaoragtions that we believe are reasonable. All prmm& adjustments and their underlying
assumptions are described more fully in the natesit unaudited pro forma consolidated statememtperations. We are providing
information on a pro forma basis, giving effectlie Transactions, to provide a supplemental arsabyfsour results of operations.

The unaudited consolidated pro forma statementgefations data has been derived by applying prodadjustments to our historical
consolidated statements of operations containedvéisre in this annual report on Form 10-K. The Mergrhich occurred on November 16,
2012, was accounted for as a business combinat®a.result of the Merger, we applied purchase @uiiiog in accordance with ASC 805
Business Combinatiot, which required that our assets and liabilitiesdzmrded at their respective fair values as oMieeger date. Our
historical consolidated financial statements far ylear ended December 31, 2012 are presenteddgdriods: the Predecessor Period from
January 1, 2012 through November 16, 2012 anduleeeSsor Period ended December 31, 2012, whicte teldhe period preceding the
Merger and the period succeeding the Merger, réispdc

The unaudited pro forma consolidated statemenpefaiions data for the year ended December 31, B84 Peen derived by (i) adding
the historical audited consolidated statement efafons for the Predecessor Period from Janua@112 through November 16, 2012 and the
historical audited consolidated statement of op@natfor the Successor Period ended December 32, &0d (i) applying pro forma
adjustments to give effect to the Transactiond eeey had occurred on January 1, 2012.

The pro forma consolidated statements of operatiaite included in this annual report on Form 1Gi#ludes the results of Solar, which
was considered a variable interest entity. As alre$ the Merger, while Solar was a variable isrentity through the date of Solar’s initial
public offering, we are no longer its primary baaiefry. Accordingly, Solar is no longer requiredie included in the consolidated financial
statements of the Company. In addition, the profostatements of operations included in this anreprt on Form 10-K include the results
of 2GIG. On April 1, 2013, we completed the 2GI3eS&olar and 2GIG do not and will not provide angdit support for any of our
indebtedness, including indebtedness incurred unglerevolving credit facility, our 2019 notes arr@020 notes.
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Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Statements of Operatns

Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 2012

Revenue
Monitoring revenue
Vivint
2GIG
Total monitoring revenu
Service and other sales rever
Vivint
2GIG
Total service and other sales reve
Activation fees
Vivint
2GIG
Total activation fee
Contract sale
Vivint
Total contract sale
Total revenue:
Vivint
2GIG
Total revenue
Costs and expense
Operating expenst
Vivint
2GIG
Total operating expens:
Cost of contract sale
Vivint
Total cost of contract sal

Selling expense
Vivint

Total selling expense
General and administrative expen
Vivint

2GIG

Total general and administrative exper

Successo
Period from
November 17

through
December 31

2012
(Actual)

$ 48,98
13¢

49,12:

1,79¢
6,671

8,47:

11

11

50,79:
6,81¢

57,60¢

16,11t
4,58¢

20,69¢

12,28

12,28

$ 6,94¢

2,57¢
9,521
44

Predecesso

Period from
January 1,
through
November 16

2012
(Actual)

Adjustments

(in thousands

$ 32469, $ (839 (1)
58C —
325,27: (834)
16,09: —
50,72( —
66,81 —

5,331 (3,989 (1)
5,331 (3,989
157 —
157 —
346,27 (4,829)
51,30( —
397,57 (4,829)

114,25¢ (1,579 (2)

31,53¢ 1,917 (3)
145,79° 341
95 —
95 —

91,55¢ (34,02 (2)

8,31¢ (4)

(64) (5)
91,55¢ (25,76%)

$ 78,77  $ (35,049 (2)

1,20¢ (6)

2,24% (7)

(1,71¢) (5)

(181) (8)

21,20 (436) (5)
99,97: (33,929

Pro Forma
Year
Ended
December 31

2012

$ 372,84:
71€

373,55¢

17,88
57,39

75,28¢

1,35:%

1,35:%

128,80:
38,03t

166,83"

95
95

78,07t

78,07t

$ 52,22t

23,33¢
75,56¢
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Transaction related expens
Vivint
2GIG
Total transaction related expen:
Depreciation and amortizatic
Vivint
2GIG
Total depreciation and amortization exper

Total costs and expens
Vivint
2GIG
Total costs and expens

Loss from operation
Other expense:
Interest expense, n
Other expense

Loss from continuing operations before income t¢
Income tax (benefit) expen

Net loss from continuing operatio

See Notes to Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Statentgof Operations

Successol
Period from
November 17

through
December 31

2012
(Actual)

28,11¢
3,76

31,88t

10,89¢
514

11,41(

74,35¢
11,44(

85,79¢
(28,199
(12,647)
(171)

(41,00%)
(10,909

$ (30,10

Predecesso

Period from
January 1,
through
November 16

2012
(Actual)

Adjustments

(in thousands

22,21¢ (50,33 (9)
1,247 (5,009) (9)
23,46 (55,34¢)
80,61¢ 75,74( (10)
(937) 6,481 (10)
79,67¢ 82,22
387,51 (35,429
53,04 2,94¢
440,56 (32,48Y)
(42,997 27,65¢
(106,55¢) 15,23¢ (11)
(122) (287) (12)
(149,67 42,60
4,92: — (13)
$ (154,59) $ 42,60

Pro Forma
Year
Ended
December 31

2012

167,25.
6,05¢

173,31

426,44
67,43

493,88:
(43,52%)

(103,96()
(580)
(148,07
(5,980

$ (142,099
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Notes to Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Statement$ ©Operations

(1) Reflects the adjustment to revenue as a restitte reduction of deferred revenue to its faluean connection with the Transactions in
accordance with the FASB Accounting Standards @eatibn Business Combination Top

(2) Represents nonrecurring bonuses and other paytoeaisployees directly related to the Merg

(3) Represents the impact on the cost of systefdsy®GIG to third parties resulting from the reaation of inventory to its fair value as of
the beginning of the perio

(4) Reflects Company obligations settled in conjunctioth the Merger that have an ongoing service negoént.

(5) Reflects the elimination of stock-related comgegion expenses associated with equity awardsvaBted and settled in connection with
the Merger

(6) Reflects the monitoring fee payable by us pansto the support and services agreement witHfaiate of Blackstone. See “Certain
Relationships and Related Party Transactions, aret®r Independen”

(7) Reflects stoc-based compensation costs related to equity awaaategl in connection with the Merg

(8) Reflects the elimination of certain liabilities asesult of the Merge

(9) Reflects the elimination of naecurring accounting, investment banking, legal pralessional fees that were directly associatet thie
Merger.

(10) Represents the net increase in depreciatidraamortization expense due to fair value adjustmeraide as part of purchase price
accounting related to defin-lived intangible assets with estimated useful ligegollows:

Estimated
Useful Life
Annual
Fair Value (Years) Amortization
Calculation of annualized amortization of defi-lived intangible asset:
Customer contracts (; $ 990,77 10 $ 157,09:
2GIG customer relationshij 45,00( 10 3,71(
2GIG 2.0 technolog 17,00( 8 —
2GIG 1.0 technolog 8,00( 6 3,17
CMS technology 2,30( 5 46C
$1,063,07 $ 164,43
Calculation of the pro forma adjusted to depreciaind amortizatior
Annual total amortization (from table aboy $ 164,43
Historical amortization for 2012 Successor and Bcedsor perioc (10,059
Pro Forma adjustme—acquired intangibles amortizatit 154,37
Subscriber acquisition costs amortizat 181
Historical subscriber acquisition costs amortizafio Successor peric (72,33)
Pro Forma adjustme—subscriber acquisition cos (72,156
Total Pro Forma adjustme—depreciation and amortizatic $ 8222

(1) Subscriber acquisition costs before the Mergenawe included in customer contrac

Identifiable long-lived intangible assets are amed on a basis that approximates the underlyingah flows resulting from the
associated intangible asset.
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(11) Reflects the net decrease in interest expensdiregstiom elimination of the interest expense imedron predecessor debt that was re
at the time of the Merger, partially offset by irgst expense on our new long-term debt issuedrinexion with the Merger and without
giving pro forma effect to interest expense asdediwith the Subsequent Notes Offerings as follc

Interest on Senior Secured Notes due 2 $ 51,75:
Interest on Senior Notes due 2( 29,18¢
Interest on revolving line of credit and unusedst 1,35¢
Amortization of deferred loan cos 7,41%
Total interest related to new debt issi 89,70¢
Less: Historical obligations settled in Merg
Interest related to historical term loe 87,32:
Interest on historical revolving line of credit andused fee 2,32(
Amortization of deferred loan costs on historicabt 6,45¢
Imputed interest on liabilities settled in Mer 8,84
Total interest on obligations settled in Mer: 104,94.
Pro Forma adjustme $ 15,23¢

(12) Reflects the fair value adjustment related to warliabilities settled in the Merge
(13) No income tax expense (benefit) relating to thefprma adjustments herein was recognized as wéntento be in a net operating Ic
position and net operating loss carryforwards Haaen offset by a valuation allowan:

Year Ended December 31, 2013 compared to the PrarfeoYear Ended December 31, 2012—Vivint
Revenues

The following table provides the significant compats of our revenue for the year ended Decembe2@13, the Successor Period en
December 31, 2012, the Predecessor Period endeshith@r 16, 2012 and the Pro Forma Year ended Deee3tb2012 (in thousands):

Successo Predecesso % Change
Period from
November 17 Period from
January 1 Pro Forma
Year Ended through through Year Ended
December 31 December 31 November 16 December 31
2013 Actual vs.
2013 2012 2012 2012 Pro Forma 201:
(unaudited’
Monitoring revenue $ 459,68. $ 48,98 $ 324,69: $ 372,84: 23%
Service and other sales revei 22,073 1,79¢ 16,09: 17,88’ 23
Activation fees 1,64: 11 5,331 1,35: 21
Contract Sale — — 157 157 —
Total revenue $ 483,40 $ 50,79 $ 346,27( $ 392,23t 23%

Total revenues increased $91.2 million, or 23%t{lieryear ended December 31, 2013 as compared f@rthForma Year ended
December 31, 2012, primarily due to the growth onitoring revenue, which increased $86.8 million28%. This increase resulted from
$74.2 million of fees from the net addition of apamately 124,000 subscribers and a $19.0 millimréase from continued growth in the
percentage of our subscribers contracting for nexdyrcts and service packages, partially offsetrbyjnarease of $5.8 million in refunds and
other adjustments resulting from the revenue growth

Service and other sales revenue increased $4.@mitir 23%, for the year ended December 31, 281&®apared to the Pro Forma Year
ended December 31, 2012. This growth was primdriky to an increase in upgrade revenue relatecbscsber service upgrades and purch
of additional equipment.

Activation fees increased $0.3 million, or 21%, floe year ended December 31, 2013 as compared #®rthForma Year ended
December 31, 2012, primarily due an increase imthmber of subscribers being billed activation fees
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Costs and Expenses

The following table provides the significant compats of our costs and expenses for the year endedriber 31, 2013, the Successor
Period ended December 31, 2012, the Predecessod Raded November 16, 2012 and the Pro Forma &eded December 31, 2012 (in
thousands):

Pro Forma
Year Ended
December 31
Successo Predecesso 2012 % Change
Period from
November 17 Period from
January 1
Year Ended through through
December 31 December 31 November 16
2013 Actual vs.
2013 2012 2012 Pro Forma 201:
(unaudited’
Operating expenst $ 152,55 $ 16,11t $ 114,25¢ $ 128,80: 18%
Cost of contract sale — — 95 95 —
Selling expense 98,88 12,28¢ 91,55¢ 78,07t 27
General and administrati 91,69¢ 6,94¢ 78,77 52,22t 76
Transaction related expens — 28,11¢ 22,21¢ — —
Depreciation and amortizatic 193,36¢ 10,89¢ 80,61¢ 167,25 16
Total costs and expens $ 536,50 $ 74,35¢ $ 387,51¢ $ 426,44 26%

Operating expenses increased $23.8 million, or 18%the year ended December 31, 2013 as comparte tPro Forma Year ended
December 31, 2012, primarily to support the growntbur subscriber base. This increase was pringipamprised of $10.0 million in
personnel costs within our monitoring, customemsuwpand field service functions, a $7.7 millioriease in inventory used in subscriber
upgrades and service repairs, a $3.6 million irsgéa cellular communications fees related to oanitoring services and a $3.1 million
increase in shipping expenses resulting from tlear in our subscriber base.

Selling expenses, excluding amortization of cajzital subscriber acquisition costs, increased $20lBn, or 27%, for the year ended
December 31, 2013 as compared to the Pro Formaeneimd December 31, 2012, primarily due to a $ill®omincrease in personnel costs
and a $4.7 million increase in facility and infotima technology costs, all to support the incréaseur subscriber contract originations. In
addition, advertising costs increased by $7.7 amilliprimarily in support of the growth in our insidales subscriber contract originations.

General and administrative expenses increased $38ién, or 76%, for the year ended December 3, as compared to the Pro
Forma Year ended December 31, 2012, primarily dwnt$11.9 million increase in personnel cost$.6 #illion increase in outside
contracted services, primarily related to incredsgdl and compliance costs, a $2.9 million incegasmonitoring, advisory and consulting
services under a support and services agreemdnBlétkstone Management Partners L.L.C, a $1.5anilhcrease in facility costs and a $
million increase in sponsorship and advertisings;aall to support the growth in our business. \lge aeserved $6.0 million related to legal
contingencies and incurred $5.4 million in bonud ather transaction costs related to the 2GIG $adereciation and amortization increased
$26.1 million, or 16%, for the year ended Decen81r2013 as compared to the Pro Forma Year endeeniieer 31, 2012. The increase was
primarily due to increased amortization of subsarificquisition costs.
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Year Ended December 31, 2013 compared to the ProféoYear Ended December 31, 2012—2GIG

All intercompany revenue and expenses between Varid 2GIG have been eliminated in consolidaticth faom the amounts presented

below (in thousands):

Successo
Period from

November 17

Year Ended through
December 31 December 31

2013 2012
Total revenue $ 17,507 $ 6,81¢
Operating expenst (11,667 (4,589
General and administrati (5,48)) (2,57%)
Transaction related expens — (3,76%)
Other (expenses) incon (2,139) (514)
Loss from operation $ Q779 $ (4,629

Revenues

Predecesso

Period from
January 1
through
November 16

Pro Forma
Year Ended
December 31

% Change

2013 Actual vs.

2012 2012 Pro Forma 2017
(unaudited’
$ 51,30 $ 58,11F (70%
(31,539 (38,03Y) (69)
(21,200 (23,339 (77)
(1,247) — —
937 (6,059 (65)
$ (1,749 $  (9,31) (81)%

Revenues decreased $40.6 million, or 70%, for #a gnded December 31, 2013 as compared to theoRma Year ended
December 31, 2012, primarily due to the sale of@Gh April 1, 2013. Following the 2GIG Sale, we kexied 2GIG’s results of operations

from our statement of operations.

Costs and Expenses

Operating expenses decreased $26.4 million, or 6@%he year ended December 31, 2013 as compartbe Pro Forma Year ended

December 31, 2012, primarily due to the 2GIG Salépril 1, 2013. General and administrative expsrdecreased $17.9 million, or 77%, for

the year ended December 31, 2013 as compared Rréhleorma Year ended December 31, 2012, also plyndaie to the 2GIG Sale. Other
expenses in the year ended December 31, 2013 simepresented amortization of intangible assetpiaed in the Merger.

Year Ended December 31, 2013 compared to the ProrfaoYear Ended December 31, 2012—Consolidated

Other Expenses, net

The following table provides the significant compats of our other expenses, net, for the year ebDadegmber 31, 2013, the Successor
Period ended December 31, 2012, the Predecessod Reded November 16, 2012 and the Pro Forma &feded December 31, 2012 (in

thousands):
Successo
Period from
November 17
Year Ended through
December 31 December 31
2013 2012
Interest expens $ 11447¢ $ 12,64
Interest incom (1,499 (4
Gain on 2GIG Sal (46,86¢) —
Other (income) expens (76) 171
Total other expenses, r $ 66,04, $ 12,81:

Predecesso

Period from
January 1
through

November 16

% Change

Pro Forma
Year Ended
December 31
2013 Actual vs.

2012 2012 Pro Forma 2017
(unaudited’
$ 106,62( $ 104,03: 10%
(61) (65) —
122 58( (117
$ 106,68: $ 104,54t (3N%

Interest expense increased $10.4 million, or 1@¥tte year ended December 31, 2013 as compathkd f#ro Forma Year ended
December 31, 2012, primarily due to a higher pgatbalance associated with the May 2013 NotesridffeDuring the year ended
December 31, 2013, we realized a gain of $46.9aniths a result of the 2GIG Sale. See Note 5 tatitempanying consolidated financial

statements for additional information.
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Income Tax From Continuing Operations

The following table provides the significant compats of our income tax from continuing operatiomsthe year ended December 31,
2013, the Successor Period ended December 31, @&l Predecessor Period ended November 16, 201tharRto Forma Year ended

December 31, 2012 (in thousands):

Successo
Period from
November 17
Year Ended through
December 31 December 31
2013 2012
Income tax expense (bene $ 3,59 $ (10,909

Predecesso

Period from
January 1 Pro Forma
through Year Ended

November 16 December 31

% Change

2013 Actual vs.

2012 2012 Pro Forma 2017
(unaudited’
$ 4,92: $ (5,980 (160)%

Income tax expense was $3.6 million for the yealeenDecember 31, 2013 as compared to an inconteetafit of $6.0 million for the
Pro Forma year ended December 31, 2012. The iredapproximately $9.6 million, or 160%, was priiherelated to the elimination of
2GIG’s deferred tax liability in conjunction with the E&Sale. As a result, after the 2GIG Sale, we vireignet deferred tax asset position

recorded an off-setting valuation allowance.

Unaudited Quarterly Results of Operations

The following tables present our unaudited quayrtednsolidated results of operations for the efjntcessor quarters ended
December 31, 2014 and 2013. This unaudited quaiterisolidated information has been prepared osdnge basis as our audited
consolidated financial statements and, in the opimf management, the statement of operationsinigtades all adjustments, consisting of
normal recurring adjustments, necessary for thepfaisentation of the results of operations fos¢hgeriods. You should read these tables in
conjunction with our audited consolidated finansi@tements and related notes located elsewhénesiannual report on Form 10-K. The
results of operations for any quarter are not resréyg indicative of the results of operations &ofull year or any future periods.

Successo
Three Months Ended
December 31 September 3C
June 30, March 31,
2014 2014 (1) 2014 (1) 2014
(in thousands
Statement of operations dat¢
Revenue $ 152,43( $ 146,89 $134,19¢ $130,15¢
Loss from operation (28,796 (22,399 (30,44¢) (12,229
Net loss (65,645 (59,46 (66,277 (47,28()
Successo
Three Months Ended
December 31 September 3C
June 30, March 31,
2013 2013 2013 2013
(in thousands
Statement of operations dat¢
Revenue $ 132,71 $ 129,50 $114,25: $124,44:
Loss from operation (14,470 (8,68¢) (23,729 (7,992
Net loss (37,179 (34,90Y) (21,52 (30,909

(1) During the three months ended September 304,204 recorded certain out-of-period adjustmertitay $3.8 million, primarily
associated with equipment recorded as subscrilggiisiton costs rather than operating expensesduhie three months ended June 30,
2014 due to a reporting error identified duringm@fiormation technology system implementation araduded other immaterial items. As
a results of these adjustments, subscriber aciguigiosts decreased by $3.4 million and total apeyaexpenses increased by $3.8

million.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Our primary source of liquidity has historicallydrecash from operations, proceeds from the issusfmbebt securities and borrowing
availability under our revolving credit facility.sfof December 31, 2014, we had $10.8 million ohcasd $177.0 million of availability under
our revolving credit facility (after giving effetd $3.0 million of letters of credit outstandingda®20.0 million of borrowings). On July 1, 20:

we issued and sold an additional $100.0 millioowf
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2020 notes. On September 3, 2014, APX Group, laicl @ dividend in the amount of $50.0 million toABroup Holdings, Inc., its sole
stockholder, which in turn paid a dividend in tmecaunt of $50.0 million to its stockholders. Subsamjito year end, our revolving credit
facility agreement was amended and restated asildbeddén Note 22.

On October 10, 2014, in connection with the conipiedf its initial public offering, Solar repaiddas to APX Group, Inc., our wholly-
owned subsidiary, and to our parent entity. Ouepientity, in turn, returned a portion of suchgaeds to APX Group, Inc. as a capital
contribution. These transactions resulted in tleeipt by APX Group, Inc. of an aggregate amour&s®.0 million.

As market conditions warrant, we and our major gdudlders, including the Sponsor and its affilgtmay from time to time, seek to
repurchase debt securities that we have issuezhos Ithat we have borrowed, including the notesbanbwings under our revolving credit
facility, in privately negotiated or open markedrisactions, by tender offer or otherwise. Any seghurchases may be funded by incurring ne\
debt, including additional borrowings under ourakeing credit facility. Any new debt may be secudsbt. We may also use available cash o
our balance sheet. The amounts involved in any sadsactions, individually or in the aggregateyrba material. Further, any such purchase
may result in our acquiring and retiring a subst@mount of any particular series, with the ati@mt reduction in the trading liquidity of any
such series. Depending on conditions in the caadtitcapital markets and other factors, we willpfrime to time, consider various financing
transactions, the proceeds of which could be useefinance our indebtedness or for other purposes.

Cash Flow and Liquidity Analysis

Significant factors influencing our liquidity posih include cash flows generated from recurringereie and other fees received from the
subscribers we service and the level of investrimreaapitalized subscriber acquisition costs ancegarand administrative expenses. Our cast
flows provided by operating activities include casbeived from RMR, along with upfront activatiaes, upgrade and other maintenance anc
repair fees. Cash used in operating activitiesuhes the cash costs to monitor and service thdseshbers, and certain costs, principally
marketing and a portion of subscriber acquisitiosts and general and administrative costs. Histlyijove financed subscriber acquisition
costs through our operating cash flows, the issti@hclebt, and to a lesser extent, through themsseiof equity and contract sales to third
parties.

The direct-to-home sales are seasonal in natureng@ke investments in the recruitment of our diteehtome sales force and the
inventory for the April through August sales perjaribr to each sales season. We experience in@@asebscriber acquisition costs, as we
costs to support the sales force throughout Norttedca, during this time period.

The following table provides a summary of cash fldata (in thousands):

Successo Predecesso
Period from
November 17 Period from
January 1,
Year ended Year ended through through

December 31

December 31

December 31

November 16

2014 2013 2012 2012
Net cash used in operating activities (resta $ (309,63) $ (218,87) $ (38,18) $ (168,36()
Net cash (used in) provided by investing activifiestated (36,289 121,66: (1,936,51) (6,515
Net cash provided by financing activiti 95,057 351,14 1,982,74 189,50

Cash Flows from Operating Activities

We generally reinvest the cash flows from recurriegenue into our business, primarily to (1) mamtnd grow our subscriber base
(2) expand our infrastructure to support this gto{®) enhance our existing service offerings andiéelop new service offerings. These
investments are focused on generating new subssrilbereasing the revenue from our existing subscbase, enhancing the overall quality
of service provided to our subscribers, increa#iiregproductivity and efficiency of our workforcedaback-office functions necessary to scale
our business.

51



Table of Contents

For the year ended December 31, 2014, net cashiusge@rating activities was $309.6 million. Thasb used was primarily from a net
loss of ($238.7) million, adjusted for $232.5 naitliin non-cash amortization, depreciation and stzaded compensation, $317.5 million in
capitalized subscriber acquisition costs and a%giillion increase in accounts receivable, prinyardlated to the growth in our revenues and
timing of our billing cycle. This was partially aiét by a $20.6 million increase in fees paid bysstibers in advance of when the associated
revenue is recognized.

For the year ended December 31, 2013, net cashusgerating activities was $218.9 million. Thizsb used was primarily from a net
loss of ($124.5) million, adjusted for $206.1 nafliin non-cash amortization, depreciation and stmaded compensation, $298.3 million in
subscriber acquisition costs and an $8.4 milliamease in inventories due to the seasonality ofrauamtory purchases and usage. This was
partially offset by a $22.0 million increase in aged expenses and other liabilities, primarily tedisto management bonus and incentive plans
and contingent liabilities, and a $24.4 millionriease in fees paid by subscribers in advance ofwreassociated revenue is recognized.

Our outstanding debt as of December 31, 2014 waoapnately $1.9 billion, approximately $1.3 billiaf which was attributable to the
transactions related to Blackstone’s acquisitioN@vember 2012. Net cash interest paid for thesyeaded December 31, 2014 and 2013
related to our indebtedness (excluding capitakdggatotaled $136.9 million and $114.8 million, resjively. Our net cash used in operating
activities for the years ended December 31, 20142813, before these interest payments, was $1ii#lian and $104.1 million, respectively.
Accordingly, our net cash provided by operatingvétits for the years ended December 31, 2014 &i@® 2vas insufficient to cover these
interest payments. For additional information reljag our outstanding indebtedness see “—Long-TeahtDbelow.

For the Successor Period ended December 31, 26i2ash used in operating activities was $38.JonillThis cash used was primarily
from a net loss of ($30.1) million, adjusted fo2$4 million in non-cash amortization and depreoiati$12.9 million in subscriber acquisition
costs and a $13.1 million change in deferred inctares, partially offset by a $14.3 million increas accrued expenses and other liabilities.
For the Predecessor Period from January 1, 20bRghrNovember 16, 2012, net cash used in operatitigities was $168.4 million. This ce
used was primarily from a net loss of ($154.8) imil] including discontinued operations, adjustadd®8.7 million in non-cash amortization,
depreciation and stock-based compensation expanse$263.7 million in subscriber acquisition co3tsis was partially offset by a $109.5
million increase in accrued expenses and otheilitiab, principally related to bonuses and othayments to employees directly related to the
Transactions and commissions associated with dicelibme sales. Operating cash was also genenated$26.3 million in fees paid by
subscribers in advance of when the associated wevisrrecognized.

Cash Flows from Investing Activities

Historically, our investing activities have primgrconsisted of capital expenditures, business déoations and technology acquisitions.
Capital expenditures primarily consist of perioddditions to property and equipment to supporgttesvth in our business.

For the year ended December 31, 2014, net cashiugeeesting activities was $36.3 million, consist primarily of capital expenditures
of $30.5 million, a portion of which related to auireless internet infrastructure, strategic acigjoiss of $18.5 million related to Wildfire
Broadband, LLC and Space Monkey and the acquisitfaertain patents and other intangible asse#9d million and capitalized subscriber
acquisition costs of $10.6 million associated vetfuipment we own. This was offset by net cash @ Banillion received in connection with
the notes receivable from Solar (see Note 8 oftonsolidated financial statements included elsegirethis annual report on Form 10-K for
additional information) and $14.4 million releadeam restricted cash.

For the year ended December 31, 2013, net caslidebiyy investing activities was $121.6 millionpsesting primarily of $144.8
million of proceeds from the 2GIG Sale, partialf§set by $9.0 million of capital expenditures, $4ndlion of business acquisition costs and
$0.3 million of capitalized subscriber acquisitioosts.

For the Successor Period ended December 31, 2@iltharPredecessor Period from January 1, 2012ghrbi@vember 16, 2012, net
cash used in investing activities was $1,936.5iomland $6.5 million, respectively. In the Succed3eriod, our cash used in investing
activities primarily consisted of $1,915.5 millioficash used to complete the Transactions. In teddeessor Period, cash used in investing
activities primarily consisted capital expendituoé$5.9 million.

Cash Flows from Financing Activities

Historically, our cash flows provided by financiagtivities primarily related to the issuance of efund the portion of upfront costs
associated with generating new subscribers thatatreovered through our operating cash flows. Wesish for financing activities are
generally associated with the payment of dividelodsur stockholders and the repayment of debt.
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For the year ended December 31, 2014, net caslidebipy financing activities was $95.1 million, sisting primarily of $102.0 million
in proceeds from the July 2014 Notes Offering, $38illion of equity contributions and $20.0 milliam borrowings from our revolving credit
facility, partially offset by $50.0 million of payemts of dividends.

For the year ended December 31, 2013, net caslidewbby financing activities was $351.1 million hsisting primarily of $457.3
million in proceeds from the 2013 Notes Offerin§82.5 million of borrowings from our revolving ciiethcility, partially offset by $60.0
million of payments of dividends from the 2GIG spleceeds and $50.5 million of repayments of ouoléng credit facility.

For the Successor Period ended December 31, 2@iltharPredecessor Period from January 1, 2012ghrbi@vember 16, 2012, net
cash provided by financing activities was $1,988illion and $189.5 million, respectively. In the&essor Period, our net cash provided by
financing activities was primarily from $1,305.0lloin of proceeds from the issuance of $925.0 wmrllaggregate principal amount of 2019
notes and $380.0 million aggregate principal amofi2020 notes, borrowings under our revolving dreatility of $28.0 million and $708.5
million from the issuance of our common stock im@ection with the Transactions, partially offset$$8.4 million in payments of deferred
financing costs. For the Predecessor Period, durash provided by financing activities primarilgnsisted of $116.2 million of proceeds ur
our previous credit agreement and $105.0 milliobafowings under our revolving credit facility,rpally offset by $42.2 million of
repayments of the revolving credit facility, $6.1lion in payments of deferred financing costs &4d1 million in repayments of capital lease
obligations.

Long-Term Debt

Following the Transactions, we remain a highly laged company with significant debt service requeats. As of December 31, 2014,
we had approximately $1,875.0 million of total debtstanding, consisting of $925.0 million of oatsding 2019 notes and $930.0 million of
outstanding 2020 notes, with $177.0 million of #adaility (after giving effect to $3.0 million of teers of credit outstanding and $20.0 milliot
borrowings and not giving effect to the March 2@hbendment and restatement of our revolving creditify discussed below).

Revolving Credit Facility

On November 16, 2012, we entered into a $200.0anienior secured revolving credit facility, watfive year maturity, of which
$177.0 million was undrawn and available as of Dawer 31, 2014 (after giving effect to $3.0 milliohoutstanding letters of credit and $20.0
million of borrowings as of December 2014). In dilfi, we may request one or more term loan faeditincreased commitments under the
revolving credit facility or new revolving credibmmitments, in an aggregate amount not to exce28.82nillion. Availability of such
incremental facilities and/or increased or new catmants will be subject to certain customary coiodis.

On June 28, 2013, we amended and restated thé agedement to provide for a new repriced trandhewwlving credit commitments
with a lower interest rate. Nearly all of the eigttranches of revolving credit commitments wasieated and converted into the repriced
tranche, with the unterminated portion of the éxgstranche continuing to accrue interest at thgimel higher rate.

On March 6, 2015, we amended and restated thet agdiement to provide for, among other thingsaflincrease in the aggregate
commitments previously available to us from $20@ilion to $289.4 million and (2) the extensiontb& maturity date with respect to certain
of the previously available commitments.

Borrowings under the amended and restated revobuiedit facility bear interest at a rate per anrequal to an applicable margin plus
our option, either (1) the base rate determinetelgrence to the highest of (a) the Federal Fuaspius 0.50%, (b) the prime rate of Bank of
America, N.A. and (c) the LIBOR rate determinedréference to the costs of funds for U.S. dollaradé#ts for an interest period of one month,
plus 1.00% or (2) the LIBOR rate determined by meffiee to the London interbank offered rate foratslfor the interest period relevant to s
borrowing. The applicable margin for base rate-dds@rowings (1)(a) under the Series A RevolvingrButments of approximately $247.5
million and Series C Revolving Commitments of apgmaately $20.8 million is currently 2.0% per annamd (b) under the Series B Revolv
Commitments of approximately $21.2 million is cuntlg 3.0% and (2)(a) the applicable margin for LIB@ate-based borrowings (a) under the
Series A Revolving Commitments and Series C Remgl@ommitments is currently 3.0% per annum andiflgler the Series B Revolving
Commitments is currently 4.0%. The applicable nrafgr borrowings under the revolving credit fagilis subject to one step-down of 25 basi:
points based on our meeting a consolidated fiest tiet leverage ratio test at the end of eachl figcater.
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In addition to paying interest on outstanding pipatunder the revolving credit facility, we arejuéred to pay a quarterly commitment
fee (which will be subject to one step-down basedur meeting a consolidated first lien net leveregfio test) to the lenders under the
revolving credit facility in respect of the unuzdéid commitments thereunder. We also pay custoredteyr lof credit and agency fees.

We are not required to make any scheduled amddizaayments under the revolving credit facilithelprincipal amount outstanding
under the revolving credit facility will be due apdyable in full on (1) with respect to the nonesxded commitments under the Series C
Revolving Credit Facility, November 16, 2017 an)i\{&th respect to the extended commitments undeSgries A Revolving Credit Facility
and Series B Revolving Credit Facility, March 3019.

2019 Notes

On November 16, 2012, we issued $925.0 milliorhef2019 notes. Interest on the 2019 notes is payahi-annually in arrears on each
June 1 and December 1.

We may, at our option, redeem at any time and fiiora to time prior to December 1, 2015, some oofthe 2019 notes at 100% of tF
principal amount thereof plus accrued and unpdet@st to the redemption date plus a “make-whadenprm.” Prior to December 1, 2015,
during any twelve month period, we also may, ataption, redeem at any time and from time to tipnga10% of the aggregate principal
amount of the issued 2019 notes at a price equa386 of the principal amount thereof, plus accraed unpaid interest. From and after
December 1, 2015, we may, at our option, redeeamytime and from time to time some or all of tild 2 notes at 104.781%, declining rate
on each anniversary thereafter to par from and Béeember 1, 2018, in each case, plus any aceme@dnpaid interest to the date of
redemption. In addition, on or prior to Decembe2@15, we may, at our option, redeem up to 35%efggregate principal amount of the
2019 notes with the proceeds from certain equitgrivfgs at 106.37%, plus accrued and unpaid intéoethe date of redemption.

2020 Notes

On November 16, 2012, we issued $380.0 milliorhef2020 notes. Interest on the 2020 notes is payahi-annually in arrears on each
June 1 and December 1. During the year ended Dare3dh 2013, we issued an additional $450.0 miltibthe 2020 notes and on July 1,
2014, we issued an additional $100.0 million of 2020 notes, each under the indenture dated asw#riber 16, 2012,

We may, at our option, redeem at any time and fiiora to time prior to December 1, 2015, some oohthe 2020 notes at 100% of tF
principal amount thereof plus accrued and unpdet@st to the redemption date plus a “make-whatenprm.” From and after December 1,
2015, we may, at our option, redeem at any timefanmd time to time some or all of the 2020 note$@8.563%, declining ratably on each
anniversary thereafter to par from and after Decamb 2018, in each case, plus any accrued anddimperest to the date of redemption. In
addition, on or prior to December 1, 2015, we nayqur option, redeem up to 35% of the aggregateipal amount of the 2020 notes with
proceeds from certain equity offerings at 108.7p%s accrued and unpaid interest to the date amgdon.

Guarantees and Security

All of our obligations under the revolving creditcility, the 2019 notes and the 2020 notes areagiieed by APX Group Holdings, Inc.
and each of our existing and future material whollyned U.S. restricted subsidiaries to the extaoh ®ntities guarantee indebtedness under
the revolving credit facility or our other indebtexbs. See Note 21 of our consolidated financitédstents included elsewhere in this annual
report on Form 10-K for additional financial infoation regarding guarantors and non-guarantors.

The obligations under the revolving credit facildyd the 2019 notes are secured by a securityesttar (i) substantially all of the present
and future tangible and intangible assets of APXUPr Inc., and the guarantors, including withomtifation equipment, subscriber contracts
and communication paths, intellectual property;demed real property, general intangibles, investnpeoperty, material intercompany notes
and proceeds of the foregoing, subject to permitezs and other customary exceptions, (ii) suliihy all personal property of APX Group,
Inc. and the guarantors consisting of accountsvabke arising from the sale of inventory and otheods and services (including related
contracts
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and contract rights, inventory, cash, deposit astxwther bank accounts and securities account®ntory and intangible assets to the extent
attached to the foregoing books and records ofsiger and the guarantors, and the proceeds thsrdgéct to permitted liens and other
customary exceptions, in each case held by thedssu the guarantors and (iii) a pledge of athefcapital stock of APX Group, Inc., each of
its subsidiary guarantors and each restricted digvgiof APX Group, Inc. and its subsidiary guacasf in each case other than excluded asse
and subject to the limitations and exclusions mediin the applicable collateral documents.

Under the terms of the applicable security documant intercreditor agreement, the proceeds otalgction or other realization of
collateral received in connection with the exeraseemedies will be applied first to repay amouwthie under the revolving credit facility, and
up to an additional $60.0 million of “superpriofitybligations that we may incur in the future, hefdhe holders of the 2019 notes receive any
such proceeds.

Debt Covenants

The credit agreement governing the revolving criadillity and the indentures governing the notestaim a number of covenants that,
among other things, restrict, subject to certaicegtions, our and our restricted subsidiaries'itgtib:

. incur or guarantee additional debt or issue distjedIstock or preferred stoc

. pay dividends and make other distributions ongdeem or repurchase, capital stc

. make certain investment

. incur certain liens

. enter into transactions with affiliate

. merge or consolidat:

. enter into agreements that restrict the abilityestricted subsidiaries to make dividends or offagtments to APX Group, Inc

. designate restricted subsidiaries as unrestrictbsidiaries; an

. transfer or sell asset

The credit agreement governing the revolving criaditlity and the indentures governing the notestaim change of control provisions

and certain customary affirmative covenants andisvef default. As of December 31, 2014, we wereampliance with all restrictive
covenants related to our long-term obligations.

Subject to certain exceptions, the credit agreemewerning the revolving credit facility and thelentures governing the notes permit us
and our restricted subsidiaries to incur additiondebtedness, including secured indebtedness.

Our future liquidity requirements will be significg primarily due to debt service requirements. @beial amounts of borrowings under
the revolving credit facility will fluctuate fromrhe to time. We believe that amounts availableubtoour revolving credit facility and
incremental facilities will be sufficient to meatrooperating needs for the next twelve monthsuiticlg working capital requirements, capital
expenditures, debt repayment obligations and piafemgw acquisitions.

Covenant Compliance

Under the indentures governing our notes and thditcagreement governing our revolving credit fagcilour ability to engage in
activities such as incurring additional indebtedn@saking investments, refinancing certain indetésd, paying dividends and entering into
certain merger transactions is governed, in pgrouy ability to satisfy tests based on Adjusted HBA.

“Adjusted EBITDA” is defined as net income (los®ftre interest expense (net of interest incomejprirte and franchise taxes and
depreciation and amortization (including amortiaatof capitalized subscriber acquisition costshfer adjusted to exclude the effects of
certain contract sales to third parties, non-ctipid subscriber acquisition costs, stock basedpemsation, the historical results of Solar and
certain unusual, non-cash, non-recurring and dteers permitted in certain covenant calculationdaurthe indentures governing our notes an
the credit agreement governing our revolving créaditlity.

We believe that the presentation of Adjusted EBITBAppropriate to provide additional informatieninvestors about the calculation
and compliance with, certain financial covenantthmindentures governing our notes and the cagpldement governing our revolving credit
facility. We caution investors that amounts presarih accordance with our definition of AdjustedlEBA may not be comparable to similar
measures disclosed by other issuers, becausel issiaErs and analysts calculate Adjusted EBITDgissame manner.
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Adjusted EBITDA is not a measurement of our finahpierformance under GAAP and should not be consitlias an alternative to net
income (loss) or any other performance measurégetkein accordance with GAAP or as an alternativedash flows from operating activities
as a measure of our liquidity.

The following table sets forth a reconciliationrat loss before non-controlling interests to AdpdsEBITDA (in thousands):

Net loss before ne-controlling interests
Interest expense, n

Other (income) expen:

Gain on 2GIG Sale (1

Income tax (benefit) expen

Amortization of subscriber acquisition co
Depreciation and amortization (
Transaction costs related to 2GIG Sale
Transaction related costs |
Non-capitalized subscriber acquisition costs
Non-cash compensation (

Adjustment for Solar business (

Other adjustments (¢

(1)
(2)
(3)
(4)
(5)

(6)
(7)

Adjusted EBITDA

Non-recurring gain on the 2GIG Sa

Successo Combined Successol Predecesso
Period from
November 17 Period from
January 1,
Year ended Year ended Year ended through through

December 31

December 31

December 31

December 31

November 16

2014 2013 2012 2012 2012
$ (238,66() $ (12451) $ (184,93) $ (30,10;) | $ (154,83
146,05¢ 112,98: 119,20
(1,779 (76) 29z
— (46,866 —
514 3,59: (5,980)
58,73( 22,21« 72,18¢
162,59 173,29: 18,90:
— 5,51¢ —
— 811 132,36(
134,99! 100,98! 70,36:
1,881 1,89¢ 874
— — 7,071
45,07¢ 42,45( 13,64:
$ 309,41 $ 29229 $ 243,97

Excludes loan amortization costs that are includedterest expens:
Bonuses and transaction related costs associatedhgi 2GIG Sale
Reflects total bonus and other payments to empkyaeed legal and consulting fees to t-parties, directly related to the Transactic
Reflects subscriber acquisition costs thateapensed as incurred because they are not diretaied to the acquisition of specific
subscribers. Certain other industry participantzipaise subscribers through subscriber contrachpees, and as a result, may capitalize
the full cost to purchase these subscriber corstrastcompared to our organic generation of newcsilders, which requires us to expe

a portion of our subscriber acquisition costs ur@aAP.

Reflects no-cash compensation costs related to employee aectaiirstock and stock option plal
Reflects the exclusion of Solar results from tiheetit commenced operations in 20
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(8) Other adjustments represent primarily the followitegns (in thousands

Successo Combined

Year ended Year ended Year ended
December 31 December 31 December 31

2014 2013 2012
Product development (a) $ 14,20¢ $ 12,31¢ $ —
One-time compensatic-related payments (1 6,112 95¢ —
Purchase accounting deferred revenue fair valuesadgnt

(c) 5,27¢ 6,89¢ 1,60¢

Star-up of new strategic initiatives (i 3,251 3,08¢ —

Monitoring fee (e 3,171 2,91¢ —

Information technology implementation 3,19¢ 1,23( —

Subcontracted monitoring agreement 2,22¢ 1,07¢ —

Fire related losses, net of probable insurancevez@s (h) (22) — —

CMS technology impairment loss 1,351 — —
Non-operating legal and professional f 88:< 5,35¢ 554
Non-cash contingent liabilitie — 6,50( 2,12¢
Solarbusiness costs ( — 34 4,16¢
Discontinued operations ( — — 23¢
Technology licensing disputes — — 2,23¢
Rebranding — — 1,40¢
All other adjustment 5,422 2,07¢ 1,30t
Total other adjustmen $ 45,07¢ $  42,45( $ 13,64:

(@) Costs related to the development of control paietiiding associated softwal

(b) Run-rate savings related to December 2014 tadui-force (“RIF”), along with severance paymeassociated with the RIF and other
nor-recurring employee compensation payme

(c) Add back revenue reduction directly related to pase accounting deferred revenue adjustm

(d) Costs related to the st-up of potential new service offerings and salesnbés.

(e) Blackstone Management Partners L.L.C monitoring(8ee Note 18 to the accompanying consolidatecilshstatements

() Costs related to the implementation of new infoforatechnologies

(g) Rur-rate savings from committed future reductions ibcauntract monitoring fee

(h) Fire relates losses, net of insurance recos@fi&8.2 million considered probable at Decemlegr2B14. (See Note 14 to the
accompanying consolidated financial stateme

(i) CMS technology impairment loss (See Note 12 tocattmompanying consolidated financial stateme

() Costs incurred by Vivint on behalf of the Solaribess, prior to the Transactiol

(k) Costs associated with our Smart Grid business,wttigcontinued operations in 20:

()  Settlement costs and reserves associated withdkxynlicensing dispute:

Other Factors Affecting Liquidity and Capital Resms

Vehicle LeasesSince 2010, we have leased, and expect to conasig, vehicles primarily for use by our FSPg. the most part,
these leases have 36 month durations and we acimsuhem as capital leases. At the end of thegléasn for each vehicle we have the option
to either (i) purchase it for the estimated endeafse fair market value established at the beginoirthe lease term; or (ii) return the vehicle to
the lessor to be sold by them and in the evensales price is less than the estimated end-of-lisasmarket value we are responsible for such
deficiency. As of December 31, 2014, our total tzpease obligations were $16.2 million, of whi&h5 million is due within the next 12
months.

Aircraft Leaseln December 2012, we entered into an aircraft leggseement for the use of a corporate aircraftcvis accounted for as
an operating lease. Upon execution of the leasgaitea $5.9 million security deposit which is medable at the end of the lease term.
Beginning January 2013, we are required to makem&gthly rental payments of approximately $83,086he In January 2015, an amendmen
to the agreement was made which, among other chaimpeeased the required monthly rental paymendépproximately $87,000 each. We
also have the option to extend the lease for aitiaddl 36 months upon expiration of the initiatrte The lease agreement also provides us th
option to purchase the aircraft on certain speatifiates for a stated dollar amount, which represtet current estimated fair value as of the
purchase date.
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Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

Currently we do not engage in off-balance sheeirfoing arrangements.

Contractual Obligations

The following table summarizes our contractual gégiions as of December 31, 2014. Certain contrhotleyations are reflected on our
consolidated balance sheet, while others are diedlas future obligations under GAAP.

Payments Due by Perioc

Less than More than
Total 1 Year 1-3Years 3-5Years 5 Years
(dollars in thousand:

Long-term debt obligations (2 $1,883,158 $ — $ 20,000 $ 925,000 $ 938,15!
Interest on lon-term debt (2 783,09: 140,34: 280,68 280,68t 81,37¢

Capital lease obligatior 16,20¢ 5,54¢ 9,88¢ 76¢ —
Operating lease obligatiol 125,57: 11,53¢ 23,01¢ 22,82t 68,19«

Purchase obligations (: 15,33¢ 6,81¢ 8,50¢ 13 —
Other lon¢-term obligations 5,15¢ 70€ 1,191 93¢ 2,32¢
Total contractual obligatior $2,828,51' $164,95. $343,28¢ $1,230,23( $1,090,04

(1) Includes $20.0 million of borrowings under @avolving credit facility. At December 31, 2014 raevolving credit facility provided for
availability of $200.0 million and would have matdrNovember 16, 2017 (without giving effect to #meendment and restatement of
revolving credit facility discuss under “—Liquidignd Capital Resources—Long-Term Debt—RevolvingdEieacility” above). As of
December 31, 2014, there was approximately $171li@mof availability under our revolving credia€ility (after giving effect to $3.0
million of outstanding letters of credi

(2) Represents aggregate interest payments onGg#hion of the outstanding 2019 notes and $936illon of outstanding 2020 notes, as
well as letter of credit and commitment fees far tinused portion of our revolving credit facilioes not reflect interest payments on
future borrowings under our revolving credit fagili

(3) Purchase obligations consist of commitmentpfochases of goods and services. We have contifigbitities related to legal
proceedings and other matters arising in the ordicaurse of business. Although it is reasonablgsldle we may incur losses upon
conclusion of such matters, an estimate of anydosange of loss cannot be made at this timehéropinion of management, it is
expected that amounts, if any, which may be redquivesatisfy such contingencies will not be matenaelation to the accompanying
consolidated financial statemer

ITEM 7A.  QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARK  ET RISK

Our operations include activities in the Unitedt&sa Canada and New Zealand. These operationsesxygds a variety of market risks,
including the effects of changes in interest rates foreign currency exchange rates. We monitomaamdage these financial exposures as an
integral part of our overall risk management pragra

Interest Rate Risk

In connection with the Transactions, we entered &tevolving credit facility that bears interesadloating rate. As a result, we may be
exposed to fluctuations in interest rates to thtermof our borrowings under the revolving creditifity. Our long-term debt portfolio is
expected to primarily consist of fixed rate instents. To help manage borrowing costs, we may fiora to time enter into interest rate swap
transactions with financial institutions actingmcipal counterparties. Assuming the borrowingbfamounts available under our revolving
credit facility (after giving effect to the amendmend restatement of our revolving credit facibty March 6, 2015), if interest rates related to
our revolving credit facility increase by 1% duentmrmal market conditions, our interest expenséingrease by approximately $2.9 million
per annum.

We had $20.0 million in borrowings under the revwadycredit facility as of December 31, 2014.
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Foreign Currency Risk

We have exposure to the effects of foreign curren@hange rate fluctuations on the results of anadian operations. Our Canadian
operations use the Canadian dollar to conduct basibut our results are reported in U.S. dollaus.dperations in New Zealand are immate
to our overall operating results. We are exposembgieally to the foreign currency rate fluctuatsothat affect transactions not denominated ir
the functional currency of our U.S. and Canadia@arafions. We do not use derivative financial insteats to hedge investments in foreign
subsidiaries since such investments are long-temaiure.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accountingrirm

The Board of Directors
APX Group Holdings, Inc. and Subsidiaries

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balsimeets of APX Group Holdings, Inc. and Subsiesaass of December 31, 2014 and
2013, and the related consolidated statementsaratipns, comprehensive loss, shareholders’ equitlycash flows for the years ended
December 31, 2014 and 2013, and the period froneMder 17, 2012 through December 31, 2012 (Sucgessar the accompanying
consolidated statements of operations, comprehefs$s, changes in equity (deficit), and cash fleavsAPX Group, Inc. and Subsidiaries for
the period from January 1, 2012 through Novembe20&2 (Predecessor). These financial statemeatharresponsibility of the Company’s
management. Our responsibility is to express aniopion these financial statements based on outsaud

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstals of the Public Company Accounting OversighamBioUnited States). Those standard:
require that we plan and perform the audit to ebtaasonable assurance about whether the finataiaiments are free of material
misstatement. We were not engaged to perform ait afuithe Company’s internal control over finanaiaporting. Our audits included
consideration of internal control over financigbogting as a basis for designing audit procedurasdre appropriate in the circumstances, but
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion oreffectiveness of the Company’s internal contrarofinancial reporting. Accordingly, we
express no such opinion. An audit also includesnixiag, on a test basis, evidence supporting theuents and disclosures in the financial
statements, assessing the accounting principlesarsg significant estimates made by managementgeadating the overall financial
statement presentation. We believe that our apditgide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements refere@lbove present fairly, in all material respedts, ¢onsolidated financial position of APX
Group Holdings, Inc. and Subsidiaries at Decemhbef814 and 2013, and the consolidated results ojpierations and its cash flows for the
years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013 and thedesim November 17, 2012 through December 31, Z812cessor), and ti
consolidated results of the operations of APX Grdnp. and Subsidiaries and its cash flows forglegod from January 1, 2012 to
November 16, 2012 (Predecessor), in conformity Wit. generally accepted accounting princig

As discussed in Note 3 to the consolidated findrst&ements, the consolidated statements of ¢awsis for the years ended December 31,
2014 and 2013, and the periods from November 172 2rough December 31, 2012 (Successor) and éogpehiod from January 1, 2012
through November 16, 2012 (Predecessor) have les¢gied to correct an error in the classificatiboash flows related to subscriber
acquisition costs.

/sl Ernst & Young LLF

Salt Lake City, Utal
March 26, 201!
except for Note 3, as to which the date is Aug@st2D1:
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APX Group Holdings, Inc. and Subsidiaries (Successp
Consolidated Balance Sheets
(In thousands, except share and per-share amounts)

ASSETS
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalel
Restricted cash and cash equivale
Accounts receivable, n
Inventories
Prepaid expenses and other current a:

Total current asse

Property and equipment, r

Subscriber acquisition costs, 1

Deferred financing costs, n

Intangible assets, n

Goodwill

Restricted cash and cash equivalents, net of dupmgtion
Long-term investments and other assets,

Total asset

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS EQUITY
Current Liabilities:
Accounts payabl
Accrued payroll and commissio
Accrued expenses and other current liabili
Deferred revenu
Currentportion of capital lease obligatio

Total current liabilities

Notes payable, ni

Revolving line of credi

Capital lease obligations, net of current por!
Deferred revenue, net of current port

Other lon¢-term obligations

Deferred income tax liabilitie

Total liabilities
Commitments and contingencies (See Note

Stockholder' equity:

Common stock, $0.01 par value, 100 shares auththrifi® shares issued and outstan:

Additional paic-in capital
Accumulated defici
Accumulated other comprehensive I

Total stockholder equity

Total liabilities and stockholde’ equity

See accompanying notes to consolidated finana&stents

December 31

2014 2013

$ 10,807 $ 261,90
14,21+ 14,37t
8,73¢ 2,59:
36,157 29,26(
15,45¢ 13,87(
85,37: 322,00:
62,79( 35,81¢
548,07 288,31t
52,15¢ 59,37t
703,22t 840,71«
841,52. 836,31¢
— 14,21«
e 27,67¢
$2,303,67.  $2,424,43
$ 31,32« $ 24,00
37,97¢ 46,00°
28,86 33,11¢
33,22¢ 26,89:
5,54¢ 4,19¢
136,94( 134,22:
1,863,15!  1,762,04'
20,00( _
10,65¢ 6,26¢
32,50+ 18,53:
6,90¢ 3,90¢
9,021 9,21¢
2,079,18  1,934,19.
636,72 652,48t
(393,27) (154,61}
(18,969 (7,630
224,48t 490,24:
$2,303,67.  $2,424,43
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APX Group Holdings, Inc. and Subsidiaries (Successpand APX Group, Inc. and Subsidiaries (Predecessp
Consolidated Statements of Operations
(In thousands)

Successo Predecesso
Period from
November 17 Period from
January 1,
Year ended Year ended through through
December 31 December 31 December 31 November 16
2014 2013 2012 2012
Revenues
Monitoring revenu $ 537,690 $ 460,13( $ 49,12 $ 325,27:
Service and other sales rever 21,98( 39,13t 8,47: 66,96¢
Activation fees 4,00z 1,64 11 5,331
Total revenue 563,67 500,90t 57,60¢ 397,57(
Costs and expense
Operating expenses (exclusive of depreciation amafization shown
separately below 202,76¢ 164,22: 20,69¢ 145,89:.
Selling expense 107,37( 98,88« 12,28¢ 91,55¢
General and administrative expen 126,08: 97,17: 9,521 99,97:
Transaction related expens — — 31,88t 23,46
Depreciation and amortizatic 221,32 195,50¢ 11,41( 79,67¢
Total costs and expens 657,54¢ 555,78t 85,79¢ 440,56:
Loss from operation (93,869 (54,88() (28,197 (42,999
Other expenses (incom
Interest expens 147,51: 114,47t 12,64 106,62(
Interest incom (1,455 (1,499 (4) (61)
Other (income) expens a,779 (76) 171 122
Gain on 2GIG Sal — (46,86¢) — —
Loss from continuing operations before income t¢ (238,14¢) (120,92) (41,00 (149,67
Income tax expense (bene! 514 3,592 (10,909) 4,92
Net loss from continuing operatio (238,66() (124,51) (30,107 (154,59)
Discontinued operation
Loss from discontinued operatio — — — (239)
Net loss before ne-controlling interest: (238,66() (124,51 (30,109 (154,839)
Net loss attributable to n-controlling interest: — — — (1,319
Net loss $ (238,66() $ (12451) $ (30,107 $ (153,51)

See accompanying notes to consolidated financ&stents
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APX Group Holdings, Inc. and Subsidiaries (Successpand APX Group, Inc. and Subsidiaries (Predecessp
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Loss
(In thousands)

Successo Predecesso
Period from
November 17 Period from
January 1,
Year ended Year ended through through
December 31 December 31 December 31 November 16
2014 2013 2012 2012
Net loss before ne-controlling interests $ (238,66() $ (124,51) $ (30,109 $ (154,83
Other comprehensive (loss) income, net of tax &fi
Foreign currency translation adjustm (12,339 (8,55¢) 92¢ 70¢
Change in fair value of interest rate swap agree! — — — 31€
Total other comprehensive (loss) inco (12,339 (8,55¢) 92¢ 1,02¢
Comprehensive loss before I-controlling interest: (249,99) (133,07) (29,179 (153,810
Comprehensive loss attributable to -controlling interest: — — — (1,319
Comprehensive los $ (249,99) $ (133,07) $ (29,179 $ (152,49)

See accompanying notes to consolidated financ&stents
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APX Group Holdings, Inc. and Subsidiaries (Successpand APX Group, Inc. and Subsidiaries (Predecessp
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity (Defty

(In thousands)

Accumulated

Additional other Non-
Accumulated comprehensivt controlling
paid-in
Common Stocl capital deficit income (loss) interests Total
Predecessor
Balance, January 1, 20 $ 1 $46,83¢ $(23498) $ 16z $ 4,482 $(183,499
Net loss — — (153,51) — (1,319 (154,83
Change in fair value of interest rate swap
agreemen — — — 31¢ — 31¢€
Foreign currency translation adjustm — — — 70¢ — 70¢
Stocl-based compensatic — 1,78( — — 591 2,371
Issuance of Series D preferred stock and warr:
net of issuance costs and amount allocated |
liability — 4,45¢ — — — 4,45¢
Change in fair value of warra — 1,045 — — — 1,045
Solar share issuan — — — — 14,19: 14,19:
Cash dividends pai — — — — (80) (80)
Balance, November 16, 20 1 54,11° (388,499 1,18¢ 17,86 (315,329
Successor
Elimination of the predecessor equity structure
nor-controlling interest: @ (54,117 388,49¢ (1,189 (17,869 315,32
Investment by Parel — 708,45: — — — 708,45:
Balance, November 17, 20. — 708,45: — — — 708,45:
Net loss — — (30,109 — — (30,109
Foreign currency translation adjustm — — — 92¢ — 92¢
Balance, December 31, 20 — 708,45: (30,107 92¢ — 679,27¢
Net loss — — (124,519 — — (124,519
Foreign currency translation adjustm — — — (8,55¢) — (8,559
Stocl-based compensatic — 1,95¢ — — — 1,95¢
Net worth adjustmer — 2,07¢ — — — 2,07¢
Cash dividends pai — (60,000 — — — (60,000
Balance, December 31, 20 — 652,48 (154,619 (7,630 — 490,24
Net loss — — (238,66() — — (238,66()
Foreign currency translation adjustm — — — (11,339 — (12,339
Stoclk-based compensatic — 1,93¢ — — — 1,93¢
Capital contributior — 32,30( — — — 32,30(
Cash dividends pai — (50,000 — — — (50,000
Balance, December 31, 20 $ — $636,72:  $(393,27) $ (18,96) $ — $ 224,48t

See accompanying notes to consolidated finana&stents
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APX Group Holdings, Inc. and Subsidiaries (Successpand APX Group, Inc. and Subsidiaries (Predecessp
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

(In thousands)

Cash flows from operating activitie
Net loss from continuing operatio
Loss from discontinued operatio
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash piexviby (used in)
operating activities of continuing operatio
Amortization of subscriber acquisition co
Amortization of customer relationshi
Depreciation and amortization of other intangitdeeds
Amortization of deferred financing cos
Gain on sale of 2GI(
Gain on change in fair value of warrant liabil
Loss (gain) on sale or disposal of as:
Loss on asset impairme
Stoclk-based compensatic
Provision for doubtful accoun
Paid in kind interest incorr
Non-cash adjustments to deferred reve
Deferred income taxe
Changes in operating assets and liabilities, natqtiisitions and
divestiture:
Accounts receivabl
Inventories (restatec
Prepaid expenses and other current a:
Subscriber acquisition co— deferred contract costs (restat
Accounts payable (restate
Accrued expenses and other liabilities (resta
Deferred revenu

Net cash used in operating activities (resta
Cash flows from investing activitie
Subscriber acquisition cos- company owned equipment (restat
Capital expenditures (restate
Proceeds from the sale of capital as
Proceeds from the sale of 2GIG, net of cash
Acquisition of the predecessor including transactosts, net of cash
acquired
Net cash used in acquisitio
Acquisition of intangible asse
Purchases of shi-term investmen—other
Proceeds from sale of sh-term investmen—other
Proceeds from note receival
Change in restricted ca
Investment in preferred sto
Acquisition of other asse

Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities
(restated

Successo Predecesso
Period from

November 17 Period from

January 1,

Year ended Year ended through through
December 31 December 31 December 31 November 16

2014 2013 2012 2012

$ (238,66() $ (124,51) $ (30,109 $ (154,59)
— — — (239)
58,73( 22,21« 181 72,00t
143,57¢ 160,42 9,57¢ —
19,01¢ 12,86¢ 1,65¢ 7,67¢
9,251 8,64: 1,032 6,61¢
— (46,86¢) — —
— — — (287)
662 265 (45) 11¢
3,11¢ — — —
1,93¢ 1,95¢ — 2,371
15,65¢ 10,36( 1,307 8,20¢
— (1,329 — —
181 1,181 82z —
(265) 8,03( (13,120 1,421
(21,866) (11,486 2,33¢ (17,909
(2,355) (8,439 (257) 20,11:
74¢€ 2,407 (6,870 2,30t
(317,539 (298,329 (12,939 (263,73))
8,481 (2,667) (1,039 11,79:
(10,89Y) 22,04: 14,27: 109,51!
20,58¢ 24,35¢ (4,990) 26,25¢
(309,63) (218,87() (38,182) (168,36()
(10,580) (342) — —
(30,500 (8,979 (1,456 (5,894
964 30¢€ — 274

— 144,75( — —

— — (1,915,47) —
(18,500 (4,272) — —
(9,649) — — —
(60,000 — — —
60,06¢ — — —
22,69¢ — — —
14,37¢ (161) — (152)
(3,000 — — —
(2,16%) (9,645 (19,587 (74%)
(36,289 121,66:  (1,936,51) (6,515

See accompanying notes to consolidated finana&dstents
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APX Group Holdings, Inc. and Subsidiaries (Successpand APX Group, Inc. and Subsidiaries (Predecessp

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows Continued

(In thousands)

Cash flows from financing activitie
Proceeds from notes payal
Borrowings from revolving line of cred
Repayments on revolving line of cre
Proceeds from sale of subscriber contr
Acquisition of subscriber contrac
Repayments of capital lease obligatir
Deferred financing cos
Payments of dividenc
Excess tax benefit from shi-based payment awar
Capital contribution:
Proceeds from issuance of preferred stock and nisi
Proceeds from the issuance of common stock in atimmewith
acquisition of the predecess
Proceeds from issuance of preferred stock by ¢

Net cash provided by financing activiti
Effect of exchange rate changes on ¢

Net (decrease) increase in Ci
Cash:
Beginning of perioc

End of perioc

Supplemental cash flow disclosur:
Income tax pait
Interest paic
Supplemental nc-cash flow disclosure
Capital lease additior
Capital expenditures included within accrued expsrad other
current liabilities (restatec
Subscriber acquisition costs — company owned ecgnpincluded
within accounts payable and accrued expenses &ed airrent
liabilities (restated

Successo

Period from

November 17

Year ended Year ended through
December 31 December 31 December 31
2014 2013 2012
102,00( 457,25( 1,305,00!
20,00( 22,50( 28,00(
— (50,500 —
2,261 — —
(2,277 — —
(6,300 (7,207 (359)
(2,927 (10,89¢) (58,35
(50,000 (60,000 —
32,30( — —
— — 708,45:
95,057 351,14 1,982,741
(234) (119) 41
(251,09 253,81! 8,09(
261,90! 8,09( —
$ 10,807 $ 261,90! $ 8,09(
$ 19€ $ 48t $ —
$ 137,90¢ $ 116,80: $ 44
$ 12,04( $ 8,90¢ $ 574
$ 1,89 % — $ —
$ 1,71¢ $ 27 $ =

See accompanying notes to consolidated finana&stents
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Predecesso

Period from
January 1,
through
November 16

2012

116,16
105,00
(42,24

(4,060)
(6,684
(80)
2,651
9,19:
4,56:

5,00(

189,50«
(251)
14,37¢

3,68(
$ 18,05¢

2,23¢
91,47(

4,72¢
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APX Group Holdings, Inc. and Subsidiaries (Successpand APX Group, Inc. and Subsidiaries (Predecessp
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

NOTE 1—DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS

APX Group Holdings, Inc. (“Holdings” or “Parent’and its wholly-owned subsidiaries, (collectivelg ttCompany”),is one of the large
Smart Home companies in North America. The Compsugyngaged in the sale, installation, servicing roditoring of electronic home
security and automation systems, primarily in thitéd States and Canada.

On November 16, 2012, APX Group, Inc. (“APX"), 2GT@&chnologies, Inc. (“2GIG"), and their respectsudsidiaries were acquired by
an investor group comprised of certain investment$ affiliated with Blackstone Capital PartnersLMP., and certain co-investors and
management investors (collectively, the “Investpr¥his stock acquisition was accomplished throcgttain mergers and related
reorganization transactions (collectively, the “ger”) pursuant to which each of APX and 2GIG, ameirtrespective subsidiaries became
indirect wholly-owned subsidiaries of 313 AcquisitiLLC, an entity wholly-owned by the Investors.

As a result of the Merger, Vivint, Inc. and its Wigeowned subsidiaries and 2GIG and its wholly-owrseibsidiaries collectively became
wholly-owned by APX Group, Inc., which is wholly-owd by APX Group Holdings, Inc., which is wholly-oed by APX Parent Holdco, Inc.,
which is wholly owned by 313 Acquisition, LLC. APRarent Holdco, Inc. and APX Group Holdings, Incvdnao operations and were formed
for the purpose of facilitating the Merger.

NOTE 2—SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Basis of Presentation—As a result of the Merger, the consolidated finalngtatements are presented on two bases of ailbeguand are
not necessarily comparable: January 1, 2012 thrdlgyember 16, 2012 (the “Predecessor Period” oedBcessor” as context requires) and
November 17, 2012 through December 31, 2014“Successor Period” or “Successor” as context reg)iiwhich relate to the period
preceding the Merger and the period succeedinylirger, respectively. The audited consolidatedrfoia statements for the Predecessor
Period are presented for APX Group, Inc. and itellyrowned subsidiaries, including variable interestities. The audited consolidated
financial statements for the Successor Periodaetiee Merger presenting the financial position eegllts of operations of APX Group
Holdings, Inc. and its wholly-owned subsidiariebeTinancial position and results of operationthef Successor are not comparable to the
financial position and results of operations of Bredecessor due to the Merger and the basis sémiion of purchase accounting as
compared to historical cost in accordance with Awtimg Standards Codification (“ASC”) 8@usiness Combinations

The consolidated financial statements for the Rresior and Successor include the financial positimhresults of operations of the
following entities:

Successc Predecessc

APX Group Holdings, Inc —

APX Group, Inc. APX Group, Inc.

Vivint, Inc. Vivint, Inc.

Vivint Canada, Inc Vivint Canada, Inc
ARM Security, Inc. ARM Security, Inc.

AP AL, LLC AP AL, LLC

Vivint Purchasing, LLC Vivint Purchasing, LLC
Vivint Servicing, LLC Vivint Servicing, LLC
2GIG Technologies, Inc. (: 2GIG Technologies, In
2GIG Technologies Canada, Inc. 2GIG Technologies Canada, Ir

— V Solar Holdings, Inc
— Vivint Solar, Inc.
313 Aviation, LLC —
Vivint Wireless, Inc. —
Smartrove, Inc —
Vivint New Zealand, Ltd —
Vivint Australia Pty Ltd. —
Vivint Louisiana, LLC —
Vivint Funding Holdings, LLC —
Vivint Puerto Rico, LLC —
Vivint Group, Inc. (2) —
Vivint Data Management (- —
Vivint Firewild, LLC (2) —
Vivint Canada Fundini —
Vivint Canada Servicini —
IPRLLC (2) —
Farmington IP LLC —




(1) The audited consolidated financial statememtsHe year ended December 31, 2013 include thdtsesf 2GIG up through April 1, 2013,
which was the date the Company completed the $&@6&I6% to Nortek, Inc.“2GIG Sal”) (See Note 5)
(2) Formed during the year ended December 31, 2
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The Successor and Predecessor Period include stiyethe same operating entities except thainti%olar, Inc. and its subsidiaries
(“Solar”) is not included in the Successor Peripats Solar is separately owned and is no longenaaidated variable interest entity. The
majority of the operations of Successor Periodtiestare included within the operations of Vivilmig.

Principles of Consolidation—The accompanying Successor consolidated finastatééments include the accounts of APX Group
Holdings, Inc. and its subsidiaries, including 2Gi§&a wholly-owned subsidiary through April 1, 20T8e accompanying Predecessor
consolidated financial statements include APX Grdap. and its subsidiaries, and 2GIG and Solaickvtvere variable interest entities (or
“VIE's") prior to the Merger (See Note 8). All sigitant intercompany balances and transactions baea eliminated in consolidation.

The financial information presented in the acconypanconsolidated financial statements reflectsfit@ncial position and operating
results of Smart Grid as discontinued operatiores (Sote 7).

Changes in Presentation of Comparative Financial &tements—Certain reclassifications have been made to dar period
consolidated financial information in order to commh to the current year presentation. These chagigasot have a significant impact on the
consolidated financial statements.

Revenue Recognition—The Company recognizes revenue principally onettiypes of transactions: (i) monitoring, which uaés
revenues for monitoring and other automation sesvaf the Company’s subscriber contracts and cestaiscriber contracts that have been
sold and recurring monthly revenue associated ththCompany’s wireless internet services, (ii) enand other sales, which includes
services provided on contracts, contract fulfillmesvenue, sales of products that are not pati@basic equipment package and revenue frol
2GIG up through the date of the 2GIG Sale, anyigdtivation fees on the Company’s contracts, whighamortized over the expected life of
the customer.

Monitoring services for the Company’s subscribartcacts are billed in advance, generally monthlyspant to the terms of subscriber
contracts and recognized ratably over the sendc®@. Costs of providing ongoing monitoring seed@re expensed in the period incurred.

Service and other sales revenue is recognizednasesare provided or when title to the productd aquipment sold transfers to the
customer. Contract fulfillment revenue, includeg@rvice and other sales, is recognized when payismieeceived from customers who cancel
their contract in-term. Revenue from sales of potsithat are not part of the basic equipment pazkagecognized upon delivery of products.

Activation fees represent upfront one-time chatgksd to subscribers at the time of installatioare deferred. These fees are
recognized over the estimated customer life of d&y using a 150% declining balance method, whiclverts to a straight-line methodology
after approximately five years.
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Through the date of the 2GIG Sale, service andratles revenue included net recurring servicesme®, which was based on back-end
services provided by Alarm.com for all panels doldlistributors and direct-sell dealers and subsetiy placed in service at end-user
locations. The Company received a fixed monthly amdidrom Alarm.com for each system installed witm#Vivint customers that used the
Alarm.com platform.

Subscriber Acquisition Costs—A portion of the direct costs of acquiring new sattibers, primarily sales commissions, equipmeam, a
installation costs, are deferred and recognized aymttern that reflects the estimated life ofghbscriber relationships. The Company
amortizes these costs over 12 years using a 150%hidg balance method, which converts to straigig-methodology after approximately
five years. The Company evaluates subscriber atc@itrition on a periodic basis, utilizing obsenattition rates for the Company’s
subscriber contracts and industry information aviien necessary, makes adjustments to the estirmalbsdriber relationship period and
amortization method.

On the consolidated statement of cash flows, siliErcacquisition costs that are comprised of eqeipihand related installation costs
purchased for or used in subscriber contracts iciwthe Company retains ownership to the equipraemtlassified as investing activities and
reported as “Subscriber acquisition costs — compavyed equipment.” All other subscriber acquisitomsts are classified as operating
activities and reported as “Subscriber acquisitiosts — deferred contract costs” on the consoliist&tements of cash flows as these assets
represent deferred costs associated with the oreaficustomer contracts.

In conjunction with the Merger and in accordancthwiurchase accounting, the total purchase priceallacated to the Company’s net
tangible and identifiable intangible assets basetheir estimated fair values as of November 1822%ee Note 4). The Company recordec
value of Subscriber Acquisition Costs on the dditine Merger at fair value and classified it asrgangible asset, which is amortized over 10
years in a pattern that is consistent with the amhotirevenue expected to be generated from tlagetlsubscriber contrac

Cash and Cash Equivalents—Cash and cash equivalents consists of highly liquidstments with remaining maturities when purek
of three months or less.

Restricted Cash and Cash Equivalents—Restricted cash and cash equivalents is restrfoteal specific purpose and cannot be include
in the general cash account. At December 31, 264813, the restricted cash and cash equivalemdsheid by a third-party trustee.
Restricted cash and cash equivalents consistgblHliquid investments with remaining maturitieben purchased of three months or less.

Accounts Receivable—Accounts receivable consists primarily of amounts fom customers for recurring monthly monitorgegvices
The accounts receivable are recorded at invoicezliate and are non-interest bearing. The gross anod@tcounts receivable has been
reduced by an allowance for doubtful accounts of $illion and $1.9 million at December 31, 20142913, respectively. The Company
estimates this allowance based on historical cidlie@xperience and subscriber attrition rates. f\the Company determines that there are
accounts receivable that are uncollectible, theycharged off against the allowance for doubtfgbaats. As of December 31, 2014 and 2013
no accounts receivable were classified as helddt@. Provision for doubtful accounts is includedéneral and administrative expenses in the
accompanying consolidated statements of operations.

The changes in the Company’s allowance for accawctsivable were as follows for the periods endiedhpusands):

Successo Predecesso
Period from
November 17 Period from
January 1,
Year ended Year ended through through
December 31 December 31 December 31 November 16
2014 2013 2012 2012
Beginning balance $ 1,901 $ 2,301 $ 3,64¢ $ 1,90¢
Provision for doubtful accoun 15,65¢ 10,36( 1,307 8,20¢
Write-offs and adjustmen (14,189 (10,760) (2,65%) (6,45%)
Balance at end of peric $ 3,37 $ 1,901 $ 2,301 $ 3,64¢

Inventories —Inventories, which comprise home automation amrdisy system equipment and parts, are statecedbther of cost or
market with cost determined under the first-instfiout (FIFO) method. The Company records an altmedor excess and obsolete inventory
based on anticipated obsolescence, usage anddastorite-offs.
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Long-lived Assets and Intangibles—Property and equipment are stated at cost ancdi@ped on the straight-line method over the
estimated useful lives of the assets or the lesxse for assets under capital leases, whichevérigey. Intangible assets with definite lives are
amortized over the remaining estimated econongcdffthe underlying technology or relationshipsjalitranges from 2 to 10 years. Definite-
lived intangible assets are amortized on the ditdige method over the estimated useful life & &sset or in a pattern in which the economic
benefits of the intangible asset are consumed. Anadion expense associated with leased assatsligled with depreciation expense. Routine
repairs and maintenance are charged to expensewasad. The Company periodically assesses potémjiairment of its londived assets ar
intangibles and performs an impairment review whenevents or changes in circumstances indicatdiibacarrying value may not be
recoverable. In addition, the Company periodicaligesses whether events or changes in circumstanieue to support an indefinite life of
certain intangible assets or warrant a revisiohéoestimated useful life of definite-lived intablgi assets.

Long-term Investments— The Company’s long-term investments are comprifembst based investments in other companies as
discussed in Note 9. The Company performs impaitraealyses of its cost based investments annwelgf October 1, or more often when
events occur or circumstances change that wouldg fiieely than not, reduce the fair value of theastment below its carrying value. When
indicators of impairment do not exist and certainaunting criteria are met, the Company evaluatgmirment using a qualitative approach.
As of December 31, 2014, no indicators of impairtrexisted associated with these cost based investme

Deferred Financing Costs— Costs incurred in connection with obtaining diétincing are deferred and amortized utilizing $kight-
line method, which approximates the effective-iag¢mmethod, over the life of the related financifiguch financing is paid off or replaced
prior to maturity with debt instruments that haubstantially different terms, the unamortized c@sescharged to expense. In connection with
refinancing the debt in conjunction with the Mergie Company wrote off $3.5 million related to omatized deferred financing costs.
Deferred financing costs included in the accompaggionsolidated balance sheets at December 31,@12013 were $52.2 million and
$59.4 million, net of accumulated amortization 80% million and $9.9 million, respectively. Amarition expense on deferred financing c
recognized and included in interest expense iratttempanying consolidated statements of operatioteded $10.1 million for the year ended
December 31, 2014, $8.8 million for the year enDedember 31, 2013, $1.0 million for the Successwiod ended December 31, 2012 and
$6.6 million for the Predecessor Period ended Ndarii6, 2012.

Residual Income Plan—The Company has a program that allows third-psatgs channel partners to receive additional cosgiem
based on the performance of the underlying corgrthety create. The Company calculates the preséunt wf the expected future payments
recognizes this amount in the period the commissaa earned. Subsequent accretion and adjustinehts estimated liability are recorded as
interest and operating expense respectively. Thegaaoy monitors actual payments and customer atirién a periodic basis and, when
necessary, makes adjustments to the liability. aheunt included in accrued expenses and otherrtuiabilities was $0.4 million and $0.3
million as of December 31, 2014 and 2013, respelgtiand the amount included in other long-termgations was $3.0 million and $2.1
million at December 31, 2014 and 2013, respectjwelyresenting the present value of the estimatexliats owed to third-party sales channel
partners.

Stock-Based Compensatior—The Company measures compensation cost base@ gmaht-date fair value of the award and recognize
that cost over the requisite service period ofaévards (See Note 16).

Advertising Expense—Advertising costs are expensed as incurred. Adsiegicosts were approximately $23.6 million and.828illion
for the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013 illion for the Successor Period ended DecemibePB812 and $8.2 million for the
Predecessor Period ended November 16, 2012,

Income Taxes—The Company accounts for income taxes based oasthet and liability method. Under the asset atiliiy method,
deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilitiesracognized for the future tax consequences at#tithe to differences between the financial
statement carrying amounts of existing assetsiahdities and their respective tax bases and djpgrdoss and tax credit carryforwards.
Valuation allowances are established when necessaegduce deferred tax assets when it is detedrtima it is more likely than not that some
portion of the deferred tax asset will not be zadi

The Company recognizes the effect of an uncentaiome tax position on the income tax return atahgest amount that is more-likely-
than-not to be sustained upon audit by the reletaading authority. An uncertain income tax positigifi not be recognized if it has less than a
50% likelihood of being sustained. The Company’cgdor recording interest and penalties is toomksuch items as a component of the
provision for income taxes.

Contracts Sold—On March 31, 2014, the Company received approxm&2.3 million in proceeds from the sale of certsubscriber
contracts to a third-party. Concurrently, the Compantered into an agreement with the buyer toicoatproviding billing, monitoring and
support services for the contracts that were smicfperiod of ten years. As a result of this aaritig involvement on the part of the Company
in the servicing of the contracts, accounting gna#aprecluded gain recognition at the time of @le.sAccordingly, the Company treated this
transaction as a secured borrowing and recordiadbitity for the proceeds received at the timehaf sale. On November 24, 2014, the
Company repurchased the subscriber contracts tanthird-party for $2.3 million and the associaliedbility was settled. No material
gain/loss on the transaction was recognized.
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Use of Estimates—The preparation of financial statements in conforwith U.S. generally accepted accounting pritesprequires
management to make estimates and assumptiondfenztttae amounts reported in the financial statetmeActual results could differ from
those estimates.

Concentrations of Credit Risk—Financial instruments that potentially subject @@mpany to concentration of credit risk consist
principally of receivables and cash. At times dgrihe year, the Company maintains cash balana@sciess of insured limits. The Company is
not dependent on any single customer or geograpteétion. The loss of a customer would not advgrsepact the Company’s operating
results or financial position.

Concentrations of Supply Risk—As of December 31, 2014, approximately 74% ofGeenpany’s installed panels were 2GIG Go!
Control panels and 19% were SkyControl panels. @ril A, 2013, the Company completed the 2GIG Saleonnection with the 2GIG Sale,
the Company entered into a five-year supply agre¢meh 2GIG, pursuant to which they will be theckisive provider of the Company’s
control panel requirements, subject to certain ptors as provided in the supply agreement. The dd2GIG as a supplier could potentially
impact the Company’s operating results or finangaition.

Fair Value Measurement—TFair value is based on the price that would beived to sell an asset or paid to transfer a lighit an
orderly transaction between market participanth@imeasurement date. Assets and liabilities stifijean-going fair value measurement are
categorized and disclosed into one of three caiegdepending on observable or unobservable irggadoyed in the measurement. These tw
types of inputs have created the following fairnhierarchy:

Level 1: Quoted prices in active markets that aeeasible at the measurement date for assetsedmltits.
Level 2: Observable prices that are based on inpttguoted in active markets, but corroboratedniayket data.

Level 3: Unobservable inputs are used when litttaeamarket data is available.

This hierarchy requires the Company to minimizeuke of unobservable inputs and to use observatikandata, if available, when
determining fair value. The Company recognizesstfiens between levels of the hierarchy based ofeihgalues of the respective financial
measurements at the end of the reporting periodinh the transfer occurred. There were no trasdfetween levels of the fair value hierar
during the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013.

The carrying amounts of the Company’s accountsvabée, accounts payable and accrued and othélitiedapproximate their fair
values due to their short maturities.

Goodwill —The Company conducts a goodwill impairment analgsisually in the fourth fiscal quarter, as of O@ph, and as necess:
if changes in facts and circumstances indicatettieafair value of the Company’s reporting unitsyrba less than its carrying amount. When
indicators of impairment do not exist and certainaunting criteria are met, the Company is ablevi@uate goodwill impairment using a
qualitative approach. When necessary, the Compaqantitative goodwill impairment test consistévad steps. The first step requires that
Company compare the estimated fair value of itentipy units to the carrying value of the reportingjt's net assets, including goodwill. If the
fair value of the reporting unit is greater thaa tarrying value of its net assets, goodwill is cartsidered to be impaired and no further testin
is required. If the fair value of the reporting tisiless than the carrying value of its net asgbésCompany would be required to complete the
second step of the test by analyzing the fair vafuites goodwill. If the carrying value of the gowill exceeds its fair value, an impairment
charge is recorded (See Note 12).

Foreign Currency Translation and Other Comprehensie Income—The functional currencies of Vivint Canada, Ineda/ivint New
Zealand, Ltd. are the Canadian and New Zealandmoltespectively. Accordingly, assets and liabgitare translated from their respective
functional currencies into U.S. dollars at periodteates and revenue and expenses are transldtexve¢ightedaverage exchange rates for
period. Adjustments resulting from this translatfpocess are classified as other comprehensivenadtnss) and shown as a separate
component of equity.

Letters of Credit —As of December 31, 2014 and 2013, the CompanyBa@imillion and $2.2 million, respectively, oftets of credit
issued in the ordinary course of business, all littvare undrawn.

New Accounting Pronouncement—In May 2014, the FASB issued authoritative guidandich clarifies the principles used to
recognize revenue for all entities. The new guigareguires companies to recognize revenue wheanisfers goods or services to a customer
in an amount that reflects the consideration tochvlsi company expects to be
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entitled. The guidance is effective for annual aridrim periods beginning after December 15, 201& guidance allows for either a “full
retrospective” adoption or a “modified retrospeetiadoption, however early adoption is not permiittehe Company is currently evaluating
the impact the adoption of this guidance will haweits consolidated financial statements.

In August 2014, the Financial Accounting Standd@dard issued ASU No. 2014-15. This standard prevgigédance on determining
when and how to disclose going-concern uncertaitighe financial statements. The new standandimesimanagement to perform interim
and annual assessments of an entity’s ability tdicoe as a going concern within one year of the tige financial statements are issued. This
ASU is effective for fiscal years, and interim el$ within those years, beginning on or after Ddmami5, 2016, with early adoption
permitted. We are evaluating the new guidance ¢amito provide additional information about its exfed impact at a future date.

In February 2013, the FASB issued authoritativelgnce which expands the disclosure requirementni@munts reclassified out of
accumulated other comprehensive income (“AOCI")e Blaidance requires an entity to provide infornmaibout the amounts reclassified out
of AOCI by component and present, either on the faidhe income statement or in the notes to firustatements, significant amounts
reclassified out of AOCI by the respective linaniteof net income but only if the amount reclasdif@required under GAAP to be reclassified
to net income in its entirety in the same reporfegod. For other amounts, an entity is requitedrbss-reference to other disclosures require
under GAAP that provide additional detail aboutstn@mounts. This guidance does not change thentueguirements for reporting net
income or OCI in financial statements. The guiddmeeame effective for the Company in the first tgraof fiscal year 2014. The adoption of
this guidance did not have a material impact ofirigncial position, results of operations or cflelws.

In July 2013, the FASB issued authoritative guidambich amends the guidance related to the preasantsf unrecognized tax benefits
and allows for the reduction of a deferred tax efsea net operating loss carryforward wheneverriat operating loss carryforward or tax
credit carryforward would be available to reduce #gldditional taxable income or tax due if the tagifion is disallowed. This guidance bece
effective for the Company for annual and interimigus beginning in fiscal year 2014. The adoptidths guidance did not have a material
impact on its financial position, results of op@as or cash flows.

NOTE 3 — RESTATEMENT OF CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

The Company has restated its consolidated statsméntaish flows for the years ended December 314 20d 2013 and the periods fr
November 17, 2012 through December 31, 2012 (Ssoceand January 1, 2012 through November 16, Rdlecessor) to properly refle
cash paid for subscriber acquisition costs — defecontract costs as an operating activity as ggptisan investing activity as previously
reported. The amounts related to subscriber ac¢ipumisiosts — deferred contract costs were recladsis operating activities because those
costs represent deferred costs associated witlingeaistomer contracts which is an operating égtirhe restated consolidated statement of
cash flows for the year ended December 31, 20Dbdraftects other adjustments to properly exclude-cash transactions related to subscribel
acquisition costs.

The effect of the revised presentation of net ¢ksts provided by (used in) operating activitieslaret cash provided by (used in)
investing activities are presented below:

Successo Predecesso
Period from Period from
November 17, January 1,
Year ended Year ended through through
December 31, December 31, December 31, November 16,
2014 2013 2012 2012
Reported Restated  Reported Restated Reported Restated Reported Restated
Inventories (6,92¢6) (2,355 (8,439 (8,439 (257) (257) 20,11: 20,11
Subscriber acquisition costs - deferred
contract cost — (317,539 — (298,329 — (12,939 —  (263,73)
Accounts payabl 7,24¢ 8,481 (2,690 (2,663 (1,039 (1,039 11,79: 11,79:
Accrued expenses and other liabilit (9,649 (10,89Y) 22,04: 22,04 14,27 14,27: 109,51' 109,51!
Net cash provided by (used in)
operating activitie: 3,34¢ (309,63) 79,42 (218,87 (25,249 (38,187 95,37, (168,36()
Subscriber acquisition costs - company
owned equipmer (321,85H (10,58() (298,64.) (342 (12,939 — (263,73) —
Capital expenditure (32,2179 (30,500 (8,979 (8,979 (1,45€) (1,45€) (5,899 (5,899



Net cash provided by (used in)
investing activities (349,27()

Supplemental noncash investing and
financing activities:

Capital expenditures included in accrued
expenses and other liabiliti —

Subscriber acquisition costs - compar
owned assets included within accot
payable and accrued expenses anc
other current asse —

(36,28 (176,63) 121,66

1,89: —

1,71¢ —

27

(1,949,45) (1,936,51)

(270,241)

(6,515)
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In addition to the consolidated statements of ¢lsts, the Company has restated the associatezshstats of cash flows in the guarantor

and non-guarantor supplemental financial informmaticcluded in the notes to the consolidated finalngtiatements as stated below:

Year Ended December 31, 2014 (Success
Reported:
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activi

Subscriber acquisition costs - company owned
equipmen
Capital expenditure
Net cash used in investing activiti

Restated:
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activi

Subscriber acquisition costs - company owned
equipmen
Capital expenditure
Net cash used in investing activiti

Year Ended December 31, 2013 (Success
Reported:
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activi

Subscriber acquisition costs - company owned
equipmen
Net cash used in investing activiti

Restated:
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activi

Subscriber acquisition costs - company owned
equipmen
Net cash used in investing activiti

For the Period From November 17, 2012 to Decembef 2
2012 (Successol

Reported:
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activi

Subscriber acquisition costs - company owned
equipmen
Net cash used in investing activiti

Restated:
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activi

Subscriber acquisition costs - company owned
equipmen
Net cash used in investing activiti

For the Period From January 1, 2012 to November 1¢
2012 (Predecessol

Reported:
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activi

Subscriber acquisition costs - company owned
equipmen
Net cash used in investing activiti

Restated:
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activi

Subscriber acquisition costs - company owned
equipmen
Net cash used in investing activiti

APX Guarantor  Non-Guarantor
Parent Group, Inc.  Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Eliminations  Consolidatec
50,00( (894  (35,18)) 39,42¢ (50,000 3,34¢
— — (292,420 (29,439 — (321,85
— — (32,026) (18E) — (32,21))
(32,300 (339,959 (319,71 (29,629 372,32« (349,270
50,00( (894) (318,739 9,991 (50,000  (309,63)
— — (10,58() — — (10,58()
— — (30,315 (185) — (30,500
(32,300 (339,95 (36,159 (194) 372,32 (36,28
APX Guarantor ~ Non-Guarantor
Parent Group, Inc.  Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Eliminations  Consolidatec
60,00( (207) 43,21¢ 36,40 (60,000 79,42¢
— —  (270,70) (27,936 — (298,64))
— (109,649 (293,399 (27,989  254,39: (176,639
60,00( (201) (227,149 8,471 (60,000  (218,87f)
— — (342) — — (342)
— (109,649 (23,039 (53) 254,39 121,66:
APX Guarantor Non-Guarantor
Parent Group, Inc.  Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Eliminations  Consolidatec
— 39¢ (22,279 32¢ (3,696) (25,249
— — (11,689 (1,255 — (12,939
(708,453 (1,983,09) (36,299 (1,37  779,77" (1,949,45)
— 39¢ (33,959 (929 (3,696 (38,18))
(708,453 (1,983,09) (24,616 (129  779,77" (1,936,51)
APX Guarantor Non-Guarantor
Parent Group, Inc.  Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Eliminations  Consolidatec
— — 100,38! 43,33( (48,342 95,37:
— — (205,709 (58,026 — (263,73)
— (4,567 (211,38) (58,859 456: (270,249
— — (105,320 (14,696 (48,349  (168,36()
— (4,56%) (5,687 (839 4,56 (6,515
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NOTE 4—BUSINESS COMBINATION
Wildfire Acquisition

On January 31, 2014, a wholly-owned subsidiarnthef@ompany completed the purchase of certain assetsassumed certain liabilities,
of Wildfire Broadband, LLC (“Wildfire”).Pursuant to the terms of the asset purchase agnéémeeCompany paid aggregate cash consider
of $3.5 million, of which $0.4 million was held &scrow for indemnification obligations and waslsetin early 2015. This strategic acquisi
was made to provide the Company access to Wildfiegisting customers, wireless internet infrastieeetand know-how. The accompanying
consolidated financial statements include the fif@rposition and results of operations associatithl the Wildfire assets acquired and
liabilities assumed from January 31, 2014. Thefprma impact of Wildfire on the Company’s financpadsition and results of operations for
the year ended December 31, 2014 is immaterial aBBeciated goodwill is deductible for income targoses.

The following table summarizes the estimated falue of the assets acquired and liabilities assuahétte time of acquisition (in
thousands):

Net assets acquired from Wildfi $ 96
Intangible assets (See Note : 2,90(
Goodwill 504
Total cash consideratic $3,50(

During the year ended December 31, 2014, the Coynipanrred costs associated with the Wildfire asiigin, which were not material,
consisting of accounting, legal and professionesfend payments to employees directly associatidig acquisition. These costs are
included in general and administrative expenséldgraccompanying audited consolidated statemeriparftions.

73



Table of Contents

Space Monkey Acquisition

On August 25, 2014, the Company’s parent purch&gade Monkey, Inc. (“Space Monkey”), a data clawdage technology company,
then merged Space Monkey with a wholly-owned suasicdf the Company. Pursuant to the terms of tkeger the Company paid aggregate
cash consideration of $15.0 million, of which $in8lion is held in escrow for indemnification ob&ijons. This strategic acquisition was made
to support the growth and development of the Comiga®mart Home platform. The accompanying condersedolidated financial
statements include the financial position and tesafl operations associated with the Space Monksgta acquired and liabilities assumed 1
August 25, 2014. The pro forma impact of Space Mgndn the Company’s financial position and resoltsperations for the year ended
December 31, 2014 is immaterial.

The following table summarizes the estimated falue of the assets acquired and liabilities assuahéttke time of acquisition (in
thousands):

Net assets acquired from Space Mon $ 404
Deferred tax liability (1,10€)
Intangible assets (See Note : 8,30(
Goodwill 7,402
Total estimated fair value of the assets acquiretliabilities assume $15,00(

During the year ended December 31, 2014, the Coynipanrred costs associated with the Space Monkguiaition, which were not
material, consisting of accounting, legal and pssienal fees and payments to employees directbcaded with the acquisition. These costs
are included in general and administrative expemstge accompanying consolidated statements afatipas.

Smartrove Acquisition

On May 29, 2013, a wholly-owned subsidiary of trm®any, Vivint Wireless, Inc. (“Vivint Wireless"gompleted a 100% stock
acquisition of Smartrove. Pursuant to the termthefstock purchase agreement, Vivint Wireless aeduhe business for aggregate cash
consideration of $4.3 million. This strategic aifipn was made to provide Vivint Wireless withlfalvnership of certain intellectual property
used in its operations. The accompanying conseliihancial statements include the financial posiand results of operations of Smartrove
as a wholly-owned subsidiary from May 29, 2013. Phe forma impact of Smartrove on the Company’afficial position and results of
operations for the year ended December 31, 2013mmsterial.

The associated goodwill is not deductible for ineatax purposes. The following table summarizestienated fair values of the assets
acquired and liabilities assumed as of Decembe2B14 (in thousands):

Net assets acquired from Smartr—Cash $ 3
Deferred income tax liabilit (1,539
Intangible assets (See Note : 4,04(
Goodwill 1,76¢

Total fair value of the assets acquired and liibs#iassume $4,27¢

During the year ended December 31, 2013, the Coynipanrred costs associated with the Smartrove Aitipn, which were not
material, consisting of accounting, investment lvagklegal and professional fees and payments fgames directly associated with the
acquisition. These costs are included in genemlaaiministrative expenses in the accompanying diolaged statements of operations.
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The Merger

As described in Note 1, the Merger was completelovember 16, 2012, and was financed by a comloinati equity invested by
affiliates of The Blackstone Group, certain co-isiegs, the Company’s management and certain engdoyed borrowings under a revolving
credit facility and issuance of notes. The Compsaumyanagement and certain employees invested apmately $155.2 million in the form of a
rollover of their equity in APX and 2GIG and casliéstments were used to repay all outstanding tvmgs under the Predecessor’s secured
credit facilities, pay Predecessor shareholdenghase equity units of Acquisition LLC and pay waction fees and expenses. As part of the
Merger, as of December 31, 2014 and 2013, therepdé and $28.4 million, respectively, held inrescand presented as restricted cash in
the accompanying financial statements for paymienésnployees that will be due in the next two yeatshe time of the Merger,
approximately $54.3 million was placed in escrovedwer potential adjustments to the total purcltasesideration associated with general
representations and warranties and adjustmenémtgbie net worth, in accordance with the termthefMerger’s escrow agreement. This
amount is included in the total purchase considwratiscussed below. The remaining escrow balaadtey, all adjustments are made in
accordance with the escrow agreement, is expegtbe paid to the former Company shareholders d@@idp. Because these amounts held in
escrow are not controlled by the Company, theyhatencluded in the accompanying consolidated lraheets.

Purchase Consideration

The following table summarizes the purchase praoesicleration (in thousands):

Revolving line of credi $ 10,00(
Issuance of bonds, net of issuance c 1,246,641
Contributed equit 713,82:
Less: Transaction cos (31,540
Less: Net worth adjustme (3,289)

Total purchase considerati $1,935,63

Purchase Price Allocation

The purchase price of approximately $1.9 billiodinles the purchase of all outstanding stock,esattht of the Predecessor’s debt,
settlement of stock-based awards, payments to gmegdounder long-term incentive arrangements, tcdiosafees and expenses and purchase
of subscriber accounts held by third parties. Patst® employees consisted of payments to offiergloyees and directors as change in
control payments and special retention bonusesh®date of the Merger, the Company paid $28.4anilbr 50% of the amount due to
employees under long-term incentive arrangemerftthéremaining 50%, the Company paid one of twaabistallments during the year
ended December 31, 2014. The remaining installwéhbe paid by the third anniversary date of thergfer. In addition to the payments unde
these long-term incentive arrangements, the Comptsayincurred $48.6 million of costs related teb® and other payments to employees
directly related to the Merger. These employee Bspe are included in total costs and expensegiRittdecessor Period consolidated
statement of operations.

The estimated fair values of the assets acquirddiabilities assumed are based on informationiobthfrom various sources including,
the Company’s management and historical experiertoe fair value of the intangible assets was ddtegthusing the income and the cost
approaches. Key assumptions used in the determmatifair value include projected cash flows, suiier attrition rates and discount rates
between 8% and 14%.

The following table summarizes the estimated falugs of the assets acquired and liabilities asdumsef November 16, 2012(in
thousands):

Current assets acquir $ 73,23¢
Property, plant and equipme 29,29:
Other asset 30,53¢
Intangible asset 1,062,301
Goodwill 880,30:
Current liabilities assume (100,259
Deferred income tax liabilit (33,99¢)
Other liabilities (5,779

Total purchase price allocatis $1,935,63
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Goodwill resulting from the Merger is not deducitibr income tax purposes. The Company incurrets@ssociated with the Merger of
approximately $31.9 million in the Successor Pefioth November 17, 2012 through December 31, 20tRagproximately $23.5 million in
the Predecessor Period from January 1, 2012 thrNogkmber 16, 2012. These costs consist of acamyritivestment banking, legal and
professional fees and employee expenses directtceaed with the Merger and are included in thmampanying consolidated statements of
operations.

NOTE 5—DIVESTITURE OF SUBSIDIARY

On April 1, 2013, the Company completed the 2GI@& Jaursuant to the terms of the 2GIG Sale, Nottek,acquired all of the
outstanding common stock of 2GIG for aggregate casisideration of approximately $148.9 million,luing cash, working capital and
indebtedness adjustments as provided in the stohpase agreement. In connection with the 2GIG, $aeCompany entered into a five-year
supply agreement with 2GIG, pursuant to which tivdlybe the exclusive provider of the Company’s tohpanel requirements, subject to
certain exceptions as provided in the supply ages#nA\ portion of the net proceeds from the 2GI& Saas used to repay $44.0 million of
outstanding borrowings under the Company’s revgharedit facility. The terms of the indenture gaviag the 2020 notes (as defined below),
the indenture governing the 2019 notes (as defiedalv) and the credit agreement governing the xéwglcredit facility, permit the Company,
subject to certain conditions, to distribute allagoortion of the net proceeds from the 2GIG Sakh¢ Company’s stockholders. In May 2013,
the Company distributed a dividend of $60.0 millfoom such proceeds to stockholders. Subject tappicable conditions, the Company r
distribute the remaining proceeds in the futuree Tompany'’s financial position and results of opers include 2GIG through March 31,
2013.

The following table summarizes the net gain recpeghin connection with this divestiture (in thouds)

Adjusted net sale pric $ 148,87
2GIG assets (including cash of $3,383), net ofilitas (109,059
2.0 technology, net of amortizatis 16,90:
Other (9,859

Net gain on divestitur $ 46,86¢

NOTE 6—LONG-TERM DEBT

On November 16, 2012, APX issued $1.3 billion aggte principal amount of notes, of which $925.0iomlaggregate principal amount
of 6.375% senior secured notes due 2019 (the “2016s") mature on December 1, 2019 and are seauredirst-priority lien basis by
substantially all of the tangible and intangibleets whether now owned or hereafter acquired b tmpany, subject to permitted liens and
exceptions, and $380.0 million aggregate princgmabunt of 8.75% senior notes due 2020 (the “2028si@and together with the 2019 notes,
the “notes”), mature on December 1, 2020.

During 2013, APX completed two offerings of additid 2020 notes under the indenture dated Novemie2@12. On May 31, 2013,
APX issued $200.0 million of 2020 notes at a po€&01.75% and on December 13, 2013, APX issueghiditional $250.0 million of 2020
notes at a price of 101.50%. Blackstone Advisomtrieas L.P. (“Blackstone Partners”) participatedas of the initial purchasers of the 2020
notes in each of the May 31, 2013 and Decembe2dB3 offerings and received approximately $0.2ianlland $0.3 million in fees,
respectively, at the time of closing.

On July 1, 2014, APX issued an additional $100.0iani of 2020 notes. In connection with the issuarBlackstone Partners participated
as one of the initial purchasers of the 2020 natesreceived approximately $0.1 million in feesha&t time of closing.

Interest accrues at the rate of 6.375% per annuth&?2019 notes and 8.75% per annum for the 2088sninterest on the notes is
payable semiannually in arrears on each June Dandmber 1. APX may redeem each series of the rintedole or part, at any time prior to
December 1, 2015 at a redemption price equal tprineipal amount of the notes to be redeemed, plosmkewhole premium and any accru
and unpaid interest at the redemption date. Intiaddiafter December 1, 2015, APX may redeem ttieshat the prices and on the terms
specified in the applicable indenture.
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Revolving Credit Facility

On November 16, 2012, APX Group Holdings, Inc. relother guarantors entered into a revolving tifedility in the aggregate
principal amount of $200.0 million. On June 28, 20the Company amended and restated the credirmagre to provide for a new repriced
tranche of revolving credit commitments with a lowderest rate. Nearly all of the existing tranglog revolving credit commitments were
terminated and converted into the repriced tranefith, the unterminated portion of the existing the continuing to accrue interest at the
original rate.

Borrowings under the revolving credit facility beaterest at a rate per annum equal to an appéaalblrgin plus, at our option, either
(1) the base rate determined by reference to titeekt of (a) the Federal Funds rate plus 0.50%hébjprime rate of Bank of America, N.A.
and (c) the LIBOR rate determined by referencééocosts of funds for U.S. dollar deposits forrateriest period of one month, plus 1.00% or
(2) the LIBOR rate determined by reference to tbadon interbank offered rate for dollars for thierest period relevant to such borrowing.
The applicable margin for base rate-based borrasvfhla) under the repriced tranche is curren®y@per annum and (b) under the former
tranche is currently 3.0% and (2)(a) the applicaéggin for LIBOR rate-based borrowings (a) undher tepriced tranche is currently 3.0% per
annum and (b) under the former tranche is curreh@96. The applicable margin for borrowings undher itevolving credit facility is subject to
one step-down of 25 basis points based on our ngeatconsolidated first lien net leverage ratio &she end of each fiscal quarter.

In addition to paying interest on outstanding pipatunder the revolving credit facility, the Conmyas required to pay a quarterly
commitment fee of 0.50% (which will be subject trecstep-down based on our meeting a consolidatgdiéin net leverage ratio test) to the
lenders under the revolving credit facility in respof the unutilized commitments thereunder. ToenBany also pays customary letter of ci
and agency fees. The borrowings are due Novemh&01l§, which may be repaid at any time withoutagbign

The Company’s debt at December 31, 2014 had mataies of 2019 and beyond and consisted of th@flg (in thousands):

Unamortized Net Carrying
Outstanding
Principal Premium Amount
Revolving credit facility due 201 $ 20,00( $ — $ 20,00(
6.375% Senior Secured Notes due 2 925,00( — 925,00t
8.75% Senior Notes due 20 930,00( 8,15¢ 938,15!
Total Notes payabl $1,875,00 $ 8,15F $1,883,15!

The Company’s debt at December 31, 2013 consigtéekdollowing (in thousands):

Unamortized Net Carrying
Outstanding
Principal Premium Amount
Revolving credit facility due 201 $ — $ — $ —
6.375% Senior Secured Notes due 2 925,00( — 925,00t
8.75% Senior Notes due 20 830,00( 7,04¢ 837,04¢
Total Notes payabl $1,755,00 $  7,04¢ $1,762,04

NOTE 7—DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

During the first quarter of 2012, the Company alwsredi Smart Grid, a component of its energy managemssiness. The circumstances
leading up to the abandonment included a shifiénstrategic direction for Smart Grid within theeegy management framework. All operating
activity ceased during the second quarter of 28lRincome taxes were recorded on discontinued tipasabecause the tax effect was
immaterial and the tax benefit of the loss waseiffy/ a valuation allowance.
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The following table presents discontinued operatiohthe disposed business component (in thousands)

Predecesso
Period from
January 1,
through
November 16
2012
Revenue, net $ 91
Operating los! (329
Interest expens (D)
Impairment of acquired intangib —
Total discontinued operatiol $ (239)

NOTE 8—VARIABLE INTEREST ENTITIES

Accounting rules require the primary beneficiaryaofariable interest entity (“VIE”) to include tfi@ancial position and results of
operations of the VIE in its condensed consolidéiteahcial statements. The Predecessor consolidiaiaadcial statements include APX Grot
Inc. and its subsidiaries, and 2GIG and Solar, twiiere VIE's prior to the Merger in the Predeced3aniod. In connection with the Merger,
2GIG became a wholly-owned subsidiary and themuriizial position and results of operations were clidated by the Company in the
Successor Period through the date of the 2GIG 8&de.in connection with the Merger, the Investpuschased Solar for $75.0 million and,
while Solar was a VIE of the Company through thiedd Solar’s initial public offering, the Invessobecame the primary beneficiary and, as «
result, the Solar financial position and result®pérations are not consolidated by the CompatiyarSuccessor Period.

2GIG

2GIG is engaged in the manufacture, wholesaleiligton, and monitoring of electronic home secuatd automation systems primarily
in the United States and Canada. 2GIG suppliemdjerity of the equipment used by the Companydrsécurity systems installations. Sale
this equipment to other legal entities owned orsotidated by the Company represented approxim&@tEly of 2GIG's total sales during 2013
through April 1, 2013, the date of the 2GIG Salee Tompany determined that 2GIG was a VIE, prichéooMerger, and the Company was
primary beneficiary because Vivint, Inc. was 2Gl@&gyest customer, 2GIG was dependent on Vivir, flor ongoing financial support and
because the Company, through its related partasthe ability to control the operations of 2GIGcArdingly, as indicated above, the finan
position and results of operations are consolidatethe Company for the Predecessor Period. Nokr@ting interests in the consolidated
financial statements include the portion of eqaitgl results of operations related to 2GIG.

Solar

Solar, formed in April 2011, installs solar panetsthe roofs of customer’'s homes and enters intohase agreements for the customers
to purchase the electricity generated by the paSelgr also takes advantage of local governmethfederal incentive programs that offer
assistance in generating green power. During tedd®essor Period, the Company determined that ®aka VIE and the Company was the
primary beneficiary because Solar was dependeRltiant, Inc. for ongoing financial support and besa the Company had the ability to
control the operations of Solar through its relgtadies. Accordingly, as indicated above, therfgial position and results of operations are
consolidated by the Company for the PredecessandPend not for the Successor Period. The asseéslaf are restricted in that they are only
available to settle the obligations of Solar antdafdhe Company and similarly, the creditors ofé@tave no recourse to the general assets o
the Company.

The Company and Solar have entered into agreeraade&s which the Company subleased corporate ddfleee through October 2014,
and provides certain other ongoing administratemises to Solar. During the years ended Decembe?@®14 and 2013, the Company charge
$8.5 million and $2.9 million, respectively, of ggal and administrative expenses to Solar in cdiorewith these agreements. There were nc
charges for the Successor Period ended Decemb2032 ,0r the Predecessor Period ended Novemb@018,in connection with these
agreements. The balance
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due from Solar in connection with these agreemamisother expenses paid on Solar’'s behalf wasrBlibn and $3.1 million at
December 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively, anctiaded in prepaid expenses and other current asstits accompanying consolidated
balance sheets.

On December 27, 2012, the Company executed a Snbted Note and Loan Agreement with Solar. The seofrthe agreement state
that Solar may borrow up to $20.0 million, bearintgrest on the outstanding balance at an annteabf&’.5%, which interest is due and
payable semi-annually on June 1 and December aabf gear commencing on June 1, 2013. The balartseaading on December 31, 2013,
representing principal of $20.0 million and payminkind interest of $1.3 million, is included imgpaid and other current assets and long-
term investments and other assets, net, respggtimehe accompanying consolidated balance shee&ldition, accrued interest of $0.1
million on December 31, 2013, respectively, isumgd in prepaid expenses and other current asstits accompanying audited consolidated
balance sheets. On October 10, 2014, in connewfittithe completion of its initial public offeringolar repaid loans to APX Group, Inc., our
wholly-owned subsidiary, and to our parent enfdyr parent entity, in turn, returned a portion wéts proceeds to APX Group, Inc. as a capite
contribution. These transactions resulted in tleeipg by APX Group, Inc. of an aggregate amour8s®.0 million. These variable interests
represent the Company’s maximum exposure to lass flirect involvement with Solar.

Also in connection with Solas’initial public offering, the Company entered iataumber of agreements with Solar related to sesvan:
other support that it has provided and will provideSolar including:

. A Master Intercompany Framework Agreement whicllgighes a framework for the ongoing relationsrepateen th
Company and Solar and contains master terms reggttaé protection of each other’s confidential mfation, and
master procedural terms, such as notice proced@ssictions on assignment, interpretive provisjaoverning law
and dispute resolutiol

. A Non-Competition Agreement in which the Compamd Solar each define their current areas ofilessi and their
competitors, and agree not to directly or indineethgage in the oth’'s business for three yea

. A Transition Services Agreement pursuant tocltthe Company will provide to Solar various entiesg services,
including services relating to information techriand infrastructure, human resources and emploggefits,
administration services and facilit-related services

. A Product Development and Supply Agreementymamsto which one of Sola'wholly owned subsidiaries will, for
initial term of three years, subject to automaticewal for successive one-year periods unlessrgitréy elects
otherwise, collaborate with the Company to develepain monitoring and communications equipment Witk be
compatible with other equipment used in Solar'sgnsystems and will replace equipment Solar culygmocures
from third parties

. A Marketing and Customer Relations Agreemenitctvigoverns various cross-marketing initiativesazsgn the
Company and Solar, in particularly the provisiorsales leads from each company to the other

. A Trademark License Agreement pursuant to witiehlicensor, a special purpose subsidiary mgjanitned by the
Company and minority-owned by Solar, will grant&ah royalty-free exclusive license to the tradénisitVINT
SOLAR?" in the field of selling renewable energy or enestiyrage products and servic

NOTE 9—COST BASED INVESTMENTS

During the year ended December 31, 2014, the Coyngiatered into a project agreement with a privatelid company (the “Investee”),
whereby the Investee will develop technology fa @ompany. The Company is not required to makepagynents to the Investee for
developing the above technology, however, the Commrequired to pay the Investee a royalty for sales of product that include the
technology once developed. In connection with tfigegt agreement, the Company also entered intowvastment agreement with the Inves
whereby the Company will purchase up to a predeterdhnumber of shares of the Investee. The amduhednvestment by the Company in
the Investee was $0.1 million as of December 3142The Company could make up to $2.8 million idiadnal investments in the Investee,
subject to the achievement of certain technologeigment milestones. These additional investmargsexpected to occur through July 1,
2016. The Company has determined that the arrangemiin the Investee constitutes a variable interBise Company is not required to
consolidate the results of the Investee as the @agnfs not the primary beneficiary.

79



Table of Contents

On February 19, 2014, the Company invested $3.llomih a convertible note (“Convertible Note”) afprivately held company
(“Investee”)not affiliated with the Company. The Convertibletbltvad a stated maturity date of February 19, 20itbbore interest equal to
greater of (a) 0.5% or (b) annual interest ratémsbdished for federal income tax purposes by therfral Revenue Service. The outstanding
principal and accrued interest balance of the Cuiile Note converted to preferred stock (“prefdratock”) of the Investee on August 29,

2014, under the terms of the agreement.

The Company performs impairment analyses of it lsased investments annually, or more often, wivemts occur or circumstances
change that would, more likely than not, reduceféirevalue of the investment below its carryindguea When indicators of impairment do not
exist and certain accounting criteria are metCGbhepany evaluates impairment using a qualitatiyg@gch. As of December 31, 2014, no

indicators of impairment existed associated wittsthcost based investments.

NOTE 10—BALANCE SHEET COMPONENTS

The following table presents balance sheet compdraances as of December 31, 2014 and Decemb@033,(in thousands):

Subscriber acquisition cos
Subscriber acquisition cos
Accumulated amortizatio

Subscriber acquisition costs, 1

Long-term investments and other ass
Notes receivable, net of allowance (See Notes 81L&\
Security deposit receivahb
Investments (See Note
Other

Total lon¢-term investments and other assets,

Accrued payroll and commissio
Accrued payrol
Accrued commission

Total accrued payroll and commissic

Accrued expenses and other current liabili
Accrued interest payab
Loss contingencie
Other

Total accrued expenses and other current lials
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December 31

2014 2013
$628,73¢  $310,66t
(80,66¢) (22,35()
$548,07.  $288,31!
$ 60C $ 21,32
6,60¢ 6,261

3,30¢ —
21 92
$ 10,53t  $ 27,67¢
$16,43.  $ 1547t
21,54 30,53:
$ 37,97¢  $ 46,00
$ 11,698  $ 10,98
9,66: 9,26:
7,50¢ 12,87:
$ 28,86.  $ 33,11¢
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NOTE 11—PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

Property and equipment consisted of the followingl{ousands):

Estimated
December 31 Useful Lives
2014 2013
Vehicles $ 20,72¢ $13,85: 3-5 years
Computer equipment and softw 18,06¢ 6,742 3-5 years
Leasehold improvemen 13,60¢ 13,34¢ 2-15 year
Office furniture, fixtures and equipme 12,84¢ 4,79: 7 years
Warehouse equipme 11C 1,80z 7 years
Buildings 702 70z 39 years
Construction in proces 12,60: 3,11¢
78,66 44,35¢
Accumulated depreciation and amortizat (15,877 (8,53€)
Net property and equipme $62,79( $35,81¢

Property and equipment includes approximately $&tilRon and $13.7 million of assets under capliégise obligations, net of
accumulated amortization of $4.1 million and $2illiom at December 31, 2014 and 2013, respectiv@hnstruction in process includes $9.8
million of infrastructure associated with the Wes$ business as of December 31, 2014. Deprecatihamortization expense on all property
and equipment was $11.3 million and $9.1 milliontfte years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013,atesge, $1.2 million for the Success
Period ended December 31, 2012 and $7.4 milliothferPredecessor Period ended November 16, 2018rtikation expense relates to assets
under capital leases as included in depreciatignaamortization expense.

NOTE 12—GOODWILL AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Goodwill

The changes in the carrying amount of goodwilltfer years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013, batopgesegment, were as follows
(in thousands):

Vivint 2GIG Consolidatec
Balance as of January 1, 2013 $832,85( $ 43,79: $ 876,64.
Goodwill resulting from Smartrove acquisiti 1,76t — 1,768
Goodwill resulting from net worth adjustmel 2,07¢ — 2,07¢
Goodwill resulting from income tax adjustme 1,852 — 1,852
Effect of foreign currency translatic (2,22%) — (2,22%)
Divestiture of 2GIC — (43,797 (43,797
Balance as of December 31, 2( 836,31¢ — 836,31
Goodwill resulting from Wildfire acquisitio 504 — 504
Goodwill resulting from Space Monkey acquisiti 7,40z — 7,40z
Effect of foreign currency translatic (2,702 — (2,702
Balance as of December 31, 2( $841,52. $ — $ 841,52.
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In accordance with authoritative guidance for actimg for goodwill and other intangible assets, @@mpany performs an impairment
test on its goodwill annually in its fourth fisagliarter, as of October 1, or more often when eveaisr or circumstances change that would,
more likely than not, reduce the fair value of paring unit below its carrying value. When indimat of impairment do not exist and certain
accounting criteria are met, the Company is ablevduate goodwill impairment using a qualitatippeach. As of December 31, 2014, no
indicators of impairment existed.

Intangible assets, net
The following table presents intangible asset badaras of December 31, 2014 and 2013 (in thousands)

Estimated
December 31 Useful Lives
2014 2013
Definite-lived intangible asset:
Customer contrac $ 978,77t $ 984,40: 10 years
2GIG 2.0 technolog 17,00( 17,00( 8 years
CMS and other technolog 7,067 6,11 5 years
Space Monkey technolog 7,10( — 6 years
Wireless internet technologi 4,69( 4,69( 2-3 years
Patent:s 6,51¢ — 5 years
Non-compete agreemer 2,00( — 2-3 years
1,023,15: 1,012,20
Accumulated amortizatio (320,199 (171,49)
Definite-lived intangible assets, n 702,95: 840,71
Indefinite-lived intangible asset:
IP addresse 214 —
Domain name 59 —
Total indefinite-lived intangible asse! 273 —
Total intangible assets, r $ 703,22t $ 840,71«

During the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2848ectively, the Company recognized $1.3 milliod 80.1 million of amortization
expense related to the capitalized software dewsdoyp costs. There were no capitalized softwareldpweent costs for the Successor Period
ended December 31, 2012 or the Predecessor Peded &lovember 16, 2012.

Identifiable intangible assets acquired by the Camypn connection with the Smartrove acquisitionsisted of $4.0 million of
Smartrove technology and $0.7 million of other tedtechnologies. Identifiable intangible assetpuaed by the Company in connection with
the Wildfire acquisition were $2.1 million of custer contracts and $0.8 million associated with nompete agreements entered into by
certain former members of Wildfire management. tifiable intangible assets acquired by the Compgargonnection with the Space Monkey
acquisition were $7.1 million of Space Monkey tealogy and $1.2 million associated with non-compgeeements entered into by certain
former members of Space Monkey management.
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On March 29, 2014, the Company implemented newooust relationship management software (“CRM?”). bligtally, the Company’s
customer management system (“CMS”) technology veasl fior customer support and inventory trackings filaw CRM software replaced the
customer support functionality of the CMS techngldgollowing the CRM implementation, the CMS teclogy continued to be used for
inventory tracking. Due to the implementation o tew CRM software, as of March 31, 2014, the Camppketermined there to be a
significant change in the extent and manner in wihe CMS technology was being used. The Compamyated the fair value of the CMS
technology as of March 31, 2014 to be $0.3 milllased on management experience, inquiry and assessfrthe remaining functionality of
this technology as it related to inventory trackimpe associated impairment loss of $1.4 milliom&uded in operating expenses in the
accompanying consolidated statement of operationthé year ended December 31, 2014. In additr@nestimated remaining useful life of
CMS technology was evaluated and revised to onefy@a March 31, 2014, based on the intended uskechsset. The impact on income
from continuing operations and net income fromdhange in the estimated remaining useful life wasaterial

Amortization expense related to intangible assets $151.3 million and $164.2 million for the yeamsled December 31, 2014 and 2013
respectively, $10.1 million for the Successor RéBaded December 31, 2012 and $0.3 million folRtexlecessor Period ended November 1€
2012.

Estimated future amortization expense of intangdatsigets, excluding approximately $0.2 million ingoés currently in process, is as
follows as of December 31, 2014 (in thousands):

2015 $136,14:
2016 118,58!
2017 102,26¢
2018 90,52¢
2019 78,79(
Thereafte 176,43
Total estimated amortization exper $702,74
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NOTE 13—FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

Cash equivalents and restricted cash equivaleatslassified as Level 1 as they have readily abklenarket prices in an active market.
The following summarizes the financial instrumenitshe Company at fair value based on the valuajmproach applied to each class of
security as of December 31, 2014 and 2013 (in tols):

Fair Value Measurement at Reporting Date Usinc
Quoted Prices

Significant
in Active Other Significant
Balance at Markets for Observable Unobservable
December 31 Identical
Assets Inputs Inputs
2014 (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
Assets:
Cash equivalent:
Money market fund $ 1 $ 1 $ — $ —
Restricted cash equivalen
Money market fund 14,21 14,21 — —
Total asset $ 14,21t $ 14,21t $  — $ —
Fair Value Measurement at Reporting Date Usinc
Quoted Prices
Significant
in Active Other Significant
Balance at Markets for Observable Unobservable
December 31 Identical
Assets Inputs Inputs
2013 (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
Assets:
Cash equivalent:
Money market fund $ 10,00: $ 10,00: $ — $ —
Restricted cash equivalen
Money market fund 14,21 14,21 — —
Restricted cash equivalents, net of current por
Money market fund 14,21 14,21¢ — —
Total asset $  38,43( $ 38,43 $  — $ —

The carrying amounts of the Company’s accountsivabke, accounts payable and accrued and othélitiedapproximate their fair
values due to their short maturities.

The fair market value of the 2019 notes was appnaiktly $881.1 million and $941.2 million as of Deteer 31, 2014 and 2013,
respectively. The carrying value of the 2019 netas $925.0 million as of December 31, 2014 and 20h8 2020 notes had a fair market
value of approximately $792.8 million and $844.9liom as of December 31, 2014 and December 31, 2@kpectively, and a carrying amao
of $930.0 million and $830.0 million as of DecemBér 2014 and 2013, respectively. The fair valuthef2019 notes and the 2020 notes was
considered a Level 2 measurement as the value &tasined using observable market inputs, sucluasrt interest rates as well as prices
observable from less active markets.
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NOTE 14—FACILITY FIRE

On March 18, 2014, a fire occurred at a facilitgded by the company in Lindon, Utah. This facitigntained the Company’s primary
inventory warehouse and call center operationsth®@year ended December 31, 2014, the Compangmeeal probable insurance recoveries
of $8.2 million related to the fire damage, offbgtgross expenses of $7.8 million. The probablareusce recoveries of $0.5 million, in excess
of the gross expenses, are included in other inaomtée audited consolidated statement of opemtiohthe $8.2 million in probable
insurance recoveries, $2.8 million were receivedhgyCompany prior to December 31, 2014. The exgreassociated with the fire primarily
related to impairment of damaged assets and reg@ests to maintain business continuity. The $5illan of probable insurance recoveries
not yet received from the Company’s insurance mheware included in prepaid expenses and otheemuassets in the accompanying audited

consolidated balance sheet at December 31, 2014.

NOTE 15—INCOME TAXES

APX Group files a consolidated federal income t&tam with its wholly-owned subsidiaries.

For tax purposes, the Merger was treated as a atmpkisition. As a result, assets and liabilitiesewnot adjusted to fair value for tax
purposes. Goodwill resulting from the transact®nat deductible for tax purposes. For tax purpoeseguisition costs are divided into three
categories; deductible costs, amortizable costscapitalized costs. Acquisition costs are allota@mong the categories based on the nature
and timing of the incurred cost. Deductible costsdeducted in the period incurred. Amortizablesase capitalized and amortized over a
period of 15 years. Capitalized costs are capédlip the cost of the stock and are not amortized.

Income tax provision (benefit) consisted of thddaing (in thousands):

Successo
Period from
November 17
Year ended Year ended through

December 31

December 31

December 31

2014 2013 2012
Current income ta»
Federa $ — $ (579 $ —
State 77¢ (1,35)) 5€
Foreign — (145) 28
Total 77¢ (2,075 84
Deferred income ta
Federa (925) 8,61¢ (9,489
State (187) (1,93¢) (1,78¢)
Foreign 841 (1,009 29C
Total (265) 5,66 (10,987
Provision (benefit) for income tax $ 514 $ 3,59 $ (10,909

Predecesso
Period from
January 1,
through
November 16

2012

$ 2,63¢
837
27¢

3,74¢

1,17¢
1,17¢
$ 4,922

The following reconciles the tax expense computdti@statutory federal rate and the Company’shaxefit) expense (in thousands):

Computed expected tax expense

State income taxes, net of federal tax ef
Foreign income taxe

Permanent difference

Non-deductible acquisition cos
Intercompany eliminatio

Change in valuation allowan:

Provision for income taxe

Successo

Period from
November 17

Year ended Year ended through
December 31 December 31 December 31

2014 2013 2012
$ (81,10) $ (41,11) $ (13,94)
39t (2,179) (1,149
1,64¢ 13€ (69
2,261 1,21¢ 534
— — 3,71¢
77,32( 45,52¢ —
$ 514 $ 359: $ (10,909
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Period from
January 1,
through
November 16

2012
$ (50,970
55E
61C
4,82
2,89¢
2,84%
44,16¢
$  4,92:
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The tax effects of temporary differences that gise to significant portions of the deferred tazets and liabilities were as follows (in
thousands):

December 31

2014 2013
Gross deferred tax asse
Net operating loss carryforwar $ 544,79: $ 430,32
Accrued expenses and allowan 9,47¢ 35,43
Inventory reserve 4,15¢ 2,39¢
Purcahsed intangible 4,57¢ —
Alternative minimum tax credit and research andettgyment credi 41 —
Deferred subscriber incon 7,43 83t
Valuation allowanct (139,58) (48,685
430,89: 420,31
Gross deferred tax liabilitie
Deferred subscriber acquisition co (437,59) (394,449
Purchased intangible — (29,129
Property and equipme (1,719 (4,26))
Prepaid expenst (644 (1,687%)
(439,959 (429,52/)
Net deferred tax liabilitie $ (9,067 $ (9,219

The long-term portion of the net deferred tax liépiwas approximately $9,027,000 and $9,214,00Detember 31, 2014 and 2013,
respectively. The current portion of the net defériax liability was approximately $36,000 and $@acember 31, 2014 and 2013,
respectively, and is included in accrued expensdther liabilities on the Company’s ConsolidaBadance Sheet as of December 31, 2014.

The Company had net operating loss carryforwardslesvs (in thousands):

December 31

2014 2013
Net operating loss carryforwarc
United State: $1,355,63: $1,021,23
State 1,301,46: 967,15!
Canade 30,68¢ 35,68¢
New Zealanc 4,20: 1,38¢

United States (“U.S.”) and state net operating t@ssyforwards will begin to expire in 2026, if naded. Included in both the U.S. and
state net operating loss carryforwards are appratdiym $11.5 million at both December 31, 2014 a@tiof net operating loss carryforwards
for which a benefit will be recorded in Additiorahid in Capital when realized. The Company had B&D credits of approximately $41,000
at December 31, 2014, and no U.S. R&D credits aebder 31, 2013, which begin to expire in 2030.

Realization of the Comparg/nhet operating loss carryforwards and tax créslittependent on generating sufficient taxable irepnior tc
their expiration. The Company has determined thextetis an IRC Section 382 limitation with respedhe carryforward items.

The Company has considered and weighed the avaiafidlence, both positive and negative, to detegminether it is more-likely-than-
not that some portion, or all, of the deferreddasgets will not be realized.

Based on available information, management doebela@ve it is more likely than not that its detatitax assets will be utilized.
Accordingly, the Company has established a valnaitowance to the extent of and equal to the e&drded tax assets. The Company reco
a valuation allowance for U.S. deferred tax assetpproximately $139.4 million and $48.7 millioh2ecember 31, 2014 and 2013,
respectively. In addition to the change in valuatdiowance from operations, the valuation alloveadkanges include impact of acquisition
and disposition related items.
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As of December 31, 2014, the Company’s incomeetxrns for the years ended December 31, 2008 thrDegember 31, 2014, remain
subject to examination by the Internal RevenueiSerand state authorities.

NOTE 16—STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION
313 Incentive Units

The Company’s indirect parent, 313 Acquisition L{B13"), which is wholly owned by the Investors, has authedithe award of profi
interests, representing the right to share a podfahe value appreciation on the initial cap@tahtributions to 313 (“Incentive Units”). As of
December 31, 2014, a total of 74,527,942 Incenrtimigs had been awarded to current and former mesrifesenior management and a board
member, of which 46,484,562 were issued to the @Gmyg Chief Executive Officer and President. Theelmtive Units are subject to time-
based and performance-based vesting conditionis,omig-third subject to ratable time-based vestirgy a five year period and two-thirds
subject to the achievement of certain investmemtmnethresholds by The Blackstone Group, L.P. ésdffiliates (“Blackstone”)The Compan
anticipates making comparable equity incentive gran 313 to other members of senior managemenadmypting other equity and cash-basec
incentive programs for other members of manageinemt time to time. The fair value of stock-basedaa is measured at the grant date an
is recognized as expense over the employee’s iitgjgervice period. The grant date fair value weteidnined using a Monte Carlo simulation
valuation approach with the following assumptiogpected volatility of 55% to 65%; expected exar¢esrm from 4 to 5 years; and risk-free
rate of 0.62% to 1.18%.

A summary of the Incentive Unit activity for theaye ended December 31, 2014 and 2013 is preseesi®a:b

Weighted Average
Weighted Average

Remaining
Exercise Price Contractual Aggregate
Incentive Units Per Share Life (Years) Intrinsic Value
(in thousands)
Outstanding, December 31, 20 46,484,56 1.0C
Grantec 23,175,00 1.0C
Forfeited (1,200,00) 1.0C
Exercisec — —
Outstanding, December 31, 20 68,459,56 1.0C 9.1z $20,537,86
Grantec 7,375,001 1.3C
Forfeited (1,306,62) 1.0C
Exercisec — —
Outstanding, December 31, 20 74,527,94 1.0z 8.1¢ $20,145,88
Unvested shares expected to vest after Decemb@034 65,253,59 1.0z 8.2C $17,464,12
Exercisable at December 31, 2( 9,274,34! 1.01 8.1z $ 2,681,75

As of December 31, 2014, there was $5.3 millionmfecognized compensation expense related to adtstalncentive Units, which wi
be recognized over a weightaglerage period of 3.0 years. As of December 314 201 2013, the weighted average grant date fhievaf the
outstanding incentive units was $0.33 and $0.3peetively.

Vivint Stock Appreciation Rights

The Company’s subsidiary, Vivint, has awarded Stapgreciation Rights (“SARs”) to various levelskady employees. The purpose of
the SARs is to attract and retain personnel andigeecan opportunity to acquire an equity interdstigint. The SARs are subject to timmsec
and performance-based vesting conditions, withthird-subject to ratable time-based vesting oviéreayear period and two-thirds subject to
the achievement of certain investment return thotelshby Blackstone. In connection with this plaj§3%,660 SARs were outstanding as of
December 31, 2014. In addition, 36,065,303 SAR&lmen set aside for funding incentive compensgibaits pursuant to longerm incentive
plans established by the Company.

The fair value of the Vivint awards is measurethatgrant date and is recognized as expense aventployees requisite service peric
The fair value is determined using a Black-Scholetson valuation model with the following assumpiso expected volatility varies from 55%
to 60%, expected dividends of 0%; expected exeteisr between 6.01 and 6.50 years; and risk-fress lzetween 1.72% and 1.77%. Due to
the lack of historical exercise data, the Compasgduthe simplified method in determining the estedaxercise term, for all Vivint awards.
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A summary of the SAR activity for the years endest@mber 31, 2014 and 2013 is presented below:

Weighted Average
Weighted Average
Stock Appreciation Remaining
Exercise Price Contractual Aggregate
Rights Per Share Life (Years) Intrinsic Value
(in thousands)
Outstanding, December 31, 2C — % —
Grantec 8,262,501 1.0C
Forfeited (356,25() 1.0C
Exercisec — —
Outstanding, December 31, 20 7,906,25! 1.0C 9.5t $ 2,371,87!
Grantec 1,290,001 1.3C
Forfeited (2,499,59) 1.04
Exercisec — —
Outstanding, December 31, 20 6,696,66! 1.04 8.6z $ 1,734,74
Unvested shares expected to vest after Decemb@034 5,950,901 1.04 8.6z $ 1,523,27
Exercisable at December 31, 2( 745,75¢ 1.0Z 8.5€ $ 211,47.

As of December 31, 2014, there was $0.6 millionmfecognized compensation expense related to adistaVivint awards, which will
be recognized over a weightasterage period of 3.2 years. As of December 314 20t 2013, the weighted average grant date fhiewaf the
outstanding SARs was $0.44 and $0.42, respectively.

Wireless Stock Appreciation Rights

The Company’s subsidiary, Vivint Wireless, has aledr SARs to various key employees. The purposeeoSARSs is to attract and retain
personnel and provide an opportunity to acquireguity interest of Vivint Wireless. The SARs ardjsat to a five year time-based ratable
vesting period. In connection with this plan, 7@@ARs were outstanding as of December 31, 2014 Cdmpany anticipates making similar
grants from time to time.

The fair value of the Vivint Wireless awards is m@ad at the grant date and is recognized as expames the employee’s requisite
service period. The fair value is determined usirRlack-Scholes option valuation model with thédaing assumptions: expected volatility of
65%, expected dividends of 0%; expected exercree ¢¢ 6.50 years; and risk-free rate of 1.51%. Buthe lack of historical exercise data, the
Company used the simplified method in determinhrgdstimated exercise term, for all Vivint Wirelesgards.

A summary of the SAR activity for the year ended&wber 31, 2014 and 2013 is presented below:

Weighted Average
Weighted Average
Stock Appreciation Remaining
Exercise Price Contractual Aggregate
Rights Per Share Life (Years) Intrinsic Value
(in thousands)
Outstanding, December 31, 2C — 3 —
Grantec 70,00( 5.0C
Forfeited — —
Exercisec — —
Outstanding, December 31, 20 70,00( 5.0C 9.47 —
Grantec — —
Forfeited — —
Exercisec — —
Outstanding, December 31, 20 70,00( 5.0C 8.41 —
Unvested shares expected to vest after Decemb@034 56,00( 5.0C 8.41 —
Exercisable at December 31, 2( 14,00( 5.0C 8.41 —

As of December 31, 2014, there was $0.1 millionmfecognized compensation expense related to @thtivireless awards, which will
be recognized over a weightaglerage period of 3.4 years. As of December 314 20t 2013, the weighted average grant date fhievaf the
outstanding SARs was $2.30.
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Stock-based compensation expense in connectioralvighock-based awards for the years ended DeaeBih@014 and 2013, the
Successor Period ended December 31, 2012 andeded®&ssor Period ended November 16, 2012 is peesbytentity as follows (in
thousands):

Successo Predecesso
Period from

November 17 Period from
January 1,

Year ended Year ended through through
December 31 December 31 December 31 November 16

2014 2013 2012 2012
Operating expenses $ 63 $ 62 $ — $ 14
Selling expense 18t 15¢ — 36
General and administrative expen 1,687 1,73¢€ — 2,321
Total stocl-based compensati $ 1,93t $ 1,95¢ $ — $ 2,371

NOTE 17—COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Indemnification —Subject to certain limitations, the Company isigdied to indemnify its current and former direstasfficers and
employees with respect to certain litigation matind investigations that arise in connection withr service to the Company. These
obligations arise under the terms of its certiicat incorporation, its bylaws, applicable contsaeind Delaware and California law. The
obligation to indemnify generally means that ther@any is required to pay or reimburse the indivisiugasonable legal expenses and
possibly damages and other liabilities incurredannection with these matters.

Legal —The Company is named from time to time as a gartgwsuits arising in the ordinary course of besmrelated to its sales,
marketing, the provision of its services and equaphtlaims. Actions filed against the Company idel@eommercial, intellectual property,
customer, and labor and employment related claimekjding complaints of alleged wrongful terminatiand potential class action lawsuits
regarding alleged violations of federal and staagevand hour and other laws. In general, litigatiam be expensive and disruptive to normal
business operations. Moreover, the results of legadeedings are difficult to predict, and the sasturred in litigation can be substantial. The
Company believes the amounts provided in its firsrstatements are adequate in light of the prabaht estimated liabilities. Factors that the
Company considers in the determination of theilila@d of a loss and the estimate of the rangeaiflss in respect of legal matters include
the merits of a particular matter, the nature efriratter, the length of time the matter has beedipg, the procedural posture of the matter,
how the Company intends to defend the matter,iklediHood of settling the matter and the anticiplatenge of a possible settlement. Because
such matters are subject to many uncertaintiegjltmate outcomes are not predictable and themeébeano assurances that the actual amount
required to satisfy alleged liabilities from thetteas described above will not exceed the amowgftsated in the Company’s financial
statements or that the matters will not have a rizdtedverse effect on the Company’s results ofafpans, financial condition or cash flows.

The Company regularly reviews outstanding legahttaand actions to determine if reserves for exggboegative outcomes of such
claims and actions are necessary. The Companyesadves for all such matters of approximately $3illion and $9.3 million as of
December 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively. In catiom with one of the settlements, the Companybiggated to pay certain future royalties,
based on sales of future products.

Operating Leases—The Company leases office, warehouse space, cedqaipment, software and an aircraft under opegdéases wit
related and unrelated parties expiring in varioearg through 2028. The leases require the Compapayt additional rent for increases in
operating expenses and real estate taxes andrcoatawal options. The Company entered into a lagssement for its corporate headquait
in 2009. In July 2012, the Company entered inteasé¢ for additional office space for an initialskeaerm of 15 years. In August 2014, the
Company entered into a lease for additional offipace for an initial lease term of 11 years.

Total rent expense for operating leases was appaiely $11.0 million and $6.1 million for the yeansded December 31, 2014 and
2013, respectively, $0.7 million for the Succe€®eriod ended December 31, 2012 and $4.6 milliothfePredecessor Period ended
November 16, 201:

Capital Leases—The Company also leases certain equipment ungéatbeases with expiration dates through Aug@t& On an
ongoing basis, the Company enters into vehicleslegseements under a Fleet Lease Agreement. Tée dggeements are typically 36 month
leases for each vehicle and the average remaiifiénfpt the fleet is 28 months as of December RM,£ As of December 31, 2014 and 2013,
the capital lease obligation balance was $16.4anithnd $10.5 million, respectively.
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As of December 31, 2014, future minimum lease paymeere as follows (in thousands):

Operating Capital Total
2015 $ 11,53¢ $ 6,31 $ 17,84¢
2016 11,51¢ 5,411 16,927
2017 11,508 5,14( 16,64
2018 11,60¢ 79€ 12,40t
2019 11,21¢ — 11,21¢
Thereafte! 68,19/ — 68,19
125,57: 17,66( 143,23:
Amounts representing intere — (1,456 (1,456
Total lease paymen $125,57- $16,20¢ $141,77¢

NOTE 18—RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

On September 3, 2014, APX paid a dividend in thewmhof $50.0 million to Holdings, its sole stocktier, which in turn paid a divide!
in the amount of $50.0 million to its stockholders.

The Company incurred additional expenses durinydlaes ended December 31, 2014 and 2013, the Swucdesriod ended
December 31, 2012 and the Predecessor Period &lwleanber 16, 2012 of approximately $3.1 million,$&illion, $0.1 million and $1.2
million, respectively, for other relatguhrty transactions including contributions to thartable organization Vivint Gives Back, legaldeanc
services. Accrued expenses and other currentitiabit December 31, 2014 and 2013, included algayo Vivint Gives Back for $1.3
million and $1.1 million, respectively. In additipimansactions with Solar, as described in No@8&considered to be relatpdrty transaction

On November 16, 2012, the Company entered intgop@tiand services agreement with Blackstone ManagePartners L.L.C.
(“BMP"), an affiliate of Blackstone. Under the sugspand services agreement, the Company paid BMBRgealosing of the Merger, a
transaction fee of approximately $20 million assideration for BMP’s performance of due diligenoeastigations, financial and structural
analysis, providing corporate strategy and othercadand negotiation assistance in connection thighMerger. In addition, the Company
engaged BMP to provide monitoring, advisory andstbtmg services on an ongoing basis. In considerdor these services, the Company
agreed to pay an annual monitoring fee equal tgtbater of (i) a minimum base fee of $2.7 millgrbject to adjustments if the Company
engages in a business combination or dispositianishdeemed significant and (ii) the amount ofrti@nitoring fee paid in respect of the
immediately preceding fiscal year, without regaréiy post-fiscal year “true-up” adjustments agdrined by the agreement. The Company
incurred expenses of approximately $3.2 million &&d® million during the years ended December 8142and 2013, respectively, in
connection with this agreement. There were no esgeimcurred during the Successor Period endedniimre31, 2012 or the Predecessor
Period ended November 16, 2012 in connection \hithagreement.

Under the support and services agreement, the Qongdso engaged BMP to arrange for Blackstone'sfqlar operations group to
provide support services customarily provided bgdREtone’s portfolio operations group to Blackstemeivate equity portfolio companies of
a type and amount determined by such portfolioisesvgroup to be warranted and appropriate. BMPimvibice the Company for such
services based on the time spent by the relevasbpeel providing such services during the applealeriod but in no event shall the
Company be obligated to pay more than $1.5 mildaring any calendar year.

Long-term investments and other assets, includesiata due for non-interest bearing advances madmfoyees that are expected to
be repaid in excess of one year. Amounts due frmpl@y/ees as of both December 31, 2014 and 201 3ysted to approximately $0.3 millio
As of December 31, 2014 and 2013, this amount wihsreserved.

Prepaid expenses and other current assets at Dec8mf2014 and 2013 included a receivable for #0liBon from certain members of
management in regards to their personal use afdiporate jet.
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The Company incurred expenses of approximately@d®land $1.4 million for use of a corporate jet edipartially by stockholders of
the Company during the Successor Period ended Deedi, 2012 and the Predecessor Period ended Mevel@, 2012, respectively. The
stockholders of the Company sold their share ottirporate jet during the first quarter of fiscahy 2013 and as such, no related-party
expenses were incurred during the years ended Deedi, 2014 or 2013.

During 2009, the Company acquired certain custde@t generation know-how and technology from a cmympwned by a stockholder
and agreed to pay the seller monthly amounts ranfgom $40,000 to $50,000 through January 2013irguhe Predecessor Period ended
November 16, 2012, the Company paid $0.5 millidrwioich $0.1 million was paid as part of the Mergad completely satisfied tt
obligation, under this agreement.

The Company recognized revenue of approximatel§ s6llion for providing monitoring services for ctwacts owned by stockholders
and employees of the Company during the PredecPssiard ended November 16, 2012.

Transactions involving related parties cannot Espmed to be carried out at an arm’s-length basis.

NOTE 19—SEGMENT REPORTING AND BUSINESS CONCENTRATIONS

Prior to the 2GIG Sale on April 1, 2013, the Compaanducted business through two operating segméivisit and 2GIG. These
segments were managed and evaluated separatelgrggement due to the differences in their prodaretsservices. The primary source of
revenue for the Vivint segment is generated thraughitoring services provided to subscribers, icoadance with their subscriber contracts.
The primary source of revenue for the 2GIG segmastthrough the sale of electronic security andraation systems to security dealers and
distributors, including Vivint. Fees and expensiearged by 2GIG to Vivint, related to intercompamyghases, were eliminated in
consolidation.
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For the year ended December 31, 2014, the Compamucted business through one operating segmerihitVihe following table
presents a summary of revenue, costs and expemdessets as of December 31, 2013 (in thousands):

Revenues
All other costs and expens

(Loss) income from operatiol
Intangible assets, including goodw

Total asset

The following table presents a summary of revecuosts and expenses and assets as of Decemberl2larafd for the Successor Period

from November 17, 2012 through December 31, 201 thusands):

Revenues
Transaction related cos
All other costs and expens

Loss from operation
Intangible assets, including goodw

Total asset

Consolidatec

Vivint 2GIG Eliminations Total
$ 483,40: $60,22( $ (42,719) $ 500,90¢
536,50: 52,20( (32,919 555,78t
$ (53,100 $8020 $ (9,799 $ (54,880
$1,677,03; $ — $ — $1,677,03:
$2,424,43 $ — $ —  $2,424,43

Consolidatec

Vivint 2GIG Eliminations Total
$ 5079 $1237: $ (5557 $ 57,60¢
28,11¢ 3,767 — 31,88t
46,24 12,712 (5,039 53,91+
$ (23569 $ (410) $ (518 $ (28,199
$1,840,06! $ 85,93 $ 3,66 $1,929,66.
$2,050,52! $115,88: $ (11,067 $2,155,34!

The following table presents a summary of revemeeasts and expenses for the Predecessor PaesindJ&nuary 1, 2012 through

November 16, 2012 (in thousand

Revenues
Transaction related cos
All other costs and expens

(Loss) income from operatiol

The Company primarily operates in three geograpions: United States, Canada and New Zealandopéeations in New Zealand ¢
considered immaterial and reported in conjunctidth the United States. Revenues and long-livedtagsegeographic region were as follows

(in thousands):

As of and for

Successor Year ended December 31, 2C
Revenue from external custom
Property and equipment, r

Successor Year ended Decemb31, 2013
Revenue from external custom
Property and equipment, r

Consolidatec

Vivint 2GIG Eliminations Total
$346,27( $112,13¢ $ (60,83¢) $ 397,57(
22,21¢ 1,242 — 23,46
365,30( 104,27¢ (52,47¢) 417,10:
$(41,249 $ 6,61¢ $ (8367 $ (42,999

Successor Period from November 17 through Decemba8d, 2012

Revenue from external custom
Property and equipment, r

Predecessor Period from January 1, through Novembet6, 2012

Revenue from external custom

United States Canada Total

$ 529,52: $34,15¢ $563,67
62,36¢ 422 62,79(

$ 474,34 $26,56¢ $500,90¢
35,22( 59¢ 35,81¢

$ 52,19¢ $ 5,41(C $ 57,60¢
29,41°¢ 791 30,20¢

$ 363,87! $33,69¢ $397,57(



NOTE 20—EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLAN

Beginning March 1, 2010, Vivint and 2GIG offereijdle employees the opportunity to defer a peragatof their earned income into
company-sponsored 401(k) plans. 2GIG made mataungributions to the plan in the amount of $36,0:5,000 and $79,000 for the year
ended December 31, 2013, the Successor Period 8wtesinber 31, 2012 and the Predecessor Period &lwlexinber 16, 2012, respectively.
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NOTE 21—GUARANTOR AND NON-GUARANTOR SUPPLEMENTAL FI NANCIAL INFORMATION

The 2019 notes and the 2020 notes were issued By Rie 2019 notes and the 2020 notes are fullyusudnditionally guaranteed,
jointly and severally by Holdings and each of #'s existing and future material wholly-owned U.8stricted subsidiaries. APX’s existing and
future foreign subsidiaries are not expected taanutae the notes.

Presented below is the condensed consolidatingdiabinformation of APX, subsidiaries of APX thate guarantors (the “Guarantor
Subsidiaries”), and APX’s subsidiaries that arequarantors (the “Non-Guarantor Subsidiaries”) feanal for the years ended December 31,
2014 and 2013, the Successor Period ended Dec&hp2012 and the Predecessor Period ended Novelb2012. The audited
consolidating financial information reflects thev@stments of APX in the Guarantor SubsidiariestaedNon-Guarantor Subsidiaries using the
equity method of accounting. The condensed coreiitig statements of cash flow information presemtedw have been restated (see Not
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Condensed Consolidating Balance Sheet
December 31, 2014 (Successor)
(In thousands)

APX Guarantor  Non-Guarantor
Parent Group, Inc. Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Eliminations  Consolidatec
Assets
Current asset $ — $ 943t $ 1099% $ 6,62¢ $ (40,68 $ 85,37:
Property and equipment, r — — 62,27 51¢ — 62,79(
Subscriber acquisition costs, 1 — — 500,91¢ 47,15 — 548,07
Deferred financing costs, n — 52,15¢ — — — 52,15¢
Investment in subsidiarie 224,48t 2,057,85 — — (2,282,34) —
Intercompany receivab — — 34,00( — (34,000 —
Intangible assets, n — — 645,55¢ 57,66¢ — 703,22¢
Goodwill — — 811,94 29,57t — 841,52.
Long-term investments and other ass — 184 10,50: 31 (184) 10,53
Total Assets $224,48t $2,119,63. $2,175,191 $ 141,57t $(2,357,21) $2,303,67.
Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity
Current liabilities $ — $ 11997 $ 119.28! $ 46,34¢ $ (40,680 $ 136,94(
Intercompany payabl — — — 34,00( (34,000 —
Notes payable and revolving line of credit, netaifrent
portion — 1,883,15! — — — 1,883,15!
Capital lease obligations, net of current por! — — 10,64¢ 9 — 10,65¢
Deferred revenue, net of current port — — 29,43¢ 3,06¢ — 32,50¢
Other lon¢-term obligations — — 6,497 40¢ — 6,90¢
Deferred income tax liabilit — — 107 9,10¢ (189 9,027
Total equity 224,48t 224,48t 2,009,211 48,64( (2,282,34) 224,48t
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $224,48t $2,119,63 $2,175,191 $ 141,57t $(2,357,21) $2,303,67.
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Condensed Consolidating Balance Sheet
December 31, 2013 (Successor)
(In thousands)

APX Guarantor  Non-Guarantor
Parent Group, Inc. Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Eliminations  Consolidatec
Assets
Current asset $ — $ 24920¢ $ 89,76¢ $ 7,162 $ (24,13) $ 322,00
Property and equipment, r — — 35,21¢ 60C — 35,81¢
Subscriber acquisition costs, 1 — — 262,06 26,25: — 288,31¢
Deferred financing costs, n — 59,37 — — — 59,37t
Investment in subsidiarie 490,24: 1,953,46! — — (2,443,70) —
Intercompany receivab — — 44 ,65¢ — (44,659 —
Intangible assets, n — — 764,29¢ 76,41¢ — 840,71
Goodwill — — 804,04: 32,27" — 836,31
Restricted cas — — 14,21 — — 14,21
Long-term investments and other ass — (302) 27,95¢ 24 — 27,67¢
Total Assets $490,24; $2,261,74 $2,042,21: $ 142,73 $(2,512,50) $2,424,43.
Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity
Current liabilities $ — $ 9561 $ 11754 $ 31,25« $ (24,137 $ 134,22
Intercompany payabl — — — 44,65¢ (44,659 —
Notes payable and revolving line of credit, netoifrent
portion — 1,762,04 — — — 1,762,04
Capital lease obligations, net of current por! — — 6,26¢ — — 6,26¢
Deferred revenue, net of current port — — 16,67¢ 1,85 — 18,53t
Other lon¢-term obligations — — 3,55¢ 34¢€ — 3,90¢
Deferred income tax liabilit — (10€) 28¢ 9,031 — 9,21«
Total equity 490,24: 490,24: 1,897,87 55,568{ (2,443,70)  490,24:
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $490,24; $2,261,74 $2,042,21: $ 142,73 $(2,512,50) $2,424,43.
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Condensed Consolidating Statements of Operations drfomprehensive Loss

Revenues
Costs and expens

Loss from operation
Loss from subsidiarie
Other income (expense), r

Loss before income tax expen:
Income tax expense (bene!

Net loss

Other comprehensive loss, net of tax effe
Net loss
Foreign currency translation adjustm

Total other comprehensive lo

Comprehensive los

For the Year Ended December 31, 2014 (Successor)
(In thousands)

APX Guarantor ~ Non-Guarantor

Parent Group, Inc. Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Eliminations  Consolidatec

$ — 3 — $530,88¢ $ 3591 $ (3,127 $ 563,67
— — 623,12- 37,54 (3,127) 657,54t
— — (92,236 (1,639 — (93,869
(238,66()  (93,85() — — 332,51( —
—  (145,91) 1,67¢ (36) — (144,27
(238,66() (239,76)  (90,56() (1,669  332,51( (238,14
— (1,109 77¢ 842 — 514
$(238,66() $(238,66() $ (91,339 $ (2,510 $ 332,51( $ (238,66()
$(238,66() $(238,66() $ (91,339 $ (2,517 $ 332,51 $ (238,66()
— (11,33) (6,89 (4,43¢) 11,33 (11,33))
— (11,33) (6,895 (4,43%) 11,33¢ (11,33))
$(238,66() $(249,99) $ (98,239 $ (6,949 $ 343,84. $ (249,99)
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Condensed Consolidating Statements of Operations drfomprehensive Loss

Revenue:
Costs and expens

Loss from operation
Loss from subsidiarie
Other income (expense), r

Loss before income tax expen:
Income tax expense (bene!

Net loss

Other comprehensive loss, net of tax effe
Net loss
Foreign currency translation adjustm

Total other comprehensive lo

Comprehensive los

(In thousands)

For the Year Ended December 31, 2013 (Successor)

APX Guarantor Non-Guarantor

Parent Group, Inc. Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Eliminations Consolidatec

$ — $ — $ 476,16¢ $ 27,79C $ (3,060 $ 500,90¢
— — 527,40! 31,43¢ (3,050 555,78t
— — (51,239 (3,64 — (54,88()
(124,51)  (57,75)) — — 182,26! —
— (66,867) 90€ (80) — (66,04))
(124,51) (124,619 (50,329 (3,725 182,26! (120,927
— (10€) 4 85¢ (1,155 — 3,59:
$(124,51) $(124,51) $ (55,18) $ (2,570 $ 182,26! $ (124,51)
$(124,51) $(124,51) $ (55,18) $ (2,570 $ 182,26! $ (124,51
— (8,55¢) (4,64)) (3,917) 8,55¢ (8,55¢)
— (8,55¢) (4,647 (3,919 8,55¢ (8,55¢)
$(124,51) $(133,07) $ (59,829 $ (6,487 $ 190,82: $ (133,07)
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Condensed Consolidating Statements of Operations drfomprehensive Loss
For the Period From November 17, 2012 to Decembef 32012 (Successor)

Revenue:
Costs and expens

(Loss) income from operatiol
(Loss) income from subsidiari
Other income (expense), r

(Loss) income from continuing operations beforeome
tax expens:
Income tax (benefit) expen

Net (loss) incomi

Other comprehensive (loss) income, net of tax &ffi
Net (loss) income before n-controlling interest:
Foreign currency translation adjustm

Comprehensive los

(In thousands)

APX Guarantor Non-Guarantor
Parent Group, Inc. Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Eliminations Consolidatec
$ — $ — $ 5425 3 341: % (57 $ 57,60¢
— — 83,47 2,37¢ (57 85,79¢
— — (29,226 1,03: — (28,199
(30,107 (17,549 — — 47,65 —
— (12,557 (256) (3) — (12,817)
(30,107 (30,109 (29,48 1,03( 47,65 (41,009
— — (11,199 29C — (10,909
$(30,107) $ (30,109 $ (18,289 $ 74C  $ 47,65. $ (30,109
$(30,107) $ (30,109 $ (18,289 $ 74C  $ 47,65 $ (30,109
— 92¢ 444 484 (92€) 92¢
$(30,10) $ (29,179 $ (17,84H $ 1,22¢  $ 46,720 $ (29,174
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Condensed Consolidating Statements of Operations drfomprehensive Loss
For the Period From January 1, 2012 to November 1&012 (Predecessor)
(In thousands)

Revenue:
Costs and expens

Loss from operation
Loss from subsidiarie
Other expens

Loss from continuing operations before income tax
expense!
Income tax expens

Loss from continuing operatiol
Loss form discontinued operatio

Net loss before ne-controlling interest:
Net income (loss) attributable to r-controlling interest:

Net loss

Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax &ffi
Net loss before nc-controlling interest:
Change in fair value of interest rate swap agre¢!
Foreign currency translation adjustm

Comprehensive loss before non-controlling
interests
Comprehensive income (loss) attributable to nortrodimg
interests

Comprehensive los

APX Guarantor Non-Guarantor
Parent  Group, Inc. Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Eliminations Consolidatec
$— 3 — $ 375,50: 2343, $ (1,367 $ 397,57(
— — 413,37t 28,54¢ (1,369 440,56:
— — (37,876 (5,117) — (42,997
— (153,51 — — 153,51° —
— — (103,83() (2,857 — (106,68.)
— (153,51) (141,701 (7,969 153,51° (149,674
— — 3,50( 1,427 — 4,92%
— (153,51)  (145,20() (9,397 153,51° (154,59
— — (239) — — (239)
— (153,51)  (145,44Y) (9,397 153,51° (154,836
— — 6,781 (8,100 — (1,319
$—  $(153,51) $(152,220 (1,297 $ 153,517 $ (153,51)
$—  $(153,51) $(145,44") (9,397 $ 153,517 $ (154,83
— 31¢ 31€ = (31¢) 31¢
— 70€ 70€ — (70€) 70€
— (152,49) (144,419 (9,39)) 152,49: (153,810
— — (6,787 8,10( — 1,31¢
$—  $(152,49) $(151,200 (1,29)) $ 152,49: $ (152,49)
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Condensed Consolidating Statements of Cash Flows
For the Year ended December 31, 2014 (Successor)
(In thousands)

APX Guarantor Non-Guarantor
Parent Group, Inc. Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Eliminations Consolidatec

Cash flows from operating activitie
Net cash provided by (used in) operating
activities (restatec $50,000 $ (894 $(318,73) $ 9,991 $ (50,000 $ (309,63)
Cash flows from investing activitie
Subscriber acquisition costs — company owned

equipment (restates — — (10,580) — — (10,58()
Capital expenditures (restate — — (30,319 (18%) — (30,500
Proceeds from the sale of subsidi — — — — — —
Proceeds from sale of capital as — — 964 — — 964
Investment in subsidiat (32,300 (340,029 — — 372,32: —
Acquisition of intangible asse — — (9,649 — — (9,649
Net cash used in acquisitio — — (18,500 — — (18,500
Investment in marketable securit — (60,000 — — — (60,000
Proceeds from marketable securit — 60,06¢ — — — 60,06¢
Proceeds from note receival — — 22,69¢ — — 22,69¢
Change in restricted ca — — 14,37¢ — — 14,37¢
Investment in convertible no — — (3,000 — — (3,000
Other asset — — (2,159 (9 — (2,162

Net cash used in investing activities (resta (32,300  (339,95) (36,159 (199 372,32: (36,28¢)
Cash flows from financing activitie
Proceeds from notes payal — 102,00( — — — 102,00(
Borrowings from revolving line of cred — 20,00( — — — 20,00(
Intercompany receivab — — 10,65¢ — (10,659 —
Intercompany payabl — — 340,02 (10,65¢) (329,36¢) —
Proceeds from contract sa — — 2,261 — — 2,261
Acquisition of contract: — — (2,277 — — (2,277)
Repayments of capital lease obligatir — — (6,297 ©)] — (6,300
Deferred financing cos — (2,929 — — — (2,927
Capital contributior 32,30( 32,30( — — (32,300 32,30(
Payment of dividend (50,000 (50,000 — — 50,00( (50,000
Net cash (used in) provided by financing
activities (17,700 101,372 344,36 (10,667) (322,329 95,05"
Effect of exchange rate changes on ¢ — — — (239 — (239
Net increase in cas — (239,47¢) (10,529 (1,099 — (251,099
Cash:
Beginning of perioc — 248,90¢ 8,291 4,70¢ — 261,90!
End of perioc $ — $ 9432 $ (2,23) $ 3,606 $ — $ 10,80:
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Condensed Consolidating Statements of Cash Flows
For the Year ended December 31, 2013 (Successor)
(In thousands)

APX Guarantor Non-Guarantor
Parent Group, Inc. Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Eliminations Consolidatec

Cash flows from operating activitie
Net cash provided by (used in) operating
activities (restatec $60,000 $ (201) $(227,240) $ 8,471 $ (60,000 $ (218,871
Cash flows from investing activitie
Subscriber acquisition costs - company owned

equipment (restates — — (342) — — (342)
Capital expenditure — — (8,917 (56) — (8,979
Proceeds from the sale of subsidi — 144,75( — — — 144,75(
Investment in subsidiai — (254,39, — — 254,39: —
Proceeds from the sale of capital as — — 30¢€ — — 30¢
Net cash used in acquisitit — — (4,272) — — (4,272)
Change in restricted ca — — (167) — — (167)
Other asset — — (9,649 3 — (9,64%)

Net cash provided by (used in) investing
activities (restatec — (109,644) (23,039 (53 254,39: 121,66:
Cash flows from financing activitie
Proceeds from notes payal — 457,25( — — — 457,25(
Intercompany receivab — — 7,09¢ — (7,096 —
Intercompany payabl — — 254,39: (7,096 (247,29)) —
Borrowings from revolving line of cred — 22,50( — — — 22,50(
Repayments on revolving line of cre — (50,500 — — — (50,500
Repayments of capital lease obligatir — — (7,207 — — (7,207)
Deferred financing cos — (10,89¢) — — — (10,89¢)
Payment of dividend (60,000 (60,000 — — 60,00( (60,000
Net cash (used in) provided by financing
activities (60,000 358,35:¢ 254,28 (7,09¢) (194,399 351,14
Effect of exchange rate changes on ¢ — — — (119 — (119
Net increase in cas — 248,50¢ 4,10z 1,20z — 253,81!
Cash:
Beginning of perioc — 39¢ 4,18¢ 3,50: — 8,09(
End of perioc $ — $24890¢ $ 8,291 $ 4,706 $ — $ 261,90
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Condensed Consolidating Statements of Cash Flows
For the Period From November 17, 2012 to Decembef 32012 (Successor)

Cash flows from operating activitie
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities
(restated $
Cash flows from investing activitie
Subscriber acquisition costs - company owned eqelippm
(restated
Capital expenditure
Net cash used in acquisition of the predecesstrding
transaction costs, net of cash acqu
Investment in subsidia
Other asset

Net cash used in investing activities (resta
Cash flows from financing activitie
Proceeds from notes payal
Proceeds from the issuance of common stock in
connection with acquisition of the predeces
Intercompany payabl
Repayments of capital lease obligatir
Deferred financing cos

Net cash (used in) provided by financing activi
Effect of exchange rate changes on ¢

Net increase in cas
Cash:
Beginning of perioc

(In thousands)
APX Guarantor  Non-Guarantor
Parent Group, Inc.  Subsidiaries  Subsidiaries  Eliminations Consolidated
— 3 39¢ $ (33,959 $ (929 $ (3,696 $ (38,18))
— — (1,339 (129) — (1,456€)
—  (1,915,47) — — —  (1,915,47)
(708,45Y) (67,626 (3,696 — 779,77 —
— — (19,58 — — (19,58
(708,45) (1,983,09) (24,616 (123 779,77% (1,936,51)
— 1,333,00! — — — 1,333,00!
708,45: 708,45: — — (708,45)) 708,45:
— — 63,11 4,51¢ (67,626 —
— — (359) — — (359
— (58,35/) — — — (58,35
708,45 1,983,09 62,75¢ 4,51« (776,079 1,982,74
— — — 41 — 41
— 39¢ 4,18¢ 3,50 — 8,09(
— 9 39¢ $ 4,18t $ 3,50: — 3 8,09(

End of perioc $
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Condensed Consolidating Statements of Cash Flows
For the Period From January 1, 2012 to November 1&012 (Predecessor)
(In thousands)

APX Guarantor Non-Guarantor
Parent  Group, Inc. Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Eliminations Consolidatec

Cash flows from operating activitie
Net cash used in operating activities (resta $— $ — $(105,32) $ (14,69¢ $ (48,349 $ (168,36()
Cash flows from investing activitie
Subscriber acquisition costs - company owned
equipment (restate« — — — — —
Capital expenditure — — (5,23)) (663) — (5,899

Proceeds from the sale of capital as — — 274 — — 274
Change in restricted ca — — — (152 — (152)
Investment in subsidial — (4,562 — — 4,56: —
Other asset — — (725) (18) — (749)
Net cash used in investing activities (resta — (4,562 (5,682 (833 4,56: (6,515
Cash flows from financing activitie
Proceeds from notes payal — — 116,16: — — 116,16:
Proceeds from issuance of preferred stock and wiz  — 4,56 — — — 4,56:
Proceeds from issuance of preferred stock by ¢ — — — 5,00( — 5,00(
Capital contribution-nor-controlling interes — — — 9,19: — 9,19:
Borrowings from revolving line of cred — — 101,00( 4,00( — 105,00(
Intercompany receivab — — (46,03¢) — 46,03¢ —
Intercompany payabl — — — 2,25¢ (2,259 —
Repayments on revolving line of cre — — (42,24) — — (42,24))
Repayments of capital lease obligatir — — (4,060 — — (4,060
Excess tax benefit from shi-based payment awar — — 2,651 — — 2,651
Deferred financing cos — — (5,720 (964) — (6,689
Payment of dividend — — — (80) — (80)
Net cash (used in) provided by financing activi — 4,56 121,75 19,40: 43,78 189,50«
Effect of exchange rate changes on ¢ — — — (25)) — (257)
Net increase in cas — — 10,75¢ 3,628 — 14,37¢
Cash:
Beginning of perioc — — 2,81 863 — 3,68(
End of perioc $— $ — $ 1357: $ 4,486 $ — $ 18,05¢
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NOTE 22—SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

On March 6, 2015 APX Group Holdings, Inc. and thieeo guarantors party thereto amended and redtaettedit agreement governing
APX’s revolving credit facility to provide for, amg other, (1) an increase in the aggregate commisrgeviously available to APX
thereunder from $200.0 million to $289.4 milliondaf2) the extension of the maturity date with respe certain of the previously available
commitments.

As of March 6, 2015, outstanding borrowings unésoiving credit facility totaled $32.5 million.
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ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTAN TS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

None.

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
Disclosure Controls and Procedures

We maintain disclosure controls and proceduresh@sterm is defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15a&)l80der the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”)) #iratdesigned to ensure that information requirdzbtdisclosed in our reports under the
Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarizedegadted within the time periods specified in 8#C'’s rules and forms, and that such
information is accumulated and communicated tonsanagement, including our principal executive @ffiand principal financial officer, as
appropriate, to allow timely decisions regardinguieed disclosures. Any controls and proceduresnatier how well designed and operated,
can provide only reasonable assurance of achighimdesired control objectives. Our managemenh thig participation of our principal
executive officer and principal financial officéras evaluated the effectiveness of the design pachtion of our disclosure controls and
procedures as of December 31, 2014, the end qfettied covered by this report. Based upon thatuatan, our principal executive officer ¢
principal financial officer concluded that, as bétend of the period covered by this report, tregiheand operation of our disclosure controls
and procedures were not effective to accomplishi tigectives due to the material weakness disclibstow.

105



Table of Contents

Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control OWarancial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishingnaaidtaining adequate internal control over ourriitial reporting. Our internal contt
over financial reporting is designed to providesm@ble assurances regarding the reliability @frfaial reporting and the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in ataoce with U.S. generally accepted accounting jmi@s. Our internal control over financial
reporting includes those policies and proceduras th

. pertain to the maintenance of records thate@asonable detail, accurately and fairly refleettiiansactions and
dispositions of our assef

. provide reasonable assurance that transadi@necorded as necessary to permit preparatifnasfcial statements in
accordance with U.S. generally accepted accoumptimgiples, and that receipts and expendituredeitey made only
in accordance with authorizations of our manageraadtdirectors; an

. provide reasonable assurance regarding preveatitimely detection of unauthorized acquisitiose or disposition of
our assets that could have a material effect ofinhacial statement:

Our internal control systems include the contrblnmselves, actions taken to correct deficienciedeadified, an organizational structure
providing for division of responsibilities, carefstlection and training of qualified financial pemael and a program of internal audits

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtiver financial reporting may not prevent or detisstatements. Also, projections of
any evaluation of effectiveness to future periogssaubject to the risk that controls may becomdenaate because of changes in condition
that the degree of compliance with the policieprocedures may deteriorate.

Our management has assessed the effectivenessinfamal control over financial reporting as ocdd@mber 31, 2014. In making this
assessment, management used the framework sebfottie Committee of Sponsoring Organizations eftheadway Commission (COSO) in
Internal Control-Integrated Framework.

Based on this assessment, our management conc¢hateslir internal control over financial reportiwgs not effective as of
December 31, 2014 due to the material weaknesastied below.

Description of Material Weakness

In connection with the preparation and audit of camsolidated financial statements, we and ourgaddent registered public accounting
firm identified a material weakness in internal wohover financial reporting. A material weaknéss deficiency, or a combination of
deficiencies, in internal control over financiapoeting such that there is a reasonable possiltiiay a material misstatement of a company’s
annual or interim financial statements will notgrevented or detected on a timely basis.

The material weakness we identified related tociksiicies in the completeness and effectivenessofnformation Technology General
Control (ITGC) environment and the controls asseciavith our year end financial close process. déficiencies with our financial close
process included reviews of account reconciliatimd journal entries and deficiencies related éoréview of our consolidated statement of
cash flows, resulting in a number of audit adjusttegprimarily in the areas of capitalized subsariacquisition costs, inventory and accrued
expenses and resulting in the restatement of msdinlated statement of cash flows for certainquirias discussed in Note 3 of the financial
statements.

We have initiated remediation efforts of these mastin the financial statement close process. fEheediation includes, but is not limit
to, expanding technical accounting skill sets, eciray reconciliation and review procedures, andragiddditional information technology
system related controls.

106



Table of Contents

ITEM9B. OTHER INFORMATION
Iran Threat Reduction and Syria Human Rights Act 0f2012

Pursuant to Section 219 of the Iran Threat Redoaind Syria Human Rights Act of 2012, which addedti®n 13(r) of the Exchange
Act, the Company hereby incorporates by referemeeih Exhibit 99.1 of this report, which includasalosures publicly filed and/or provided
to The Blackstone Group L.P. by Travelport Limitetd Travelport Worldwide Limited, which may be caiesed our affiliate.
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PART Il

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNA NCE

The following table sets forth, as of March 1, 20d&rtain information regarding our directors ardative officers are responsible for
overseeing the management of our business.

Name Age Position
Todd Pedersen 46 Chief Executive Officer and Directs
Alex Dunn 43 President and Directc

David Bywater 45 Chief Operating Office

Matt Eyring 45 Chief Strategy and Innovation Offic
Mark Davies 54 Chief Financial Office

Dale Gerarc 44  Senior Vice President of Finance and Treas
Nathan Wilcox 48 General Counse

JT Hwang 40 Chief Information Officel

Patrick Kelliher 51 Chief Accounting Officel

Todd Santiagt 42 Chief Sales Office

Jeff Lyman 38 Chief Marketing Officel

Jeremy Warre 40 Chief Technology Office

David F. ' Alessandrc 64 Director

Bruce McEvoy 37 Director

Joseph Truste 52 Director

Peter Wallact 39 Director

Todd Pederseffounded the Company in 1999 and served as ourdemgsiChief Executive Officer and Director. In Fedory 2013,
Mr. Pedersen relinquished his title as our Presidad remained our Chief Executive Officer and Blioe.

Alex Dunnwas named our President in February 2013. Prititische served as our Chief Operating Officer airéd@or from July of
2005 through January 2013. Prior to joining the @any, he served as Deputy Chief of Staff and Qbjadrating Officer to Governor Mitt
Romney in Massachusetts. Before joining GovernanfRey’s staff, Mr. Dunn served as entrepreneur-gidence at the venture capital firm
General Catalyst. There, he helped start m-Qub®ldle media management company. Prior to thatoh®unded LavaStorm Technologies,
an international telecommunications software corgpamere he served as Chief Executive Officer.

David Bywaterhas served as our Chief Operating Officer sincg 20L3. Before joining us, Mr. Bywater served agéirive Vice
President and Corporate Officer for Xerox and visGhief Operating Officer of its State Governm®etvices. Prior to that, Mr. Bywater
worked at Affiliated Computer Services (ACS), whataring his tenure, he managed a number of theiniess units. ACS was acquired by
Xerox in 2009. From 1999 to 2003, Mr. Bywater waseaior manager at Bain & Company.

Matt Eyring has served as our Chief Strategy and Innovatioit@f§ince December 2012. Before joining us, Mriftywas the
managing partner of Innosight, a global strategyianovation consulting firm. Prior to InnosightrMEyring was Vice President and General
Manager at LavaStorm Technologies. Mr. Eyring auifyeserves on the board of Virgin Health Miles as@ technical advisor to the U.S.
Department of Health and Human Services Innovdtgiows program.

Mark Davieshas served as our Chief Financial Officer sincedyolver 2013. Before joining us, Mr. Davies served ywars as Executi
Vice President of Alcoa, as President of the compjsa@lobal Business Services unit and member oftlcsea Executive Council. Prior to
Alcoa, Mr. Davies worked at Dell Inc. for 12 yeansgst recently as the Managing Vice President @&t&gic Programs, reporting to Chairman,
Michael Dell. Prior to that, Mr. Davies served dse® Financial Officer of the Global Consumer Group

Dale Gerardhas served as our Senior Vice President of FinandeTreasurer since September 2014. Prior tohthiserved as Vice
President of Finance and Treasurer from Januarg gD$eptember 2014. Prior to this he served aastirer from March 2010 to January
2013. Prior to joining us, Mr. Gerard was the Assis Treasurer and Director of Finance at ACL. Befoining ACL, Mr. Gerard served as
Senior Treasury Analyst at Wabash National CorpamaPrior to that, Mr. Gerard spent four year€haemtura Corporation, formerly Great
Lakes Chemical Corporation, as Finance AnalyshéRine Chemical and Fluorine business units.

Nathan Wilcoxhas served as our General Counsel since Octob&: Before joining us, Mr. Wilcox was a shareholdeAnderson &
Karrenberg, P.C., and specialized in commercialawitllitigation. With more than 20 years of lega{perience, he has extensive experience
civil and commercial litigation. Mr. Wilcox is alghe President of the Utah Alarm Association amdesnber of the Electronic Security
Association’s Bylaws Committee as well as a boaeanier.
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JT Hwanghas served as our Chief Information Officer sincsgdst 2014. Mr. Hwang served as our Chief Technofficer
continuously from joining the Company in March @08 through August 2014, with the exception ofplkeiod from June of 2010 to January
2013, when he served as the Chief Information @ffiele has over 16 years of experience in the ctenguaience field. Before joining the
Company, Mr. Hwang was Chief Architect at Netezoa@ration, a global provider of data warehousdiappe solutions, beginning in
October 2006. He also served as Chief Architettef/lett-Packard’s Advanced Solutions Lab from Ma28i92 to October 2006.

Patrick Kelliher has served as Chief Accounting Officer since Fatyr@@14. Prior to this, he served as Vice Presidéfinance and
Corporate Controller from March 2012 to Februarg£2QPrior to joining us, he served as Senior Daeof Finance and Business Unit
Controller of Adobe. Prior to Adobe, Mr. Kelliheras the Vice President of Finance and ControlleCfiomiture, Inc. Before that he has servec
in various senior finance roles at other high grotechnology companies.

Todd Santiagdhas served as our Chief Sales Officer since Fep2@it3. Prior to this, Mr. Santiago was presiddr2®@IG where he
coordinated the successful launch of Go!ContrabrRo joining 2GIG, Mr. Santiago was Partner aneh@ral Manager of Signature Acaden
in Boise, ID and VP and General Manager at NCH Ga@ton in Irving, TX. Mr. Santiago is the brothierlaw of Mr. Pedersen.

Jeff Lymanhas served as our Chief Marketing Officer of thenpany since February 2014. Prior to this he seagedur Vice President
of Consumer Experience from August 2013 to Febr@@d4. Prior to joining us, he served most receaslysenior Director for Mobile & Web
Design at NIKE+, Nike’'s activity tracking serviddr. Lyman held other positions at NIKE, includirepding digital and marketplace
communication for NIKEID (NIKE's custom footwear garience) and Nike Basketball.

Jeremy Warrerhas served as our Chief Technology Officer sinceed#er 2014. Prior to this, he served as Vice Beasiof Innovation
from November 2012 to December 2014. Prior to théswas Chief Technology Officer at 2GIG Technodsgivhere he was responsible for the
engineering and mass production of 2GIG’s produet IPrior to joining 2GIG, he was Chief Technoldgfficer of the U.S. Department of
Justice and Chief Architect of Lavastorm Technadsgi

Bruce McEvoyhas served as a Director of the Company since Nbeeit6, 2012. Mr. McEvoy is a Managing DirectoBéackstone in
the Private Equity Group. Before joining Blackstan®2006, Mr. McEvoy worked as an Associate at Galnatlantic from 2002 to 2004, and
was a consultant at McKinsey & Company from 1999@62. Mr. McEvoy currently serves on the boarddiodctors of Catalent Pharma
Solutions, Inc., Performance Food Group, GCA Ses/iRGIS Inventory Services, Vivint Solar and SedW/BEntertainment.

David F. D’'Alessandrchas served as a Director of the Company since3lyl013. Mr. D’Alessandro is the chairman of theaRl of
Directors of SeaWorld Entertainment, Inc., a positie has held since 2010, and has served as Extgetitive Officer since January 15, 2015.
He served as Chairman, President and Chief Exex@fficer of John Hancock Financial Services frab@@to 2004, having served as
President and Chief Operating Officer of the samtéyefrom 1996 to 2000, and guided the compangulgh a merger with ManuLife Financ
Corporation in 2004. Mr. D’Alessandro served asskient and Chief Operating Officer of ManuLife i8. He is a former Partner of the
Boston Red Sox. He also holds honorary doctorates three colleges and serves as vice chairmarstioB University.

Joseph Trusteyas served as a Director of the Company since Nbeed6, 2012. Mr. Trustey joined Summit Partner$982. Prior to
joining Summit Partners, he worked as a consultdttit Bain & Co. and served as a Captain in the Bu&y. Based in Sumn’s Boston
office, Mr. Trustey is active in the firm’s invesémt activities in North America, Europe and AsiariDg tenure with Summit Partners,

Mr. Trustey has served as a director of many comegancluding two public companies. He is curremtlgiirector of Aramsco, Belkin,
Commercial Defeasance, ISH (acquired by PwC), YiS8iolar and Tippmann Sports.

Peter Wallacenhas served as a Director of the Company since Nbeed6, 2012. Mr. Wallace is a Senior Managing €iveat
Blackstone in the Private Equity Group, which hiegal in 1997. Mr. Wallace serves on the board mfadors of Vivint Solar (Chair),
AlliedBarton Security Services, Michaels Storeg, liseaWorld Entertainment and The Weather Chaboeipanies.
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Corporate Governance Matters
Background and Experience of Directors

When considering whether directors have the expeeg qualifications, attributes or skills, taksraavhole, to enable the Board to
satisfy its oversight responsibilities effectivatylight of our business and structure, the Boaaled on, among other things, each person’s
background and experience as reflected in thenmdtion discussed in each of the directors’ indigichiographies set forth above. We believe
that our directors provide an appropriate mix gienence and skills relevant to the size and natficeir business. The members of the Board
considered, among other things, the following int@atr characteristics which make each director aalde member of the Board:

* Mr. Pedersen’s extensive knowledge of our itjusnd significant experience, as well as hisghts as the original founder of our
firm. Mr. Pedersen has played a critical role im fiun’s successful growth since its founding aras lieveloped a unique and
unparalleled understanding of our busin

e Mr. Dunr’s extensive knowledge of our industry and signiftdaadership experienc

 Mr. D’Alessandro’s extensive business and lestiip experience, including as Chairman, PresidadtChief Executive Officer of
John Hancock Financial Services, as well as hislinity with board responsibilities, oversight andntrol resulting from serving
on the boards of directors of public compan

* Mr. McEvoy's extensive knowledge of a variefydifferent industries and his significant finaricéad investment experience from
his involvement in Blackstone, including as Manggiirector.

e Mr. Trustey’s significant financial expertisedabusiness experience, including as a Managingclir at Summit Partners, as well
as his familiarity with board responsibilities, osight and control resulting from serving on theututs of directors of public
companies

* Mr. Wallace’s significant financial expertisecdabusiness experience, including as a Senior Magdgjrector in the Private Equity
Group at Blackstone, as well as his familiarityhwitoard responsibilities, oversight and controlltasg from serving on the boards
of directors of public companie

Independence of Directors

We are not a listed issuer whose securities aegllisn a national securities exchange or in am-iig@ler quotation system which has
requirements that a majority of the board of doestbe independent. However, if we were a listeddés whose securities were traded on the
New York Stock Exchange and subject to such reqérgs, we would be entitled to rely on the contitompany exception containec
Section 303A of the NYSE Listed Company Manualdrception from the independence requirements getatéhe majority of our Board of
Directors. Pursuant to Section 303A of the NYSEddsCompany Manual, a company of which more th&t 60the voting power is held by
an individual, a group of another company is exefrgh the requirements that its board of directmssist of a majority of independent
directors. At December 31, 2012, Blackstone berafjcowns greater than 50% of the voting powethaf Company which would qualify the
Company as a controlled company eligible for exéomptinder the rule.

Committees of the Board

Our Board of Directors has an Audit Committee aritbanpensation Committee. Our Board of Directors @iag establish from time to
time any other committees that it deems necessatydvisable.

Audit Committee

Our Audit Committee consists of Messrs. McEvoy &valace. The Audit Committee is responsible foistsBsy our Board of Directors
with its oversight responsibilities regarding:ttig integrity of our financial statements; (ii) @ompliance with legal and regulatory
requirements; (iii) our independent registered udtcounting firm’s qualifications and independenand (iv) the performance of our internal
audit function and independent registered publéoanting firm. While our Board of Directors has waisignated any of its members as an
audit committee financial expert, we believe thatlreof the current Audit Committee members is fgllalified to address any accounting,
financial reporting or audit issues that may corafote it.

Compensation Committee

In March 2014, our Board of Directors establish&oanpensation Committee consisting of Messrs. Dsééadro, McEvoy and Wallace.
The Compensation Committee is responsible for deteng, reviewing, approving and overseeing ourceige compensation program.

Code of Ethics

We are not required to adopt a code of ethics s&caur securities are not listed on a nationalrg&esiexchange and we do not have a
code of ethics that applies to our principal exizeubfficer, principal financial officer, principalccounting officer or controller, or persons
performing similar functions. Although we do notvkaa code of ethics, our other compliance procedare sufficient to ensure that we ce



out our responsibilities in accordance with apgdledaws and regulations.
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Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Paifiation

In March 2014, our Board of Directors formed a Cemgation Committee that is responsible for makihgeempensation determinatiot
No member of the Compensation Committee was atiareyduring fiscal year 2014, or at any other timee of our officers or employees. \
are parties to certain transactions with our Spodsscribed in “Certain Relationships and Relateah$actions, and Director Independence.”
None of our executive officers has served as attiror member of a compensation committee (orrathenmittee serving an equivale
function) of any entity, one of whose executivaafs served as a director of our Board or membeupnCompensation Committee.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION
Compensation Committee Report

In March 2014, our Board of Directors formed a Cemgation Committee that is responsible for makihgeempensation determinatiot
The compensation committee has reviewed and disdugith management the following Compensation Bismn and Analysis. Based on
such review and discussions, the compensation ctie@@pproved the inclusion of the following Comgetion Discussion and Analysis in
this annual report on Form 10-K for the fiscal yeaded December 31, 2014.

Submitted by the Compensation Committee:

David F. D’Alessandro, Director
Bruce McEvoy, Director
Peter Wallace, Director

Compensation Discussion and Analysis

Introduction

Our executive compensation plan is designed tacitand retain individuals with the qualificatidnsmanage and lead the Company as
well as to motivate them to develop professionatig contribute to the achievement of our finang@als and ultimately create and grow our
overall enterprise value.

Our named executive officers, or NEOs, for 2014ewer
* Todd Pedersen, our Chief Executive Offic
» Mark Davies, our Chief Financial Office
» Alex Dunn, our Presiden
e Matt Eyring, our Chief Strategy and Innovation Ogfi;
e Todd Santiago, our Chief Sales Offic

e Todd Thompson, our Former Chief Information Offio@ho terminated employment with us effective OetoB1, 2014

Executive Compensation Objectives and Philosophy
Our primary executive compensation objectives are t

e attract, retain and motivate senior manageneaaters who are capable of advancing our missidrsaategy and ultimately,
creating and maintaining our long-term equity valBech leaders must engage in a collaborative apprand possess the ability to
execute our business strategy in an industry ctextaed by competitiveness and grow
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* reward senior management in a manner aligned witHilmancial performance; ar

» align senior manageme's interests with our equity own’ long-term interests through equity participation and exship.

To achieve our objectives, we deliver executive pensation through a combination of the followingnpmnents:
» Base salary
e Cash bonus opportunitie
e Long-term incentive compensatio
* Broac-based employee benefi
» Supplemental executive perquisites;
» Severance benefit
Base salaries, broad-based employee benefits,esupptal executive perquisites and severance bemeditdesigned to attract and retain

senior management talent. We also use annual cemlsés and long-term equity awards to promote padgnce-based pay that aligns the
interests of our named executive officers withltreg-term interests of our equity-owners and toagrde executive retention.

Compensation Determination Process

In March 2014, our Board of Directors formed a cemgation committee that is responsible for makihgx@cutive compensation
determinations (the “Committee’Qur Committee did not use any compensation congslia making its compensation determinations aas
not benchmarked any of its compensation deterntinatagainst a peer group.

Messrs. Pedersen and Dunn generally participadesgussions and deliberations with our Committgguréing the determinations of
annual cash incentive awards for our executiveeffi. Specifically, they make recommendations toGammittee regarding the performance
targets to be used under our annual bonus platheramounts of annual cash incentive awards. Me3sdersen and Dunn do not participate
in discussions or determinations regarding theliildual compensation.

Employment Agreements

On August 7, 2014, Messrs. Pedersen and Dunn driteareemployment agreements with us. These emptoymgreements contained
the same material terms as, and superseded, th@sbdd entered into previously with our indireatgnt, 313 Acquisition LLC (“Parent”). No
other named executive officer has an employmergeagent. A full description of the material termdviot Pedersen’s and Mr. Dunn’s
employment agreements is discussed below underdh\ae Disclosure to Summary Compensation Table2iidl Grants of Plan-Based
Awards.”

Compensation Elements

The following is a discussion and analysis of eemmponent of our executive compensation program:

Base Salary

Annual base salaries compensate our executivesoffior fulfilling the requirements of their resgige positions and provide them witt
predictable and stable level of cash income redativtheir total compensation.

Our Committee believes that the level of an exeeutifficer’'s base salary should reflect such exgeis performance, experience and
breadth of responsibilities, salaries for similasitions within our industry and any other factakevant to that particular job. The Committee,
with the assistance of our Human Resources Depattmeed the experience, market knowledge andhnsigts members in evaluating the
competitiveness of current salary levels.

In the sole discretion of our Committee, base gsddor our executive officers may be periodicatjusted to take into account changes
in job responsibilities or competitive pressurdse TSummary Compensation Table” and correspondingnbte below show the base salary
earned by each named executive officer during [fiB844 as well as the base salary adjustments &wské. Eyring, Santiago and Thompson
made during fiscal 201



Bonuses

Cash bonus opportunities are available to varioasagers, directors and executives, including oorathexecutive officers, in order to
motivate their achievement of short-term perforneagoals and tie a portion of their cash compensatigperformance.

Fiscal 2014 Management Bonus - Messrs. PederseiDand

In fiscal 2014, Messrs. Pedersen and Dunn partiipiam a formalized annual cash incentive compémsg@ian pursuant to which they
are eligible to receive an annual cash incentivardwased on the achievement of company-wide padioce objectives. As provided in their
respective employment agreements, the target bmmosints for each of Messrs. Pedersen and DunrD@fé df their respective base salaries.
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Actual amounts paid to Messrs. Pedersen and Duderuhe fiscal 2014 annual cash incentive plan waleulated by multiplying each
named executive officer's bonus potential targdti¢lvis 100% of base salary) by an achievemenbfdzsed on our actual achievement
relative to company-wide performance objective(s).

The achievement factor was determined by calcaiur actual achievement against the company-wedf@pnance target(s) based on
the pre-established scale set forth in the follgntable:

Achievemen
% Attainment of Performance Target Factor
Less than 90% 0
90% 5C%
100% 100%
110% 20(%
130% or greate 25(%

Based on the prestablished scale set forth above, no cash inaeatixard would have been paid to Messrs. PederseD@m unless ot
actual performance for 2014 was at or above 90%eperformance target(s). If our actual perforneanas 100% of target, then Messrs.
Pedersen and Dunn would have been entitled to thgiiective bonus potential target amounts. Ifquardnce was 110% of target, then they
would have been eligible for a cash incentive aveaydal to 200% of their respective bonus potetdiget amounts. If performance was 130%
or more of target, then they would have been dhgibr a maximum cash incentive equal to 250% efrtrespective bonus potential target
amounts. For performance percentages betweenltheds, the resulting achievement factor would iested on a linear basis. The
performance target for 2014 for Messrs. PedersdrDamn was Adjusted EBITDA (as that term is defieégsbwhere in this annual report on
Form 10-K under the heading “Management’s Discusaiod Analysis of Financial Condition and Resuft®©perations—tiquidity and Capita
Resources—Covenant Compliance”) of $331.9 million\fivint.

For fiscal 2014, the actual Adjusted EBITDA achig¥er Vivint was $309.4 million, or 93.2% of targe¢sulting in an achievement
factor of 66.5% of their base salaries under threuahcash incentive plan. The following table ithases the calculation of the annual cash
incentive awards payable to each of Messrs. Padersé Dunn under the fiscal 2014 annual cash inaeptan in light of these performance
results.

Target
Bonus Target Achievemen
Bonus Bonus
Name 2014 Salan % Amount Factor Earned*
Todd Pedersen $500,00( 10C%  $500,00( 66.2% $332,26:
Alex Dunn $500,00( 10C%  $500,00( 66.2%  $332,26:

*  Amounts may not total due to roundit

Fiscal 2014 Management Bonus — Messrs. DaviesngyBantiago and Thompson

In fiscal 2014, Messrs. Davies, Eyring, Santiagd @hompson were eligible to receive a discretiormyus based on a percentage of
such executive’s base salary. For fiscal 2014, eadhessrs. Davies, Eyring, Santiago and Thompserewligible to receive a target bonus
opportunity of 50% of their respective base satarie connection with his resignation from the Camyp effective October 31, 2014,

Mr. Thompson was not entitled to a management buaiitisrespect to fiscal 2014. Based on Mr. Davde®ntribution to financial managem:
and operational improvement, Mr. Eyring’s contribatto the strategic direction and technology depeaient of the Company and

Mr. Santiago’s contribution to the success of dit£selling efforts, based on the recommendatidiiroDunn, the Committee awarded the
named executive officers, an annual bonus in thewing amounts:

Target
Bonus Target Bonus
Bonus
Named Executive Office 2014 Salan % Amount Earned
Mark Davies 500,00( 50% $ 250,00( $234,50(
Matt Eyring 515,00( 50% $ 257,50( $241,53!
Todd Santiagt 515,00( 50% $ 257,50( $241,53!

Retention Bonuses

In June 2012, the Board of Directors awarded Mmia retention bonus payable upon a change ofaarftthe Company. The Board
Directors determined that the retention bonuseg wppropriate in order to incentivize each exeelgicontinued employment
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while the Company explored a possible sale of the@any. The bonus agreements provided that thesrighany bonus payments would be
forfeited if the executive’s employment was terntétbprior to the date of the change of control éothan due to a termination without cause
or as a result of death or disability). Mr. Dunp&yment was variable and was tied to the valuaweddor APX Group, Inc.’s outstanding
shares of common stock in connection with a charigentrol. The retention bonus amount became fdayiattonnection with the closing of
the Transactions and a portion of the retentiorubamas held in escrow in order to cover potentistizliosing purchase price adjustments anc
indemnification claims. Amounts released from escamd paid to Mr. Dunn in 2014 are reported unber‘Bonus” column of the “Summary
Compensation Table.”

Sign-On Bonuses

From time to time, the Committee may award sigrbonuses in connection with the commencement of B@’Sl employment with us.
Sign-on bonuses are used only when necessaryaotditghly skilled individuals to the Company. @eally they are used to incentivize
candidates to leave their current employers, or beaysed to offset the loss of unvested compemstitay may forfeit as a result of leaving
their current employers. In fiscal 2013, in ordeattract to Mr. Davies to the position of Chief&ncial Officer, the Board of Directors
determined to award Mr. Davies a sign-on bonus3&03000 in connection with the commencement othiployment with us and a payment
equal to $500,000 on each of the first and secandarsaries of his November 4, 2013 start date.

Long-Term Incentive Compensation
Equity Awards

Our Parent, an entity controlled by investment &iadvehicles affiliated with Blackstone, grantsdeterm equity incentive awards
designed to promote our interest by providing theseeutives with the opportunity to acquire eqinitgrests as an incentive for their remair
in our service and aligning the executives’ intesegith those of the Company’s ultimate equity leogd The long-term equity incentive awards
are in the form of Class B Units in Parent.

The Class B Units are profits interests having eatic characteristics similar to stock appreciatigihts and represent the right to share
in any increase in the equity value of Parent. &fge, the Class B Units only have value to themixthere is an appreciation in the value of
our business from and after the applicable datganit. In addition, the vesting of two-thirds oét@lass B Units is subject to Blackstone
achieving minimum internal rates of return on itgéstment in Class A Units, as described furthéove

The Class B Units granted to our named executifiees$ are designed to motivate them to focus éortsfthat will increase the value of
our equity while enhancing their retention. Thecsji@sizes of the equity grants made were detegohin light of Blackstone’s practices with
respect to management equity programs at otheatersompanies in its portfolio and the executiviicef’s position and level of responsibility
with us.

The Class B Units are divided into a time-vestiogtion (one-third of the Class B Units granted,.@x exit-vesting portion (one-third of
the Class B Units granted), and a 3.0x exit-veghagion (one-third of the Class B Units grantddijivested Class B units are not entitled to
distributions from the Company. For additional imf@tion regarding our Class B Units, see “Narrabigclosure to Summary Compensation
Table and Grants of Plan-Based Awards—Equity Awards

Another key component of our long-term equity inéenprogram is that at the time of the Transacioertain of our NEOs and other
eligible employees were provided with the oppottto invest in Class A Units of Parent on the sayeeeral terms as Blackstone and other
co-investors. The Class A Units are equity intexdsave economic characteristics that are sinolgndse of shares of common stock in a
corporation and have no vesting schedule. We censiiis investment opportunity an important parbof long-term equity incentive program
because it encourages equity ownership and alilgnBIEOSs’ financial interests with those of ourraltite equity holders. Each of Messrs.
Pedersen, Dunn and Santiago, when presented withpghortunity, chose to invest in Class A Unit$afent.

Payments for Pre-Merger Options in Connection ligh Transactions

In connection with the Transactions, all outstagdinvested options to acquire APX Group, Inc. aB#i2common stock were vested in
full and cashed out based on the difference betwleenhange in control price and the option’s eigerprice. A portion of the cash proceeds
was held in escrow in order to cover potential fmdasing purchase price adjustments and indemmificalaims. The amount released from
escrow and paid to Mr. Santiago in 2014 with respebis 2GIG options is reflected in the “Optiorefcises and Stock Vested in 2014 table
below.



In November 2012, an entity controlled by Mr. Duexercised an option to purchase 1,250 shares fedrped stock and common stock
APX Group, Inc. and Solar from the Company’s fousdevhich shares were then cashed out in connewiitbnTransactions. A portion of the
cash proceeds was held in escrow in order to quotential post-closing purchase price adjustmemdsiademnification claims. The amount
released from escrow and paid to Mr. Dunn in 20it# vespect to the exercise of this option is i&#é in the “Option Exercises and Stock
Vested in 2014” table below and is based on tHerdihce between the change in control price andptien’s exercise price.
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Fiscal 2014 Grants

In connection with the Comparsybffer of employment to Mr. Davies, Parent agreegrant Mr. Davies 4,325,000 Class B Units wita
same vesting terms as described above. The Clagst8granted to Mr. Davies are similar to the GlBsUnits as described above, but contait
the following different economic terms: Mr. Davig<Class B Units will not entitle him to receive atigtributions in respect of such units
unless and until the cumulative value of such foregdistributions attributable to each Class B gqitals the fair market value of a Class B
Unit on the date of the grant of such Class B (mith foregone amount, the “Delayed Amount PersJBabinit”). At that point, Mr. Davies
(together with the other holders of Class B Unitigjsct to similar foregone distributions) will bene entitled to receive pro rata distributions
of all subsequent amounts (to the exclusion ofrdtleéders who do not have similar rights) untilhees received distributions per Class B Unit
equal to the Delayed Amount Per Class B Unit. Takee, Mr. Davies will become entitled to receitxe same amounts with respect to his
Class B Units as other holders of Class B Uniteikexwith respect to their Class B Units. Paremqraped the grant of these Class B Units to
Mr. Davies on January 24, 2014.

Benefits and Perquisites

We provide to all of our employees, including oamed executive officers, employee benefits thatrdemded to attract and retain
employees while providing them with retirement &eadlth and welfare security. Broad-based emplogeetits include:

e a401(k) savings plai
» paid vacation, sick leave and holida
* medical, dental, vision and life insurance coveramyel

» employee assistance program bene

We do not match employee contributions to the 404ékings plan. At no cost to the employee, we igieman amount of basic life
insurance valued at $50,000.

We also provide our named executive officers witbcified perquisites and personal benefits thahatgenerally available to all
employees, such as personal use of our Comparmsdedsraft, use of a company vehicle, househaldaes, financial advisory services,
reimbursement for health insurance premiums, erdthamployee cafeteria benefits, relocation assistand, in certain circumstances,
reimbursement for personal travel. Each of Med$3eslersen and Dunn has also been provided withrarabfringe benefit allowance of
$300,000 under the terms of their new employmergexgents. We also reimburse our named executiieeddffor taxes incurred in
connection with certain of these perquisites. Idigah, on January 1, 2013, we entered into tshafing agreements with Messrs. Pedersel
Dunn, governing their personal use of the Compaagdd aircraft. Messrs. Pedersen and Dunn payfsompal flights an amount equal to the
aggregate variable cost to the Company for sughtfli up to the maximum authorized by Federal AmaRegulations. The aggregate variable
cost for this purpose includes fuel costs, outenért hangar costs, landing fees, airport taxes aes, fcustoms fees, travel expenses of the cre
any “deadhead” segments of flights to repositiorpocate aircraft and other related rental feesddition, family members of our named
executive officers have, in limited circumstana@s;ompanied the named executive officers on busimagel on the Company leased aircraft
for which we incurred de minimis incremental costs.

We provide these perquisites and personal benefisder to further our goal of attracting and eftag our executive officers. These
benefits and perquisites are reflected in the @tther Compensation” column of the “Summary Compgosa able” and the accompanying
footnote in accordance with the SEC rules.

Severance Arrangements

Our Board of Directors believes that providing senee benefits to some of our named executiveasHits critical to our long-term
success, because severance benefits act as éoretimtice that helps secure an executive’s coatdramployment and dedication to the
Company. Of the named executive officers, only Med3edersen and Dunn have existing severancegamemts. Under the terms of their
severance arrangements, which are included in ¢éin@oyment agreements, Messrs. Pedersen and Deefigible to receive severance
benefits if their employment is terminated for amgison other than voluntary resignation or wilthisconduct. The severance payments are
contingent upon the affected executive’'s executioa release and waiver of claims, which contaims-compete, non-solicitation and
confidentiality provisions. Se*Potential Payments Upon Termination or Change int”" for descriptions of these arrangeme



None of our other named executive officers havesswce agreements or are otherwise entitled to@ese upon termination of
employment. We do, however, on occasion pay seeeran a case by case basis to our executives bagéed executive, his or her position,
nature of the potential separation, such execwgigempliance with specified post-termination resitre covenants and in order to obtain a
release and waiver of claims in favor of us andatfiliates. For example, in connection with Mr.drhpson’s resignation, the Compensation
Committee determined that, in consideration foegng into a release and waiver of claims, it wagrapriate to enter into a separation
agreement with him, which agreement is describettutPotential Payments Upon Termination or Changeontrol” below.
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Summary Compensation Table

The following table provides summary informatiomcerning compensation paid or accrued by us todrahalf of our named executive

officers.
Non-Equity
Stock Incentive Plan All Other

Salary Bonus Awards Compensatior Compensatior Total

Name and Principal Positior Year ® @ %) (2 % (3) ($) (4) %) (5) %)
Todd Pedersel 201«  500,00( — — 332,26: 776,53¢ 1,608,80!
Chief Executive Officer and Direct: 201:  500,00( 120,00( — 430,00( 625,27t 1,675,27!
201z  377,69. 220,50  3,021,19 335,19¢ 1,886,69! 5,841,28:
Mark Davies, 201<  500,00( 734,50( 398,85¢ 47,58¢ 1,680,941
Chief Financial Office! 201z 79,45 389,04 — — — 468,49:
Alex Dunn, 2014  500,00( 276,34 — 332,26: 742,77. 1,851,337
President and Directt 201:  500,00( 120,00( — 430,00( 573,37 1,623,37
201z 305,00 9,813,24; 3,021,19! 19,41 163,54  13,322,40
Matt Eyring, 201«  515,00( 241,53! — 53,57¢ 810,11:
Chief Strategy and Innovation Offic 201:  402,19. 250,00( 490,16’ — 43,43t 1,185,79!
Todd Santiagc 201«  515,00( 241,53! — 89,44: 845,97
Chief Sales Office 201 393,34 1,750,001 490,16° — 59,44 2,692,95
Todd Thompsor 201¢  257,50( — 5,23¢ — 484,03 746,77

Former Chief Information Office

1)

(2)

(3)

(4)
()

Effective January 1, 2014, the base salanaohef Messrs. Eyring and Santiago was increased $500,000 to $515,000. In addition,

effective January 1, 2014, the base salary of Maoriipson was increased from $300,000 to $309,000TMmpson'’s salary in the table
above reflects that portion of his annual baserg@arned in fiscal 2014 through his resignatiotec

Amounts reported in this column for 2012 and4£26or Mr. Dunn include payments pursuant to hiemgon bonus agreement as follows:
$9,639,998 paid in 2012 and $276,342 paid in 28ddount reported in this column for 2014 for Mr. Des represents the payment of
the second installment of his sign-on bonus inam@unt of $500,000 and his annual discretionaryub@arned with respect to 2014 in
the amount of $234,500. Amounts reported in thiaroo for 2014 for Messrs. Eyring and Santiago eftheir annual discretionary
bonuses earned with respect to fiscal 2!

Amounts included in this column form Messrsd&wsen, Davies, Dunn, Eyring and Santiago reflezaiggregate grant date fair value of
the Class B Units granted during each of the ypegsented calculated in accordance with Finanaiab@nting Standards Board
Accounting Standards Codification Topic 718, Congagion-Stock Compensation (“FASB ASC Topic 718"thhevement of the
performance conditions for the exit-vesting portiar the Class B Units was not deemed probabléeate of grant, and, accordingly,
pursuant to the SEC'’s disclosure rules, no valurcisided in this table for those portions of thieaeds. The fair value at the grant date of
the Class B Units granted to Mr. Davies in fisdal2 assuming achievement of the performance conditivas $975,522. The fair value
at grant date of the Class B Units granted in 288s2iming achievement of the performance conditias$1,182,167 for each of Mes
Eyring and Santiago. The fair value at grant dthe Class B Units granted in 2012 assuming aement of the performance
conditions was $7,824,823 for each of Messrs. Retdieaind DunnThe terms of these units are summarized under “@osgtion
Discussion and Analysis-Compensation Elements-Lbeign Incentive Compensation” above and under “Nadisclosure to
Summary Compensation Table and Grants of Plan-B&sedds Table-Equity Awards” and “Potential Paynsedpon Termination or
Change in Control” below. Amount included in th@umn for Mr. Thompson reflects the incrementat failue computed in accordance
with FASB ASC Topic 718 in connection Parent’s agnent to waive its call rights with respect to Mihompson'’s 46,690 Class B Units
that were vested as of the date of his depart@e.‘SBotential Payments Upon Termination or Changedntrol” below. For a discussion
of the assumptions used to calculate the amouptste in this column for 2014, please see footd6étéo our audited consolidated
financial statements included in this annual reparEForm 1-K.

Amounts reported in this column for 2014 forddes. Pedersen and Dunn reflect amounts earned tinvediéscal 2014 annual cash
incentive plan. Se*Compensation Discussion and Anal-Compensation Elemer-Bonusey”

Amounts reported under All Other Compensation ifgedl 2014 reflect the following

(a) asto Mr. Pedersen, $300,000 additional castpeasation paid to Mr. Pedersen pursuant to hidaymnt agreement (see
“Narrative Disclosure to Summary Compensation Talplé Grants of Plan Based Awards-Employment Agreésike
reimbursement for health insurance premiums, cguttb membership fees, $53,058 in actual Compapgrditures for use,
including business use, of a Company car, $132j8@8tual Company expenditures for financial adwis®rvices provided to
Mr. Pedersen, other miscellaneous personal bersfits$138,028 reimbursed for taxes with respepetquisites. In addition,

Mr. Pedersen reimburses the Company for the aggregaiable costs associated with his personabfitee Company leased
aircraft in accordance with the time-sharing agreinadescribed under “Compensation Discussion aralyais-Compensation
Elements-Benefits and Perquisites.” While mainteeacosts are not included in the reimbursement amauder the time-sharing
agreement, the Company has determined it is apptefo allocate a portion of the maintenance cabisn calculating the
aggregate incremental cost associated with persiseabf the Company aircraft for purposes of SEX€ldsure. Therefore, amounts
reported also reflect $40,766 in maintenance alkisated on the basis of the proportion of perkasa. In addition, family



(b)

(c)

members of Mr. Pedersen have, in limited circuntanaccompanied him on business travel on the @oynlpased aircraft for
which we incurred de minimis incremental co:

as to Mr. Davies, actual Company expendituoesi$e, including business use, of a Company karvalue of meals in the
Company cafeteria, reimbursement for health instggmemiums, other miscellaneous personal berafids$12,653 reimbursed
taxes owed with respect to perquisit

as to Mr. Dunn $300,000 additional cash compensation paid to MinrDpursuant to his employment agreement (see abaer
Disclosure to Summary Compensation Table and Grdriréan Based Awards-Employment Agreements”), beirmement for
health insurance premiums, the value of mealsarbmpany cafeteria, country club membership 88,891 in actual Company
expenditures for use, including business use,@dmpany car, $132,363 in actual Company expenditiarefinancial advisory
services provided to Mr. Dunn, other miscellanepeisonal benefits and $163,028 reimbursed for takidsrespect to perquisites.
In addition, Mr. Dunn reimburses the Company far #lygregate variable costs associated with hispearsise of the Company
leased aircraft in accordance with the time-shaaigigement described under “Compensation DiscussidrAnalysis-
Compensation Elements-Benefits and Perquisitesdigaussed in footnote 6(a) above, amounts repoefigtt a similar allocation
of $40,613 in maintenance costs associated witlHOMnn’s personal use of the Company leased airdreétddition, family
members of Mr. Dunn have, in limited circumstan@esompanied him on business travel on the Comfe@sed aircraft for which
we incurred de minimis incremental cos
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(d) asto Mr. Eyring, actual Company expenditures &#, including business use, of a Company car,dhes\of meals in the Compe
cafeteria, country club membership fees, other efisceous personal benefits and $10,871 reimbdosadxes owed with respect
to perquisites

(e) asto Mr. Santiago, actual Company expenditimesse, including business use, of a Companytbaryalue of meals in the
Company cafeteria, country club membership fedmraniscellaneous personal benefits and $22,8&thiesed for taxes owed
with respect to perquisites. In addition, familymieers of Mr. Santiago have, in limited circumstan@tcompanied him on
business travel on the Company leased aircraft/fach we incurred de minimis incremental co

(H asto Mr. Thompson, $433,763 in connection vhith resignation (including, pursuant to his sepanaagreement, $342,500 in cash
severance and $74,367 with respect to the tranétegal title and ownership of Mr. Thompson’s Canp owned vehicle to him,
which amount reflects the value of the vehiclelmmdate of transfer, amounts with respect to ttemament of a Company-issued
cell phone and iPad, and payment for accrued hugechvacation days), reimbursement for health arme premiums, the value of
meals in the Company cafeteria, actual Companyrekipees for use, including business use, of a Gomear, other
miscellaneous personal benefits and $37,483 reiselduior taxes with respect to perquisi

Grants of Plan-Based Awards in 2014

The following table provides supplemental inforroatrelating to grants of plan-based awards madeitmamed executive officers
during 2014.

Grant
All Other Date
Stock Fair
Awards: Value of
Number of Stock
Shares of and
Estimated Future Payouts Estimated Future Payouts Stock or Option
Grant Under Non-Equity Under Equity Units Awards
Date Incentive Plan Awards Incentive Plan Awards (1) (#) (D ($) (2)
Threshold Threshold Maximum
Target Maximum Target
Name %) % % #) #) #)
Todd Pedersen — 250,00 500,000 1,250,001 — — — — —
Mark Davies 3/3/201: — — — — 2,883,33. — 1,441,66° 398,85t¢
Alex Dunn — 250,000 500,000 1,250,001 — — — — —
Matt Eyring — — — — — — — — —
Todd Santiag: — — — — — — — — —
Todd Thompsol 9/3/201- — — — — — 46,69( 5,23¢

(1) As described in more detail in the “Narratives@osure to Summary Compensation Table and GadRéan-Based Awards-Equity
Awards” section that follows, amounts reportedeetfigrants of Class B Units that are divided iht@é tranches for vesting purposes:
one third are time-vesting, one-third are 2.0x-gggting and one-third are 3.0x exit-vesting. Altlee exitvesting units are reported as
equity incentive plan award in the “Estimated FatBayouts Under Equity Incentive Plan Awards” calumhile the time-vesting
tranche of the awards are reported as an all stbek award in the “All Other Stock Awards: NumioéiShares of Stock or Units”
column.

(2) Amount included in this column for Mr. Daviespresents the grant date fair value of the Clagsis granted to him calculated in
accordance with FASB ASC Topic 718. The value atgtant date for the exit-vesting portions of thes§ B Units is based upon the
probable outcome of the performance conditions.f8amote (3) to the Summary Compensation Tableoém included in this column
for Mr. Thompson reflects the incremental fair vaktomputed in accordance with FASB ASC Topic 718onnection Parent’s
agreement to waive its call rights with respediito Thompson's 46,690 Class B Units that were \esie of the date of his departure.
See “Potential Payments Upon Termination or Cham@ontrol” below. For a discussion of the assumutiused to calculate the
amounts reported in this column, please see foethéto our audited consolidated financial statémereluded in this annual report on
Form 1(-K.

Narrative Disclosure to Summary Compensation Tabland Grants of Plan-Based Awards
Employment Agreements

The employment agreements with our Chief Execufiffecer (CEO), Todd Pedersen, and our Presiderx &Alunn, contain substantia
similar terms. The principal terms of each of thegeeements are summarized below, except with cesp@otential payments and other
benefits upon specified terminations, which are manized below under “Potential Payments Upon Teatom or Change in Control.”

Each employment agreement was entered into on Adg2914, provides for a term ending on Noveml&gr2D17 and extends
automatically for additional ongear periods unless either party elects not tonektke term. Under the employment agreements, eeatutive
is eligible to receive a minimum base salary, dppgtbelow, and an annual bonus based on the ashient of specified financial goals for
fiscal years 2013 and beyond. If these goals dreeed, the executive may receive an annual ineertsh bonus equal to a percentage ¢



base salary as provided below.

Mr. Pedersen’s employment agreement provides that to serve as CEO and is eligible to receivaselsalary of $500,000, subject to
periodic adjustments as may be approved by ourdBoDirectors. Mr. Pedersen is also eligible toeige a target bonus of 100% of his ani
base salary at the end of the fiscal year if targstablished by the Board of Directors are acklieve

Mr. Dunn’s employment agreement provides that He &erve as President and is eligible to receivasa salary of $500,000, subject to
periodic adjustments as may be approved by ourdBoDirectors. Mr. Dunn is also eligible to receia target bonus of 100% of his annual
base salary at the end of the fiscal year if targstablished by the Board of Directors are achieve

The employment agreements contain the method ferm@ing the bonus of Messrs. Pedersen and Dunanfp given year. The
agreements provide that the calculation of any bamill be determined based on the achievementdbpeance objectives, with targets for
“threshold,” “target,” and “high” achievement ofetlspecified objectives as further described un@anipensation Discussion and Analysis-
Compensation Elements-Bonuses.”
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In addition, each employment agreement providesh@rfollowing:

» Reasonable personal use of the company airpsaigect to reimbursement by the executive ofranuant determined on a basis
consistent with IRS guideline

* An annual payment equal to $300,000 per yednjest to all applicable taxes and withholdingseimded to be used to reimburse the
Company for the costs of the execu’s personal use of the company airplane;

» Access to a financial advisor to provide theaxive with customary financial advice, subjecatcombined aggregate cap of
$250,000 on such professional fees for Messrs.rBedend Dunr

Each executive officer is also entitled to partitgin all employee benefit plans, programs arghgements made available to other
executive officers generally.

Each of the employment agreements also contaitriécta® covenants, including an indefinite covehan confidentiality of information,
and covenants related to non-competition andsaicitation of our employees and customers anitisaéfs at all times during employment, ¢
for two years after any termination of employmdritese covenants are substantially the same agveaants Messrs. Pedersen and Dunn
agreed to in connection with their receipt of CIBSgnits summarized below undeéarrative Disclosure to Summary Compensation TahH
Grants of Plan-Based Awards—Equity Awards—RestrctCovenants.”

Equity Awards

As a condition to receiving his Class B Units, eaamed executive officer was required to enter &nsubscription agreement with us
Parent and to become a party to the limited lighdbmpany agreement of Parent as well as a sglaliters agreement. These agreements
generally govern the named executive officer'stdghith respect to the Class B units and contaitagerights and obligations of the parties
thereto with respect to vesting, governance, thistions, indemnification, voting, transfer resiigcts and rights, including put and call rights,
tag-along rights, drag-along rights, registratimmts and rights of first refusal, and certain othmatters.

Vesting Terms

Only vested Class B units are entitled to distiiing. The Class B units are divided into a timetimgsportion (1/3 of the Class B Units
granted), a 2.0x exit-vesting portion (1/3 of tHass B Units granted), and a 3.0x exit-vestingipor(1/3 of the Class B Units granted).

» Time-Vesting Units Twelve months after the initial “vesting refererttate,” as defined in the applicable subscripsigreement,
20% of the named executive officer’s time-vestingdoyee Units will vest, subject to continued enyph@nt through such date.
The “vesting reference date” for Messrs. PedersenDaunn is November 16, 2012, the date of the grhtiteir Class B Units. The
“vesting referencetlate for the Class B Units granted to Messrs. Eyaind Santiago on August 12, 2013 is also Noverh®gP01:
and the “vesting reference date” for the Class BdJjgranted to Mr. Davies is November 4, 2013, whfcthe date he commenced
employment with us. Thereafter, an additional 2G%he named executive officer's time-vesting CIBs9nits will vest every year
until he is fully vested, subject to his continwerdployment through each vesting date. Notwithstasthe foregoing, the time-
vesting Class B Units will become fully vested ugochange of control (as defined in the securityéid agreement) that occurs
while the named executive officer is still employmdus. In addition, as to Messrs. Pedersen anah[Xhe time-vesting Class B
Units will also continue to vest for one year faliog a termination by Parent without “cause” (extihg by reason of death or
disability) or resignation by the executive for tgbreason,” each as defined in the executive’s eympént agreement (any such
termination, ¢ qualifying terminatio™).

» 2.0x Exit-Vesting UnitsThe 2.0x exit-vesting Class B Units vest if theered executive officer is employed by us when &nd i
Blackstone receives cash proceeds in respect 6fass A units in the Company equal to (x) a reegoal to 2.0x Blackstone’s
cumulative invested capital in respect of the CRsnits and (y) an annual internal rate of retafrat least 20% on Blackstone’s
cumulative invested capital in respect of its Claddnits. In addition, as to Messrs. Pedersen andrDthe 2.0x exit-vesting Class
B Units will remain eligible to vest for one yeallbwing a qualifying termination if a change ofrntml occurs during such one-
year period and, as a result of such change ofaptite 2.0x ex-vesting conditions are me

» 3.0 Exit-Vesting Units The 3.0x exit-vesting Class B Units vest if ttmed executive officer is employed by us when &nd i
Blackstone receives cash proceeds in respect 6fass A units in the Company equal to (x) a reegoal to 3.0x Blackstone’s
cumulative invested capital in respect of the Chagsnits and (y) an annual internal rate of retafrat least 25% on Blackstone’s
cumulative invested capital in respect of its Claddnits. In addition, as to Messrs. Pedersen andrDthe 3.0x exit-vesting Class
B Units will remain eligible to vest for one yeaillbwing a qualifying termination if a change ofntml occurs during such one-
year period and, as a result of such change ofalptite 3.0x ex-vesting conditions are me

Other than as described above with respect to leBsdersen and Dunn and below with respect td’Mrmpson, any Class B Units tl
have not vested as of the date of terminationredraed executive officer’s employment will be imnagdly forfeited.
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Put Rights

Prior to an initial public offering, if an execuéwfficer's employment is terminated due to death or diggpduch executive has the ric
subject to specified limitations and for a spediffeeriod following the termination date, to cause €ompany to purchase on one occasion all
but not less than all, of such executive’s vestlEd£B Units, in either case, at the fair markéteaf such units.

Call Rights Regarding Messrs. Pedersen’s and Du@téss B Units

If Messrs. Pedersen or Dunn is terminated for @agan, or in the event of a restrictive covenawlftion, the Company has the right, for
a specified period following the termination of buexecutive’'s employment, to purchase all of suatetives vested Class B units as follo\

Triggering Event Call Price Put Price
Death or Disability fair market value fair market value
Termination With Cause or Voluntary Resignation Wi@rounds lesser of (a) fair market value and (b) cost

Exist for Caust N/A
Termination Without Cause or Resignation For Goeddgor fair market value N/A
Voluntary Resignation Without Good Reason PrioNawvember 16, lesser of (a) fair market value and (b) cost

2014 N/A
Voluntary Resignation on or After November 16, 2! fair market value N/A
Restrictive Covenant Violatio lesser of (a) fair market value and (b) ¢ N/A

Call Rights Regarding Other Executive Officers’ &8 Units

With respect to our other executive officers, & ixecutive officer is terminated for any reasarthie event of a restrictive covenant
violation or if the executive engages in any coridinat would be a violation of a restrictive covehaet forth in the executive’s management
unit subscription agreement but for the fact that¢onduct occurred outside the relevant periaalg ¢ach conduct a “Competitive Activity”),
then the Company has the right, for a specifieibpgebllowing the termination of such executivelmgloyment, to purchase all of such
executive’s vested Class B units as follows:

Triggering Event Call Price Put Price
Death or Disability fair market value fair market value
Termination With Cause or Voluntary Resignation Wi&rounds lesser of (a) fair market value and (b) cost

Exist for Caust N/A
Termination Without Caus fair market value N/A
Voluntary Resignation Prior to November 16, 2014 jfd_ater, the lesser of (a) fair market value and (b) cost

Second Anniversary of Date of Hi N/A
Voluntary Resignation on or After November 16, 2044 if Later, fair market value

the Second Anniversary of Date of H N/A
Restrictive Covenant Violatio lesser of (a) fair market value and (b) ¢ N/A
Competitive Activity Not Constituting a Restrictiv@venant fair market value

Violation N/A

Restrictive Covenants

In addition, as a condition of receiving their st Parent, our executive officers have agreepeézified restrictive covenants, including
an indefinite covenant on confidentiality of infoaitron, and covenants related to non-disparagementcompetition and non-solicitation of
our employees and customers and affiliates ainaéls during the named executive officer's employtand for specified periods after any
termination of employment as set forth in the sdpsion agreement (two years for Messrs. PederadrDainn and one-year non-compete and
non-solicit periods and a three-year non-disparagemeriod for each of our other executive offigers

Additional terms regarding the equity awards ammarized above under “Compensation Discussion aralysis—Compensation
Elements—Long-Term Equity Compensation” and undRaténtial Payments Upon Termination or Change intod’ below.
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Outstanding Equity Awards at 2014 Fiscal Year-End

The following table provides information regardiogtstanding equity awards for our named executifieass as of December 31, 2014.
The equity awards held by the named executiveafiare Class B Units, which represent an equigreést in Parent.

Equity Awards
Equity
Incentive
Plan
Awards:
Market or
Payout
Market Equity Incentive Value of
Value ol Unearned
Plan Awards: Shares,
Shares Number of Units or
Number of or Units Unearned Other
Shares Shares, Rights
or Units That That Units or Other That Have
Have Rights That
Have Not Not Have Not Not
Vested Vested Vested Vested
Name Grant Date (#) (D) (%) 2 #) (3 #) (2
Todd Pedersen 11/16/201.; 4,648,411 — 15,494,69 —
Mark Davies 3/3/201- 1,153,33 — 2,883,33. —
Alex Dunn 11/16/201.; 4,648,411 — 15,494,69 —
Matt Eyring 7/12/201: 865,00( — 2,883,33: —
Todd Santiagt 7/12/201. 865,00( — 2,883,33. —

Todd Thompson (4 — — — — —

(1) Reflects the number of time-vesting Class Bt&Jof Parent, which vest 20% over a five year gkdn each anniversary of the
November 16, 2012 or the applicable vesting refegatate, subject to the execu’s continued employment on such date. Additional
terms of these time-vesting units are summarizettutCompensation Discussion and Analysis—Compés&tlements—Long-Term
Equity Compensation,” “Narrative Disclosure to SuamgpnCompensation Table and Grants of Plan BaseddsvBable—Equity
Awards” and“Potential Payments Upon Termination or Change int©d”

Vesting of the time-vesting Class B Units will becalerated upon a change of control that occurtewthé executive is still employed by
us and, as to Messrs. Pedersen and Dunn, wilkcalstinue to vest for one year following a qualifyitermination, each as described
under “Narrative Disclosure to Summary Compensafiable and Grants of Plan-Based Awards—Equity Award

(2) Because there was no public market for thesBabInits of Parent as of December 31, 2014, thé&k@waalue of such units was not
determinable as of such da

(3) Reflects exit-vesting Class B Units (of whialeshalf are 2.0x exit-vesting and one-half are &fixvesting). Unvested exitesting Clas
B units vest as described under the “Narrative IDae to Summary Compensation Table and Grar®$ami-Based Awards—Equity
Awards” section above. As to Messrs. Pedersen amth[the 2.0x and 3.0x exit-vesting Class B Unifsnemain eligible to vest for one
year following a qualifying termination if a changkcontrol occurs during such c-year period and, as a result of such change ofai¢
the respective exit-vesting conditions are metheacdescribed under “Narrative Disclosure to Surgr@ampensation Table and Grants
of Plar-Based Award—Equity Awards”

(4) As described below under “Potential PaymenteriJpermination or Change in Control,” in connectigith Mr. Thompson'’s resignation,
Parent agreed to waive its call rights with respe¢he 46,690 Class B Units that were vested #éisenflate of his departure. All other
Class B Units that were not vested upon his depamere immediately forfeite
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Option Exercises and Stock Vested in 2014

(1)

(@)

(3)

The following table provides information regarditig equity held by our named executive officers ested during 2014.

Option Awards Equity Awards

Number

of Share:

or Units Number of Value

Acquired Value Shares Realizec

Realized or or Units
on Acquired on

Exercise Exercise on Vesting Vesting
Name #) %) (1) #) (%)
Todd Pedersen — — 1,549,47 (3
Mark Davies — — 288,33: (©)]
Alex Dunn (1) — 138,39: 1,549,47 ©)
Matt Eyring — — 288,33: 3
Todd Santiago (2 — 356,11: 288,33: 3
Todd Thompsol — — 46,69( (©)]

In November 2012, an entity controlled by Mr. Dwexercised an option to purchase 1,250 shares fe#frped stock and common stock
APX Group, Inc. and Solar from the Companfounders, which shares were then cashed ounimeation with Transactions based on
difference between the change in control pricetarption’s exercise price. A portion of the casbceeds was held in escrow in order
to cover potential post-closing purchase price stdjents and indemnification claims. The amount nepploreflects the cash proceeds
released from escrow and paid to Mr. Dunn in 2(

In connection with the Transactions, all outsliag unvested options to acquire APX Group, Imel 2GIG common stock were vested in
full and cashed out based on the difference betweeohange in control price and the option’s eigerprice. A portion of the cash
proceeds was held in escrow in order to cover piaigrost-closing purchase price adjustments addrnmification claims. The amount
reported reflects the cash proceeds released fsonow and paid to Mr. Santiago in 2014 with respedtis 2GIG options

Because there was no public market for thesBablnits of Parent as of December 31, 2014, th&kaw&alue of such units on the vesting
date was not determinab

Pension Benefits

We have no pension benefits for our executive effic

Nonqualified Deferred Compensation for 2014

We have no nonqualified defined contribution oresthonqualified deferred compensation plans forexarcutive officers.
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Potential Payments Upon Termination or Change in Cotrol

The following section describes the potential payts@nd benefits that would have been payable tm@med executive officers under
existing plans and contractual arrangements asgufh)ra termination of employment and/or (2) a @eaf control occurred, in each case, on
December 31, 2014, the last business day of f2@&Bd. The amounts shown in the table do not inchadenents and benefits to the extent the
are provided generally to all salaried employeesuprmination of employment and do not discrimgniatscope, terms or operation in fava
the named executive officers. These include distidims of plan balances under our 401(k) savinga phd similar items.

Messrs. Pedersen and Dunn

Pursuant to their respective employment agreemigmtis, Pedersen’s or Mr. Dune’employment terminates for any reason, the exa
is entitled to receive: (1) any base salary accthealigh the date of termination; (2) any annualusoearned, but unpaid, as of the date of
termination; (3) reimbursement of any unreimbursesiness expenses properly incurred by the exexwivd (4) such employee benefits, if
any, as to which the executive may be entitled unde employee benefit plans (the payments andfltemiescribed in (1) through (4) being
“accrued rights”).

If the employment of Messrs. Pedersen and Durerisibated by us without “cause” (as defined bel(ther than by reason of death or
while he is disabled) or if either executive resigvith “good reason” (as defined below) (any swmination, a “qualifying termination”),
such executive is entitled to the accrued rights aonditioned upon execution and non-revocatioa flease and waiver of claims in favor of
us and our affiliates, and continued compliancé wie non-compete, non-solicitation, non-disparag@nand confidentiality provisions set
forth in the employment agreements and describedeabnder “Narrative Disclosure to Summary Compgosd able and Grants of Plan-
Based Awards™:

* apro rata portion of his target annual boramsell upon the portion of the fiscal year duringohlihe executive was employed (the
“pro rata bont”);

* alump-sum cash payment equal to 200% of teewtive’s then-current base salary plus 200% oatiteal bonus the executive
received in respect of the immediately precediagdi year (or, if a termination of employment oscprior to any annual bonus
becoming payable under his employment agreementatiget bonus for the immediately preceding figealr); anc

* alump-sum cash payment equal to the costeoh#alth and welfare benefits for the executiveliadiependents, at the levels at
which the executive received benefits on the datermination, for two years (tt*COBRA paymer”).

Under the employment agreements for Messrs. PadarskeDunn, “cause” means the executive’s contirffaidute to substantially
perform his employment duties for a period of t&8)(days; any dishonesty in the performance otieeutive’s employment duties that is
materially injurious to us; act(s) on the executvgart constituting either a felony or a misden@anvolving moral turpitude; the executive’s
willful malfeasance or misconduct in connectionhwiis employment duties that causes substantiatyinip us; or the executive’'s material
breach of any covenants set forth in the employragréements, including the restrictive covenant$osth therein. A termination for “good
reason” is deemed to occur upon specified evemtijding: a material reduction in the executiveesé salary; a material reduction in the
executive’s authority or responsibilities; spedifi@location events; or our breach of any of thevisions of the employment agreements. Eacl
of the foregoing events is subject to specifiedagodnd cure periods.

In the event of the executive’s termination of eoyphent due to death or disability, he will only dxgtitled to the accrued rights, the pro
rata bonus payment, and the COBRA payment.

The following table lists the payments and bendfitg would have been triggered for Messrs. Pedeasd Dunn under the circumstan
described below assuming that the applicable triggeevent occurred on December 31, 2014.

Accrued
Continuation But Value of
Unused Acceleratec
Cash Prorated of Health Vacation
Severance Bonus Benefits Equity Total
Name ®@O) ®@ ®A3 ®@ ®)®6) (©)
Todd Pederser
Termination Without Cause or for Good Rea 2,100,000  500,00( 27,78¢ 47,34¢ — 2,675,13.
Change of Contrc — — — — — —
Death or Disability — 500,00( 27,78t 47,34¢ — 575,13:
Alex Dunn
Termination Without Cause or for Good Rea 2,100,001 500,00( 27,78t 37,87¢ — 2,665,66:
Change of Contrc — — — — — —
Death or Disability — 500,00 27,78  37,87¢ — 565,66«

(1) Cash severance reflects a lump sum cash payegeat to the sum of (x) 200% of the executvease salary of $500,000 and (y) 200¢
the executive’s respective actual bonus for theguimg year. For fiscal 2013, Mr. Pedersen recearednnual bonus of $550,000 and



Mr. Dunn received an annual bonus of $550,(
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(2) Reflects the executi's target bonus of for the twelve complete monthsneployment for the 2014 fiscal ye

(3) Reflects the cost of providing the executivicef with continued health and welfare benefitstfte executive and his dependents under
COBRA for two years and assuming 2015 ra

(4) Amounts reported in this column reflect thddaling number of accrued but unused vacation dslysPedersen, 25 days and Mr. Dunn,
20 days

(5) Upon a change of control each of Messrs. Ped&ysand Dunn’s unvested time-vesting Class B Umdald become immediately vested.
However, because there was no public market foCthes B Units as of December 31, 2014, the masddete of such Class B Units was
not determinable. In addition, the unvested 2.0k 200X exit-vesting Class B Units would vest uparhange of control if the applicable
exit-vesting hurdles were met. Amounts reported asshatelie ex-vesting Class B Units do not vest upon a changmofrol.

Messrs. Davies, Eyring and Santiago

If Messrs. Davies, Eyring and Santiago had terneh@mployment as of December 31, 2014 for any redkey would have only been
entitled to receive their respective accrued bysedwacation as follows: Mr. Davies, $22,728 foat2rued but unused vacation days,
Mr. Eyring, $29,261 for 15 accrued but unused viaoadays and Mr. Santiago, $29,261 for 15 accrugdibused vacation days.

Upon a change of control all of Messrs. DaviesTibgy's and Santiago’s unvested time-vesting Claséns would become immediately
vested. However, because there was no public minkétie Class B Units as of December 31, 2014mheket value of such Class B Units
was not determinable. In addition, the unvested ar@l 3.0x exit-vesting Class B Units would vesbup change of control if the applicable
exit-vesting hurdles were met. We have assumedtikatxit-vesting Class B Units do not vest upa@hange of control.

In addition, as described above under “Narrativecldisure to Summary Compensation Table and Gréman-Based Awards—Equity
Awards—Restrictive Covenants,” as a condition akreing their units in Parent, Messrs. Davies, Byénd Santiago agreed to specified
restrictive covenants for specified periods updereination of employment, including an indefinitvenant on confidentiality of information,
and one-year non-competition and non-solicitatiomenants and a three-year non-disparagement cavenan

Mr. Thompson'’s Resignation

Mr. Thompson resigned from his employment with siChief Information Officer effective October 3012 In connection with
Mr. Thompson'’s resignation, we entered into a s&jpar agreement with him pursuant to which, in exae for his execution and non-
revocation of a release and waiver of claims irofaxf us and our affiliates, we agreed to (1) piay & lump sum cash amount equal to
$342,500 (which amount represented 10 months @& balary ($257,500) and the approximate closingsdos a real estate transaction
involving the sale of Mr. Thompson's residence amgection with his relocation to Provo, Utah ($&8B)), (2) transfer legal title and
ownership of Mr. Thompson’s Company owned vehialbitn, which vehicle was worth $74,367 on the adteansfer and (3) allow him to
retain his Company-issued cell phone and iPaddditian, Parent agreed to waive its call rightshwiéspect to the 46,690 Class B Units that
were vested as of the date of his departure. Aktio€lass B Units that were not vested upon hisudepe were immediately forfeited. The
foregoing payments and benefits are contingent anlidompson’s compliance with certain restrictiowenants for specified periods,
including an indefinite covenant on confidentialitf/information and non-disparagement, and one-gearcompetition and non-solicitation
covenants. In connection with his resignation, frompson also received $16,471 for 14 accrued mused vacation days.
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Director Compensation

The members of our Board of Directors other thami®®’Alessandro, who was elected to the Board w&Etors in fiscal 2013, received
no additional compensation for serving on the BadrDirectors or our Audit Committee during 2014.

In connection with Mr. D’Alessandro’s election, tBempany entered into a letter agreement settinth fbe compensation terms related
to his service on the Board of Directors. Purstiarie letter agreement, the Company will pay aruahretainer of $150,000 per year, and
Mr. D’Alessandro will not be eligible for any bonamounts or be eligible to participate in any & @ompany’s employee benefit plans.

In addition, in 2013, an affiliate of Mr. D’Alessdro was granted 500,000 Class B Units, which armélai to the Class B Units granted to
the named executive officers. The Class B Unitdarieled into a time-vesting portion (one-thirdtbé Class B Units granted), a 2.0x exit-
vesting portion (one-third of the Class B Unitsrgeal), and a 3.0x exit-vesting portion (one-thifdhe Class B Units granted). The vesting
terms of these units are substantially similah® €lass B Units previously granted to our namextetive officers and are described under
“Narrative to Summary Compensation Table and GrahBlan-Based Awards—Equity Awards” and the “vegtieference date” is July 18,
2013. However, if Mr. D’Alessandro ceases to s@mwehe Board of Directors, all unvested time-vastiiass B Units will be forfeited, and a
percentage of the exit-vesting Class B Units wélifbrfeited with such percentage equal to 100%rpgaduly 31, 2014, 80% prior to July 31,
2015, 60% prior to July 31, 2016, 40% prior to J8dy 2017, 20% prior to July 31, 2018 and 0% oaftar July 31, 2018.

The following table provides information on the qmemsation of our non-management directors in fi26au.

Change in
Pension
Value and
Non-Equity Nonqualified
Incentive Plar Deferred
Fees Earne: Stock Option Compensatior All Other
Awards Awards Compensatior Compensatior
or Paid in Earnings Total
Name Cash ($) (1) () () () (%) (%)
David F. D’Alessandro $ 150,00( $ — $ — $ — $ — $ — $150,00(

Bruce McEvoy (2] — — — — — — —
Joseph Trustey (: — — — = — — —
Peter Wallace (2 — — — — — — —

(1) As of December 31, 2014, Mr. D’Alessandro hEd3,334 unvested time-vesting Class B Units ang333unvested Class B Units
subject to ex-vesting criteria
(2) Employees of Blackstone and Summit Partners doauative any compensation from us for their servaresur Board of Director:

ITEM12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL O WNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED
STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

Acquisition LLC owns 99.7% of the issued and outdtag shares of common stock of APX Parent Holdlzo.,, which, in turn, owns
100% of the issued and outstanding shares of constock of Parent Guarantor, which, in turn owns%Gaif the issued and outstanding sh
of common stock of the Issuer.
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The following table sets forth certain informatias of December 31, 2014 with respect to Class Kdumiability company interests in
Acquisition LLC (“Class A Units”) beneficially owneby (i) each person known by us to be the berafaswvner of more than 5% of the
outstanding Class A Units, (ii) each of our direstdiii) each of our named executive officers &njl all of our directors and executive officers
as a group.

The amounts and percentages of shares of Classté hémeficially owned are reported on the basiSBC regulations governing the
determination of beneficial ownership of securitidader SEC rules, a person is deemed to be a floEd@wner” of a security if that person
has or shares voting power or investment powerghvinicludes the power to dispose of or to direetdtsposition of such security. A person is
also deemed to be a beneficial owner of any séesidtf which that person has a right to acquireshieial ownership within 60 days. Securities
that can be so acquired are deemed to be outstpfatipurposes of computing such person’s ownerglipentage, but not for purposes of
computing any other person’s percentage. Undeethdss, more than one person may be deemed téecdicial owner of the same
securities and a person may be deemed to be aidiaheWner of securities as to which such persas o economic interest.

Except as indicated in the footnotes to the taddeh of the unitholders listed below has sole goéind investment power with respect to
Class A Units owned by such unitholder. Unless mtfs® noted, the address of each beneficial owhisr@o APX Group, Inc. 4931 North
300 West, Provo, Utah 84604.

Class A Units
Amount and

Nature of

Beneficial
Name and Address of Beneficial Owng Ownership Percent of Clas
Principal Unitholders:
Blackstone Funds(1)(: 579,077,20 73%
Summit Funds(1)(3 50,000,00 6%
Directors and Named Executive Officers(4):
Todd Pederse 96,479,64 12%
Alex Dunn 9,000,001 1%
David F. ' Alessandrc — —
Bruce McEvoy(5) — —
Joseph Truste — —
Peter Wallace(t — —
Mark Davies — —
Matt Eyring — —
Todd Santiag: 1,500,00! *
All Directors and Executive Officers as a Group fE8sons 108,504,64 14%

* Indicates less than 1

(1) The limited liability company agreement of Acsjtion LLC (the “LLC Agreement”) provides that theisiness and affairs of Acquisition
LLC will be managed by the Board of Directors, igliy comprised of five members, three of whom el appointed by Blackstone, one
of whom will be appointed by Mr. Pedersen, and oiwhom will be appointed by the Summit Funds, 8fatkstone Capital Partners
L.P. ("BCP VI") acting as managing member (in swelpacity, the “Managing Member”). The Managing Memis an affiliate of
Blackstone and will have the ability to appointaten successor if it resigns its position as Mangdfiember. Effective July 30, 2013,
the Managing Member increased the size of the BoaRirectors from five to six members and appaihkér. D’Alessandro to the Boa
of Directors. Pursuant to the LLC Agreement, MershErAcquisition LLC, including employee membersl| we deemed to have voted
their respective limited liability company interest Acquisition LLC in favor of all actions takday the Board of Directors and the
Managing Member. The Managing Member, the Blackestemtities described below, and Stephen A. Schwamzamay be deemed to
beneficially own all the outstanding shares of camrstock of the Issuer indirectly beneficially owlngy Acquisition LLC, directly held
by its wholly owned indirect subsidiary Parent Gardor and all of the limited liability company inésts in Acquisition LLC. Each of the
Managing Member, such Blackstone entities and Mhw&rzman disclaim beneficial ownership of suclrahaf common stock of the
Issuer and limited liability company interests indqiisition LLC (other than the Blackstone Fund#hi extent of their direct holding

(2) Represents (i) 436,112,143.59 Class A Unitsadiy held by BCP VI, (ii) 2,644,957.26 Class A tnilirectly held by Blackstone Family
Investment Partnership VI—ESC L.P. (“BFIP VI—ES{)i) 220,012.15 Class A Units directly held byaBkstone Family Investment
Partnership VI L.P. (“BFIP VI”) and (iv) 140,100,0€lass A Units directly held by Blackstone VNT @west, L.P. (“VNT”) (BCP VI,
BFIP VI-ESC, BFIP VI and VNT are collectively refed to as the “Blackstone Funds”). BCP VI Side-ligeSGP L.L.C. is the general
partner of each of BFIP -ESC and BFIP VI. Blackstone Managem
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Associates VI L.L.C. is the general partner of eetBCP VI and VNT. BMA VI L.L.C. is the sole membef Blackstone Management
Associates VI L.L.C. Blackstone Holdings III L.B.the managing member of BMA VI L.L.C. and the solember of BCP VI Side-by-
Side GP L.L.C. The general partner of Blackstonédidgs Il L.P. is Blackstone Holdings Ill GP L.Phe general partner of Blackstone
Holdings Il GP L.P. is Blackstone Holdings Il @Panagement L.L.C. The sole member of Blackstonalldgk Il GP Management
L.L.C. is The Blackstone Group L.P. The generatrarof The Blackstone Group L.P. is BlackstoneuprdManagement L.L.C.
Blackstone Group Management L.L.C. is wholly owhgBlackstone’s senior managing directors and odlett by its founder, Stephen
A. Schwarzman. Each of such Blackstone entitiesMndschwarzman may be deemed to beneficially dvenlitited liability company
interests in Acquisition LLC beneficially owned thye Blackstone Funds directly or indirectly conteedlby it or him, but each disclaims
beneficial ownership of such limited liability compy interests in Acquisition LLC (other than the@&{stone Funds to the extent of their
direct holdings). The address of each of Mr. Sclawn and each of the other entities listed inftiagnote is c/o The Blackstone Group
L.P., 345 Park Avenue, New York, New York 101

(3) Class A Units shown as beneficially owned by Bummit Funds (as hereinafter defined) are helithéyollowing entities: (i) Summit
Partners Growth Equity Fund VIII-A, L.P. (“SPGE V¥A") owns 36,490,138.53 Class A Units, (ii) Summit ParsnGrowth Equity Fun
VIII-B, L.P. (“SPGE VIII-B") owns 13,330,631.47 C$a A Units, (iii) Summit Investors I, LLC (“SI") oms 164,980 Class A Units and
(iv) Summit Investors | (UK), LP (“SI(UK)” and togieer with SPGE VIII-A, SPGE VIII-B and SlI, the “Sumit Funds”) owns 14,250
Class A Units. Summit Partners, L.P. is (i) the aging member of Summit Partners GE VIII, LLC, whishhe general partner of
Summit Partners GE VIII, L.P., which is the gengraftner of each of Summit Partners Growth Equityd=VIII-A, L.P. and Summit
Partners Growth Equity Fund VIII-B, L.P., and (iile manager of Summit Investors Management, LLG¢lvts the managing member
of Summit Investors I, LLC and the general parmfeBummit Investors | (UK), L.P. Summit PartnersRL, through a three-person
investment committee currently composed of PeteEMung, Bruce R. Evans and Martin J. Mannion, lmg and dispositive authority
over the Units held by the Summit Funds. Each ohssummit entities and therefore Summit Partnei®, inay be deemed to
beneficially own limited liability company interesin Acquisition LLC beneficially owned by the Suritffunds directly or indirectly
controlled by it, but each disclaims beneficial @nship of such limited liability company interesisAcquisition LLC (other than Sumn
Partners, L.P. and other than the Summit Fundsa@xtent of their direct holdings). The addressawh of these entities and Messrs.
Chung, Evans and Mannion is 222 Berkeley Streeh E®or, Boston, Massachusetts 021

(4) Certain directors and executive officers alam @rofits interests in Acquisition LLC, having emmic characteristics similar to stock
appreciation rights, in the form of Class B UnifsAcquisition LLC, as described under “Managementxe&utive Compensation—
Compensation Discussion and Analysis—Long-termntige Compensation”. Directors and executive officas a group hold an
aggregate of 63,659,562 Class B Ur

(5) Messrs. McEvoy and Wallace are each employeefilates of the Blackstone Funds, but each ldises beneficial ownership of the
limited liability company interests in Acquisitidrl. C beneficially owned by the Blackstone Funds. Blderess for Messrs., McEvoy and
Wallace is c/o The Blackstone Group L.P., 345 Parénue, New York, New York 1015

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE
Support and Services Agreement

In connection with the Merger, we entered into ppsut and services agreement with Blackstone ManagéePartners L.L.C. (“BMP”),
an affiliate of Blackstone. Under the support aa/iges agreement, we paid BMP, at the closing@Merger, an approximately $20.0 mill
transaction fee as consideration for BMP undertakiime diligence investigations and financial amdditiral analysis and providing corporate
strategy and other advice and negotiation assist@inconnection with the Merger. In addition, werdagreed to reimburse BMP for any out-
of-pocket expenses incurred by BMP and its afeiaéind to indemnify BMP and its affiliates and tedigparties, in each case, in connection
with the Transactions and the provision of servizeder the support and services agreement.

Monitoring Services and Fees

In addition, under this agreement, we have eng&d4# to provide, directly or indirectly, monitoringdvisory and consulting services
that may be requested by us in the following arégsadvice regarding the structure, distributiod #ming of debt and equity offerings and
advice regarding relationships with our lenders lbaakers, (b) advice regarding the structuringiemglementation of equity participation
plans, employee benefit plans and other incentikangements for certain of our key executivesgés)eral advice regarding dispositions
and/or acquisitions, (d) advice regarding the sgtdirection of our business of Parent Guararier Surviving Company and such other
advice directly related or ancillary to the abodeisory services as may be reasonably requested.byhese services will generally be
provided until the first to occur of (i) the terdahniversary of the closing date of the Merger (Noler 16, 2022), (ii) the date of a first
underwritten public offering of shares of our commstock listed on the New York Stock Exchange osdéa’s national market system for
aggregate proceeds of at least $150 million (a®")Rand (iii) the date upon which Blackstone owesd than 9.9% of our common stock or
that of our direct or indirect controlling paremidbasuch stock has a fair market value (as detedigeBlackstone) of less than $25 million
(each of the events specified in clauses (i) thina{ii) above, the “Exit Date”).
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In consideration for the monitoring services weéhpaid BMP, at the closing of the Merger, a moinitpfee (for advisory services to the
provided by BMP during the remainder of our 20E24il year) and will pay at the beginning of eadbsequent fiscal year a monitoring fee
(for advisory services to be provided by BMP dursngh fiscal year). The monitoring fee paid atdlsing of the Transactions was $0.7
million (which amount is equal to $2.7 million pated based on the portion of fiscal 2012 which aeclafter the Transactions). The
monitoring fee payable for monitoring services ity subsequent fiscal year of ours will be equdhtogreater of (i) a minimum base fee of
$2.7 million (the “Minimum Annual Fee”), subject &mljustment as summarized below if we engage imsanbss combination or disposition
that is “significant” (as defined in the Supporta®ervices Agreement) and (ii) the amount of thaitocing fee paid in respect of the
immediately preceding fiscal year, without regardhe post-fiscal year “true-up” adjustment desedliln the paragraph below (which will not
yet have occurred at the time the annual monitdiéegs paid). We refer to the adjusted monitofegfor any fiscal year of the Survivil
Company as the “Monitoring Fee” for such fiscaliyea

In the case of a significant business combinatiogigposition, if 1.5% of our pro forma consolidhteBITDA (as defined in the Support
and Services Agreement) after giving effect toliheiness combination or disposition exceeds (irct#se of a business combination) or is less
than (in the case of a disposition) the tloemrent Monitoring Fee, the Monitoring Fee for tfear in which the significant business combina
or disposition occurs will be adjusted upward owdward, respectively, by the amount of such exoeshortfall, with such adjustment
prorated based on the remaining full or partiadigquarters remaining in our then-current fisadry We will pay upward adjustments to the
Monitoring Fee promptly upon availability of theopgiorma income statement prepared in respect d¢f business combination. Downward
adjustments to the Monitoring Fee will be effectiebugh a rebate of the fee paid to BMP in thatdigyear. Subsequently, the Minimum
Annual Fee applicable to full fiscal years followiany significant business combination or dispositvill be equal to 1.5% of our pro forma
consolidated EBITDA after giving effect to the bhusss combination or disposition (subject to furd@justments for subsequent significant
business combinations and dispositions). Howewedllicases (including in the case of a current-yebate described above), the Monitoring
Fee will always be at least $2.7 million and inevent will a rebate for a downward adjustment teiguBMP retaining a monitoring fee of less
than $2.7 million for monitoring services in respetany particular fiscal year.

In addition to the adjustments to the Minimum Anineee and the Monitoring Fee in connection witmgigant business combinations
dispositions and the related payments or rebatewitbed above, there may be other adjustmentetMtinitoring Fee based on projected
consolidated EBITDA and a post-fiscal year “true*up1.5% of our projected consolidated EBITDA, fast presented to our board of
directors by senior management during the last thirsuch fiscal year, is projected to exceed theunt of the monitoring fee already paid to
BMP in respect of monitoring services due to bedezad during that fiscal year, we will pay BMP #raount of such excess as an upward
adjustment to the Monitoring Fee within two busedays of such presentation. Following the comptetif each applicable fiscal year and
within deadlines required by our revolving creditifity, our chief financial officer will certifyd BMP the amount of our consolidated EBIT
for such fiscal year. If 1.5% of such certified solidated EBITDA is greater than the Monitoring Fpeeviously paid to BMP for monitoring
services rendered during that fiscal year (inclgdhe adjustment in respect of projected EBITDAcdéed above), we will, jointly and
severally, pay BMP the amount of such excess withimbusiness days of such certification. If 1.586uch certified consolidated EBITDA is
less than the monitoring fee previously paid to BidPservices rendered during that fiscal yearl(iding the adjustment in respect of
projected consolidated EBITDA described above)ameunt of such shortfall will be applied as a @radainst the next payment by us of the
Monitoring Fee to BMP. However, BMP will always bgtitled to retain the Minimum Annual Fee as theeffect and BMP will have no
obligation to rebate any amount that would resuBMP having been paid Monitoring Fees for monitgrservices in an amount less than the
Minimum Annual Fee applicable to the relevant fisezar.

Upon (i) an IPO, or (ii) the date upon which Blatk®e owns less than 50% of the common stock o€tmapany or its direct or indirect
controlling parent, and such stock has a fair ntarkkie (as determined by Blackstone) of less g#million, we will pay to BMP a
milestone payment equal to the present value dflaiiitoring Fee payments that, absent such eventrdog, would otherwise have accrued
and been payable through the tenth anniversatyeofiate of the support and services agreementd loaisthe continued payment of a
Monitoring Fee in an amount equal to the then-aaplie estimate for the Monitoring Fee for the fisear of the Surviving Company in which
such event occurs, discounted at a rate equaktgi¢hd to maturity on the close of business onséneond business day immediately preceding
the date the payment is payable of the class astanding U.S. government bonds having a final nitgtalosest to such tenth anniversary date

Portfolio Operations Support and Other Services

Under the support and services agreement, we hetveactively to September 16, 2012 (the date efithnsaction agreement relating to
the Merger) and through the Exit Date (or an eadae determined by BMP), engaged BMP to arrang8fackstone’s portfolio operations
group to provide support services customarily piedi by Blackstone’s portfolio operations group tadBstone’s private equity portfolio
companies of a type and amount determined by soxtfofio services group to be warranted and
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appropriate. BMP will invoice us for such servitesed on the time spent by the relevant persomoeiding such services during the
applicable period and Blackstone’s allocated cokgich personnel, but in no event shall we begabdid to pay more than $1.5 million during
any calendar year; this cap has been proratedfii2 for the portion of 2012 occurring after the it

Investor Securityholders’ Agreement

In connection with the closing of the Merger, 31&gaisition LLC and the Parent Guarantor entereal énSecurityholders’ Agreement
(the “Securityholders’ Agreement”) with the InvestoThe Securityholders’ Agreement governs cematiers relating to ownership of 313
Acquisition LLC and the Parent Guarantor, includwith respect to the election of directors of oargnt companies, transfer of shares,
including tag-along rights and drag-along rightheo special corporate governance provisions agidtration rights (including customary
indemnification provisions).

Other

Prior to 2013, we used a corporate plane ownechtsntity which was partially owned by us and certfi our shareholders. During the
Successor Period and Predecessor Period, we ideexpenses of approximately $0.03 million and $iilion, respectively, related to this
arrangement. In addition, we established a chaeit@undation and from time to time, we match dare made by individual employees to
foundation. In the Successor Period and PredecPssad, our employees contributed approximatelst $illion and $0.8 million,
respectively, to the foundation. Expenses relatdtie¢ foundation during the same periods were igaificant. Finally, we recognized revenue
of approximately $6.6 million during the Predeced3eriod ended November 16, 2012 for providing rroitig services for contracts owned
by stockholders and employees of the Company. $¢& M8 to our audited consolidated financial statets) for additional information.

Agreements with Solar
Revolving Lines of Credit

In December 2012, we entered into a Subordinated Alod Loan Agreement with Solar, pursuant to wisiolar may incur up to $20.0
million in revolver borrowings. Accrued interestgaid-in-kind through additions to the principal@mt on a semi-annual basis and interest
accrued on these borrowings at 7.5% per year tir@egember 2013.

In December 2012, Solar borrowed $15.0 millionematver borrowings and from January 2013 througly @13, Solar borrowed an
additional $5.0 million from us. Interest accruestbese borrowings at 7.5% per year and accruedesttis paid in kind through additions to
the principal amount on a semi-annual basis. Iy 40L3, we amended and restated this agreemend¥ap for a maturity date of January 1,
2016.

While prepayments are permitted under the loaneageat, the principal amount and accrued intereiteofoan under the loan agreen
is due upon the earliest to occur of (1) a charigmuotrol, (2) an event of default and (3) Januarg016. Solar’s obligations to us with respect
to the loan are subordinate to such guaranty diigsand all of its other indebtedness.

These revolver borrowings were repaid by Solar withproceeds of its recent initial public offering

Turnkey Full-Service Sublease Agreement

On June 20, 2013, we entered into a Turnkey Fuli&e Sublease Agreement, or the Sublease AgreeméhtSolar which was applied
retroactively to be in effect as of January 1, 200t8s agreement specifies the terms under whidarSableases up to 60,000 square feet of
corporate office space in Provo, Utah from us auplires us to provide Solar with certain servithsder the Sublease Agreement, Solar pays
us $3.41 per rentable square foot per month andb8§fr month per a specified number of employieesonnection with its recent initial
public offering and a planned move to independéiteospace, we have amended and restated thisragre with Solar to focus exclusively
the real estate issues at the Provo headquartg@raraddressing certain services that we contmpeovide to Solar under the Transition
Services Agreement and related agreements. SeedeeriRAgreements with Solar” below.

Administrative Services Agreement

On June 1, 2011, we entered into an Administrefigeszices Agreement, or the Service Agreement withrSwhich was terminated
effective as of December 31, 2013. The Service &ment required us to provide Solar with certain iadstrative, managerial and account
management services. In exchange for the sengaear agreed to pay us an administrative fee dbu§20.00 per account per month plus
$0.04 per kilowatt hour of electricity generatedtbg solar equipment each month for each custonoauat. The terms of the Service
Agreement prevent Solar from competing with uslubgicember 31, 2016 with respect to residential @@mtomation, control, energy
management and security systems, and preventemscismpeting with Solar with respect to the inst#din of solar energy systems on
residential rooftops. The Service Agreement impesedidentiality obligations on both parties, whiglrvive termination.
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Trademark / Service Mark License Agreement

On June 1, 2011, we and Solar entered into a TradehService Mark License Agreement, or the Traaldnfgreement. Pursuant to the
Trademark Agreement, we granted Solar and its di#vgs a non-exclusive license to use certainifimarks, subject to certain quality
control requirements, in exchange for a fee pertmon$0.01 per kilowatt hour of electricity geneseh by the solar equipment each month for
each customer account. On June 10, 2013, the Tea#lehgreement was amended and restated to graat Sobyalty-free, non-exclusive
license to the marks, and was applied retroactitehe in effect as of January 1, 2013. Solar nrdy ose the marks to manufacture, purchase
and distribute its solar energy systems for rediderooftop installation, as well as in advertgiand promotional material. We generally have
the right to consent to any sublicense of the mdrksonnection with its recent initial public offieg, Solar terminated this agreement and we
do not expect any additional payments to us asutref this termination. See “— Recent Agreemavith Solar” below.

Master Backup Maintenance Service Agreement

On January 23, 2014, we entered into a Master Babkaintenance Services Agreement, or the Mastentdaance Agreement, with
Vivint Solar Provider, LLC, one of Solar’'s whollywmed subsidiaries, pursuant to which Vivint Solesvider, LLC, engaged us as a backup
provider of, among other tasks, specified mainteaanperations and customer services tasks rdatgdlar’s solar energy systems owned by
third parties. The Master Maintenance Agreementiges the framework for a form agreement to beredtéto by us and Solar’s investment
funds. The form agreement requires us, upon cetriigigering events, primarily the default of Vivi8blar Provider, LLC, to provide certain
services and maintenance that it was providings&lservices are to be provided at the cost incloyads in providing such services, plus 1
The agreement also requires each party to maioatain levels of insurance coverage. In additidmint Solar Provider, LLC, granted us a
power of attorney to perform services and othertake action on behalf of Vivint Solar Provider,CLunder the agreements covered by the
agreement. Either party may terminate the agreeifibr@ other fails to perform its material obligats and such failure is not remedied within
30 days of receipt of notice or upon the occurresfceforce majeure event that prevents such geoty performing its obligations for a
continuous 180 day period. Vivint Solar Providetd, us, and one of Solar’s investment funds enteredan addendum to the agreement,
which provide that such investment fund would reeg¢he backup services under the agreement. VB8aitdr Provider, LLC may also termini
the agreement if we become insolvent or by progdifi days’ prior written notice to us. In connentisith its recent initial public offering,
Solar terminated this agreement. See “— Recenteékgeats with Solar” below.

Arrangement Regarding Our Executive Officers

Pursuant to an arrangement between us and Sokschmof 2012 and 2013, 25% of Messrs. Pedersebama’'s salary and bonus was
allocated to, and paid by, Solar. In 2012 and 2@&3¢harged Solar an aggregate of $269,111 and @B00espectively, pursuant to that
arrangement. This arrangement will not be applEail014 or future periods.

Recent Agreements with Solar

In connection with Solar’s recent initial publicefing, we have negotiated on an arm’s-length basisentered into a number of
agreements with Solar related to services and atipgport that we have provided and will provid&tdar, including:

e Master Intercompany Framework Agreem. This agreement establishes a framework for tlymimg relationship between us and
Solar. This agreement contains master terms ragate protection of each other’s confidential mfation, and master procedural
terms, such as notice procedures, restrictionssig@ament, interpretive provisions, governing lawd dispute resolution. We and
Solar each make customary representations andnti@sdhat will apply across all of the agreemdrgiisveen us, and we each a¢
not to damage the value of the goodwill associatigld the “VIVINT” or “VIVINT SOLAR” marks. We agredo provide Solar
notice if we plans to stop using or to abandontsgh the “VIVINT” mark in any country or jurisdin, and Solar is permitted to
take steps to prevent abandonment of the “VIVINTarkn We each also agree not to make public statenadrout each other
without the consent of the other or disparage owdher.

* Nor-Competition Agreementn this agreement, we and Solar each define muent areas of business and our competitors, and
agree not to directly or indirectly engage in tiigeo’s business for three years. Our area of basiisedefined as residential and
commercial automation and security products and@s, energy management (i.e., wireless or remmateagement and control of
energy controlling or consuming devices in a rasige including thermostats, HVAC, lighting, oth@paances and in-house
consumption monitoring), products and servicesafmessing and using the Internet, products andcssrfor the storage, access,
retrieval, and sharing of data, fixed and mobileadservices, audio/video entertainment serviceslftheare and wellness services,
content distribution network services, wholesa@idlcomputing services, demand response servicemfmnmation security.
Solar's area of business is definec
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selling renewable energy and energy storage precunt services. We and Solar may each engage usliigess of energy
inverters, aggregate consumption monitoring andorieid technology. We may not sell products andises to Solar's
competitors. Solar may purchase products and s=¥iom specified Vivint competitors. Although Sotaay not engage in our
business for three years, we may engage in Sdlasmess in markets where Solar is not yet opeyaiticluding by selling
customer leads to Solar's competitors (other thalar€ity Corporation). Once Solar begins operaimg market, we will provide
those leads exclusively to Solar. This agreememhjpe us and Solar to make investments of up t&edrbany publicly traded
company without violating the commitments in thigeement. This agreement also permits Solar tarobteancing from a Vivint
competitor. Finally, in this agreement we also eagfee that for five years, unless we or Solarinlgdor written permission from
the other party, neither of us will solicit for elapment any member of the other’'s executive or@emanagement team, or any of
the other’s employees who primarily manage safesallation or servicing of the other’s products aervices. The commitment
not to solicit those employees lasts for 180 ddies the employee finishes employment with us da6dseneral purpose
employment advertisements and contact initiatedrbgmployee are not, however, considered soligite

» Transition Services Agreemerfursuant to this agreement we will provide tcaBehrious enterprise services, including services
relating to information technology and infrastruetuhuman resources and employee benefits, adnaimist services and facilities-
related services. We agreed to perform the serwiithsthe same degree of care and diligence thatke in performing services -
our own operations. We also agreed to provide Suitwrreasonable assistance with Solar’s eventaakttion to providing those
services in-house or through the use of third-psetyice providers. Solar will pay us a sum of $808 per month for the services,
which represents our good faith estimate of ourdost of providing the services to Solar, withawrkup or surcharge. As Solar
transitions any service from us to an alternateiger or in-house, the fees paid to us will be m=tlaccordingly, except for any
third party license fees related to services waiabtfor Solar that cannot be terminated or assigo&olar. The agreement will
also account for the possibility that new serviedkbe required from us that were not initiallygréssed in the agreement. The
initial term of this agreement is six months; hoaewe and Solar will seek to complete the traositf the services contemplated
by this agreement as soon as commercially pradéic

* Product Development and Supply Agreen. Pursuant to this agreement, one of Solar’'s whmlyed subsidiaries will collaborate
with us to develop certain monitoring and commutidces equipment that will be compatible with otleguipment used in Solar’s
solar energy systems and will replace equipmerdrSunirrently procures from third partie

The initial term of the agreement is three yeans, iawill automatically renew for successive oreayperiods unless either party
elects otherwise.

» Marketing and Customer Relations Agreen. This agreement governs various cross-marketitigtines between us and Solar, in
particular the provision of sales leads from eammgany to the other. Sales leads resulting in liasians, as well as sales to each
other’s customers (whether or not a lead is praljidgenerate commissions payable between the pafie commission rate is
50% of the applicable commission that is paid eghying party’s sales personnel performing simiédad generation services; this
is intended to properly incentivize leads while@atting for the somewhat lower level of effort reqd for lead generation as
opposed to outright sales. The term of this agreg¢nirecluding the term of the schedules defining titrms of the mutual lead
generation program, is three ye:

* Sublease AgreementThis agreement provides for the short-term (egttiah to be less than six months) sublease of dpaSelar at
the Morinda building (separate from the Provo headlers). Similar to the Sublease Agreement desdrdtbove, this agreement is
focused only on real estate issues and certairfigadly related services at the Morinda buildir@ther services at this location, in
particular IT and similar services, are providedspiant to the Transition Services Agreem

» Bill of Sale. This agreement governs the transfer of certartasuch as office equipment from us to Si

» Trademark License AgreemerRursuant to this agreement, the licensor, a apparpose subsidiary majority-owned by us and
minority-owned by Solar, will grant Solar a royaftge exclusive license to the trademark “VIVINT ISER” in the field of selling
renewable energy or energy storage products anitssr The agreement enables Solar to sublicers¥ittint Solar trademark to
its subsidiaries and to certain third parties, sagluppliers and distributors, to the extent resagdor Solar to operate its business.
The agreement governs how Solar may use and diiptayivint Solar trademark and provides that Satary create new marks tl
incorporate “VIVINT SOLAR” with licensor’s reasonktbapproval. The agreement also provides thatitkedor will apply to
register Vivint Solar trademarks as reasonably estpd by Solar, and that Solar will work togethéhwhe licensor in enforcing
and protecting the Vivint Solar trademarks. Thesagrent is perpetual but may be terminated voluptayi Solar or by the licensor
if (1) a court finds that Solar have materiallydrhed the agreement and not cured such breacm\8idhdays after notice, (2) Solar
becomes insolvent, makes an assignment for thdibehereditors, or becomes subject to bankrugioyceedings, (3) one of the
parties (or us, with respect to the licensor) guiied by a competitor of the other party, or (4)a® ceases using the “VIVINT
SOLAR” mark worldwide. We retain ownership of theshit trademark and Solar has no right to use “WiViexcept as part of
“VIVINT SOLAR”.
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Procedures with Respect to Review and Approval of @ated Person Transactions

From time to time, we may do business with certaimpanies affiliated with Blackstone. The boardliogctors has not adopted a formal
written policy for the review and approval of trantions with related persons. However, the boaudirettors reviews and approves
transactions with related persons as appropriate.

ITEM 14.  PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES
Disclosure of Fees Paid to Independent RegisterediBlic Accounting Firm

Aggregate fees billed to the Company for the fisesr ended December 31, 2014 and 2013 repres=nbiéed by the Company’s
principal independent registered public accountirrg, Ernst & Young LLP.

Year Ended
Fee Categor 2014 2013
Audit Fees (a) $1,094,00! $1,332,25I
Audit-Related Fee — —
Total Audit and Aud-Related Fee 1,094,00!I 1,332,25!
Tax Fees (b 14,00( 152,00(
All Other Fees — —
Total $1,108,00! $1,484,25I

(&) Audit Fees primarily consisted of audit workfpemed for the preparation of the Company’s anmaalsolidated financial statements anc
reviews of interim consolidated financial inforntatiand in connection with regulatory filing
(b) Tax Fees included tax compliance, planning and augervices

The audit committee pre-approves all audit and awadit services provided by its independent regestgublic accounting firm. The au
committee considered whether the non-audit serviedered by Ernst & Young LLP were compatible withintaining Ernst & Young LLP’s
independence as the independent registered pugiaziating firm of the Company’consolidated financial statements and conclulded were
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ITEM 15.  EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES
(a) Exhibits

Exhibit
No. Description

3.1 Fourth Amended and Restated Certificate of Incafon of APX Group, Inc. (incorporated by referengéxhibit 3.1 to the
Registration Statement on Form S-4 of APX Groupdigs, Inc. and the other registrants listed time¢€ile Number: 333-
191132))

3.2 Bylaws of the APX Group, Inc. (incorporated by refece to Exhibit 3.2 to the Registration StatentenEorm S-4 of APX Group
Holdings, Inc. and the other registrants listeddhe(File Number: 33-191132))

3.3 Certificate of Incorporation of APX Group Holdindac. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.3he Registration Statement on
Form $-4 of APX Group Holdings, Inc. and the other regists listed therein (File Number: :-191132))

3.4 Bylaws of APX Group Holdings, Inc. (incorporated igference to Exhibit 3.4 to the Registration Stest on Form S-4 of APX
Group Holdings, Inc. and the other registrantgtigherein (File Number: 3-191132))

4.1 Indenture, dated as of November 16, 2012, among &RXp, Inc., the guarantors named therein and Wgton Trust, National
Association, as trustee, relating to the Compay335% Senior Secured Notes due 2019 (incorpoiatedference to Exhibit 4.1
to the Registration Statement on Form S-4 of AP¥UprHoldings, Inc. and the other registrants ligtestein (File Number: 333-
191132))

4.2 First Supplemental Indenture, dated as of Dece@®e?012, among 313 Aviation, LLC and Wilmingtorust, National
Association, as trustee, relating to the Compa6y835% Senior Secured Notes due 2019 (incorpolatedference to Exhibit 4.2
to the Registration Statement on Form S-4 of APXuprHoldings, Inc. and the other registrants ligtedtein (File Number: 333-
191132))

4.3 Second Supplemental Indenture, dated as of Mag@#3, among Vivint Wireless, Inc. and Wilmingtoru$t, National
Association, as trustee, relating to the Compay335% Senior Secured Notes due 2019 (incorpoiatedference to Exhibit 4.3
to the Registration Statement on Form S-4 of AP¥UprHoldings, Inc. and the other registrants ligtestein (File Number: 333-
191132))

4.4 Third Supplemental Indenture, dated as of Decerh®eP014, among Vivint Wireless, Inc. and Wilmingtbrust, National
Association, as trustee, relating to the Compa6y835% Senior Secured Notes due 2019 (incorpoiatedference to Exhibit 4.4
to the Registration Statement on Form S-4 of APXuprHoldings, Inc. and the other registrants ligtedtein (File Number: 333-
191132))

4.5 Form of Note relating to Company’s 6.375% Seniazused Notes due 2019 (attached as exhibit to Exilh) (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 4.4 to the Registration Staetron Form S-4 of APX Group Holdings, Inc. and otiger registrants listed
therein (File Number: 33-191132))

4.6 Indenture, dated as of November 16, 2012, among &RXp, Inc., the guarantors named therein and Wgton Trust, National
Association, as trustee, relating to the Compa8y’$% Senior Notes due 2020 (incorporated by rater¢o Exhibit 4.5 to the
Registration Statement on Form S-4 of APX Groupdigs, Inc. and the other registrants listed time¢€ile Number: 333-
191132))

4.7 First Supplemental Indenture, dated as of Dece@®e?012, among 313 Aviation, LLC and Wilmingtorust, National
Association, as trustee, relating to the Compa8y7$% Senior Notes due 2020 (incorporated by rateréo Exhibit 4.6 to the
Registration Statement on Form S-4 of APX Groupditgs, Inc. and the other registrants listed time¢€ile Number: 333-
191132))

4.8 Second Supplemental Indenture, dated as of Mag@¥3, among Vivint Wireless, Inc. and Wilmingtorust,
National Association, as trustee, relating to tleenPany's 8.75% Senior Notes due 2020 (incorporated byerée to Exhibit 4.7
the Registration Statement on Form S-4 of APX Grdofilings, Inc. and the other registrants listest¢in (File Number: 333-
191132))

4.9 Third Supplemental Indenture, dated as of May 8132among APX Group, Inc., the guarantors namereth and Wilmington
Trust, National Association, as trustee, relatmghe Company’s 8.75% Senior Notes due 2020 (ircratpd by reference to
Exhibit 4.8 to the Registration Statement on Fordh& APX Group Holdings, Inc. and the other regists listed therein
(File Number: 33-191132))
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Exhibit
No.

4.10

411

412

4.13

10.1

10.2

10.3

10.4

10.5

10.6

10.7**

10.8**

10.9**

Description

Fourth Supplemental Indenture, dated as of Decetthie2013, among APX Group, Inc., the guarantorseththerein and
Wilmington Trust, National Association, as trustedating to the Company’s 8.75% Senior Notes di@)Zincorporated by
reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Current Report omf-¢-K of APX Group Holdings, Inc. (File Number: 3-19113:-02))

Fifth Supplemental Indenture, dated as of July0lL4&2 among APX Group, Inc., the guarantors namerkth and Wilmington
Trust, National Association, as trustee, relatmthe Company’s 8.75% Senior Notes due 2020 (iraratpd by reference to
Exhibit 4.1 to the Current Report on Fori-K of APX Group Holdings, Inc. (File Number: 3-19113:-02))

Sixth Supplemental Indenture, dated as of Decerd®e?014, among APX Group, Inc., the guarantorseththerein and
Wilmington Trust, National Association, as trustedating to the Company’s 8.75% Senior Notes di@)Zincorporated by
reference to Exhibit 4.12 to the Registration Steget on Form S-4 of APX Group Holdings, Inc. ané tther registrants listed
therein (File Number: 3:-191132))

Form of Note relating to Company’s 8.75% Seniordsaiue 2020 (attached as exhibit to Exhibit 4r&djiiporated by reference
to Exhibit 4.9 to the Registration Statement omir&-4 of APX Group Holdings, Inc. and the otherisgnts listed therein (File
Number: 33-191132))

Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated &snef 28, 2013, among APX Group, Inc., the otheraguars party thereto,
Bank of America, N.A., as Administrative Agent ahe other lenders and parties thereto (incorporaye@ference to Exhibit
10.1 to the Registration Statement on Fordh &-APX Group Holdings, Inc. and the other regists listed therein (File Numb
333-191132))

Second Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, datefiMarch 6, 2015, among APX Group, Inc., tHeeoguarantors party
thereto, Bank of America, N.A., as Administrativgekt and the other lenders and parties theretorfiocated by reference to
Exhibit 10.1 to the Current Report on For-K of APX Group Holdings, Inc. (File Number: 3-19113:-02))

Security Agreement, dated as of November 16, 2@id@ng the grantors named therein and Bank of AmeNcA., as
Administrative Agent (incorporated by referenceéesdibit 10.2 to the Registration Statement on F&#h of APX Group
Holdings, Inc. and the other registrants listedahe(File Number: 33-191132))

Security Agreement, dated as of November 16, 28t@ng the grantors named therein and Wilmingtors{T ational
Association, as Collateral Agent (incorporated &ference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Registration Statehon Form S-4 of APX
Group Holdings, Inc. and the other registrantgetigherein (File Number: 3-191132))

Intercreditor Agreement and Collateral Agency Agneat, dated as of November 16, 2012, among 313p3drawy, the other
grantors named therein, Bank of America, N.A., esdf Agreement Collateral Agent, Wilmington TruNgtional Association,
as Notes Collateral Agent, and each Additional &eHal Agent from time to time party thereto (inmmated by reference to
Exhibit 10.4 to the Registration Statement on F&n#h of APX Group Holdings, Inc. and the other ragists listed therein (File
Number: 33-191132))

Transaction Agreement, dated September 16, 2012n&éymong 313 Acquisition LLC, 313 Group, Inc.3&blar, Inc., 313
Technologies, Inc., APX Group, Inc., V Solar Holgin Inc. and 2GIG Technologies, Inc. (incorpordigdeference to Exhibit
2.1 to the Registration Statement on Form S-4 of &Poup Holdings, Inc. and the other registrardtelil therein

(File Number: 33-191132))

Management Subscription Agreement (Co-InvestmeritsYdated as of November 16, 2012, between 3Xisiion LLC and
Todd Pedersen (incorporated by reference to Exhibh to the Registration Statement on Foreh G-APX Group Holdings, In
and the other registrants listed therein (File NamB3:-191132))

Management Subscription Agreement (Co-InvestmeritsYdated as of November 16, 2012, between 3Xisiion LLC and
Alex Dunn (incorporated by reference to Exhibit6Lth the Registration Statement on Form 8 APX Group Holdings, Inc. al
the other registrants listed therein (File NumI3&¢-191132))

Management Subscription Agreement (Incentive Unita)ed as of November 16, 2012, between AcquisltlaC and Todd
Pedersen (incorporated by reference to Exhibit idtie Registration Statement on Form S-4 of AREUp Holdings, Inc. and
the other registrants listed therein (File Numi3&&-191132))
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Exhibit
No.

10.10*

10.11**

10.12**

10.13*

10.14**

10.15**

10.16**

12.1

211

31.1*

31.2*

32.1*

32.2*

99.1

99.2

101.1*

Description

Management Subscription Agreement (Incentive Unitajed as of November 16, 2012, between AcquislticC and Alex
Dunn (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.8n® Registration Statement on Form S-4 of APX Grdoflings, Inc. and the
other registrants listed therein (File Number:-191132))

Form of Management Subscription Agreement (Incentiwits) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 11.$he Registration
Statement on Form-4 of APX Group Holdings, Inc. and the other regists listed therein (File Number: -191132))

Form of Management Subscription Agreement (Co-ltnaeat Units) (incorporated by reference to Exhilfit10 to the
Registration Statement on Form S-4 of APX Groupditgs, Inc. and the other registrants listed time¢€ile Number: 333-
191132))

313 Acquisition LLC Unit Plan, dated as of Novemtér 2012 (incorporated by reference to Exhibitl1Go the Registration
Statement on Form-4 of APX Group Holdings, Inc. and the other regists listed therein (File Number: :-191132))

Form of Aircraft Time-Sharing Agreement (incorp@wtoy reference to Exhibit 10.12 to the RegistraStatement on Form S-4
of APX Group Holdings, Inc. and the other registsdisted therein (File Number 3-193639))

Employment Agreement, dated as of August 7, 20&dyden APX Group, Inc. and Alex Dunn (incorporabgdeference to
Exhibit 10.1 to the Quarterly Report on Forn-Q of APX Group Holdings, Inc. (File Number: :-193639))

Employment Agreement, dated as of August 7, 20&#dyéen APX Group, Inc. and Todd Pedersen (incotpdray reference to
Exhibit 10.2 to the Quarterly Report on Form-Q of APX Group Holdings, Inc. (File Number: -193639))

Computation of Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Chardesqfporated by reference to Exhibit 21.1 to thendal Report on Form 10-
K for the year ended December 31, 2014, filed omdd26, 2014 (File Number: 3-19113:-02))

Subsidiaries of APX Group, Inc. (incorporated bference to Exhibit 12.1 to the Annual Report onrrdi0-K for the year
ended December 31, 2014, filed on March 26, 20ié ffumber: 33-19113:-02))

Certification of the Registrant’s Chief Executivéfi€er, Todd Pedersen, pursuant to Rule 13a-1%h@ecurities Exchange Act
of 1934

Certification of the Registrant’s Chief FinancidifiCer, Mark Davies, pursuant to Rule 13a-14 of 8exurities Exchange Act of
1934

Certification of the Registrarg’Chief Executive Officer, Todd Pedersen, purstad8 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted purs
to Section 906 of the Sarba-Oxley Act of 200z

Certification of the Registrarst’Chief Financial Officer, Mark Davies, pursuanfi®U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursue
Section 906 of the Sarbar-Oxley Act of 2002

Section 13(r) Disclosure (incorporated by refereiocExhibit 99.1 to the Annual Report on Form 10eK the year ended
December 31, 2014, filed on March 26, 2014 (Filerer: 33-19113:-02))

Stock Purchase Agreement, dated as of Februard0ll3, by and among Nortek, Inc. and APX Group, (mzorporated by
reference to Exhibit 99.1 to the Quarterly Reporform 1(-Q of APX Group Holdings, Inc. (File Number: :-193639))

The following materials are formatted in XBRL (eKg#ble Business Reporting Language): (i) the Cadatéd Balance Sheets,
(i) the Consolidated Statements of Operationy,tfie Consolidated Statements of Comprehensivs, L8 the Consolidated
Statements of Changes in Equity, (v) the Consaddi&tatements of Cash Flows, (vi) Notes to Conatdidl Financial
Statements, and (vii) document and entity infororat{A)

* Filed herewith

**  |dentifies exhibits that consist of a managementract or compensatory plan or arrangem

(A) Pursuant to Rule 406T of Regulation S-T, thetactive Data files on Exhibit 101.1 hereto arerded not filed or part of a registration
statement or prospectus for purposes of Sectioms 12 of the Securities Act of 1933, as amendesidaemed not filed for purposes of
Section 18 of the Securities and Exchange Act 8418s amended, and otherwise are not subjecttibity under those section

(b) Financial Statement Schedu

Financial schedules are omitted because they ar@pplicable or not required, or because the in&diom is included herein in our
financial statements and/or the notes related there
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&i(the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the regigthas duly caused this report to be
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereduty authorized.

APX GROUP HOLDINGS, INC

By: /s/ MARK DAVIES
Mark Davies
Chief Financial Office
Date: August 10, 201




Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION OF PERIODIC REPORT UNDER SECTION 302 OF
THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Todd Pedersen, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 1fdikthe year ended December 31, 2014 of APX Groaldidgs, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notador@ny untrue statement of a material fact or dméttate a material fact necessary to mak
the statements made, in light of the circumstanoger which such statements were made, not misigadih respect to the period covered by
this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statemeamis,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material respects
the financial condition, results of operations aadh flows of the registrant as of, and for, thegoks presented in this report;

4. The registran$ other certifying officer and | are responsibledstablishing and maintaining disclosure contamid procedures (as definet
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(¢e)) ardriat control over financial reporting (as definedExchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and
15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedaresused such disclosure controls and procedoites designed under our supervision, tc
ensure that material information relating to thgistant, including its consolidated subsidiarissnade known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in whidtig report is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over financiglating, or caused such internal control over fiahreporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance rieggitie reliability of financial reporting and tipeeparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally@edeaccounting principles;

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registragtisslosure controls and procedures and presentaisineport our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and pros] as of the end of the period covered by #psnt based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the tegid’s internal control over financial reportirttat occurred during the registranthost recer
fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal geeaiin the case of an annual report) that has madieaffected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, the registrant’s internal comeer financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer anddve disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatiorernal control over financial reporting,
to the registrant’s auditors and the audit commitibthe registrant’'s board of directors (or pessperforming the equivalent functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal cordvelr financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regisfeaability to record, process, summarize and refioancial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that invaweanagement or other employees who have a sigmifiole in the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.

Date: August 10, 2015

/s/ Todd Pedersen

Todd Pederse

Chief Executive Officer and Direct
(Principal Executive Officer




Exhibit 31.Z

CERTIFICATION OF PERIODIC REPORT UNDER SECTION 302 OF
THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Mark Davies, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 1fdikthe year ended December 31, 2014 of APX Groaldidgs, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notador@ny untrue statement of a material fact or dméttate a material fact necessary to mak
the statements made, in light of the circumstanoger which such statements were made, not misigadih respect to the period covered by
this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statemeamis,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material respects
the financial condition, results of operations aadh flows of the registrant as of, and for, thegoks presented in this report;

4. The registran$ other certifying officer and | are responsibledstablishing and maintaining disclosure contamid procedures (as definet
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(¢e)) ardriat control over financial reporting (as definedExchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and
15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedaresused such disclosure controls and procedoites designed under our supervision, tc
ensure that material information relating to thgistant, including its consolidated subsidiarissnade known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in whidtig report is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over financiglating, or caused such internal control over fiahreporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance rieggitie reliability of financial reporting and tipeeparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally@edeaccounting principles;

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registragtisslosure controls and procedures and presentaisineport our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and pros] as of the end of the period covered by #psnt based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the tegid’s internal control over financial reportirttat occurred during the registranthost recer
fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal geeaiin the case of an annual report) that has madieaffected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, the registrant’s internal comeer financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer anddve disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatiorernal control over financial reporting,
to the registrant’s auditors and the audit commitibthe registrant’'s board of directors (or pessperforming the equivalent functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal cordvelr financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regisfeaability to record, process, summarize and refioancial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that invaweanagement or other employees who have a sigmifiole in the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.

Date: August 10, 2015

/s/ Mark Davies

Mark Davies

Chief Financial Office
(Principal Financial Officer




Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of APX Groupl#ings, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for thear ended December 31,
2014 filed with the Securities and Exchange Comimissen the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Todd Rsda, Chief Executive Officer and
Director of the Company, do hereby certify, purduari8 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuabéetbion 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act
of 2002, that:

» The Report fully complies with the requirementsSefction 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangeoh1934; anc

e The information contained in the Report faphgsents, in all material respects, the finana@aldition and results of operations of the
Company for the periods presented ther

Date: August 10, 2015

/s/ Todd Pedersen
Todd Pederse
Chief Executive Officer and Director
(Principal Executive Officer




Exhibit 32.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of APX Groupl#ings, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for thear ended December 31,
2014 filed with the Securities and Exchange Comimisen the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Mark Desji Chief Financial Officer of the
Company, do hereby certify, pursuant to 18 U.S&£&tiSn 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 9@tecbarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

» The Report fully complies with the requirementsSefction 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangeoh1934; anc

e The information contained in the Report faphgsents, in all material respects, the finana@aldition and results of operations of the
Company for the periods presented ther

Date: August 10, 2015

/sl Mark Davies
Mark Davies
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer




